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2. Corporate Structure 

2.1 Advantex Marketing International Inc. (the “Company”), 600 Alden Road, Suite 
606, Markham, Ontario, L3R 0E7. 

2.2 The Company is incorporated under the Business Corporation Act (Ontario). For 
material amendments to the articles and other constating documents see the 
“CORPORATE STRUCTURE – Name and Incorporation” section of the  
Company’s Annual Information Form for the year ended June 30, 2010 and 
dated October 27, 2010 (the “AIF”), which is attached as Schedule “A” to the 
Listing Statement of February 7, 2011.. 

2.3 Corporate Structure – The inter-corporate relationships among the Company  
and the Company’s subsidiaries are disclosed in the “CORPORATE 
STRUCTURE – Inter-corporate relationship” section of the AIF. 

2.4 The Company is not requalifying following a fundamental change and is not 
proposing an acquisition, amalgamation, merger, reorganization or arrangement. 

2.5 The Company is neither a non-corporate Issuer nor an Issuer incorporated 
outside of Canada. 

3. General Development of the Business 

3.1 The general development of the Company's business for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2011 compared with the corresponding period in the previous year is 
disclosed in the Management Discussion and Analysis for the fiscal years ended 
June 30, 2011 and June 30, 2010 (the “MD&A”), which is attached hereto as 
Schedule “A”. 

3.2 There have been no significant acquisitions completed by the Company nor is 
any  significant probable acquisition proposed by the Company, for which 
financial statements would be required under National Instrument 41-101 
General Prospectus Requirements if this Listing Statement were a prospectus; 
and 

There have been no significant dispositions completed by the Company during 
the most recently completed financial year or the current financial year for which 
pro forma financial statements would be required under National Instrument 41-
101 General Prospectus Requirements if this Listing Statement were a 
prospectus. 
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3.3 As at June 30, 2011, the Company is committed to minimum payments with 
respect to existing leases for equipment and premises. Note 14 to the Audited 
Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended June 30, 2011 (the “FS”), 
which is attached hereto as Schedule ‘B”, discloses Commitments and 
contingencies of the Company.  

For a fuller discussion of trends known to management please see the ‘Overall 
Performance” section in the MD&A in particular, and the MD&A in general.    

For a discussion on uncertainty, please see “Economic Dependence”, ‘General 
Risks and Uncertainties’, and “Forward Looking Information” sections of the 
MD&A.  

4. Narrative Description of the Business 

4.1 The Narrative Description of the Business can be found in the “NARRATIVE 
DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS” section of the AIF, updated by the   
monthly Form 7 filed by the Company with the CNSX, and the MD&A (together 
the “Documents”). The Documents include a discussion on the method of 
distribution of the Company’s principle services, all of which are at the 
commercial production stage, the method of producing services, the number of 
employees, a description of contracts on which the Company is substantially 
dependent and a description of the competitive conditions (which is further 
described in the “General Risks and Uncertainties” section of the MD&A).  

There have been no bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings against the 
Company or its subsidiaries.  There are no material restructuring transactions, 
and the Company has no social or environmental policies that are fundamental to 
its operations. 

The MD&A provides commentary on the Company’s financial performance for 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011 compared with corresponding periods in the 
previous year, covering revenues, gross profit, contribution from operations and 
profit before amortization and interest, loss from continuing operations, 
discontinued operations and net profit /(loss). The MD&A provides commentary 
on working capital and liquidity management. 
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The Company’s plan to refinance debentures disclosed in the last Listing 
Statement has been completed and the and the $2,665,000 14% non-convertible 
debentures and $6,000,000 convertible debentures were retired  by issuing 
$1,810,000 14% non-convertible debentures and $6,462,000 12% non-
convertible debentures, and this is described in note 3 “ Refinancing” to the FS. 
The Company’s share and loan capital is described in notes 7 (“Loan Payable”), 
8 (“14% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable”), 9 (12% Non-Convertible 
Debentures Payable”), and 10 (Capital Stock) in the FS. 

The Company reported a net loss of $492,279 for its fiscal year ended June 30, 
2011 compared with a net profit of $34,027 for fiscal year ended June 30, 2011. 

4.2 The Company does not have any outstanding asset-backed securities. 

4.3 The Company is not an Issuer with mineral projects. 

4.4 The Company does not have Oil and Gas Operations. 

5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information  

5.1 The FS provide the financial position of the Company as at June 30, 2011 and 
June 30, 2010, the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then 
ended prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
standards. Accounting policies of the Company are covered under note 1, 
“Significant Accounting Policies”, to the FS. The Company’s auditors, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, determined that the FS “present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of Advantex Marketing International Inc... 
as at June 30, 2011 and 2010 the results of its operations and its cash flows for 
the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting standards”. This statement was provided in the Auditors Report 
attached to the 2011 FS. 

           Business: 

The Company has no material discontinued operations, acquisitions, 
dispositions,   or changes in the direction of the business. During the period, the 
Company had a discontinued operation, its online shopping mall business, which 
was not core to its business, (it contributed about 16% of the Company’s revenue 
in Fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, the year prior to its discontinuance) and is 
described in note 17, “Discontinued Operations”, to the FS. 

Change in Accounting policies consequent to Recent Accounting 
Pronouncements is detailed in note 2, Recent Accounting Pronouncements, of 
the FS. 
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5.2 Quarterly Information 

“Summary of Quarterly Results” section of the MD&A provides highlights of 
selected financial information for the four quarters compared with corresponding 
periods in the previous year. The MD&A provides a narrative on fourth quarter of 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2011 in the section “Fourth Quarter 2011”. The interim 
financial statements for the three month period ended September 30, 2010, three 
and six month periods ended December 31, 2010,and three and nine month 
periods ended March 31, 2011, which are attached hereto as Schedule “C”, 
provide narrative on the Company’s performance for the first nine months of the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2011. 

5.3 Dividends: 

A discussion of the Company’s dividend policy can be found in the “DIVIDENDS” 
section of the AIF. The Company did not declare dividends for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2011. 

6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 

          Annual MD&A 

6.1 Date  

The MD&A is attached hereto as Schedule “A”. The MD&A is for the fiscal years 
ended June 30, 2011 and June 30, 2010 and is prepared based on information 
available to the Company as at October 28, 2011. The MD&A is for the most 
recently completed fiscal year of the Company; June 30, 2011. 

6.2     Overall Performance 

Please refer to the Company’s MD&A regarding the overall performance. 

Selected Annual Financial Information 
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6.3 Please see section 5.1 for selected annual financial information. 

6.4 Variations – Please see the MD&A for a discussion on the factors that have 
caused period to period variations. 

6.5 Results of Operations – Please see the MD&A  for management’s analysis of the 
Company’s operations for the most recently completed fiscal year: 

6.6 Summary of Quarterly Results – Refer to Section 5.2 for summary quarterly 
results. The “Summary of Quarterly Results” section of the MD&A addresses 
quarterly results. 

6.7 Liquidity - Refer to the “Working Capital and Liquidity Management”, “Contractual 
Obligations”, “Loan Payable”, “14% Non-convertible Debentures Payable”, and 
“12% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable / Convertible Debentures Payable” 
sections of the MD&A for a complete discussion of the Company’s liquidity 
requirements. 

6.8 Capital Resources – The capital expenditures are described in the “Capital 
Resources” section of the MD&A.  

            As of date hereof, the capital expenditures during fiscal year ending June 30,  
           2012 are expected to be in the nature of routine updating of the Company’s  
           infrastructure and software development. Future period amounts are expected to 
           approximate current period activity levels for the next 3-4 quarters.  
 
6.9 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements - The Company does not participate in off-

balance sheet financing arrangements. 

6.10 Transactions with Related Parties – Please refer to “Transactions with Related 
Parties” section in the MD&A for a discussion of transaction with related parties.    

6.11 Fourth Quarter -  A Discussion of the fourth quarter events or items that affected 
the Company’s financial condition can be found in the M&DA under the section 
“Fourth Quarter 2011”. 

6.12 Proposed Transactions – The Company does not expect any asset or business 
acquisitions or dispositions. 

6.13 Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption – Please refer to 
section 5.1 for a discussion of the change in accounting policies which have 
resulted as a consequent of Recent Accounting Pronouncements. 



 

FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 
[July 6, 2010] 

Page 8 

DOCSTOR: 2104739\1B 

6.14 Financial Instruments and Other Instruments  

The Company has the three sources of debt capital, which are described in the 
MD&A under sections “Loan Payable”, “14% Non-convertible Debentures 
Payable, 12% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable / Convertible Debentures 
Payable”. The narrative in these sections, and notes 8 and 9 to the FS, covers 
the terms, the usage of the fund provided by these instruments, and the debt and 
equity components.  

Accounting policy connected to measurement of financial instruments is 
described in Note 1(k) to the FS. 

The risk factors connected to the financial instruments are discussed in sections 
“12% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable / Convertible Debentures Payable”, 
and  “Working Capital and Liquidity Management” of the MD&A. 

           Interim MD&A 

6.15 Date – The latest interim MD&A of the Company is for the three and nine month 
periods ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, and was prepared based on 
information available to the Company as at May 29, 2011. 

6.16 Updated Disclosure – The updated disclosure is provided in the MD&A and FS 
attached hereto respectively as Schedule “A” and “B”. 

6.17 Additional Disclosure for Issuers without Significant Revenue: 

The Company has had significant revenue from operations in each of its last two 
financial years. 

6.18 Description of Securities: 

Note 10 “Capital Stock” to the FS describes the Company’s securities.  

6.19 The Company has had significant revenue from operations in each of its last two 
financial years. 

6.20 Negative cash-flow – In the most recently completed fiscal year the Company 
had positive operating cash flow. $0.6 million for year ended June 30, 2011 and 
represented by profit before non- cash expenses * – refer to Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows which form a part of FS 

* Profit before non-cash expenses is non-GAAP financial measure which does not have any standardized 

meaning prescribed by the issuer’s GAAP and is unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented 

by other issuers. Profit before non-cash expenses is arrived after adding back expenses not affecting cash - 

amortization of property, plant and equipment; non-cash interest expense on loan payable, and debentures; 

and stock based compensation – to net profit/(loss) for the year.  
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6.21 The Company has no significant equity investees.  

7. Market for Securities 

7.1 The Company’s common shares are currently traded under the symbol ADX on 
the Canadian National Stock Exchange (the “CNSX”). 

8. Consolidated Capitalization 

8.1 The Company’s plan to refinance debentures disclosed in the last Listing 
Statement has been completed and the $2,665,000 14% non-convertible 
debentures and $6,000,000 convertible debentures were retired  by issuing 
$1,810,000 14% non-convertible debentures and $6,462,000 12% non-
convertible debentures, and this is described in note 3 “ Refinancing” to the FS. 
The Company’s share and loan capital is described in notes 7 (“Loan Payable”), 
8 (“14% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable”), 9 (12% Non-Convertible 
Debentures Payable”), and 10 (Capital Stock) in the FS. 
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9. Options to Purchase Securities 

9.1 Information concerning options to purchase securities of the Company or a 
subsidiary, as at June 30, 2011, is note 10 (“Capital Stock”) in the FS.   

Since the Listing Statement dated February 7, 2011, and to June 30, 2011, the 
Company: 

a. Issued, in May, 2011, 91,443,762 common share warrants which are attached 
to the 12% non-convertible debentures (see note 10(f) “Capital Stock – 
Dilutive securities”); 

b. Issued, in May, 2011, 3,574,750 common share warrants which are attached 
to the 14% non-convertible debentures (see note 10(f) “Capital Stock – 
Dilutive securities”); 

c. Issued, in May, 2011, 500,000 common share warrants were issued as 
Agents warrants (see note 10(f) “Capital Stock – Dilutive securities”); 

d. Issued, in March, 2011 and April, 2011 4,875,000 employee stock options 
were issued (see note 10(d) “Capital Stock – Stock options”); 

e. Cancelled or forfeited, 435,000 employee stock options; and 

No warrants or employee stock options were exercised during the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2011. 

10. Description of the Securities 

10.1 General 

           Common Shares  

I. The holders of the common shares shall be entitled to receive notice of and to attend 
at all meetings of shareholders of the Company and shall be entitled to one vote for 
each common share held at all meetings of the shareholders of the Company except 
meetings at which only holders of another specified class or series of shares of the 
Company are entitled to vote separately as class or series. 
 
II. In the event of the liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, whether 
voluntary or involuntary, or any other return of capital or other distribution of assets or 
property of the Company, among shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs 
subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to any other class 
of shares of the Company all the remaining assets and property of the Company shall 
be distributed to the holders of the common shares. 
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Class A Preference Shares 

I. The holders of the Class A preference shares shall in each year, in the discretion of 
the directors, but always in preference and priority to any payment of dividends on the 
common shares and any preference shares ranking junior to the Class A preference 
shares, for such year be entitled out of any or all profits or surplus available for 
dividends to non-cumulative dividends at the annual rate per share equal to eight per 
cent 8% of the result obtained when the amount in the stated capital account for the 
Class A preference shares is divided by the number of issued and outstanding Class 
preference shares. The holders of the Class A preference shares shall not be entitled to 
any dividends other than or in excess of the non-cumulative dividends at the. rate of 
eight per cent 8% per annum hereinbefore provided for. 

II. The Class A preference shares shall rank as regards to repayment of capital in 
priority to all other shares of the Company but shall not confer any further right to 
participate in assets. 

III. In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether 
voluntary or involuntary, the holders of the Class A preference shares shall be entitled 
to receive, before any distributions of any part of the assets of the Company among the 
holders of any other shares, an amount per share equal to the result obtained when the 
amount in the stated capital account for the Class A preference shares is divided by the 
number of issued and outstanding Class A preference shares together with all dividends 
declared thereon and unpaid and no more  

IV. The Company may at any time and from time to time purchase for cancellation the 
whole or any part of the Class A preference shares at the lowest price at which in the 
opinion of the directors such shares are obtainable but not exceeding an amount per 
share equal to the result obtained when the amount in the stated capital account for the 
Class A preference shares is divided by the number of issued and outstanding Class A 
preference shares together with all dividends declared thereon and unpaid. 

V. The Company may, upon giving notice as hereinafter provided, redeem the whole or 
from time to time any part of the outstanding Class A preference shares on payment for 
each share to be redeemed for an amount per share equal to the result obtained when 
the amount in the stated capital account for the Class A preference shares is divided by 
the number of issued and outstanding Class A preference shares together with all 
dividends declared thereon, but unpaid. Not less than thirty (30) days notice in writing of 
such redemption shall be given by mailing such notice to the registered holders of the 
shares to be redeemed, specifying the date and place or places of redemption. If notice 
of any such redemption be given by the Company in the manner aforesaid and an 
amount sufficient to redeem the shares be deposited with any trust company or 
chartered bank in Canada as specified in the notice, on or before the date fixed for 
redemption, dividends on the Class A preference shares to be redeemed shall cease 
after the date so fixed for redemption, and the holders thereof shall thereafter have no 
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rights against the Company in respect thereof, except, upon the surrender of the 
certificates for such shares, to receive payment thereof out of the monies deposited. 

VI. The holders of the Class A preference shares shall not be entitled as such except as 
hereinafter specifically provided to receive notice of or to attend any meetings of the 
shareholders of the Company and shall not be entitled to vote at any such meeting. The 
holders of the Class A preference shares shall, however, be entitled to notice of 
meetings of the shareholders called for the purpose of authorizing the dissolution of the 
Company or the sale of its undertaking or substantial part thereof. 

VII. Any amendment to the articles of the Company to delete or vary any preference, 
right, conditions, restriction, limitations or prohibition attaching to the Class A preference 
shares to create preference shares ranking in priority to or on parity with the Class A 
preference shares in addition to the authorization by special  resolution, may be 
authorized by at least two-thirds 2/3 of the votes cast at meeting of the holders of the 
Class preference shares duly called for that purpose. 

Class B Preference Shares 

I. The Class B preference shares may from time to time be issued in one or more series 
and subject to the following provisions, the directors may fix from time to time before 
any issue the number of shares that is to comprise each series and the designation of 
rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to each series of Class B 
preference shares including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the rate or 
amount of dividends or the method of calculating dividends, the dates of payment 
thereof, the redemption, purchase and/or conversion prices and terms and conditions of 
redemption purchase and/or conversion, and any sinking fund or other provisions. Prior 
to the issue of the first shares of any series, the board of directors of the Company shall 
send to the Director under the Business Corporations Act, articles of amendment 
containing description of such series including the designations, rights, privileges, 
restrictions and conditions determined by the board of directors of the Company. 

II The Class B preference shares of each series shall with respect to the payment of 
dividends and the distribution of assets or return of capital in the event of liquidation, 
dissolution, or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, or any 
other return of capital or distribution of the assets or property of the Company among its 
shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs, rank on parity with the Class B 
preference shares of every other series shall be subject to the prior rights of the Class A 
preference shares and shares of any other class ranking senior to the Class B 
preference shares and shall be entitled to preference over the common shares and any 
other shares of the Company ranking junior to the Class B preference shares. The 
Class B preference shares of any series may also be given such other preferences not 
inconsistent with the articles, over the common shares and any other shares of the 
Company ranking junior to the Class B preference shares as may be fixed as provided 
herein. 
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III. If any cumulative dividend or amounts payable on the return of capital in respect of 
series of Class B preference shares are not paid in full all series of Class B preference 
shares shall participate rateably in respect of such dividends and return of capital. 

IV. The Class B preference shares of any series may be made convertible into common 
shares or shares of any other class or classes at such rate and upon such basis as the 
directors in their discretion may determine. 

V. Unless the directors otherwise determine in the articles of amendment designating 
series, the holder of each share of series of Class B preference shares shall not be 
entitled to vote at meetings of shareholders of the Company except where specifically 
entitled by law. 

Class C Preference Shares  

I. Subject to the prior rights of the Class A preference shares but in priority to the 
common shares and the Class B preference shares, the holders of Class C preference 
shares shall be entitled to annual non-cumulative dividend equal to 8% of the result 
obtained when the amount in the stated capital account for the Class C preference 
shares is divided by the number of issued arid outstanding Class C preference shares. 
The holders of the Class C preference shares shall not be entitled to any dividends 
other than or in excess of the dividend hereinbefore provided. 

II. A holder of Class C preference shares shall be entitled to require the Company to 
redeem at any time or times all or part of the Class C preference shares registered in 
the name of such holder on the books of the Company by tendering to the Company at 
its registered office the share certificates representing the shares which the registered 
holder desires to have the Company redeem together with request in writing specifying 
the number of Class C preference shares that the registered holder desires to have 
redeemed.  Upon receipt of share certificates representing the Class C preference 
shares which the registered holder desires to have the Company redeem together with 
such request the Company shall within 30 days following the date of receipt thereof 
redeem each such share by paying to such registered holder an amount equal to the 
result obtained when the amount in the stated capital account for the Class C 
preference shares is divided by the number of issued and outstanding Class C 
preference shares together with all dividends declared thereon and unpaid up to the 
date of redemption. Such payment shall be made by cheque payable at par at any 
branch of the Company’s bankers for the time being in Canada. 

III. The Company may, upon giving notice as hereinafter provided redeem the whole or 
any part of the Class C preference shares on payment for each share to be redeemed 
of an amount equal to the result obtained when the amount in the stated capital account 
for the Class C preference shares is divided by the number of issued and outstanding 
Class C preference shares together with all dividends declared thereon and unpaid. Not 
less than thirty 30 days notice in writing of such redemption shall be given by mailing 
such notice to the registered holders of such shares to be redeemed specifying the date 
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and place or places of such redemption. If notice of any such redemption be given by 
the Company in the manner aforesaid and an amount sufficient to redeem the shares 
be deposited with any trust company or chartered bank in Canada as specified in the 
notice on or before the date fixed for redemption, dividends on the Class C preference 
shares to be redeemed shall cease after the date so fixed for redemption and the 
holders thereof shall thereafter have no rights against the Company in respect thereof 
except upon the surrender of the certificate for such shares to receive payment thereof 
out of the monies deposited. 

IV. The Company may at any time and from time to time purchase for cancellation the 
whole or any part of the Class C preference shares at the lowest price at which, in the 
opinion of the directors, such shares are obtainable, but not exceeding the redemption 
price calculated  pursuant to paragraph III above and except where the purchase is 
made on the open market or all the holders of the Class C preference shares consent to 
the purchase, the Company may purchase the shares only pursuant to tenders received 
by the Company upon request for tenders addressed to all the holders of the Class C 
preference shares and the Company shall accept only the lowest tenders. 

V. The holders of the Class C preference shares shall not be entitled to receive notice of 
or to attend any meetings of the shareholders of the Company or to vote at any such 
meeting except where specifically entitled by law. 

VI. In the event of the liquidation dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether 
voluntary or involuntary, or any other return of capital or other distribution of assets or 
property of the Company among shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs 
subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to any other class 
of shares of the Company the holders of the Class C preference shares shall be entitled 
to receive from the assets and property of the Company sum equivalent to the 
aggregate stated capital account of the Class C preference shares as class plus all 
dividends declared thereon and unpaid before any amount shall be paid or any property 
or assets of the Company are distributed to holders of any Class B preference shares, 
common shares, or shares of any class ranking junior to the Class C preference shares 
but subject to prior rights of the Class A preference shares, but shall not be entitled to 
participate in any other distribution of assets or property. 

Miscellaneous  

If the Company resolves to amend its articles in the following manner: 
 
(a) to increase or decrease any maximum number of authorized shares of class or 
series, or increase any maximum number of authorized shares of class or series having 
rights or privileges equal or superior to the shares of class or series; 

(b) to effect an exchange, reclassification or cancellation of the shares of class or 
series; or 
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(c) to create new class of shares equal or superior to the shares of class  

the holders of any common shares, Class B preference shares, and/or Class C 
preference shares are not entitled to vote separately as class and shall not be entitled to 
dissent. 

10.2 Debt securities - Debt securities are not being listed. 

10.3  

10.4 Other securities – No other securities are being listed. 

10.5 Modification of terms: 

The modification, amendment or variation of any rights attached to the securities being 
listed can be affected in accordance with the provisions attached to the securities (as 
set out in 10.1) or the provisions of the governing statute relating to the securities. 

10.6 Other attributes:  

(a) as more particularly set out in section 10.1 with respect to the securities 
being listed: 

(i) the Class A preference shares have preference and priority in the 
payment of dividends; 

(ii) the Class B preference shares have preference with respect to the 
payment of dividends and the distribution of assets or return of 
capital (no Class B preference shares are outstanding)l; and 

(iii) the Class C preference shares have priority in the payment of the 
annual dividend and in the event of liquidation, dissolution or 
winding up the Class C preference shares shall have priority (no 
Class C preference shares are outstanding). 

(b) the securities being listed do not provide for partial redemption or 
repurchased. 
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10.7 Prior Sales – During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011 the Company issued 
the securities which are not issued or quoted in any market place, as follows in 
the FS; 

1. Employee Stock Options. Described in note 10 (d) –“Capital Stock (Stock 
options)”; and 

2. Common share warrants. Described in note 3 (“Refinancing”), and 10 (f) – 
“Capital Stock (Dilutive securities)”. 

The Company filed CNSX Form 11 and Form 9 respecting Employee Stock 
Options and Common share warrants respectively. 

10.8 Stock Exchange Price: 

The following table is an update to the company trading history provided in the Listing 
Statement dated February 7, 2011.  The company traded under the symbol ADX on the 
TSX Venture Exchange prior to March 16, 2011 and under the same symbol on the 
CNSX after that date. The information for March, 2011 is only after listing of the 
Company’s common shares on the CNSX. 

Period Price Range Volume 

Min Max 

October, 20111 0.015 0.03 787,600
 

September, 2011 0.02 0.03 484,850 

August 31, 2011 0.02 0.045 941,012 

July, 2011 0.02 0.045 896,420 

June, 2011 0.005 0.025 1,128.817 

May, 2011 0.02 0.015 178,300 

April, 2011 0.03 0.015 1,065,700 

March, 2011 0.035 0.015 465,300 
1
Last updated October 28 at 4:30pm (Toronto time). 
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11. Escrowed Securities 

ESCROWED SECURITIES 

Designation of class held in 
escrow1 

Number of securities 
held in escrow 

Percentage of 
class 

Common Shares 0 0 

Class A preference share 0 0 

 1No other classes of shares are outstanding 

 

12. Principal Shareholders 

12.1 To the best of knowledge, Advantex does not have a Principal Shareholder. 

13. Directors and Officers 

13.1 The following table sets out the directors and executive officers of the Company, 
including the date when they took and their position. For the principal occupation 
of each individual listed please refer to the “DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS” 
section of the AIF. 

NAME  Position Municipality  Since 

Kelly Edmond 
Ambrose 
  
 

Chief Executive 
Officer, President, 
Secretary, and 
Director 

Thornhill, Ontario January 26, 2006 
(director) 

 

October 19, 2005 
(officer) 

Stephen Burns Chairman Toronto, Ontario February 19, 2004 

William H. Polley Director Oakville, Ontario November 21, 2002 

Carole Kerbel Director Toronto, Ontario December 22, 2009 

Mukesh 
Sabharwal 

Chief Financial 
Officer, VP 

Brampton, Ontario February 6, 2008 
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13.2 The term of office of each director will be from the date of the annual meeting of 
shareholders at which he or she is elected until the next annual meeting; or until 
his or her successor is elected or appointed. 

13.3 As of date of this Form, Kelly E. Ambrose beneficially owns 1,581,000 common 
shares (1.6% of all issued common shares), William H. Polley beneficially owns 
26,750 common shares (0.03% of all issued common shares), Mukesh 
Sabharwal beneficially owns 61,728 common shares (0.06%% of all issued 
common shares), Stephen Burns beneficially owns 200,000  common shares ( 
0.2% of all issued common shares). No other executive officer or director 
beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, any voting security.  

13.4 The directors’ membership in the Compensation Committee, Audit Committee, or 
Governance and Nominating Committee is described in the “DIRECTORS AND 
OFFICERS” section of the AIF 

13.5 Please refer to the “DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS” section of the AIF for 
disclosure on the directors and officers principle occupation.  

13.6 No director, officer or shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities to 
affect materially the control of the Company, is, or within 10 years before the date 
of this Listing Statement has been, a director or officer of any other Issuer that, 
while that person was acting in that capacity: 

(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied 
the other Issuer access to any exemptions under Ontario securities law, 
for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; 

(b) was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer 
ceased to be a director or executive officer, in the company being the 
subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the 
relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, for 
a period of more than 30 consecutive days; 

(c) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 
bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or 

(d) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became 
bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee 
appointed to hold its assets. 
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13.7 No director, officer, or shareholder holding sufficient securities to affect materially 
the control of the Company, has: 

(a) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to 
Canadian securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory 
authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian 
securities regulatory authority; or 

(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or 
regulatory body that would be likely to be considered important to a 
reasonable investor making an investment decision. 

13.8 Despite section 13.7, no disclosure is required of a settlement agreement 
entered into before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely be 
important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

13.9 No director, officer, or shareholder holding sufficient securities to affect materially 
the control of the Company, or a personal holding company of any such persons 
has, within the 10 years before the date of this Listing Statement, become 
bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency, or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee 
appointed to hold the assets of the director or officer. 

13.10 There are no material conflicts of interest between the Company (or a subsidiary) 
and director or officer if the Company or subsidiary. . 

13.11 Management — The following information is provided with respect to Tim 
Knowles, Kelly Lee Smith and Phil McGlynn who are Named Executive Officers 
(as that term is defined in applicable securities legislation). The information is 
extracted from “Employment Contracts” section of the Information Circular dated 
November 23, 2010 (the “IC”), attached hereto as Schedule “D”, and has not 
changed since the last Listing Statement dated February 7, 2011. 

Tim Knowles 

The Company and Tim Knowles entered into an employment agreement dated 
October 14, 2007, pursuant to which Mr. Knowles is employed, effective October 1, 
2007, as Chief Information Officer, at an annual salary of $225,000, and is entitled to 
earn a bonus of up to 50% of his annual salary subject to the Company achieving its 
objectives and on the successful completion of his individual agreed upon objectives. 
The awarding of bonuses is subject to management’s discretion. The Company is 
entitled to terminate Mr. Knowles’s employment without cause upon providing six (6) 
months’ notice of termination or payment in lieu of notice for the first year of completed 
service, and an additional one (1) month of notice or payment in lieu of notice for each 
additional year of completed services up to a maximum of twelve (12) months. Mr. 
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Knowles is also entitled to receive a monthly car allowance of $1000.00. This 
employment agreement supersedes a prior consulting agreement entered into between 
the Company and Retamga Inc. dated December 8, 2006 for the services of Mr. 
Knowles. On November 12, 2009 the employment agreement was amended to cover 
severance payment of twelve (12) months annual salary in the event of change of 
control triggered by specific circumstances. During the most recently completed 
financial year ended June 30, 2010, pursuant to the salary cuts implemented March 
2008 and March 2009 Mr. Knowles was drawing a reduced annualized salary of 
$186,569 from July 1, 2009 to June 26, 2010. On June 27, 2010 his annual salary was 
restored to pre-cutback amount of $225,000. On October 1, 2010, the annual salary 
was revised to $200,000. 

Kelly Lee Smith 

The Company and Kelly Lee Smith entered into an employment agreement dated 
October 2, 2007, pursuant to which Ms. Smith is employed as Vice-President, 
Database/Online Marketing at an annual salary of $175,000, subject to annual review, 
and is entitled to an annual bonus of up to 20% of her annual salary subject to the 
Company achieving its objectives, and on the successful completion of her individual 
agreed upon objectives. The awarding of bonuses is subject to management’s 
discretion. In addition, she is entitled to a performance bonus equivalent to 3% of 
increase in revenue for the online business of the Company over the corresponding 12-
month period in the prior year, subject to meeting certain financial metrics. The 
Company is entitled to terminate Ms. Smith’s employment without cause upon providing 
her with two (2) weeks’ notice of termination, or payment in lieu of notice for each 
completed year of service, up to a maximum of ten (10) months. Ms. Smith is also 
entitled to receive re-imbursement of car mileage up to $1000.00 per month. This 
employment agreement supersedes a prior employment agreement entered into 
between the Company and Ms. Smith dated April 3, 2006. On November 12, 2009 the 
employment agreement was amended to cover severance payment of twelve (12) 
months annual salary in the event of change of control triggered by specific 
circumstances. During the most recently completed financial year ended June 30, 2010, 
pursuant to the salary cuts implemented March 2008 and March 2009 Ms. Smith was 
drawing a reduced annualized salary of $139,724 from July 1, 2009 to June 26, 2010. 
On June 27, 2010 her annual salary was restored to pre-cutback amount of $175,000. 
On October 1, 2010, the annual salary was revised to $150,000. 

Phil McGlynn 

The Company and Phil McGlynn entered into an employment agreement dated 
June 25, 2008 pursuant to which Mr. McGlynn is employed, effective March 15, 2008, 
as Vice President Marketing, at an annual salary of $115,500. The agreement also 
guaranteed Mr. McGlynn to a bonus of $12,500 for the period March 16, 2008 to March 
15, 2009, payable July 1, 2008, October 1, 2008, January 1, 2009 and April 1, 2009, 
followed by an increase in the annual salary to $150,000 effective March 16, 2009. The 
Company is entitled to terminate Mr. McGlynn’s employment without cause upon 



 

FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 
[July 6, 2010] 

Page 21 

DOCSTOR: 2104739\1B 

providing two (2) months’ notice of termination or payment in lieu of notice for each 
completed year of service, up to a maximum of ten (10 months). Commencing March 
16, 2009 Mr. McGlynn is also entitled to receive a monthly car allowance of $1000.00 
($500 per month for the period May 1, 2008 to March 15, 2009). On November 12, 2009 
the employment agreement was amended to cover severance payment of twelve (12) 
months annual salary in the event of change of control triggered by specific 
circumstances. During the most recently completed financial year ended June 30, 2010, 
pursuant to the salary cuts implemented March 2008 and March 2009 Mr. McGlynn was 
drawing a reduced annualized salary of $143,000. On October 15, 2009 his annual 
salary was restored to pre-cutback amount of $150,000. On October 1, 2010, the 
annual salary was revised to $140,000. 

14. Capitalization 

14.1 The Information provided in the table is based on the registered position and the 
NOBO list as at the Record Date of November 2, 2010 with respect to the Annual 
and Special meeting of the Shareholders held on December 21, 2010.  

Furthermore, the information is prepared to the best of the Company’s 
knowledge and belief. 

In connection with the Company's Annual Meeting of the Shareholders scheduled 
for December 21, 2011 it will be furnished with an updated registered position 
and the NOBO list. The Company intends to update this section of the Listing 
Statement shortly after it in in receipt of such information. 
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Issued Capital Number of 
Securities 

(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 

(fully-diluted) 

%of Issued 
(non-

diluted) 

% of Issued 
(fully diluted) 

Public Float 97,030,868 178,538,560   
Total outstanding (A)      

     
Held by Related Persons or 
employees of the Issuer or 
Related Person of the 
Issuer, or by persons or 
companies who beneficially 
own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% 
voting position in the Issuer 
(or who would beneficially 
own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% 
voting position in the Issuer 
upon exercise or conversion 
of other securities held) (B) 

21,769,343   63,779,391 22% 36% 

    64% 
Total Public Float (A-B) 75,261,525 114,759,169 78%  

     
Freely-Tradeable Float     

Number of outstanding 
securities subject to resale 
restrictions, including 
restrictions imposed by 
pooling or other 
arrangements or in a 
shareholder agreement and 
securities held by control 
block holders (C)  

nil nil   

   78% 64% 
Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 75,261,525 119,330,690   

Note: 

1. The above tabulation is compiled based on register of shareholders as at 
October 13, 2010, provided at the Company’s request by the Company’s transfer 
agent, NOBO listing as of the Record Date of November 2, 2010 with respect to 
the Annual and Special meeting of the shareholders dated December 21, 2010 

2. The fully diluted is based on information in note 1 above, and the dilution from 
the Convertible debentures, the warrants issued to Convertible debenture 
holders, and the stock options in issuance as a February 4, 2011 
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Public Securityholders (Registered) 

For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are persons other than 
persons enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart. List registered holders 
only. 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 
     
1 – 99 securities  358          7,980 

     
100 – 499 securities  451      111,876 

     
500 – 999 securities  301      164,765 

     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  182      203,440 

     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  51      110,875 

     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  20        60,600 

     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  3        12,667 

     
5,000 or more  securities  82  73,896,494 

     
     

Note: 

1. The above tabulation is compiled based on register of shareholders as at 
October 13, 2010, provided at the Company’s request by the Company’s transfer 
agent. 

2. The holdings held via CDS &Co and CEDE &Co. totalling 81,402,511 are 
tabulated under the category 5,000 or more securities. 
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Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 

This report includes (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as 
registered shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an 
intermediary where the Issuer has been given written confirmation of 
shareholdings. 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities  358          7,980 

     
100 – 499 securities  451      111,876 

     
500 – 999 securities  301      164,765 

     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  182      203,440 

  51   
2,000 – 2,999 securities        110,875 

  20   
3,000 – 3,999 securities          60,600 

  3   
4,000 – 4,999 securities          12,667 

     
5,000 or more  securities – 
CDS and CEDE 
 
5,000 or more securities – 
other holders 

 2 
 
 
88 

  
81,402,511 
 
14,263,326 

     
Unable to confirm     

Note: 

1. The above tabulation is compiled based on register of shareholders as at 
October 13, 2010, provided at the Company’s request by the Company’s transfer 
agent. 

2. Assumption is every holder not holding securities via CDS and CEDE is a 
beneficial holder. 
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Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 

For the purposes of this report, "non-public securityholders" are persons 
enumerated in section (B) of the issued capital chart.  

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities     

     
100 – 499 securities     

     
500 – 999 securities     

     
1,000 – 1,999 securities     

     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     

     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     

     
4,000 – 4,999 securities     

  8  21,769,343 
5,000 or more  securities     

     
     

14.2 and 14.3. The details for any securities convertible or exchangeable into any 
class of listed securities, as at June 30, 2011, is provided in note 10 (f) “Capital 
Stock (Dilutive securities”) in the FS. Details of movement during the Fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2011 are provided in 9.1 in this Listing Statement.  

15. Executive Compensation 

Except for update under the sub-section “Stock Option Plan” in this section of the  
Listing Statement, the information in this section of this Listing Statement is per 
the IC dated November 23, 2010. The information will be updated and made 
available in the Company's 2011 Information Circular which, in connection with 
solicitation of proxies to be used at the Company's Annual Meeting of the 
Shareholders scheduled for December 21, 2011, will be furnished to 
shareholders and posted on the Company's SEDAR profile at www.sedar.com.  

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

http://www.sedar.com/
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The Company’s Compensation Committee was established for the purpose of 
reviewing, and recommending to the Board for approval, the compensation of executive 
officers. During the financial year ended June 30, 2010, the Compensation Committee 
was comprised of two (2) independent directors: Stephen Burns, and William H. Polley. 
As at the date hereof, the Compensation Committee is comprised of two (2) 
independent directors:  Stephen Burns and William H. Polley.  

The Compensation Committee conducts an annual review to consider and adjust 
executive compensation and relies upon the knowledge and experience of its members 
and other members of the Board of Directors regarding appropriate levels of salary and 
other compensation. The Compensation Committee assesses the performance of the 
President and Chief Executive Officer on an annual basis and establishes his base 
salary, bonus and stock option entitlement in the same way that the compensation of 
other executive officers is established, as outlined below.  

The compensation of the executive officers of the Company is determined on the basis 
of several factors, including compensation paid for similar positions at companies of 
comparable size, the individual’s experience, corporate responsibilities, the 
performance of the individual and the achievement of specified annual objectives. The 
current compensation package consists of salary, bonuses and stock options and 
emphasis is placed on salary and bonuses as described below.  The executive officers 
of the Company are entitled to receive all benefits which are available to senior 
management generally.   

Base Salaries 

The salaries and benefits paid to the Company’s executive officers, including those paid 
to the President and Chief Executive Officer, were established at or below those 
generally paid to persons performing similar functions in comparable corporations within 
the marketing services industry.   

Bonus Compensation 

Bonuses paid to the executive officers are based upon objectives relating to each 
executive officer’s corporate responsibility and to the Company’s achievement of its 
overall objectives. The bonuses paid to the Named Executives for fiscal year ended 
2010 were $45,000.  

Mr. Phil McGlynn was paid a bonus of $12,500 during fiscal year ended 2009, per the terms of his 

employment. This is explained under section 13.11 of this Form. No bonuses were paid to the other 

Named Executive Officers for fiscal year ended 2009. 

Stock Option Plan 

 
The Company has a stock option plan for directors, officers, employees and 
consultants. The stock options are non-assignable; the stock option price is to be fixed 
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by the Board of Directors (but may not be less than the regulations of the stock 
exchange on which the Company’s common shares are listed); the term of the stock 
options may not exceed five years, and payment for the optioned shares is required to 
be made in full on the exercise of the stock options. The stock options are subject to 
various vesting provisions, determined by the Board of Directors, ranging from 
immediately to four years.  
 
At the Annual and Special Meeting of the Shareholders held on December 22, 2009 the 
Company received approval from the shareholders to implement a stock option plan 
(“2009 stock option plan”) which provides a fixed maximum number of common shares 
issuable based on 12% of issued and outstanding common shares (calculated on a 
non-diluted basis), and accordingly the maximum aggregate number of common shares 
issuable under the Stock Option Plan is 11,643,704. The Board approved the 
continuation of 2009 stock option plan, as 2010 stock option plan, to the date of the next 
Annual meeting of the Shareholders in 2011. The 2010 stock option plan was approved 
by the CNSX on March 15, 2011. 
 
As of June 30, 2011, options to purchase an aggregate of 11,207,290 common shares 
were outstanding pursuant to the 2010 Stock Option Plan.  
 
There were no stock appreciation rights granted to the Named Executive Officers during 
the financial year ended June 30, 2011. The Company does not have an LTIP.  
 
The material terms of the 2010 Stock Option Plan are as follows: 

• The purpose of the 2010 Stock Option Plan is to encourage ownership of 
Common Shares by directors, senior officers, employees and consultants of the 
Company and its subsidiaries. 

• Under the 2010 Stock Option Plan, Options may be granted to Eligible Persons. 

• The aggregate number of Common Shares issuable under the 2010 Stock Option 
Plan shall not exceed 11,643,704. The foregoing number represents, as of the 
date hereof, 12% of the 97,030,868 issued common shares of the Company.  
Any option granted under the 2010 Stock Option Plan, which for any reason is 
surrendered, cancelled or terminated prior to exercise, will be available for a 
subsequent grant under the 2010 Stock Option Plan. 

• The maximum number of Common Shares which may be reserved for issuance 
to any one person in any 12 month period (unless the Company has obtained 
disinterested Shareholder approval) under the 2010 Stock Option Plan is 5% of 
the Common Shares outstanding at the time of the grant (calculated on a non-
diluted basis) less the number of Common Shares reserved for issuance to such 
person under any option to purchase Common Shares granted as a 
compensation or incentive mechanism. The maximum number of Common 
Shares issuable to insiders of the Company, at any time, under all security based 
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compensation arrangements of the Company, including the 2010 Stock Option 
Plan, shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares.  The 
maximum number of Common Shares issued to insiders of the Company, within 
any one year period, under all security based compensation arrangements of the 
Company, including the 2010 Stock Option Plan, shall not exceed 10% of the 
issued and outstanding Common Shares.  

• The option exercise price will be fixed by the Board or committee of the Board, 
but cannot be less than the closing price of the Common Shares on the day 
immediately preceding the day upon which the option is granted. Disinterested 
Shareholder approval will be obtained for any reduction in the exercise price if 
the Participant is an Insider of the Company at the time of the proposed 
amendment. 

• Options granted under the 2010 Stock Option Plan may be exercised during a 
period not exceeding five years, subject to earlier termination upon the 
termination of the optionee’s employment, upon the optionee ceasing to be an 
employee, senior officer, director or consultant of the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries, as applicable, or upon the optionee retiring, becoming permanently 
disabled or dying.  If the termination date of an option falls during or within three 
trading days of a blackout period, during which a policy of the Company prevents 
certain persons from trading in the securities of the Company, the expiry date for 
the option will be extended for an additional period expiring on the 10th trading 
day following the end of the blackout period. 

• Options are non-transferable. 

• The Board may also, in its discretion, subject to the limitations of the 2010 Stock 
Option Plan, at the time of granting a option, determine that provisions relating to 
the vesting of such option be contained in the written agreement between the 
Company and the participant.  

• The 2010 Stock Option Plan does not contain any provision for financial 
assistance by the Company in respect of options granted thereunder. 

• By its terms, the 2010 Stock Option Plan may be amended by the Board without 
the consent of the shareholders, to the extent that such amendments relate to: 
(a) complying with the requirements of any applicable regulatory authority; 
(b) complying with the rules, policies and notices of the TSX V or of any stock 
exchange on which the Company’s securities are listed; (c) altering, extending or 
accelerating the terms and conditions of vesting of any options; (d) extending the 
term of options held by a person other than a person who, at the time of the 
extension, is an insider of the Company; (e) determining, subject to all applicable 
regulatory requirements, that the provisions of the 2010 Stock Option Plan 
concerning the effect of termination of a participant’s status as an Eligible Person 
under the 2010 Stock Option Plan shall not apply to a participant for any reason 
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acceptable to the Board; (f) accelerating the expiry date of any options; 
(g) amending the definitions contained within the 2010 Stock Option Plan; 
(h) amending the categories of persons who are Eligible Persons and entitled to 
be granted options pursuant to the 2010 Stock Option Plan; (i) allowing the grant 
of short-term financial assistance to participants for the purpose of exercising 
options granted under the 2009 Stock Option Plan, subject to compliance with all 
applicable regulatory requirements; (j) authorizing the addition or modification of 
a cashless exercise feature, payable in cash or Common Shares, which provides 
for a full deduction of the number of underlying securities from the 2010 Stock 
Option Plan reserve; (k) the assignability or transferability of options, with respect 
to Eligible Persons generally and/or with respect to any participant; (l) amending 
or modifying the mechanics of exercise of options; (m) decreasing the maximum 
number of Common Shares issuable under the 2010 Stock Option Plan (with a 
corresponding decrease in the number of Common Shares reserved for issuance 
under the 2010 Stock Option Plan); and (n) amendments of a “housekeeping” 
nature, including, without limitation, amending the wording of any provisions of 
the 2010 Stock Option Plan for the purpose of clarifying the meaning of existing 
provisions or to correct or supplement any provision of the 2010 Stock Option 
Plan that is inconsistent with any other provision of the 2010 Stock Option Plan.  
Pursuant to the rules of the TSX V, other amendments to the 2010 Stock Option 
Plan are subject to approval by the TSX V and the Company’s shareholders. 

Pension Plan Benefits 

The Company does not have any defined benefits plans, defined contribution plans or 
deferred compensation plans.  

Employment Contracts:  
 
Kelly E. Ambrose 

The Company and Kelly E. Ambrose entered into an employment agreement dated 
September 26, 2007, pursuant to which Mr. Ambrose is employed as President and 
Chief Executive Officer at an annual salary of $350,000, subject to annual review, and a 
bonus of up to 100% of his salary based on performance and profitability of the 
Company.  Mr. Ambrose is also entitled to a monthly car allowance of $1,000.00 and an 
annual maximum health care spending allowance of $10,000. The Company is entitled 
to terminate Mr. Ambrose’s employment without cause (including after the effective date 
of a change of control) by paying him a lump sum payment in the amount of twelve (12) 
months’ then current salary, plus the bonus paid to him in respect of the last fiscal year 
during which ended prior to the date of termination of his employment, plus an amount 
equal to one-twelfth (1/12) of the average of the bonuses paid to him in respect of the 
last two (2) fiscal years which ended prior to the date of termination of his employment 
multiplied by the number of full months that have elapsed in the fiscal year during which 
his employment is terminated. In addition to the above payments, upon termination of 
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his employment without cause, Mr. Ambrose would continue to receive the car 
allowance, benefits, (or payment in lieu) as well as the health care spending allowance 
for the duration of the notice period, and 100% of his options would vest immediately, 
and would be exercisable for a period of 2 years from the date of termination.  This 
employment agreement supersedes the one entered into between the Company and 
Mr. Ambrose dated October 12, 2005, pursuant to which Mr. Ambrose was employed as 
President and Chief Operating Officer. During the most recently completed financial 
year ended June 30, 2010, pursuant to the salary cuts implemented March 2008 and 
March 2009 Mr. Ambrose was drawing a reduced annualized salary of $297,557 from 
July 1, 2009 to June 26, 2010. On June 27, 2010 his annual salary was restored to pre-
cutback amount of $350,000. On October 1, 2010, the annual salary was revised to 
$330,000.   

Mukesh Sabharwal 

The Company and Mukesh Sabharwal entered into an employment agreement dated 
October 27, 2006, subsequently amended March 12, 2009, pursuant to which Mr. 
Sabharwal is employed as VP and Chief Financial Officer at an annual salary of 
$150,000 and is entitled to an annual bonus of up to 50% of his annual salary, subject 
to the Company achieving its objectives, and on the successful completion of his 
individual agreed upon objectives. The awarding of bonuses is subject to management’s 
discretion. The Company is entitled to terminate Mr. Sabharwal’s employment without 
cause upon providing him with twelve (12) weeks’ notice of termination, or payment in 
lieu of notice for service provided by him up to March 12, 2009, and an additional two 
(2) weeks , prorated monthly for each completed year of service, up to a maximum of 
ten (10) months. On November 12, 2009 the employment agreement was amended to 
cover severance payment of twelve (12) months annual salary in the event of change of 
control triggered by specific circumstances. During the most recently completed 
financial year ended June 30, 2010, pursuant to the salary cuts implemented March 
2008 and March 2009 Mr. Sabharwal was drawing a reduced annualized salary of 
$133,897 from July 1, 2009 to April 12, 2010. On April 13, 2010 his annual salary was 
restored to pre-cutback amount of $150,000. On November 12, 2010, the 
Compensation Committee recommended and the Board approved an increase in the 
annual salary to $200,000 effective December 1, 2010.  

Tim Knowles 

The Company and Tim Knowles entered into an employment agreement dated October 
14, 2007, pursuant to which Mr. Knowles is employed, effective October 1, 2007, as 
Chief Information Officer, at an annual salary of $225,000, and is entitled to earn a 
bonus of up to 50% of his annual salary subject to the Company achieving its objectives 
and on the successful completion of his individual agreed upon objectives. The 
awarding of bonuses is subject to management’s discretion. The Company is entitled to 
terminate Mr. Knowles’s employment without cause upon providing six (6) months’ 
notice of termination or payment in lieu of notice for the first year of completed service, 
and an additional one (1) month of notice or payment in lieu of notice for each additional 
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year of completed services up to a maximum of twelve (12) months. Mr. Knowles is also 
entitled to receive a monthly car allowance of $1000.00. This employment agreement 
supersedes a prior consulting agreement entered into between the Company and 
Retamga Inc. dated December 8, 2006 for the services of Mr. Knowles. On November 
12, 2009 the employment agreement was amended to cover severance payment of 
twelve (12) months annual salary in the event of change of control triggered by specific 
circumstances. During the most recently completed financial year ended June 30, 2010, 
pursuant to the salary cuts implemented March 2008 and March 2009 Mr. Knowles was 
drawing a reduced annualized salary of $186,569 from July 1, 2009 to June 26, 2010. 
On June 27, 2010 his annual salary was restored to pre-cutback amount of $225,000. 
On October 1, 2010, the annual salary was revised to $200,000. 

Kelly Lee Smith 

The Company and Kelly Lee Smith entered into an employment agreement dated 
October 2, 2007, pursuant to which Ms. Smith is employed as Vice-President, 
Database/Online Marketing at an annual salary of $175,000, subject to annual review, 
and is entitled to an annual bonus of up to 20% of her annual salary subject to the 
Company achieving its objectives, and on the successful completion of her individual 
agreed upon objectives. The awarding of bonuses is subject to management’s 
discretion. In addition, she is entitled to a performance bonus equivalent to 3% of 
increase in revenue for the online business of the Company over the corresponding 12-
month period in the prior year, subject to meeting certain financial metrics. The 
Company is entitled to terminate Ms. Smith’s employment without cause upon providing 
her with two (2) weeks’ notice of termination, or payment in lieu of notice for each 
completed year of service, up to a maximum of ten (10) months. Ms. Smith is also 
entitled to receive re-imbursement of car mileage up to $1000.00 per month. This 
employment agreement supersedes a prior employment agreement entered into 
between the Company and Ms. Smith dated April 3, 2006. On November 12, 2009 the 
employment agreement was amended to cover severance payment of twelve (12) 
months annual salary in the event of change of control triggered by specific 
circumstances. During the most recently completed financial year ended June 30, 2010, 
pursuant to the salary cuts implemented March 2008 and March 2009 Ms. Smith was 
drawing a reduced annualized salary of $139,724 from July 1, 2009 to June 26, 2010. 
On June 27, 2010 her annual salary was restored to pre-cutback amount of $175,000. 
On October 1, 2010, the annual salary was revised to $150,000. 

Phil McGlynn 

The Company and Phil McGlynn entered into an employment agreement dated June 
25, 2008 pursuant to which Mr. McGlynn is employed, effective March 15, 2008, as Vice 
President Marketing, at an annual salary of $115,500. The agreement also guaranteed 
Mr. McGlynn to a bonus of $12,500 for the period March 16, 2008 to March 15, 2009, 
payable July 1, 2008, October 1, 2008, January 1, 2009 and April 1, 2009, followed by 
an increase in the annual salary to $150,000 effective March 16, 2009. The Company is 
entitled to terminate Mr. McGlynn’s employment without cause upon providing two (2) 
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months’ notice of termination or payment in lieu of notice for each completed year of 
service, up to a maximum of ten (10 months). Commencing March 16, 2009 
Mr.McGlynn is also entitled to receive a monthly car allowance of $1000.00 ($500 per 
month for the period May 1, 2008 to March 15, 2009). On November 12, 2009 the 
employment agreement was amended to cover severance payment of twelve (12) 
months annual salary in the event of change of control triggered by specific 
circumstances. During the most recently completed financial year ended June 30, 2010, 
pursuant to the salary cuts implemented March 2008 and March 2009 Mr. McGlynn was 
drawing a reduced annualized salary of $143,000. On October 15, 2009 his annual 
salary was restored to pre-cutback amount of $150,000. On October 1, 2010, the 
annual salary was revised to $140,000. 

General note with respect to employment agreement disclosed in this document. 

1. All of the above employment and consulting agreements contain 
confidentiality, non-competition and non-solicitation covenants.  

2. All bonuses are also subject to the discretion of the Company’s Board of 
Directors. 

3. All employees are entitled to participate in Health and Life insurance plans. 
The Company pays the premiums. 

The Company implemented cost reduction measures during fiscal year ended June 30, 
2008 and June 30, 2009.The background to the necessity of such measures and the 
beneficial impact of their implementation on the Company’s performance are discussed 
in detail in the Company’s interim and annual filings for fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 
and 2009, and first quarter ended September 30, 2009. The measures largely involved 
companywide salary cuts, and were implemented March, 2008 and March, 2009. At the 
Company's discretion there is potential of a payback of the salary forgone by staff at a 
time when the Company has reached certain pre-agreed financial milestones and 
provided they are in the employment of the Company at the time of payment. In the 
event of such a payout the above noted executive officers would be entitled provided 
they were then in the employment of the Company. 

The downward revisions of October 1, 2010 to the salaries of the above noted executive 
officers are permanent in nature. 

Compensation Summary  

The information in this section of this Listing Statement is per the IC dated November 
23, 2010. The information will be updated and made available in the Company's 2011 
Information Circular which, in connection with solicitation of proxies to be used at the 
Company's Annual Meeting of the Shareholders scheduled for December 21, 2011, will 
be furnished to shareholders and posted on the Company's SEDAR profile at 
www.sedar.com.  

COMPENSATION SUMMARY FOR YEAR ENDED June 30, 2010 

http://www.sedar.com/
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 The tabulation covers compensation of CEO, CFO, and other executive officers whose 
"total compensation" exceeds $150,000, and all of whom are members of the senior 
management team. 

Summary Compensation Table – 2010  & 2009(1)  

Notes: 
(1) Additional details are available in the narrative under “Executive Compensation – Employment Contracts” 
(2) “All other compensation” represents car and/or 407 ETR allowance. In case of Kelly Ambrose only, amounts paid towards 

health care spending allowance are also included, details of which are available under “Executive Compensation - Employment 
Contracts”. 

(3) The remuneration indicated under the “Salary” column reflects salary cuts in March, 2008, and March, 2009, and the roll back 
of the cuts during fiscal year 2010. The salary amounts that would be payable but for the salary cuts are noted, by individual, 
under “Executive Compensation – Employment Contracts”.  

(4) Bonuses paid for fiscal 2010.  

NEO 

(Name and 

Principal 

Position) 

Year 

 

 

 

Salary(3) 

 

($) 

 

Share 

based 

awards 

 

($) 

 

Option 

based 

awards(5) 

 

 

($) 

 

Non-

equity 

incentive 

plan 

compensa

tion  - 

Annual(4) 

 

($) 

 

Non- 

equity 

incentive 

plan 

compensa

tion – 

Long 

Term(6) 

 

($) 

 

Pension 

value 

 

($) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All other 

compensation(2) 

 

($) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Total 

compensation  

 

($) 

 

Kelly E. Ambrose 

President and Chief 

Executive Officer, and 

Secretary(7) 

2010  

 

2009 

297,557 

 

314,653 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

21,250 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

24,774 

 

24,216 

343,581 

 

338,869 

Mukesh Sabharwal 

Vice-President and 

Chief Financial 

Officer(8) 

2010  

 

2009 

135,897 

 

137,526 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

7,500 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

4,010 

 

4010 

147,407 

 

141,536 

Tim Knowles 

Chief Information 

Officer(9) 

2010  

 

2009 

186,569 

 

200,614 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

6,250 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

12,000 

 

12,000 

204,819 

 

212,614 

Kelly Lee Smith 

Vice-President, 

Database/Online 

Marketing(10) 

2010  

 

2009 

139,724 

 

156,312 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

5,000 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

18,016 

 

18,016 

162,740 

 

174,328 

Phil McGlynn 

Vice-President, 

Marketing(11) 

2010  

 

2009 

143,000 

 

119,758 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

5,000 

 

12,500 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

8,005 

 

8,005 

156,005 

 

140,263 
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(5) “SAR” means a right, granted by a company as compensation for employment services or office to receive cash or any issue or 
transfer of securities based wholly or in part on changes in the trading price of publicly traded securities. The Company has not 
granted any SARs. 

(6) “LTIP” means a plan providing compensation intended to motivate performance over a period greater than one financial year. 
The Company does not have an LTIP. 

(7) Mr. Ambrose has been the President of the Company since October 19, 2005, Chief Operating Officer of the Company 
between October 19, 2005 and December 4, 2006, Chief Executive Officer of the Company since December 5, 2006, and 
Secretary since September 24, 2009. See “Executive Compensation - Employment Contracts” for further details of his current 
employment agreement. 

(8) Mukesh Sabharwal has been the Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer since February, 2008. See “Executive 
Compensation – Employment Contracts” for further details of his current employment agreement. 

(9) Tim Knowles has been the Chief Information Officer since October, 2007. See “Executive Compensation - Employment 
Contracts” for further details of his current employment agreement.  

(10) The Company and Kelly Lee Smith entered into an employment agreement dated April 3, 2006. On October 2, 2007, the 
Company and Ms. Smith entered into a new employment agreement.  See “Executive Compensation - Employment Contracts” 
for further details of Ms. Smith’s current employment agreement.  

(11) The Company and Phil McGlynn entered into an employment agreement dated June 25, 2008. See “Executive 
Compensation - Employment Contracts” for further details of Mr. McGlynn’s current employment agreement. 

  

Incentive Plan Awards 

Outstanding Share-based Awards and Option-based Awards  

The following table sets forth the options to purchase securities of the Company granted 
up to the most recently completed financial year ended June 30, 2010 to the Named 
Executive Officers noted under “Compensation summary for year ended June 30, 
2010”.  No stock options were granted under the Stock Option Plan, to the Named 
Executive officers noted under “Compensation summary for the year ended June 30, 
2010” during the financial year ended June 30, 2010.  All awards were issued under the 
rules and regulations of the Company's then approved Stock Option Plan. 

 Option-based Awards
(1)

 Share-based Awards 

Name 

Number of 
securities 
underlying 

unexercised 
options 

 

(#) 

Option 
exercise 

price 
 
 
 

($) 

Option 
expiration date 

Value of 
unexercised in-

the-money 
options

(2)
 

 
($) 

Number of 
shares or units 
of shares that 

have not vested 
 

(#) 

Market or 
payout value of 

share-based 
awards that 

have not vested 
($) 

Kelly E. Ambrose 2,000,00 

336,660 

0.070 

0.045 

27 Oct, 2010 

17 March, 2013 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil Nil 

Mukesh Sabharwal 50,000 

300,000 

112,500 

0.135 

0.045 

0.045 

11 May, 2011 

19 March 2011 

17 March, 2013 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil Nil 

Tim Knowles 500,000 

220,410 

0.045 

0.045 

19 Sept, 2011 

17 March, 2013 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil Nil 

Kelly Lee Smith 125,000 

140,250 

0.135 

0.045 

11 May, 2011 

17 March, 2013 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil Nil 

Phil McGlynn 150,000 

84,500 

0.050 

0.010 

10 Jan, 2012 

23 Mar, 2014 

Ni 

$2,1l2 

Nil Nil 
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Notes: 

(1) Includes all options awarded to Named Executive Officers under the Stock Option Plan outstanding as at June 30, 2010. 
(2) The “Value of unexercised in-the-money options” figures reflect the aggregate dollar amount of in-the-money unexercised options held at 

the end of the year ended June 30, 2010.  The price per common share at the close of business on the TSX  V on June 30, 2010 was $0.035. 

 

 

Incentive Plan Awards – Value Vested or Earned During the Year  

The following table sets forth for each Named Executive Officer noted under 
“Compensation summary for year ended June 30, 2010” the value that would have been 
realized if the options granted under the Stock Option Plan had been exercised on their 
vesting date and the value earned under non-equity incentives, all during the year 
ended June 30, 2010. 

Name 

Option-based awards - 
Value vested during the 

year
(1)

 
 
 

($) 

Share-based awards - 
Value vested during the 

year(2) 
 
 

($) 

Non-equity incentive plan 
compensation - Value 
earned during the year 

 

($) 

Kelly E. Ambrose  
Nil 

nil  
21,250 

Mukesh Sabharwal Nil nil  

7,500 

Tim Knowles Nil nil  

6,250 

Kelly Lee Smith Nil nil  

5,000 

Phil McGlynn $2,112 nil 5,000 

Notes: 

(1) Figures represent the value that would have been realized from all options vested during the year ended June 30, 2010, calculated 
based on the difference between the closing price of common shares on the TSX V as at June 30, 2010 and the exercise price of the 
options.  The Company's closing common share price ranged between $0.005 and $0.0055 during the year ended June 30, 2010 and 
except at the time the closing share price was $0.055 the options issued at $0.045 or higher and which vested during the year ended 
June 30, 2010 from the grants under the Stock Option Plan (which grants are noted under "outstanding share-based awards and option-
based awards") were not in the money. 

(2) Figures represent the value realized by multiplying the number of shares by the market value of the underlying shares on the vesting 
date.  

Termination and Change of Control payments  
 
Potential payments upon termination of employment as of November 23, 2010 (date of 
the IC) for persons listed under “Summary Compensation Table – 2010”   
 

 Severance in event of 

termination without cause(3) 

($) 

Severance in event of triggering 

change of control situation(3) 

($) 

Mr. Kelly Ambrose(1) Minimum $351,250 

Maximum $361,875 

330,000 

Mr. Mukesh Sabharwal 42,060 150,000 
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 Severance in event of 

termination without cause(3) 

($) 

Severance in event of triggering 

change of control situation(3) 

($) 

Mr. Tim Knowles 133,330 200,000 

Ms. Kelly Lee Smith(2) 23,075 150,000 

Mr. Phil McGlynn(2) 16,155 140,000 

Notes: 
 

(1) In addition, payments would include continuation of car allowance ($12,000), annual health care spending allowance of 
$10,000. 

(2) Assumption in the event it is not termination under change of control. Two (2) weeks’ notice for each completed year of service. 
(3) Additionally, Health and Life insurance benefits would continue for the duration of the notice period. 

Compensation of Directors  
 
Directors Compensation Table 

During the financial year ended June 30, 2010, each of the directors of the 
Company (excluding director who is also Chief Executive Officer) were entitled to an 
annual director’s fee of $12,000, with each chairperson of a committee of the Board 
entitled to an additional annual fee of $5,000 and each member of a committee, other 
than the chairperson, entitled to an additional annual fee of $5,000. The Chairman of 
the Board of Directors was entitled to an additional annual fee of $42,000. 

Effective July 1, 2010, the compensation for directors of the Company (excluding 
director who is also Chief Executive Officer) has been amended. The revised terms are 

1. Each director other than the Chairman of the Board shall be paid an annual 
fee of $15,000, and $800 per meeting attended or $400 per meeting attended 
by telephone conference; 

2. The Chairman of the Board shall be paid an annual fee of $42,000, and the 
same attendance fee as the other directors; 

3. Chairman of the Compensation Committee shall be paid an annual fee of 
$2,500, and each Committee member shall be paid $500 per meeting 
attended or $250 per meeting attended by telephone conference; 

4. Chairman of the Governance and Nominating Committee shall be paid an 
annual fee of $2,500, and each Committee member shall be paid $500 per 
meeting attended or $250 per meeting attended by telephone conference; 

5. Chairman of the Audit Committee shall be paid an annual fee of $5,000 and 
each Committee member shall be paid $500 per meeting attended or $250 
per meeting attended by telephone conference. 
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The directors compensation table for fiscal 2010 is set out:   

 
 
 

Name
(1) 

 
Fees 

earned 
($) 

 
Share-based 

awards 
($) 

 
Option-based 

awards 
($) 

Non-equity 
incentive plan 
compensation 

($) 

 
Pension 

value 
($) 

 
All other 

compensation 
($) 

 
 

Total 
($) 

Stephen 
Burns

(1)
 

69,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 69,000 

William H. 
Polley 

27,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 27,000 

Carole Kerbel
(2)

 8,014 Nil 4,520 Nil Nil Nil 12,534 

Notes: 

(1) Chairman of the Board of Directors 

(2) Elected to the Board of Directors at the Annual and Special meeting of the Shareholders meeting held on December 22, 2009. 

 

 

Outstanding Share-based and Option-based Awards 

The following table sets forth the options to purchase securities of the Company granted 
up to the most recently completed financial year ended June 30, 2010, to the Directors 
noted under “Compensation of Directors”. On February 5, 2010, the Company issued 
200,000 stock options to Ms. Kerbel. All awards were issued under the rules and 
regulations of the Company's then approved Stock Option Plan. 

 
 

 Option-based Awards
(1)

 Share-based Awards 

Name 

Number of 
securities 
underlying 

unexercised 
options 

 

(#) 

Option 
exercise 

price 
 
 
 

($) 

Option 
expiration date 

Value of 
unexercised in-

the-money 
options

(2)
 

 
($) 

Number of 
shares or units 
of shares that 

have not vested 
 

(#) 

Market or 
payout value of 

share-based 
awards that 

have not vested 
($) 

Stephen Burns 525,000 0.055 December 21, 
2011 

Nil Nil Nil 

William Polley 525,000 0.055 December 21, 
2011 

Nil Nil Nil 

Carole Kerbel 200,000 0.10 February 5, 
2015 

Nil 133,000 Nil 

 

(3) Includes all options awarded to Directors under the Stock Option Plan outstanding as at June 30, 2010. 
(4) The “Value of unexercised in-the-money options” figures reflect the aggregate dollar amount of in-the-money unexercised 

options held at the end of the year ended June 30, 2010.  The price per common share at the close of business on the TSX  V 
on June 30, 2010 was $0.035. 

 

Incentive Plan Awards – Value Vested or Earned During the Year 

The following table sets forth for each Director noted under “Compensation of 
Directors” the value that would have been realized if the options granted under the 
Stock Option Plan had been exercised on their vesting date and the value earned under 
non-equity incentives, all during the year ended June 30, 2010. 
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Name 

Option-based awards - 
Value vested during the 

year
(1)

 
 
 

($) 

Share-based awards - 
Value vested during the 

year(2) 
 
 

($) 

Non-equity incentive plan 
compensation - Value 
earned during the year 

 

($) 

Stephen Burns  
Nil 

Nil  
Nil 

William Polley Nil Nil  

Nil 

Carole Kerbel Nil Nil  

Nil 

Notes: 

(3) Figures represent the value that would have been realized from all options vested during the year 

ended June 30, 2010, calculated based on the difference between the closing price of common 

shares on the TSX V on the date of vesting and the exercise price of the options.  The Company's 

closing common share price ranged between $0.005 and $0.055during the year ended June 30, 

2010, and the options vested during the year ended June 30, 2010 from the grants under the Stock 

Option Plan (which grants are noted under "outstanding share-based awards and option-based 

awards") were not in the money. 

(4) Figures represent the value realized by multiplying the number of shares by the market value of the 

underlying shares on the vesting date.  
 

16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers  

None of the Directors and Executive Officers of the Company were indebted to 
the Company as at June 30, 2011 or as at October 31, 2011. 

17. Risk Factors 

Refer to the General Risks and Uncertainties” section of the MD&A. 

18. Promoters  

Within the two years immediately preceding the date of this Listing Statement 
there have been no promoters, including any person performing Investor 
Relations Activities (as defined in the CNSX Policies), of the Company or of a 
subsidiary of the Company.   

19. Legal Proceedings 

There are no legal proceedings material to the Company to which the Company 
or a subsidiary of the Company is a party or of which any of their respective 
property is the subject matter and nor are such proceedings known to the 
Company to be contemplated. 
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Regulatory actions: 

There are no penalties or sanctions imposed against the Company by a court 
relating to provincial and territorial securities legislation or by a securities 
regulatory authority within the three years immediately preceding the date hereof 
and other than as described below, there are no penalties or sanctions imposed 
by a court or regulatory body against the Company and the Company has not 
entered any settlement agreements before a court relating to provincial and 
territorial securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority within the 
three years immediately preceding the date hereof.   

In January, 2009 the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) had initiated a review of 
the Company’s listing as the common shares no longer met the TSX’s continued 
listing requirements. On August 12, 2009 the TSX issued its decision to delist the 
Company’s common shares following the close of trading on September 11, 
2009. In citing its reasons for delisting the Company, the TSX indicated that the 
common shares no longer met the continued listing requirements of the TSX, 
particularly with respect to the threshold of minimum market value of listed 
common shares. On September 9, 2009 the TSX issued a bulletin extending the 
delisting to close of trading on September 30, 2009. The extension was to allow 
the Company to list its common shares on an alternate exchange. Advantex’s 
common shares were delisted from the TSX effective at the end of trading on 
October 14, 2009, and commenced trading on the TSX Venture Exchange at the 
opening of trading on October 15, 2009 under the existing trading symbol ADX.  

 

20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 

Excepting as noted in the “Transactions with Related Parties” section in the 
MD&A, none of the directors or executive officers of the Company, or any person 
or company that is a direct or indirect beneficial owner of, or who exercises 
control or direction over, more than 10% of the Common Shares, or any 
associates or affiliates of those persons or companies referred to above has any 
material interest, direct or indirect, by way of beneficial ownership of securities or 
otherwise, in any transaction during the Company’s last three financial years or 
during the Company’s current financial year or in any proposed transaction which 
has materially affected or reasonably expected to materially affect the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries, except as described below.  

As at June 30, 2011, the related parties representing directors and officers of the 
Company (within the meaning of applicable securities laws) had acquired 
securities of the Company as set out in section 23.2 of this Listing Statement.  
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21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 

The Company’s auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers, PO Box 82, Royal Trust 
Tower, Suite 3000, Toronto-Dominion Centre, Toronto, Ontario M5K 1G8. 

The Company’s transfer agent and registrar is CIBC Mellon Trust Company, 320 
Bay Street, Banking Hall Level, Toronto, Ontario, Canada (mailing address: P.O. 
Box 7010, Adelaide Street Postal Station, Toronto, Ontario, M5C 2W9). 

22. Material Contracts 

22.1 Please refer to the “MATERIAL CONTRACTS” section of the AIF for particulars 
of every material contract entered in the last two years ended June 30, 2010. The 
updates to these material contracts is provided in notes 7 (“Loan Payable”), 8 
(“14% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable”), 9 (“12% Non-Convertible 
Debentures Payable”), 10 (d), 10 (e), 10 (f) (“Capital Stock – Stock options”, 
“Capital Stock – Shareholders Rights Plan”, “Capital Stock – Dilutive securities”), 
in the FS, and in sections “Contractual Obligations” and “Economic Dependence” 
sections in the MD&A. 

22.2 There are no material co-tenancy, unitholders' or limited partnership agreement. 

 

23. Interest of Experts 

23.1 Other than as disclosed in section 20, there are no direct or indirect interests in 
the property of the Company or of a Related Person of the Company received or 
to be received by a person or company whose profession or business gives 
authority to a statement made by the person or company and who is named as 
having prepared or certified a part of this Listing Statement or prepared or 
certified a report or valuation described or included in this Listing Statement. 

23.2 The following table summarizes the beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, by the 
person or company referred to in section 23.1 of any securities of the Company 
or any Related person of the Company.   
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Name Beneficial ownership of securities of the Company’s or related 
Person – as at June 30, 2011. 

Kelly E. Ambrose 1,581,000 common shares in the capital of the Company. 

$100,000 12% Non-convertible Debentures of the Company 
(“Transactions with Related Parties” section in ,MD&A) 

336,660 employee stock options exercisable at 0.045 expiring on  17 
March, 2013 

2,600,000 employee stock options exercisable at $0.02 expiring 
March 16, 2016 (‘Stock Options” section in MD&A) 

83,250 common share warrants exercisable at $0.045 expiring 
December 9, 2011  

1,415,100 common share warrants exercisable at $0.04 expiring 
September 30, 2013, attached to 12% Non-Convertible Debentures 
Payable (note 9 (“12% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable / 
Convertible Debentures Payable”) and note 10 (f) Dilutive securities 

Stephen Burns 200,000 common shares in the capital of the Company 

525,000 employee stock options exercisable at 0.055 expiring on  21 
December, 2011 

300,000 employee stock options exercisable at $0.02 expiring March 
16, 2016 (‘Stock Options” section in MD&A) 

William H. Polley 26,750 common shares in the capital of the Company 

525,000 employee stock options exercisable at 0.055 expiring on  21 
December, 2011 

300,000 employee stock options exercisable at $0.02 expiring March 
16, 2016 (‘Stock Options” section in MD&A) 
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Mukesh Sabharwal 61,728 common shares in the capital of the Company 
 
$30,000 12% Non-convertible Debentures of the Company 
(“Transactions with Related Parties” section in ,MD&A) 

$10,000 14% Non-convertible Debentures of the Company 
(“Transactions with Related Parties” section in MD&A) 

300,000 options exercisable at 0.045 expiring on 19 September, 2011 
 
112,500 options exercisable at 0.045 expiring on 17 March, 2013 

700,000 employee stock options exercisable at $0.02 expiring March 
16, 2016 (‘Stock Options” section in MD&A)  

424,530 common share warrants exercisable at $0.04 expiring 
September 30, 2013, attached to 12% Non-Convertible Debentures 
Payable (note 9 (“12% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable / 
Convertible Debentures Payable”) and note 10 (f) Dilutive securities  

19,750 common share warrants exercisable at $0.04 expiring 
September 30, 2013, attached to 14% Non-Convertible Debentures 
Payable (note 8 (“14% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable / 
Convertible Debentures Payable”) and note 10 (f) Dilutive securities  

Carole Kerbel 200,000 employee stock options exercisable at $0.02 expiring March 
16, 2016 (‘Stock Options” section in MD&A) 
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23.3 Except for individuals who are already directors, officers or employed by the 
Company, none of the persons or directors, officers or employees of the persons 
listed in this section 23 is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a 
director, officer or employee of the Company or of any associate or affiliate of the 
Company. 

24. Other Material Facts 

24.1 All material facts about the Company and its securities that are necessary in 
order for this Listing Statement to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all 
material facts relating to the Company and its securities are contained in this 
Listing Statement and the attached Schedules. 

25. Financial Statements  

25.1 The MD&A  for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 is attached as 
Schedule “A”, the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 
June 30, 2011 is attached as Schedule “B“, the interim MD&A for the three month 
period ended September 30, 2010; the interim MD&A for the three and six month 
periods ended December 31, 2010; the interim MD&A for the three and nine 
month periods ended March 31, 2011 are attached as Schedule “C”, the 
Information Circular dated November 23, 2010 is attached as Schedule “D”. The 
Financial Statements for Fiscal years ended June 30, 2010 and 2011 are 
attached to previous Listing Statement.  

CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating 
to Advantex Marketing International Inc. It contains no untrue statement of a material 
fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is 
necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of 
the circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Markham, Ontario 

this  31st  day of  October , 2011. 

“Kelly E. Ambrose”  “Mukesh Sabharwal” 

Kelly E. Ambrose 
Chief Executive Officer 

 Mukesh Sabharwal 
Chief Financial Officer 

 

“Kelly E. Ambrose”  “Bill Polley” 

Kelly E. Ambrose 
Director 

 William Polley 
Director 
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Schedule A 
The MD&A for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010
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ADVANTEX® MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Operating Results 

For the Fiscal years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 

 

This management’s discussion and analysis has been prepared based on information available to 

Advantex Marketing International Inc. (“Advantex” or “the Company”) as at October 28, 2011. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis is a narrative explanation to enable the reader to assess 

material changes in the financial condition and results of operations of the Company during the 

twelve months ended June 30, 2011, compared to the twelve months ended June 30, 2010. This 

management’s discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited 

consolidated financial statements and the related notes for the twelve months ended June 30, 2011, 

and which are available on www.sedar.com. All dollar amounts are stated in Canadian Dollars 

unless otherwise noted. 

 

Overall Performance 

 

Advantex is a leader in the marketing services industry. The Company develops and manages 

merchant-based loyalty programs for organizations through which their customers accelerate earning 

frequent flyer miles and/or other rewards on purchases at participating merchants. Under the 

umbrella of each program, Advantex provides participating merchants with marketing, 

customer incentives and additionally pre-purchase of merchants’ future sales through its Advance 

Purchase Marketing® 
(APM) model.  

 

Advantex partners with Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (CIBC), and Aeroplan Canada Inc. 

(Aeroplan) (collectively “Affinity partners”). On a combined basis, Advantex has contractual 

marketing access to more than five million Canadian consumers with above-average personal and 

household income. The Company’s merchant partner base currently consists of more than 1,000 

merchants operating restaurants, golf courses, independent inns, resorts and selected hotels, spas, 

retailers of men’s and ladies fashion, footwear and accessories, retailers of sporting goods, florists 

and garden centres, book and newspaper stores, health and beauty centres, and gift stores, many of 

which are leaders in their respective categories (collectively “Retail programs”). 

Advantex earns revenue as customers make purchases at participating merchants. 

Advantex common shares are traded on the Canadian National Stock Exchange (“CNSX”) under the 

symbol ADX. 

 

 

http://www.sedar.com/
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The highlights of the performance for Fiscal 2011 compared with Fiscal 2010 are: 

 

 In a weak economy, the Company increased its revenues, and continued to generate profit before 

non-cash expenses *, illustrated in the following tabulation. 

 

 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 

Revenues $13,523,000 $11,961,000 

Contribution from Operations (EBITDA *)  $  2,170,000 $  2,337,000 

Profit before non-cash expenses * $     640,000 $  1,230,000 

            *EBITDA and Profit before non-cash expenses are non-GAAP financial measures which do not have any  

                standardized meaning prescribed by the issuer’s GAAP and is unlikely to be comparable to similar measures  

                presented by other issuers. For the Company, the most directly comparable measure to EBITDA is Profit before 

                Amortization and Interest. Profit before non-cash expenses is arrived after adding back expenses not affecting cash 

– amortization of property, plant and equipment; non-cash interest expense on loan payable, and debentures; and  

               stock based compensation – to net profit/(loss) for the year.  

 

 There was an increase in the number of merchants participating in the Company’s Retail 

programs. During Fiscal 2011 the average number of participating merchants was 823 compared 

with 627 during Fiscal 2010, an increase of 31.3%. The key driver of revenues for the Retail 

programs is merchant participation;  

 

 The revenues from Retail programs for Fiscal 2011 were $13.5 million compared with $12.0 

million for Fiscal 2010, an increase of 12.7%.  Factors contributing to revenue growth lagging 

growth in merchant participation; a).  mix of merchants  in terms of their sales,  b).  participation 

in APM vs. Marketing Only programs (defined under Revenue section), where APM generates 

higher revenue for comparable merchant, and c). the fees that the Company can charge 

merchants in a weak economy;  

 

 Gross Margins at 67.0% for Fiscal 2011 compared with 69.5% for Fiscal 2010, due to increase in 

direct costs reflecting higher cost of rewards associated with the participating merchants in 

men’s and ladies fashion, footwear and accessories business segment in general, and, in 

particular, merchants participating in the Aeroplan sponsored program. Consequently, Fiscal 

2011 Gross Profit is up $746,000 compared with Fiscal 2010 vs. the expected $940,000 if the 

Fiscal 2011 gross margin had tracked Fiscal 2010;  

 

 Selling expense, and General and Administrative expense (SG&A) in Fiscal 2011 at $6.9 million 

is 51.0% of revenues compared with $6.0 million, 50%, in Fiscal 2010. The Company increased 

its sales staff to capitalize on the revenue expansion opportunities available through the growth 

of its Retail programs. The increase in SG&A is also partially consequent to staff salaries being 

restored in latter half of Fiscal 2010 to March, 2008 levels; 

 

 Stated interest cost (cash interest paid or payable) for Fiscal 2011 was $1.6 million compared 

with 1.3 million for Fiscal 2010. The higher dollar cost reflects both an increase in the utilization 

of the line of credit facility (loan payable) which the Company utilized to expand its APM 

program business, and an increase in the interest rate on this facility effective March, 2010. In 

Fiscal 2011 there is very modest impact from increase in cost on refinancing, in May 2011, of 

the convertible debenture ($6.0 million at a coupon of 10%) as a $6.462 million 12% non-

convertible debenture. The percent of cash interest to revenues in Fiscal 2011 is 11.8% compared 

with 10.8% in Fiscal 2010; 
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 The Company closed down its online shopping mall business during the third quarter ended 

March 31, 2011 and it is now a discontinued operation. Respecting discontinued operation, 

Fiscal 2011 was a loss of $18,000 compared with a profit of $114,000 in Fiscal 2010; and 

 

 Increase in SG&A exceeding growth in gross profit, combined with higher stated interest cost, 

are the primary causes for Fiscal 2011 net loss of $492,000 compared with modest net profit of 

$34,000 in Fiscal 2010.  

 

Additional highlights for Fiscal 2011 are: 

 

 On March 15, 2011, the Company completed a seamless transition of the listing of its common 

shares from the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) to the Canadian National Stock Exchange 

(“CNSX”); 

 

 On March 31, 2011, the Company acquired a $100,000  non-interest bearing Unsecured 

Convertible Promissory Note (“Note”) issued by GaggleUp Inc. (“Gaggle Up”), an Ontario 

corporation, that is a new entrant in the couponing business. Under certain conditions the Note is 

convertible into a less than 5% minority interest in the Class B common shares of GaggleUp; 

 

 The soft launch by the Company, to its merchants, of GaggleUp couponing product was a 

success, however the formal launch is on hold while Advantex and Gaggleup work out 

operational issues; and 

 

 With respect to the GST re-assessment in the amount of $755,000, the background to which is 

described in greater detail in the section Risks and Uncertainties in this document, by June 30, 

2011 the Company had paid the entire amount of the re-assessment plus interest totalling 

$805,600. The Company has contested the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) position, and has 

filed a notice of objection. The amounts paid are included as a recoverable asset and are included 

with accounts receivable on the balance sheet. However, no assurance can be given with regards 

to the timing of a decision to the Company’s notice of objection and or whether the notice of 

objection will be decided in whole or in part in the Company’s favour. 

 

The period of twelve months ended June 30, 2011(Fiscal 2011) was an eventful period for Advantex 

with successes that we expect will work for the Company in Fiscal 2012 and beyond. 

 

1. The first success was the launch, on September 1, 2010, of an Aeroplan sponsored program to 

merchants in men’s and ladies fashion, footwear and accessories. The launch came after months 

of preparatory work, including set-up of relationships with processors enabling seamless 

issuance of Aeroplan miles at participating merchants; 

2. This was quickly followed by renewal of the existing agreement with CIBC for a three year term 

ending August 31, 2013, an important event given that until then about 90% of the Company’s 

gross profit depended on this relationship;  

3. Next was the renewal of the existing line of credit facility with Accord Financial Inc. (Accord) 

extending the term to December, 2013, and increasing the facility limit which allowed for future 

room to grow the Company’s Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) program to merchants; 

4. The re-financings of the existing debentures in May 2011 was an important event given that the 

debentures substantially fund the Company’s operations; the Company raised $8,272,000 and 

used the proceeds to repay the existing debentures totaling $8,665,000 and accrued interest to  
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date of redemption. Since the debentures were re-financed to September 30, 2013, it has allowed 

for financial stability; and 

5. Finally, the development, and launch towards the end of the Fiscal 2011 of a new APM program 

targeted towards smaller merchants who are an important driver of economic activity but ignored 

by traditional providers of finance, and therefore provide a revenue growth opportunity to the 

Company. This APM product is designed to provide loyalty, and working capital to small 

independent merchants for extended periods of up to 180 days. In a short span of four months 

ending September 30, 2011, the Company had over 70 merchants participating in this program.  

 

The Company continues to work on expanding its product offerings to the independent merchants in 

Canada, with the goal of bringing to market merchant programs that will enhance their revenues, and 

save costs. 

 

Our expansion activity was tempered with adjustments necessary to ensure that these activities 

would be profitable over the long-term. The Aeroplan sponsored program which the Company 

launched on September 1, 2010 was a success with both merchants and Aeroplan affinity partner for 

its value proposition.  However, an operating issue that developed was that during our second 

quarter, it became apparent that the Company was becoming a victim of its success; the actual costs 

of loyalty rewards were exceeding the amount that had been budgeted in the pricing model.  The 

Company made the difficult, but necessary, decision to put a hold on adding new merchants to the 

program and opened discussions with its affinity partner. The discussions were successful making 

this one of the key accomplishments during the third quarter. The Company reached an agreement, 

effective March 1, 2011, on revisions to the Aeroplan program reward offerings that enable it to 

resume growing the merchant base. The results for Fiscal 2011 reflect the high reward costs, and the 

consequent impact on gross margin and profitability. 

 

After the loss of its contract with United Airlines from September, 2010 the Company discontinued 

its online shopping mall business from mid-January, 2011. The decision by United Airlines was not 

totally unexpected. From the Company’s perspective it was a business with increasing downward 

pressure on margin, and that discontinuing this activity allows the Company to focus on its core 

business; Retail programs.  

 

By the end of the third quarter the Company was of the view that the operational and financing 

issues were resolved and so it commenced implementation of its plan to expand merchant 

participation, with the goal to double its existing revenue base by the end of the Fiscal 2013. The 

Company ramped up the sales staff. The results for Fiscal 2011 reflect the cost, while its benefits in 

terms of increased merchant participation and revenues are expected to be enjoyed over the next two 

fiscal years. 

 

Given that the Company earns revenue as customers make purchases at participating merchants, the 

weakness in the economy and its effect on future consumer spending is a key uncertainty for the 

Company. By increasing the merchant participation across the different business segments it 

currently operates in, the Company expects to mitigate this risk. 

 

A detailed look at the results for Fiscal 2011 is set out in the following sections. 
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Results of Operations 
(in millions of dollars, except for earnings per share)  F 2011  F 2010  

 

Revenue:  

    

     

     Retail programs 

                              

  

$ 13.5 

 

$ 12.0 

 

Direct Expenses  (4.5) (3.6)  

Gross Profit  9.1 8.3 

 

 

Selling, General and administrative expenses  (6.9) (6.0) 

 

 

Contribution from Operations, and  

    Profit before amortization and interest 

 2.2 2.3  

     

Amortization   (0.4) (0.5)  

Interest on loan payable, debentures, and other  (2.2) (2.0) 

 

 

Profit/(Loss )for the Year – continuing operations  $(0.5)      $(0.1)  

 

Profit/(Loss) for the Year – discontinued operations                              $0.0 $0.1 

 

 

    Net Profit/(Loss) for the Year                                                                   $(0.5)         $0.0 

  

    Basic, and Diluted earnings per share                                                         $0.00          $0.00 

 

The presentation in Results of Operations section is not set out in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

accounting principles (GAAP), but has been included to provide additional analysis for the reader. Some numbers 

may not add due to rounding. 

 

Revenue 

  

Advantex Retail programs have two business models. In both models, revenue is recognized at the 

time that purchases are made by consumers through the Advantex programs. Revenue can vary 

significantly from year to year, depending on the number of merchants participating under each 

model:  

  

(1) Advance Purchase Marketing Model (“APM”): The Company acquires the rights to cash flow 

from future designated credit card transactions at a discount from participating merchants 

(Transaction credits) and promotes the merchant, by way of cardholder incentives through its 

loyalty marketing programs, and targeted marketing programs. The Company’s revenue is from 

the designated credit card receipts at participating establishments, net of the Company’s costs to 

acquire the transaction credits. Proceeds from the spend on designated credit cards are received 

by the Company and a predetermined portion is applied to reduce the transaction credit balance 

that the merchant owes. 

(2) Marketing Only Model: Merchants participate in the loyalty/marketing programs without the 

Company acquiring transaction credits. In this model, Advantex provides loyalty rewards and/or 

marketing support for participating merchants and earns its revenue, based on an agreed 

percentage of each designated card transaction in exchange for the services it provides 

participating establishments. The Company’s CIBC Advantex, and Aeroplan sponsored 

Marketing Only programs fall under this model. 
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The key driver of revenues for the Retail programs is merchant participation.  

 

The revenue trends during the twelve months ended June 30, 2011 (Fiscal 2011) vs. corresponding 

period in the previous year ended June 30, 2010 (Fiscal 2010) are tabulated: 

 
 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 Inc/(Dec) 

Avg. # of participating 

merchants in Retail 

programs during the period 

 

823 

 

627 

 

   31.3% 

    

Retail programs     

   APM $   8,740,000 $   7,354,000      18.8% 

  Marketing Only $   4,613,000 $   4,346,000         6.1% 

    13,353,000    11,700,000     14.1% 

   Sales of Aeronotes         131,000         261,000  

   Total  Retail programs $ 13,484,000 $11,961,000     12.7% 

    

Miscellaneous income etc. $        39,000 $nil  

    

Total revenues $ 13,523,000 $11,961,000    13.1% 

 

The growth in revenues trails growth in merchant participation consequent to a) mix of the 

merchants; increase in merchants with lower overall sales; b) the fee rate that the Company is able to 

charge to secure new merchant participation and retain existing merchants is declining because of 

adverse economic conditions; and c) mix of merchants participating in the APM vs. Marketing Only 

programs; Marketing Only program generates lower revenues vs. APM program for a comparable 

merchant. 

 

Direct Expenses  

 

Direct expenses include cardholder award costs, the cost of marketing and advertising on behalf of 

merchants, cost of sales related to sale of aeronotes, and provision against receivables under all 

programs.  

 

During Fiscal 2011, the Company’s direct costs were adversely impacted by the higher reward costs 

on the Aeroplan sponsored programs, launched September 1, 2010, compared with the Advantex 

CIBC programs, and this is reflected in increase in direct cost, as a percent of revenue, in Fiscal 

2011 compared with Fiscal 2010. Cost of advertising and marketing, an integral part of the value 

proposition for participating merchants, and provision against receivables, as a percent of revenues, 

were marginally lower in Fiscal 2011 compared with Fiscal 2010.  

 

Gross Profit 

 

Gross profit was $9.1 million in Fiscal 2011 compared with $8.3 million in Fiscal 2010 and this 

improvement reflects growth in revenues from Retail programs.  

 

Gross Margin for Fiscal 2011 was 67.0% compared with 69.5% for Fiscal 2010, attributable to the  

increase in direct expenses which increase is explained under section Direct Expenses in this 

document. 
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Selling Expenses 

 

Selling expenses include expenses arising from remuneration of sales staff, transaction processing 

and other selling activities.  

 

Selling expenses in Fiscal 2011 were $2.9 million compared with $2.6 million in Fiscal 2010, an 

increase of 12.9% vs. the 12.7% increase in revenues from Retail programs. 

 

General and Administrative Expenses   

 

G&A expenses include compensation for all non-sales staff, professional fees, head office premises 

costs, shareholder and public relations costs, office overheads, capital and income taxes, and foreign 

exchange gains/(losses). 

 
 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 Inc/(Dec) 

Compensation for non-

sales staff 

$2,697,000 $2,342,000 $355,000 

Less: software 

development costs 

capitalized (details 

provided under section 

Capital Expenditures in 

this document) 

 

 

( 162,000) 

 

 

 

(   278,000) 

 

 

$116,000 

 $2,535,000 $2,064,000 $471,000 

Severance cost $     54,000 $  - $  54,000 

Capital and Income taxes $     42,000 $     63,000 $(21,000) 

All other G&A expenses $1,272,000 $1,209,000 $  63,000 

Total G&A Expenses $3,903,000 $3,336,000 $567,000 

 

During the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2010  cuts to salaries of the CEO and senior management which 

were implemented in March, 2008 and March, 2009, as a temporary measure in response to the 

general economic conditions, were rolled back and salaries revised to levels prior to cuts. Effective 

October, 2010, the salaries of CEO and certain senior management staff were reduced on a 

permanent basis. The salary of the CFO was increased from December, 2010. Details are available 

under Employment Contracts section of the Information Circular dated November 23, 2010. 

 

Allowing for above noted changes to salaries of senior management, compensation costs were 

consistent with prior year, except for a reduction in the amount of activity that qualified for 

capitalization as software development. 

 

Stock Based Compensation 

 

Fiscal 2011 includes expense for the 4,875,000 stock option grants in March, 2011, and April, 2011. 

Details are provided under section Stock Options in this document. 

 

Interest Expense 

 

The interest expense is tabulated: 
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 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 
Stated interest expense   

 Loan payable $     616,000 $    306,000 
 14% Non-convertible debentures payable $     352,000 $    373,000 
 12% Non-convertible debentures payable / Convertible debentures $     625,000 $    600,000 
 Other $          - $       9,000 
 Total stated interest $  1,593,000 $ 1,288,000 

   
Non cash interest on loan payable and debentures, comprising accretion and 

deferred financing charges 
$     612,000 $    670,000 

Total interest expense $  2,205,000 $ 1,958,000 

 

The Company deploys the funds available to it under loan payable, and 14% non-convertible 

debentures payable with merchants activated under its Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) 

program. The funds available under 12% non-convertible debentures are used for working capital 

purposes including deploying with merchants activated under its APM program. The funds deployed 

are reflected as transaction credits on the consolidated balance sheet.  

 

The increase in stated interest on loan payable is consequent to a) higher draw of loan payable which 

is used exclusively to fund growth of the Company’s APM program and, b) increase in interest rate 

on loan payable.  

 

Discontinued Operations 

 

The Company closed down its online shopping mall business during the third quarter of Fiscal 2011 

and it is now a discontinued operation.  

 

Online shopping malls were loyalty programs aimed at members of airline affinity programs 

whereby the members could earn additional rewards through the purchase of goods through online 

malls.  

 

      The financial performance is tabulated: 

 

 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 

Revenue  $      668,000 $    2,315,000 

Direct Expenses         382,000       1,414,000 

Gross Profit         286,000          901,000 

Selling and marketing            304,000          787,000 

Profit (Loss) – discontinued 

operations 

        (18,000)          114,000 

 

The decline in Fiscal 2011 compared with Fiscal 2010 is a reflection of the termination of the 

Company’s contract with United Airlines effective October 1, 2010, and the Company abandoning 

this activity from mid-January, 2011. United Airlines accounted for over 80% of the revenues of the 

online shopping mall business. 
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With respect to direct expenses, following closure of this activity in mid-January, 2011, certain 

provisions for costs were written back as not required, and hence during Fiscal 2011 compared with 

Fiscal 2010, the drop in direct expenses exceeds the decline in revenue. 

 

With respect to selling and marketing expenses, despite the termination of the Company’s agreement 

with United Airlines effective October 1, 2010, and shutdown of this activity from mid-January, 

2011, staffing – albeit at reduced level – had to be retained to ensure an orderly wind-down.   

 

Net Profit/(Loss) for the Year 

 

The Net Loss for Fiscal 2011 was $492,000 [Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share, a loss, of 

$(0.00)] compared with a Net Profit of $34,000 [Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share of $0.00] in 

Fiscal 2010.  

 

Fiscal 2011 compared with Fiscal 2010 may be summarized: Despite revenues being higher by $1.6 

million, resulting in increase in gross profit of $0.7 million, the higher gross profit is totally offset by 

higher a). operating expenses of $0.9 million, and b). stated interest costs of $0.3 million. 

 

Working Capital and Liquidity Management 

 

During Fiscal 2011, from its continuing operations, the Company had a profit before non-cash 

expenses * of $659,000 compared with $1,116,000 during Fiscal 2010.  
 

(* Profit before non-cash expenses is a non-GAAP financial measure which does not have any standardized meaning 

prescribed by the issuer’s GAAP and is unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. Profit 

before non-cash expenses, from continuing operations, is arrived after adding back expenses not affecting cash - 

amortization of property, plant and equipment; non-cash interest expense on loan payable, and debentures; and stock 

based compensation – to loss and comprehensive loss for the year from continuing operations). 

 

Furthermore, during Fiscal 2011, from its continuing operations, the Company used cash in its 

operating activities of $1,657,000 compared with $1,245,000 during Fiscal 2010.  The following 

tabulation explains the movement. 

 

 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 

Profit / (loss)  from continuing operations 

adjusted for items not affecting cash 

 

$    659,000 

 

 

$ 1,116,000 

   

Changes in non-cash working capital items   

Accounts receivable        (463,000)       (295,000) 

Transaction credits     (2,870,000)    (1,387,000) 

Prepaid expenses and sundry expenses              1,000         (27,000) 

Aeronotes          315,000       (381,000) 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses          701,000       (271,000) 

    (2,316,000)   (2,361,000) 

Cash generated / (used) in operations    $(1,657,000)  $(1,245,000) 

 

Increase in Transaction credits reflects increase in the number of merchants participating in the 

Company’s APM program. The amounts paid to the CRA respecting the GST notice of  
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re-assessment, which the Company has contested, and which is explained in detail under the General 

Risks and Uncertainties section, are included as a recoverable asset and are included with accounts 

receivable on the balance sheet ($805,600 and $366,000 as at June 30, 2011 and June 30, 2010 

respectively).  

  

Cash received from financing activities related to draw against the line of credit (loan payable) is 

used to fund merchants participating in the Company’s APM program. During Fiscal 2011, the 

proceeds from the renewal of debentures were used to settle the amounts due on maturity, and early 

retirement of debentures. The proceeds of the debentures are fully deployed, and are used to fund 

merchants participating in the Company’s APM program, and its working capital requirements. 

   

Cash used in investing activities was for expenditures for property, plant and equipment and for 

Fiscal 2011was $393,000 compared with $613,000 during Fiscal 2010. Current period year to date 

Fiscal 2011 includes capitalization of $162,000 compared with $278,000 during Fiscal 2010 of 

internal costs expended on software development connected to ensuring operability of the 

Company’s loyalty marketing programs sponsored by CIBC and Aeroplan. In addition, during Fiscal 

2011, the Company acquired a  $100,000  non-interest bearing Unsecured Convertible Promissory 

Note (“Note”) issued by GaggleUp Inc. (“Gaggle Up”), an Ontario corporation, that is a new entrant 

in the couponing business. Under certain conditions the Note is convertible into a less than 5% 

minority interest in the the Class B common shares of GaggleUp. 

 

As of date hereof, the capital expenditures during fiscal year ending June 30, 2012 are expected to 

be in the nature of routine updating of the Company’s infrastructure and software development.  

Future period amounts are expected to approximate current period activity levels for the next 3-4 

quarters. 

 

The Company generally carries minimal cash balances as it attempts to maximize the funds deployed 

with merchants (Transaction credits on the balance sheet) participating in its APM program.  

 

Additional capital in the form of debt and/or equity will be required to fund the continued expansion 

of the Company’s APM programs, as described under General Risks and Uncertainties. At present, 

the need for additional capital is satisfied by the Loan payable, however it is a demand facility, and 

in addition it has a constraint since it requires the Company to co-fund a certain portion of the 

Transaction credits purchased using this facility. 

 

The Company does not participate in off balance sheet financing arrangements.  

 

The Company’s operations are funded by debt. To continue its current operations and fund growth 

during fiscal year ending June 30, 2012 requires the Company to have continued access to its non-

convertible debentures, and loan payable.   

 

In May, 2011 the Company completed the renewal of its Non-convertible Debentures Payable and 

Convertible Debentures Payable. The 14% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable, and 12% Non-

Convertible Debentures Payable mature September 30, 2013, and additional details are provided in 

14% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable, and 12% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable / 

Convertible Debentures Payable sections of this document, and in the Consolidated Financial 

Statements for the year ended June 30, 2011.  
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A summary of current period cash flows is set out below: (in millions of dollars) 

 

 Cash Working Capital ** 

As at July 1, 2010 $0.5 $5.3 
Generated from operations *            0.6 

 
               0.0 

 
Changes from non-cash working 

    capital items, including those of discontinued operations                       

 

(2.0)  2.0 

Financing activities  - loan payable 1.8             (1.8) 
Financing activities – net of: principal amounts raised on 

renewal of debentures; principal amounts paid on maturity;  

and transaction costs connected to renewal of debentures  

(0.5) 

 

              0.0 

Investment             (0.1) 

 
              0.0 

 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (0.4)  0.0 
Changes in cash balances -  (0.6) 

Movement during the twelve months (0.6) ( 0.4) 
As at June 30, 2011                                                 $(0.1)              $4.8 

                               

     Some of the numbers in the above presentation may not add due to rounding. 

 

     * Represented by profit before non-cash expenses from continuing operations and discontinued operations. Profit before non-cash 

      expenses is a non-GAAP financial measure which does not have any standardized meaning prescribed by the issuer’s GAAP and is 

      unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. Profit before non-cash expenses from continuing operations  

      and discontinued operations is arrived after adding back expenses not affecting cash - amortization of property, plant and equipment;  

      non-cash interest expense on loan payable, and debentures; and stock based compensation – to net profit/(loss) for the year. 

  

      * * Represented by current assets less loan payable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, including assets and liabilities of  

     discontinued operations 

 

Contractual Obligations  

 

Contractual obligations as at June 30, 2011 were due as follow.  
(in millions of dollars)                                

                             Payments Due by Period   

 

Contractual obligation 

 

Total 

Less than 

1 Year 

1 to 3 

Years 

4 to 5  

Years 

After 

 5 Years 

 

Loan Payable 

 

     $4.9 

 

    $4.9 

 

 $- 

 

       $- 

 

            $- 

 

14% Non-convertible 

debentures 

 

12% Non-convertible 

debentures                          

 

    $1.8 

 

 

     $6.5 

 

    $- 

 

        

    $- 

 

    $1.8 

 

        

    $6.5         

 

       $-  

 

 

       $- 

 

            $-  

 

             

            $- 

      

Operating Leases      $0.4 $0.1        $0.3    $-             $-  

      

The Company has an annual commitment to purchase minimum rewards as part of its three year 

arrangement to develop and manage a loyalty program for its affinity partner, Aeroplan Canada Inc. 

Under the agreement signed in March, 2010, the Company’s commitment was to purchase $600,000 

of rewards during the first year of the loyalty program. The first year commenced from the launch 

date of the loyalty program on September 1, 2010, ending August 31, 2011. As part of certain 

amendments to the agreement agreed after December 31, 2010, the Company was committed to 
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purchase an additional $100,000 of rewards for a revised total first year commitment  of $700,000, 

to be purchased by August 31, 2011. In May, 2011, the parties reached an understanding to extend 

the timeline, for Advantex to meet its first year commitment, to December 31, 2011. The 

understanding is expected to be formalized as part of the agreement. The Company expects to  meet 

its first year commitment of $700,000 by the due date. The Company has a second year 

commitment, commencing January 1, 2012 and ending December 31, 2012 to purchase $1,000,000 

of rewards.  The Company expects to work with Aeroplan in developing and implementing a plan 

that allows the Company to expand the loyalty program profitably while meeting its second year 

commitment.    

 

The Company has a three year agreement with a processor under which it is committed to provide 

referrals that lead to 30 new accounts each year for the processor. The Company has to pay $5,000 

for each shortfall from the annual target of 30 new accounts. The maximum payout, in the event of 

total non-performance by the Company, in any given year, is $150,000. The initial timeline to meet 

first year new accounts was July 15, 2011. The Company and the processor have reached an 

understanding to extend the timeline to December 31, 2011. The understanding is expected to be 

formalized as part of the agreement. As of end of September, 2011 the Company had provided 10 

new accounts. The Company and the processor have worked out a jointly funded incentive program 

directed at potential merchants, and the Company expects that it will secure the balance of 20 

qualified referrals by December 31, 2011. 

 

Loan Payable  

 

The Company has a credit facility (loan payable) with Accord Financial Inc. (Accord) to be used 

exclusively to acquire transaction credits under its Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) program.  

 

The facility was renewed in September, 2010 for a three year term ending in December, 2013. The 

facility has a limit of $8.5 million. As at June 30, 2011, the Company had utilized $4.9 million from 

the $8.5 million line of credit available under loan payable. The interest rate is the greater of prime 

rate of a certain Canadian bank plus 12.75% per annum and 15% per annum. The loan payable is a 

demand facility.  

 

Under the agreement, the interest rate payable by the Company on the entire facility will be reduced 

to prime rate of a certain Canadian bank plus 11.5% per annum provided the Company reaches a 

certain amount of draw against the facility.  

 

14% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable  

 

The 14% non-convertible debentures payable, issued in December, 2007 and January, 2008, 

(“existing debentures”) in the principal amount of $2,665,000 matured December 31, 2010. As at 

December 31, 2010, the Company had not repaid the existing debentures, and was in default under 

the existing debentures agreement. As at March 31, 2011 the Company was in default on its 

obligations to repay the principal amount of $2,665,000, and accrued interest from January 1, 2011 

to March 31, 2011. 
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The Company issued 14% non-convertible debentures payable in the principal amount of $1,810,000  

(“new debentures”) in May, 2011, and they mature September 30, 2013.  

 

As at May 19, 2011 the Company had repaid the principal due to existing debentures holders in the 

amount of $2,665,000 together with all accrued and unpaid interest.  

 

The Company has fully deployed the proceeds of new debentures which are used exclusively to 

acquire transaction credits under its Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) program.  

 

The new debentures are secured by a first charge against the merchant transaction credits funded by 

the proceeds of the new debentures. 

 

      The Company met the financial covenant stipulated in the new debentures agreement.  

 

12% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable / Convertible Debentures Payable  

 

The convertible debentures payable (“convertible debentures”) in the principal amount of 

$6,000,000 were due to mature on December 9, 2011 and had a general security agreement over all 

the assets of the Company.  As at March 31, 2011, the Company met the convertible debentures  

interest coverage financial covenant but was in breach of the current asset financial covenant, and 

was in default under the convertible debentures agreement. 

 

The Company completed an early refinancing of convertible debentures. The Company issued 12% 

non-convertible debentures (“12% debentures”) in the principal amount of $6,462,000 in May 2011, 

and they mature September 30, 2013.  

 

As at May 19, 2011, the Company repaid the principal due to the convertible debentures holders in 

the amount of $6,000,000 together with all accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption.  

 

The 12% debentures proceeds are used for the purpose of the Company’s working capital needs. 

 

As at June 30, 2011 the Company met the two financial covenants, interest cover and current assets, 

stipulated in the 12% debentures agreement. 

 

The 12% debentures are secured by a general security agreement over all the assets of the Company 

and its subsidiaries. The significant financial covenants of the 12% debentures require the Company 

to meet a defined level of current assets and interest cover on a quarterly basis. If the Company were 

to breach a financial covenant or were unable to pay its debts as they came due, it would be in 

default under the 12% debentures agreement and, as a result, the 12% debentures holders would 

have the right to waive the event of default, demand immediate payment of the 12% debentures in 

full or modify the terms and conditions of the 12% debentures including key terms such as 

repayment terms, interest rates and security. If the Company is unable to secure alternative financing 

to repay the 12% debentures, the 12% debentures holders would have the right to realize upon a part 

or all of the security held by them.  
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Selected Annual and Quarterly Information  

 

     The following financial data has been derived from the Company’s annual audited consolidated 

financial statements for the past three fiscal years ended June 30, 2011. Fiscal 2009 and Fiscal 2010 

disclosure with respect to revenue in this document has been revised to conform to presentation for 

Fiscal 2011.   

 

 
(in millions of dollars, except per share 

amounts) 

          F 2011           F 2010  F 2009  

     

Revenue (continuing operations)           $ 13.50          $ 12.00            $ 9.70  

Net Profit (Loss) for the year $ (0.5) $ 0.00 $ (0.9)  
Basic Earnings Per Common Share $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ (0.01)  
Diluted Earnings per Common Share $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00  

Total Assets $ 14.43 $ 12.18 $ 9.88  

Current Liabilities $8.75 $13.96 $ 4.53  

Long-term Liabilities $ 7.05 $ - $ 7.23  

No Cash Dividends declared per common share                 

     

     Given that For Fiscal 2009 and Fiscal 2011, the Company reported a net loss, the effect of 

potential exercise of all the dilutive securities would be anti-dilutive. Fiscal 2010, the basic EPS was 

$0.00, consequently the impact from potential exercise of all dilutive securities would be negligible. 

 

     Working capital (represented by current assets less loan payable, and accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities) as at June 30 for the past three fiscal years was: 

 
 (in millions of dollars) F 2011 F 2010 F 2009  

 $4.8 $ 5.3  $ 4.7   

 

     Please refer to the section on Results of Operations in this document for an analysis of 

Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2010. 

      

     The results for Fiscal 2010 and 2009 were: 
       (in millions of dollars) 

      F 2010 F 2009   

      

         Net Profit / (Loss)   $ 0.0 $ (0.9)  

 

Highlights of Fiscal 2010 compared to Fiscal 2009: 

 

1. Increase in revenues – Fiscal 2010 $12.0 million versus $9.7 million for Fiscal 2009.  

2. Operational Highlights. (Some numbers in the presentation may not add due to rounding) 

 

 Revenue Gross 

Profit 

SG&A Contribution 

from 

Operations 

Stated and 

Non-cash 

Interest 

Net Profit / 

(Loss) 

F 2010 $12.0 m $8.3 m $6.0 m $ 2.3 m $  2.0 m $  0.0  m 

F 2009 $  9.7 m $7.1 m $5.9 m $ 1.2m $ 1.8 m $(0.9) m 

Better/ 

(worse) 

23.7%  16.9%  (1.7)% $ 1.1 m  $(0.2)m  $  0.9  m 
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3. Working capital was $5.3 million as at June 30, 2010 versus $4.7 million as at June 30, 2009. 

The major changes in working capital during Fiscal 2010 compared to Fiscal 2009 were: 

a  Increase in Transaction credits of $1.4 m;  

b. Increase in Loan payable of $2.1 m; 

c. Decrease in Accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $0.5 m. 

 

Summary of Quarterly Results 
 

(Some numbers in the presentation may not add because of rounding) 

 

Fiscal Year June 30, 2011 

 

     

(in millions of dollars, except per 

share amounts) 

 Q1 

 Sept 30  

 2010 

 Q2 

 Dec 31 

 2010 

 Q3 

 Mar 31 

 2011 

 Q4 

 June 30 

 2011 

 

 

Total 

      

Revenue               $ 3.4 $ 3.6 $ 2.8 $ 3.7 $ 13.5 

Percentage of Annual Revenue 25%  27 % 21 % 27 % 100 % 

Net Profit/(Loss) $ 0.2  $ 0.1 $ (0.4) $ (0.3) $ (0.5) 

 

 

     

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Common Share                    $ 0.00          $ 0.00     $ (0.00) $ (0.00) $ (0.00) 

 
Fiscal Year June 30, 2010      

(in millions of dollars, except per 

share amounts) 

 Q1 

 Sept 30  

 2009 

 Q2 

 Dec 31 

 2009 

 Q3 

 Mar 31 

 2010 

 Q4 

 June 30 

 2010 

 

 

Total 

      

Revenue               $ 3.0 $ 3.1 $2.7 $ 3.2 $ 12.0 

Percentage of Annual Revenue 25 % 26 % 22 % 27 % 100 % 

Net Profit/(Loss)  

 

 

$ 0.1 $ 0.2 $ (0.3) $ 0.0 $ 0.0 

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Common Share:                    $ 0.00          $ 0.00     $ (0.00) $ 0.00 $ 0.00 

  
Some numbers in the above presentation may not add due to rounding. 

 

The fluctuations of the Company’s results are also reflective of seasonal consumer behavior at 

merchants participating in the Retail programs, weak economic conditions prevalent since the fall 

of calendar 2008 as well as market penetration of the Company’s Retail programs and Online 

business.  

 

The Company abandoned its online business during Q3 of Fiscal 2011, and is now a discontinued 

operation. 

 

Fourth Quarter 2011 

    

      Overview 

       

Based on the increasing merchant participation in its Retail programs, the Company recorded better 

revenues compared with corresponding quarter in the previous year. However, because of higher 

direct expenses the gross profit for Q4 of Fiscal 2011 was flat compared with Q4 of Fiscal 2010. The 

Company started to ramp up its sales staff during Q3 of Fiscal 2011, to expand its merchant base,  
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and this was the primary reason for increase in SG&A costs. While the increase in cost was 

immediate, the ramp up in merchant participation and the resulting revenues will be gradual. Higher 

SG&A on flat gross profit is reflected in a net (loss) for Q4 of 2011 compared with a modest net 

profit in Q4 of F 2010.    

 

      Revenue 

 

Revenue for Q4 of Fiscal 2011 was $3.7 million compared with $3.2 million in Fiscal 2010.  

 

The increase in revenues of $0.5 million (14.8%) compared with Q4 of Fiscal 2010 reflected 

increase in merchant participation in the Company’s programs. Average number of merchants 

participating during Q4 of Fiscal 2011 was 862 compared with 690 during Q4 of Fiscal 2010, an 

increase of 172 (24.9%).  

 

The growth in revenues trails growth in merchant participation consequent to a). mix of merchants  

in terms of their sales,  b). participation in APM vs. Marketing Only programs, where APM 

generates higher revenue for comparable merchant, and c). the fees that the Company can charge 

merchants in a weak economy;  

 

Direct Expenses / Gross Profit 

 

Direct expenses include cardholder award costs, the cost of marketing and advertising on behalf of 

merchants, cost of aeronotes, and provision against receivables under all programs.  

 

Direct expenses for Q4 of Fiscal 2011 were $1.4 million compared with $1.0 million in Fiscal 2010; 

a 44.0% increase in direct expenses compared with 14.8% increase in Q4 revenues. Partially reflect 

higher cost of rewards associated with the participating merchants in men’s and ladies fashion, 

footwear and accessories business segment in general, and, in particular, merchants participating in 

the Aeroplan sponsored program. The other contributory factor was the higher provision required for 

bad debts.  

 

The above is reflected in lower Gross Margin for Q4 of Fiscal 2011 at 61.3% compared with 69.2% 

in Fiscal 2010, and consequently the Gross Profit for Q4 of Fiscal 2011 at $2.2 million was flat 

compared with Q4 of Fiscal 2010.  

 

      SG&A 

 

Selling expenses include expenses arising from remuneration of sales staff, transaction processing 

and other selling activities. G&A expenses include compensation for all non-sales staff, professional 

fees, head office premises costs, shareholder and public relations costs, office overheads, capital and 

income taxes, and foreign exchange (losses)/gains. 

 

Selling expenses for Q4 of Fiscal 2011 were $0.9 million compared with $0.7 million in Fiscal 2010. 

The Company started to increase its sales staff during Q3 of Fiscal 2011 to expand merchant 

participation in the business segments it currently operates in, and this is reflected in higher costs in 

Q4 of Fiscal 2011 vs. same period in the corresponding period. 
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G&A was $1.0 million during Q4 of Fiscal 2011 compared with $0.9 million during Q4 of F 2010, 

primarily increase in manpower costs. 

 

Contribution from Operations, and Profit/(Loss) before Amortization and Interest 

 

Q4 of Fiscal 2011 had positive Contribution from Operations, and Profit before Amortization and 

Interest of $401,000 compared with $629,000 in Fiscal 2010, a decline of $228,000, reflecting the 

impact of higher SG&A on a flat Gross Profit.  

 

Discontinued Operations 

 

The Company closed down its online shopping mall business during the third quarter of Fiscal 2011 

and it is now a discontinued operation.  

 

Online shopping malls were loyalty programs aimed at members of airline affinity programs 

whereby the members could earn additional rewards through the purchase of goods through online 

malls. 

 

The profit /(loss) from discontinued operations for Q4 of Fiscal 2011 was $nil compared with a 

profit of $45,000 for Q4 of Fiscal 2010. 

 

Net Profit/(Loss) 

 

The Net (Loss) for Q4 of Fiscal 2011 was $252,000 compared with a Net Profit of $13,000 in Fiscal 

2010, a decline of $265,000. 

 

Capital Resources 

 

Expenditures for property, plant and equipment for year ended June 30, 2011 were $393,000 (2010 

– $613,000). Current year includes capitalization of $162,000 of internal costs expended on 

software development connected to ensuring operability of the Company’s loyalty marketing 

programs sponsored by CIBC and Aeroplan (Fiscal 2010 - $278,000). The costs are being 

amortized over the shorter of useful life of the software and term of affinity partner agreement. 

 

The company has capitalized leasehold improvement costs of $32,000 during year ended June 30, 

2011 relating to the modification of the new leased premises that improve its functionality. The 

leasehold improvement costs are being amortized over the term of the lease, which term is for a five 

year period expiring February 29, 2016. 

 

Critical Accounting Estimates 

 

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, in accordance with Canadian 

GAAP, requires the Company’s management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 

reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 

date of the audited consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and 

expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 

 



 18 

 

The Company’s significant accounting policies are disclosed in note 1 to the audited consolidated 

financial statements. 

 

The Company calculates the fair value of certain financial instruments using the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model. This requires assumptions regarding the risk-free rate of return, the expected 

life of the instrument, the expected volatility in the price of the common shares of the Company and 

the expected level of dividends to be paid on the common shares of the Company.  

 

The Company has certain business risks linked to the collection of its transaction credits. The 

Company generally acquires transaction credits that are estimated to be fully extinguishable within 

30 – 120 days. Until these credits have been extinguished through designated cardholder spend at 

participating merchants there is a credit risk, and an increase in credit risk associated with the 

longer time frame approaching and/or exceeding 120 days. Management has implemented 

additional review and monitoring procedures to assess the creditworthiness and ongoing eligibility 

of merchants if they wish to benefit from larger purchases of transaction credits. In the event of 

default, the Company has set up escalating collection measures, and an allowance is determined on 

specifically identified transaction credit balances that are delinquent and amount of the specific 

provision is determined based on whether the account has been referred for legal collection, 

whether the Company’s attempt to debit the merchant’s bank account for payments due to the 

Company has been rejected, the underlying reason for the rejections, and the Company’s historical 

experience on recoveries. 

 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the net balance of the transaction credits, accounts 

receivable, and assets of discontinued operations appearing on the Company’s balance sheet as at: 

 

                                                                                   June 30, 2011                             June 30, 2010 

 

Transaction credits, accounts receivable, 

      assets of discontinued operations                         $14,105,352                                $10,616,621 

                                                                                             

Allowance                                                                      $(855,043)                                  $(377,330) 

Net reported on the balance sheet                              $13,250,309                                $10,239,291 

 

Stock Options 

 

The Company has a stock option plan for directors, officers, employees and consultants. The stock 

options are non-assignable; the stock option price is to be fixed by the Board of Directors but may 

not be less than the regulations of the stock exchange on which the Company’s common shares are 

listed; the term of the stock options may not exceed five years, and payment for the optioned shares 

is required to be made in full on the exercise of the stock options. The stock options are subject to 

various vesting provisions, determined by the Board of Directors, ranging from immediately to 

four years.  

 

At the Annual and Special Meeting of the Shareholders held on December 22, 2009 the Company 

received approval from the shareholders to implement a stock option plan (2009 stock option plan) 

which is 12% fixed maximum number of common shares issuable based on issued and outstanding 

common shares (calculated on a non-diluted basis), and accordingly the maximum aggregate 

number of common shares issuable under the Stock Option Plan is 11,643,704. In December 2010,  
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the Directors approved the continuation of the 2009 stock option plan to the date of the annual 

meeting of the shareholders in 2011. The Directors intend to approve continuation of the 2009 stock 

option plan to date of the annual meeting of shareholders in 2012. 

 

The stock options grants during the year are tabulated. All stock options vest on date of grant. 

 

 Date of grant # of stock 

options 

Exercise price Expiry date 

Independent 

Directors 

March 16, 

2011 

   600,000 $0.02 

 

March 16, 

2016 

Independent 

Director 

April 18, 

2011 

   200,000 $0.02 April 18, 

2016 

Director and 

CEO 

March 16, 

2011 

2,600,000 $0.02 March 16, 

2016 

CFO March 16, 

2011 

   700,000 $0.02 March 16, 

2016 

Senior 

managers 

March 16, 

2011 

   775,000 $0.02 March 16, 

2016 

Total  4,875,000   

 

The Company calculated the fair value of the stock options issued during Fiscal 2011 using the 

Black-Scholes option pricing model and determined their fair value was $73,920 (200,000 stock 

options granted in 2010, fair value was $4,520). The assumptions used in the model were:  

  

 2011 

 

2010 

Expected life of stock option   5 years 5 years 

Expected volatility of common share price  103% 109% 

Risk-free rate of return  1.3% 0.7% 

 

The number of stock options available for future issuance as at June 30 is as follows: 

 

 2011 2010 

Maximum number reserved for issuance   11,643,704 11,643,704 

Less: Outstanding at end of year (11,207,290) (10,943,475) 

Number of options available for future issuance   436,414 700,229 

 

$80,916 of stock option expense for the year ended June 30, 2011, reflecting $73,920 fair value of 

options issued in Fiscal 2011 and the balance respecting issuance in prior years,  was recorded in these 

consolidated financial statements (2010 - $67,789), and was recorded as an increase in contributed 

surplus.         

 

Outstanding Share Data and Dilutive Securities  

     

    Outstanding shares 

 

As at June 30, 2011 and 2010, the number of issued and outstanding common shares of the 

Company outstanding was 97,030,868.  
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    Dilutive Securities 

 

As at June 30, 2011, the Company was committed to issuing additional common shares under 

certain circumstances, as described below. 

 

 

 Number of Common shares Notes 

   Issuable   

3,574,750 common share 

warrants attached to 

$1.810 million 14% 

Non-convertible 

debenture issued by 

Advantex Dining 

Corporation, a subsidiary 

of the Company, in May, 

2011  

3,574,750 Exercise price is $0.04. 

Common share warrants 

expire September 30, 2013. 

91,443,762 common 

share warrants attached 

to $6.462 million 12% 

Non-convertible 

debenture issued by the 

Company, in May, 2011 

91,443,762 Exercise price is $0.04. 

Common share warrants 

expire September 30, 2013. 

500,000 Agents warrants 

– issued to Trapeze 

Capital Corp. on 

completion of the 

renewal of debentures, in 

May, 2011 

   500,000 Exercise price is $0.04. 

Common share warrants 

expire May 10, 2013. 

9,863,988 common share 

warrants  

9,863,988 Exercise price $0.045, expiry 

December 9, 2011, issued to 

Convertible debenture holders 

in January / February, 2009. 

Employee Stock options 11,207,290 Maximum number of shares 

issuable under the existing 

Stock Option Plan is 

11,643,704.  

TOTAL 116,589,790  

 

Transactions with Related Parties 

 

As at June 30, 2011 and 2010, the following related parties are holders of the debentures described 

under 14% non-convertible debentures payable, and 12% non-convertible debentures payable / 

convertible debentures payable in this document and in notes 8 and 9 to the audited consolidated 

financial statements for year ended June 30, 2011. 
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The related parties purchased debentures on terms and conditions applicable to the other 

subscribers, which are more fully described in notes 8 and 9 to the audited consolidated financial 

statements for year ended June 30, 2011. 

 

Title As at June 30, 2011 As at June 30, 2010 

 Principal Amount 

– 14% non -  

convertible 

debentures     

(New  14% 

debentures) 

Principal Amount 

– 12% non – 

convertible 

debentures  

(12% debentures) 

Principal Amount 

– 14% non – 

convertible 

debentures      

(Existing 14% 

debentures)       

Principal Amount     

- Convertible 

debentures 

(Convertible 

debentures) 

Chief Executive 

Officer – Kelly E. 

Ambrose 

$nil $100,000 $30,000 $50,000 

Director – William 

Polley 

$nil $nil $25,000 $nil 

Chief Financial 

Officer – Mukesh 

Sabharwal 

$10,000 $30,000 $15,000 $nil 

 

 

On completion of the re-financing of debentures, Trapeze Capital Corp. and Trapeze Asset 

Management Inc., on behalf of their respective managed accounts had purchased 1,800 units of the 

new 14% debentures totaling to $1,800,000 new debentures, and 5,672 units of 12% debentures,  

totaling to $5,672,000.  

 

Outlook 

 

The Company wants be become a one stop shop where small independent merchants across Canada 

can shop for their choice of products and services that enhance their revenues and save costs. The 

Company believes it has a good starting point with its current product offerings of loyalty, 

marketing, business intelligence, and working capital. In Fiscal year ending June 30, 2012 (Fiscal 

2012) it plans to introduce more valuable product offerings. In this manner, the Company becomes 

an increasingly valuable partner of merchants, resulting in a shorter selling cycle, higher retention, 

and being able to leverage its existing selling staffing to generate these incremental revenues. In 

order to market its products across more business verticals it is in discussions with its existing and 

potential new affinity partners.  

 

With multi-year affinity and financial partner arrangements now locked in, operational issues such 

as those connected to the Aeroplan program resolved, and potentially a large merchant market for 

its Retail programs, the Company believes it has a solid platform to grow its merchant base and 

ensure a sustainable high growth in its future revenues and profitability.  

 

The ramp up in sales staff is beginning to yield results in Fiscal 2012, and the Company is confident 

of its ability to increase the number of merchants participating in its Retail programs. The progress 

since June, 2011 has been encouraging. The Company’s merchant base has grown from 923 at the 

end of June, 2011 to 1,034 by end of September, 2011.  That being said, the uncertain economic 

outlook continues to be a worry; softness in the consumer spending given the recent pressures on  
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household incomes is expected to impact their discretionary spending, and therefore put merchant 

margins under pressure which in turn impacts Advantex though slow-down in new sales, retention 

and lower fees as merchants attempt to cut costs. 

 

The Company does expect to better its Fiscal 2011 performance and be profitable in Fiscal 2012. 

 

Economic Dependence 

 

A significant portion of the Company’s current revenue is dependent upon its offline value-added 

loyalty program agreement with CIBC under which rewards are awarded to holders of certain CIBC 

credit cards when they complete purchases at merchants participating in Advantex programs. In 

September, 2010, the Company renewed its existing arrangement with CIBC, and signed a new 

agreement expiring August 31, 2013. This agreement grants the Company conditional exclusivity 

rights to market its programs within Dining (restaurants, golf courses, independent inns, resorts and 

selected hotels, spas) business segment, and selected Retail (primarily men’s and ladies fashion, 

footwear and accessories) business categories.  The agreement can be terminated by CIBC under 

certain conditions prior to August 31, 2013. The significance to the Company of the CIBC 

agreement can best be assessed by comparing its revenues with that of other programs as tabulated 

at the end of this section.  

 

Recognizing the risks of overdependence on a partner and/or a business segment from the 

perspective of business continuity, and limitation on future revenues and profitability, the Company 

sought out and signed an agreement with Aeroplan. The agreement was signed in March, 2010 and 

is effective until August 31, 2013, with an option to extend for one additional period of two years 

by mutual consent of the parties, and can be terminated by Aeroplan under certain conditions prior 

to August 31, 2013. This value-added loyalty marketing agreement provides exclusive rights to the 

Company to market its product offerings within the Fashion Retail segment. The exclusivity in 

favour of the Company is conditional upon the Company meeting certain targets on an annual basis. 

Under certain conditions the Company can expand its product offering outside Fashion Retail 

categories, with Aeroplan holding the right of first refusal. The Company launched this program on 

September 1, 2010.   

 
     

12 months           

F2011 

          

           12  months 

           F2010                                                                                                                              

Revenue – continuing operations $ % $ % 

Retail programs 

    CIBC Advantex programs (Dining business 

segment) 

 

$ 11.3 m  

 

84 

 

$ 11.6 m 

 

97 

     CIBC Advantex programs / combined CIBC 

Advantex & Aeroplan sponsored programs, and 

Aeroplan sponsored programs (Fashion Retail, 

and selected Retail business segments)  

2.2 m 16 0.4 m 3 

     

 Total  $ 13.5 m 100 $ 12.0 m 100 
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General Risks and Uncertainties  

 

The Company’s current loyalty programs are dependent upon ongoing consumer interest in 

accumulating frequent flyer miles for the purpose of obtaining reward air travel on designated 

airlines. Due to the financial and security difficulties being experienced by the airline industry 

overall, there is a risk that the underlying frequent flyer currencies used in these programs could 

become unavailable to Advantex, or that consumer interest in accumulating these awards could 

decline. This, in turn, may result in difficulties in retaining and acquiring participating merchants 

and may adversely affect the Company’s revenue and direct costs.  

 

The Company provides marketing services to retail organizations and, in more general terms, the 

Company could be considered competitive with other advertising and promotional programs for a 

portion of a client’s total marketing budget. If client promotional spending levels decrease, this 

could have a material adverse effect on Advantex’s revenue. In addition, there are additional loyalty 

program operators in Canada, targeting the same merchant base as Advantex. In the past, other 

companies have attempted to develop similar merchant-based coalitions on their own and failed, 

making Advantex, with its established merchant coalition and proven loyalty systems, a reputable 

outsourced partner in the Canadian marketplace. Advantex believes its substantial client equity, 

proprietary systems, breadth of in-house services and significant affinity partner contracts provide a 

strong platform for the Company to compete effectively in the North American marketplace and 

respond to new competition in Canada. 

 

Advantex’s operations are dependent on the abilities, experience and efforts of its management and 

highly skilled workforce. While Advantex has entered into employment agreements with key 

management personnel and other employees, and each of these agreements includes confidentiality 

and non-competition clauses, the business prospects of the Company could be adversely affected if 

any of these people were unable or unwilling to continue their employment with Advantex.  

 

The Company has certain business risks linked to the collection of its transaction credits under its 

APM program. However, based upon historical results and the fact that the Company generally 

acquires transaction credits that are estimated to be fully extinguishable within 30 – 120 days, under 

its established APM program, management believes that these risks are manageable. With the 

introduction, during the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2011, of an APM program targeted towards smaller 

merchants where the acquired transaction credits are estimated to be fully extinguishable within 180 

days, the Company has leveraged its experience from the established APM program to design 

processes to manage risk. Until transaction credits have been extinguished through cardholder 

spend there is a credit risk, and an increase in credit risk associated with the longer time frame 

approaching and/or exceeding 180 days or more. Management has implemented additional review 

and monitoring procedures to assess the creditworthiness and ongoing eligibility of merchants if 

they wish to benefit from larger purchases of transaction credits.  

 

The Company believes that increasing the amount of the transaction credits purchased from 

merchants will result in higher revenue and, consequently, improve the Company’s results and cash 

flows. The Company requires additional debt financing to scale its ability in this area. If the 

Company is not successful in raising additional debt financing, its ability to expand its merchant 

base and increase revenue may be impeded, resulting in reduced growth in cash flows from 

operations. This could affect the Company’s liquidity and working capital position. Any debt 
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structure would need to recognize the general security interest over the Company’s assets, held by 

the 12% non - convertible debenture holders. 

 

General market conditions or the financial status of the Company in terms of its profitability, cash 

flows and strength of its consolidated balance sheet, and uncertainty connected to the CRA’s 

decision to the Company’s notice of objection on the GST matter explained in detail later in this 

section may limit access to additional financing and continued access to existing sources of debt. 

These conditions might adversely affect the availability or cost of financing, the specific factors 

affecting the Company’s attractiveness as a borrower or as an investment vehicle, or the market’s 

perception of the Company’s performance and future prospects.  

 

In addition to economic factors, the profitability of the Company is subject to a number of risk 

factors including: continued affinity partner (CIBC, and Aeroplan), and processor (provide data to 

the Company that enables billing and issuance of loyalty rewards under the Aeroplan sponsored 

program) participation; continued access to the line of credit (loan payable) under existing terms; 

continued support of debenture-holders in the event the Company is in breach of any of its 

covenants;  merchant credit risk; competition, changes in regulations -including taxation - affecting 

the Company’s activities, consumer behavior; continued demand for the Company’s programs by 

merchants; ability to operate the Aeroplan sponsored program profitably while meeting the annual 

commitments to purchase minimum aeroplan miles, and ability to meet the  minimum referrals 

stipulated under the agreement with a processor, both of which are described in detail under section 

Contractual Obligations in this document.    

 

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is subject to ongoing audits by tax authorities. 

While the Company believes that its tax filing positions are appropriate and supportable, from time 

to time, certain matters are reviewed and challenged by the tax authorities. The Company regularly 

reviews the potential for adverse outcomes in respect of tax matters and believes that, other than as 

described below, any ultimate disposition of a reassessment will not have a material adverse impact 

on its liquidity, consolidated financial position or results of operations due to adequate provisioning 

for these tax matters. Should an outcome materially differ from existing provisions, the Company’s 

effective tax rate, its earnings, and its liquidity and working capital position could be affected 

positively or negatively in the period in which matters are resolved.  

 

After an audit in 1998, the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) determined that the Company was 

providing marketing services. Since 1998, the Company has continued in the same business 

activities. After completion of a recent audit, the CRA reversed its 1998 position. In April 2009, the 

Company received a notice of reassessment from the CRA for Goods and Services Tax owed 

related to the Company’s CIBC Advantex program and the ability to claim certain Input Tax 

Credits during Fiscal years 2005-2007. The re-assessment is in the amount of $755,000. The 

Company has contested the CRA position, and has filed a notice of objection. Since this is a GST 

re-assessment, the amount of the re-assessment has to be paid in full, and is independent of the 

appeals process. The Company has worked out a 24 month payment plan with the CRA, and has 

recorded amounts paid under the payment plan as a recoverable asset. However, no assurance can 

be given with regards to the timing of a decision to the Company’s notice of objection and or 

whether the notice of objection will be decided in whole or in part in the Company’s favour. In the 

event the notice of objection is denied and or there is an adverse change to the currently agreed 

payment plan with the CRA, the Company’s earnings and its liquidity and working capital position 

could be affected negatively. 



 25 

 

Forward-Looking Information   

 

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis contains certain “forward-looking information”. All 

information, other than information comprised of historical fact, that addresses activities, events or 

developments that the Company believes, expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future 

constitutes forward-looking information. Forward-looking information is typically identified by 

words such as: anticipate, believe, expect, goal, intend, plan, will, may, should, could and other 

similar expressions. Such forward-looking information relates to, without limitation, information 

regarding: the Company’s belief that the key driver of its revenues from Retail programs is the 

number of merchants participating in such programs;  the Company’s belief that for a  comparable 

merchant the Company earns higher revenue if that merchant was participating in its APM program 

as compared to Marketing Only program; the Company’s belief that by increasing its sales staff it 

can capitalize on the revenue expansion opportunities available through the growth of its Retail 

programs; the Company’s belief that the soft launch of the GaggleUp couponing product was a 

success; the Company’s expectation with respect to timing of the formal launch of the couponing 

product; the Company expectation that  Fiscal 2011 experience  will be a positive for the Company 

in Fiscal 2012 and beyond; the Company’s belief that increase in the facility under its loan payable 

will allow for future room to grow its APM program; the Company’s belief that small merchants are 

ignored by traditional providers of finance, and  introduction of a modified APM program targeting 

such merchants provides a revenue growth opportunity; the Company’s belief that following the 

discontinuation of the online activity it can focus on its core Retail programs business; the 

Company’s belief that by the end of the third quarter of Fiscal 2011, the operational and financing 

issues were resolved; the Company’s ability to implement plan to expand merchant participation and 

achieve its goal to double its existing revenue base by the end of Fiscal 2013; the Company’s belief 

that the weakness in the economy and its effect on future spending is a key uncertainty impacting its 

business; the Company’s expectation that increasing merchant participation across the different 

business segments it currently operates in will mitigate the risk caused by  weakness in the economy; 

the Company’s expectation with respect to capital expenditures for the next 3-4 quarters; the 

Company’s belief that at present the need for additional capital is satisfied by the loan payable 

facility; the Company’s expectation that it will meet its first year commitment respecting purchase of 

rewards from Aeroplan by the due date; the Company’s expectation with respect to outcome from 

working with Aeroplan in developing and implementing a plan that allows the Company to expand 

the loyalty program profitably while meeting its second year commitment; the Company’s 

expectations that it will secure the balance of 20 qualified referrals by December 31, 2011, and meet 

it first year commitment under its agreement with a processor; the Company’s belief that in the 

future it will be able to meet its financial covenants under the debenture agreements; the Company’s 

expectation that in the event of breach of a financial covenant it will be able to secure a waiver; the 

Company’s belief that fluctuations of results is also reflective of seasonal consumer behavior at 

merchants participating in Retail programs, and weak economic conditions prevalent since the fall of 

calendar 2008; the Company’s belief that ramp up in merchant participation and the resulting 

revenues will be gradual; the Company’s expectation that the transaction credits it acquires are 

generally recoverable in 120 days; the belief respecting effectiveness of credit review and 

monitoring processes; the Company’s assessment that the maximum exposure to credit risk is the net 

balance of transaction credits, accounts receivable, and assets of discontinued operations appearing 

on the Company’s balance sheet; the Company’s ability to become a one stop shop where small 

independent merchants across Canada can shop for their choice of products and services that 

enhance their revenues and save costs, and that this will result in a shorter selling cycle, higher 

retention, and incremental revenues; the Company’s belief that it has a solid platform to grow its  
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merchant platform and ensure a sustainable high growth in its revenues and profitability; the 

Company’s ability to increase the number of merchants participating in its Retail programs; the 

Company’s expectation of the impact of uncertain economic outlook, its impact on consumer 

spending, and the consequent impact on its revenues; the Company’s expectation with respect to its 

financial performance and profitability in Fiscal 2012; the Company’s belief that expanding its 

affinity partner relationships will mitigate the risk of overdependence on any single partner from the 

perspective of business continuity, limitation on future revenues and profitability; the Company’s 

expectation that the transaction credits it acquires under its modified APM program  are generally 

recoverable in 180 days; the Company’s  belief that increasing the amount of the transaction credits 

purchased from merchants will result in higher revenue and, consequently, improve the Company’s 

results and cash flows; the Company’s belief that its tax filing positions are appropriate and 

supportable; the Company’s ability to protect its gross margins; the Company’s expectation that it 

will have sufficient cash to fund operations at its current levels;   the Company’s intentions with 

respect to retaining future earnings in the foreseeable future; and other information regarding 

financial and business prospects and financial outlook is forward-looking information.  

 

Forward-looking information reflects the current expectations or beliefs of the Company based on 

information currently available to the Company, including certain assumptions and expectations of 

Management. With respect to the forward-looking information contained in this Management 

Discussion and Analysis, the Company has made assumptions regarding, among other things, the 

size of the market for the Company’s programs; its ability to increase merchant participation in its 

programs; its ability to access future financing; continued affinity partner participation with the 

Company; continued support from its providers of Loan payable and holders of Debentures payable; 

current and future economic and market conditions and the impact of same on the Company’s 

business; ongoing and future revenue sources; future business levels; interest and currency rates; the 

appropriateness of the Company’s tax filing position; ongoing consumer interest in accumulating 

frequent flyer miles; and the Company’s ability to manage risks connected to collection of 

transaction credits.  

 

Forward-looking information is subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions that may 

cause the actual results of the Company to differ materially from those discussed in the forward-

looking information, and even if such actual results are realized or substantially realized, there can 

be no assurance that they will have the expected consequences to, or effects on the Company. 

Factors that could cause actual results or events to differ materially from current expectations 

include, among other things, changes in general economic and market conditions; changes to 

regulations affecting the Company's activities; level of merchant participation in the Company’s 

programs; uncertainties relating to the availability and costs of financing needed in the future; 

termination of the CIBC agreement; termination of the Aeroplan agreement; currency risks; the 

financial impact from failure to meet its obligations noted under Contractual Obligations section; the 

CRA’s decision with respect to the notice of re-assessment;  the inability of the Company to collect 

under its APM program; the Company’s financial status, and other factors, including without 

limitation, those listed under “General Risks and Uncertainties” and “Economic Dependence” in this 

Management Discussion and Analysis.  

 

All forward-looking information speaks only as of the date on which it is made and, except as may 

be required by applicable securities laws, the Company disclaims any intent or obligation to update 

any forward-looking information, whether as a result of new information, future events or results or  
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otherwise. Although the Company believes that the assumptions inherent in the forward-looking 

information are reasonable, forward-looking information is not a guarantee of future performance  

and accordingly undue reliance should not be put on such information due to the inherent uncertainty 

therein.  

   

Disclosure Controls and Procedures, and Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting  

        

Management is responsible for external reporting. The Company maintains appropriate processes to 

ensure that relevant and reliable financial information is produced.  

 

      International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)  

 

The Canadian Accounting Standards Board has confirmed that International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) will replace current Canadian GAAP for publicly accountable enterprises, 

including Advantex, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.  

 

Accordingly, the Company will apply accounting policies consistent with IFRS beginning with its 

interim financial statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2011. Our fiscal 2012 interim and 

annual financial statements will include comparative fiscal 2011 financial statements, adjusted to 

comply with IFRS.  

 

IFRS Transition Plan  

 

The Company has prepared a comprehensive transition plan, and engaged the services of a third 

party adviser to assist with the transition.  

 

The Company is completing a detailed analysis of the IFRS requirements related to its significant 

accounting policies to determine where changes to accounting policies may be required.   

 

The table below summarizes the expected timing of activities related to the Company’s transition to 

IFRS. 

 

Identification of key areas for 

which changes to accounting 

policies may be required  

 

 

Done  

Detailed analysis of all relevant 

IFRS requirements and 

identification of areas requiring 

accounting policy changes or those 

with accounting policy alternatives.  

 

Done  

Assessment of first-time adoption 

(IFRS 1) requirements and 

alternatives.  

 

Done  

Final determination of expected 

changes to accounting policies and 

Done 
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expected choices to be made with 

respect to first-time adoption 

alternatives  

 

Resolution of the accounting policy 

change implications on information 

technology, internal controls and 

contractual arrangements  

   Done  

 

Management and employee education 

and training  

 

   Throughout the transition process  

 

Quantification of the Financial 

Statement impact of changes in 

accounting policies  

   

   Done 

 

Preparation of pro forma Q1 fiscal 

2012 financial statements consistent 

with IFRS presentation and disclosure 

requirements  

 

   In progress, to be finalized Q1 fiscal 

   2012  

 

Impact of Adopting IFRS on the Organization  

 

As the transition plan nears completion, the Board of Directors and Audit Committee have been kept 

aware of the progress. As part of the implementation plan, the Company’s employees that are 

involved in the preparation of financial statements are receiving training on the relevant aspects of 

IFRS.  

 

IFRS and Financial Information Systems 

 

The Company will not be making any significant changes to its Financial Information Systems as a 

result of IFRS, but will continue to monitor and assess these systems. 

 

Internal Controls and Disclosure Controls and Procedures under IFRS 

 

One of the more significant impacts identified to date of adopting IFRS is the expanded presentation 

and disclosure required. Disclosure under IFRS generally requires more breadth and depth than 

currently required under Canadian GAAP and as a result more extensive note references are 

required. The Company will continue to review the level of presentation and disclosure required as 

well as review internal controls required for financial reporting. 

 

      Impact of Adopting IFRS on the Company’s Financial Statements  

 

The Company is completing its determination of the full effect of adopting IFRS on its financial 

statements, included below are highlights of the areas that have been identified as having the most 

potential for a change to significant accounting policies.  

 

This is not intended to be a complete list of areas where the adoption of IFRS will require a change 

in accounting policies, but to provide highlights of the analysis performed to date. As the IFRS  
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implementation plan continues, the Company will make a final determination of changes to its 

accounting policies that will result from adopting IFRS, and may identify other changes that will 

have an impact on the financial statements.  

 

The Company has identified the following key areas that have the most potential for changes to 

accounting policies on adoption of IFRS: 

 

Provisions – In certain circumstances, IFRS guidance with respect to the recognition and 

measurement of liabilities differs from current Canadian GAAP. Changes in accounting policies on 

adoption of IFRS may result in the recognition of additional liabilities, or a different measurement of 

the liabilities currently recognized under current Canadian GAAP. The Company has completed 

their assessment and there was no material impact on the Company’s opening balance sheet. 

 

Share-based Payments – In certain circumstances, IFRS requires a different measurement of share-

based compensation than current Canadian GAAP. In particular, a change may be required to the 

measurement and timing of recognizing the expense associated with grants under the stock option 

plan and restricted share plan. The Company has assessed the impact of the change on the 

measurement of compensation expense associated with the stock option plan.  The Company has 

completed their assessment and there was no material impact on the Company’s opening balance 

sheet.  

 

Related Party Disclosures - IFRS and Canadian GAAP disclosure requirements are similar but not 

identical. They treat differently some of the aspects of the related party transactions, e.g. the 

definition of significant influence and circumstances that trigger related party disclosures. IFRS 

unlike Canadian GAAP does not provide any guidance on the measurement of related party 

transactions. IFRS has broader disclosure requirements and includes compensation of key 

management personnel. The Company has reviewed and updated its list of related parties, and noted 

no significant changes. 

 

Income Taxes – While accounting for income taxes is similar under IFRS and Canadian GAAP, in 

certain circumstances there are differences in the measurement of future tax assets and future tax 

liabilities. The Company is determining whether any changes in its accounting policies related to 

income taxes will have a significant effect on disclosures in its financial statements. The Company 

has completed their assessment and there was no material impact on the Company’s opening balance 

sheet. The Company is assessing the additional disclosure required on adoption of IFRS. 

 

First-time adoption of IFRS  

 

The adoption of IFRS requires the application of IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS 1”), which provides guidance for an entity’s initial adoption 

of IFRS. IFRS generally requires retrospective application of IFRS as effective at the end of the 

entity’s first annual IFRS reporting period. However, IFRS 1 also provides certain optional 

exemptions and mandatory exceptions to this retrospective treatment.  

 

As analyses of the Company’s accounting policies continue under IFRS, the Company will 

determine which available optional exemptions it will apply on adoption of IFRS.  
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The Company expects to elect the following IFRS optional exemptions in the preparation of an 

opening IFRS statement of financial position as at July 1, 2010, Advantex’s “Transition Date”:  

 

To apply IFRS 2 Share-based Payments only to equity instruments that were issued after November 

7, 2002 and had not vested by the Transition Date.  

 

To apply IAS 23 Borrowing Costs prospectively from the Transition Date. IAS 23 requires the 

capitalization of borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, production or construction 

of certain assets.  

 

To not reassess whether arrangements contain a lease under IFRS where the same determination that 

would be made under IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease (IFRIC 4) 

was made previously in accordance with Canadian GAAP.  

 

To apply the transitional provisions of IFRIC 4 to leases which the same determination as IFRIC 4 

was not made previously in accordance with Canadian GAAP. Therefore, the determination of 

whether these arrangements contain a lease is based on the circumstances existing at the Transition 

Date. 

 

As the analyses of its accounting policies under IFRS continues, the Company may decide not to 

elect to apply these, or to apply other, optional exemptions contained in IFRS1.  

IFRS 1 does not permit changes to estimates that have been made previously. Accordingly, estimates 

used in the preparation of the Company’s opening IFRS statement of financial position as at July 1, 

2010 will be consistent with those made under current Canadian GAAP. If necessary, estimates will 

be adjusted to reflect any difference in accounting policy. 

 

Next Steps 

As the Company completes its assessment of the effects of IFRS to its opening balance sheet on the 

transition date, the Company is also in the process of ensuring the accurate preparation of its interim 

and annual financial statements under IFRS. The Company is also actively engaged in the 

determination of disclosures appropriate under IFRS. 

 

Additional Information 

 

Additional information relating to the Company is available at www.sedar.com, and may also be 

obtained by request by telephone or facsimile or at the Company’s website at www.advantex.com.  

 

     

 
® ADVANTEX and ® ADVANTEX and ADVANCE PURCHASING MARKETING are Registered Trademarks of Advantex Marketing 
International Inc.  

http://www.sedar.com/
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Schedule C 
Interim MD&A and Interim Financial Statements for the 

three month period ended September 30, 2010; Interim MD&A and Interim 
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2010; Interim MD&A and Interim Financial Statements for the 
three and nine month periods ended March 31, 2011 



Interim MD&A and Interim Financial Statements for the 
three month period ended September 30, 2010 



ADVANTEX
®
 MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC.  

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Operating Results 

For the three month periods ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 

 

This management’s discussion and analysis has been prepared based on information available to 

Advantex Marketing International Inc. (“Advantex” or “the Company”) as at November 29, 2010. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis is a narrative explanation to enable the reader to assess 

material changes in the financial condition and results of operations of the Company during the 

three month period ended September 30, 2010, compared to the same period ended September 30, 

2009. The unaudited consolidated financial statements for the three month period ended September 

30, 2010, which have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 

principles applicable to interim financial statements, are available on www.sedar.com. This 

management discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Company’s 

consolidated audited financial statements and the related notes thereto for the fiscal year ended  

June 30, 2010. All dollar amounts are stated in Canadian Dollars unless otherwise noted. 

 

Overall Performance 

 

Advantex is a leader in the marketing services industry. The Company develops and manages 

merchant-based loyalty programs for organizations through which their customers accelerate 

earning frequent flyer miles and/or other rewards on purchases at participating merchants. Under 

the umbrella of each of its programs Advantex provides participating merchants with marketing, 

customer incentives, and additionally secured future sales through its Advance Purchase Marketing® 

(APM) program.  
 

Advantex principally partners with Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (CIBC), and Aeroplan 

Canada Inc (Aeroplan). On a combined basis, Advantex has contractual marketing access to more 

than 5 million Canadian consumers with above-average personal and household income. The 

Company’s merchant partner base currently consists of more than 1,000 restaurants, golf courses, 

independent inns, resorts and selected hotels, spas, retailers of men’s and ladies fashion, footwear 

and accessories, and online retailers, many of which are leaders in their respective categories.  

Advantex earns revenue as customers make purchases at participating merchants. 

Advantex common shares are traded on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol ADX. 

 

The Company is able to report completion of three significant initiatives during the three month 

period. These achievements which are the culmination of months of negotiations with third parties 

will allow the Company to build on the financial performance of fiscal year ended June 30, 2010. 

The initiatives were: 

 

1. In September, the Company renewed its existing arrangement with CIBC, and signed a new 

agreement expiring in August, 2013. The Company can continue to expand its CIBC Advantex 

program in the Dining, (Canadian restaurants, golf courses, independent inns, resorts and 

selected hotels, spas), and Retail (retailers of men’s and ladies fashion, footwear,  accessories,  

and other designated categories) business segments; 

http://www.sedar.com/
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2. Pursuant to a multi-year agreement with Aeroplan signed in March, 2010, on September 1 the 

Company launched its Aeroplan based program to merchants in Fashion Retail (retailers of 

mens’s and ladies fashion, footwear, accessories) business segment. During the period leading 

to the launch, the Company set up the infrastructure including processing arrangements to 

facilitate the launch and subsequent implementation of this program. The set up involved capital 

expenditures, external and internal, of about $0.5 million and were incurred between July 1, 

2009 and September 30, 2010; and 

3. In September, the Company and Accord signed an agreement extending the term of the existing 

line of credit facility to December, 2013. During the term, the facility limit is increased to $8.5 

million and will be used exclusively to expand the Company’s APM program in the Dining, 

Retail, and Fashion Retail business segments. 

 

The Company is on course to improve over its Fiscal 2010 financial performance. The financial 

performance for the three month period ended September 30, 2010 reflects continuing growth in 

number of merchants participating in the Company’s programs. Highlights: 

      

 3 months F 2011 3 months F 2010  Improvement  Full year F 2010 

Revenues $3,958,000 $3,481,000 $477,000 $14,276,000 

EBITDA $   881,000 $   715,000 $166,000 $  2,519,000 

Profit before non 

cash expenses 

$   483,000 $   406,000 $  77,000 $  1,230,000 

Net Profit $   150,000 $   131,000 $  19,000 $       34,000 
EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure. It demonstrates the Company’s ability to generate cash from its operations. 

 

The Company believes that growth in merchant participation will result in increase in its revenues, 

and profitability during Fiscal 2011, and that during Fiscal 2011 that growth will come from 

merchants in Dining, Retail, and Fashion Retail business segments. The Company’s research 

indicates that there are over 30,000 target merchants in the Dining, Retail, and Fashion Retail 

business segments. 

 

The Company’s core source of revenues, its CIBC Advantex, and Aeroplan based programs  

(collectively “Offline program”), which the Company markets to merchants in Dining, Retail, and 

Fashion Retail  business segments increased 11.9% to $3.4 million vs. corresponding period in the 

previous year.  

 

Within its Offline program, the Company markets its APM and Marketing Only programs to 

merchants. APM program is the leading revenue source for the Company (57.3% of Company 

revenues for the three month period ended September, 2010 vs. 52.9% for the corresponding period 

in the previous year).  

 

During the three month period ended September 30, 2010, the Company results reflect severance 

payments of $54,000 to staff who were laid off as part of steps to mitigate the impact on Fiscal 2011 

profitability from the shutdown of online business from January, 2011. 

 

With respect to the Non-convertible debentures maturing December 31, 2010, the Company expects 

to either renew or replace these debentures on current market terms. 
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The significant financial covenants of the Convertible debentures maturing in December, 2011 

require the Company to meet a defined level of current assets and interest coverage on a quarterly 

basis. During the period, the Company and the holders of the convertible debentures amended a 

certain financial covenant, and consequently at September 30, 2010 the Company met its financial 

covenants. In the past the Company has been successful in negotiating waivers. The Company may 

not meet its financial covenants subsequent to September 30, 2010 and consequently all of the long-

term debt has been classified as a current liability in the interim consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. The Company expects to either 

renew or replace these debentures on current market terms prior to their maturity. 

 

Subject to regulatory approval, the Company and the existing debentureholders have reached an 

understanding on the terms connected to renewal of Non-convertible, and early renewal of 

Convertible debentures. Since the proposed terms of the renewals would create a Control Person in 

the event the conversion feature is exercised by the debentureholders, the TSX Venture Exchange 

policies mandate, among others, that the shareholders of the Company approve the terms and 

conditions of the proposed renewal. The terms and conditions of the proposed renewal are set out in 

the Company's Management Circular prepared in connection with its 2010 annual meeting of 

shareholders and which can be consulted SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

 

As explained in note 12 (commitments and contingencies) to the consolidated financial statements 

for year ended June 30, 2010, the balance owed under the GST re-assessment is required to be paid 

during the objection process. From July 1, 2009 to September 30, 2010 the Company has made 

payments totaling $474,000 under the 24 month payment plan worked out with the CRA. The 

amounts paid are included as a recoverable asset and are included with accounts receivable on the 

balance sheet. The balance amounts payable, by June 30, 2011, under the payment plan, including 

an estimate for interest are $308,000. 

 

Results of Operations (in millions of dollars) 
 Q1 

Fiscal 

2011 

* 

Q1 

Fiscal 

2010  

* 

   

Revenue:       

  Offline program 

              Advance Purchase Marketing Model                 

 

$2.3  

 

$1.8 

   

              Marketing Only Model                                                                1.1   1.2    

  Online Shopping Malls 0.6   0.4    

    Total  revenue 4.0 3.5    

 

Direct Expenses 

 

  (1.3) 

 

 (1.1) 

   

Gross Profit 2.7 2.4    

Selling, General and administrative expenses (1.8) (1.6)    

Contribution from operations 0.9 0.7    

Stock based compensation (0.0)  (0.0)    

Profit before Amortization and Interest 

 
0.9 0.7    

Amortization (0.2) (0.1)    

Interest on loan payable, debentures, other (0.6) (0.5)    

Net profit for the period $0.2   $0.1    

http://www.sedar.com/
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* The presentation in Results of Operations section is not set out in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

accounting principles (GAAP), but has been included to provide additional analysis for the reader. Some numbers 

in the above presentation above may not add due to rounding. 

 

Revenue 

  

Advantex has two business models. In both models, revenue is recognized at the time that purchases 

are made by customers at merchants participating in the Advantex programs. Revenue can vary 

significantly from year to year, depending on the number of merchants participating under each 

model:  

  

(1) Advance Purchase Marketing Model (“APM”): The Company acquires the rights to cash 

flow from future designated credit card transactions at a discount from participating merchants 

(Transaction credits on the consolidated balance sheet) and promotes the merchant, by way of 

cardholder incentives through its loyalty marketing programs, and targeted marketing programs. 

The Company’s revenue is from the designated credit card receipts at participating merchants, 

net of the Company’s costs to acquire the transaction credits. Proceeds from the spend on 

designated credit cards are received by the Company and a predetermined portion is applied to 

reduce the Transaction credit balance that the merchant owes. 

(2) Marketing Only Model: Merchants participate in the loyalty/marketing programs without the 

Company acquiring transaction credits. In this model, Advantex provides loyalty rewards and/or 

marketing support for participating merchants and earns its revenue based on an agreed 

percentage of each designated card transaction in exchange for the services it provides 

participating merchants. The Company’s Offline Marketing Only and Infinite Hotel programs, 

and Online Shopping Malls fall under this model. 

The revenue trends during the three month period ended September 30, 2010 vs. corresponding 

period in the previous year are tabulated: 

 
 Q1 – F 2011 Q1 – F 2010 Change % of Total Q1 F 2011 

Revenues 

Offline  Program     

 APM (1) $2,269,000 $1,840,000 23.3% 57.3% 

Marketing  Only (1) / (2) $1,123,000 $1,192,000 (5.8)% 28.4% 

 $3,392,000 $3,032,000 11.9% 85.7% 

      

Online Shopping Malls  $   565,000 $   449,000  25.8% 14.3% 

     

TOTAL REVENUES $3,957,000 $3,481,000 13.7%  

     

 

1. Increase in revenues from Offline program reflects increase in merchant participation. During 

three month period ended September 30, 2010 average number of participating merchants was 

735 vs. 572 for corresponding period in the previous year. 

2. Marketing Only program. Included in revenues are sales of Aeronotes; $33,000 for three month 

period ended September 30, 2010 vs. $nil for corresponding period in the previous year.  
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Direct Expenses  

 

Direct expenses include cardholder/ affinity member award costs, the cost of marketing and 

advertising on behalf of merchants, and provision against receivables under all programs.  

 

Direct expenses for the three month period ended September 30, 2010 were $1.3 million compared 

with $1.1 million for corresponding period in the previous year, an increase of $ 0.2 million 

(12.1%) vs. revenue growth of 13.7% in the same period.  

 

The Company’s Offline Retail, and Fashion Retail programs have a higher cardholder/affinity 

member award component. Due to a higher cost to the Company of awards in these segments, going 

forward the Company expects an increase in its Direct expenses.  

 

Gross Profit 

 

Gross profit was $2.7 million for the three month period ended September 30, 2010 compared with 

$2.4 million for the corresponding period in the previous year.  

 

The Gross margin at 68.4% was flat vs. corresponding period in the previous year at 67.9%. 

 

The improvement in Gross profit is due to higher revenues.  

 

Selling and Marketing Expenses 

 

Selling and Marketing expenses include expenses arising from remuneration of sales staff, 

transaction processing and other selling activities.  

 

Selling expenses for three month period ended September 30, 2010 were $0.9 million vs. $0.8 

million for the corresponding periods in the previous year, an increase of 7.1%, and compares 

favourably to 13.7% increase in revenues. 

 

General and Administrative (G&A) Expenses   

 

G&A expenses include compensation for all non-sales staff, professional fees, head office premises 

costs, shareholder and public relations costs, office overhead and foreign exchange losses.  

 

G&A expenses for the three month period ended September 30, 2010 were $0.9 million vs. $0.8 

million for the corresponding period in the previous year.  

 

G&A expenses for three month period ended September 30, 2010 reflect capitalization of $61,000 

(corresponding year previous year $nil) of internal costs expended on software development 

connected to ensuring operability of the Company’s Offline program, and cost of severance 

payments of $54,000 to staff who were laid off as part of steps to mitigate the impact on Fiscal 2011 

profitability from the shutdown of online business from January, 2011. 
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Interest Expense 

         

The Company currently has three sources of debt capital – convertible debentures, non-convertible 

debentures, and a credit facility. In addition to the stated interest, the interest cost also comprises 

amortization of deferred financing charges, and accretion charges.  

 

 3 months ended 

September 30, 2010 

3 months ended 

September 30, 2009 

   

Stated Interest – loan payable, debentures, 

other 

$398,000 $308,000 

Accretion charge on debentures, and deferred 

financing charges  

$173,000 $164,000 

Total $571,000 $472,000 

 

The Company deploys the funds raised in the financings with merchants currently activated under 

its Offline APM program. The funds deployed are reflected as transaction credits on the 

consolidated balance sheet. The increase in stated interest cost reflects partially higher utilization of 

Loan Payable (as at September 30, 2010 $3.8 million vs. $1.5 million as at September 30, 2009) and 

partially the increase in interest rate, from March, 2010, with respect to Loan Payable. The higher 

Loan Payable has been used exclusively to increase merchant participation in Company’s APM 

program as reflected in higher transaction credit balances carried by the Company, and the 

consequent increase in APM revenues during three month period ended September 30, 2010. 

 

Net Profit  

 

The Company’s Net Profit for the three month period ended September 30, 2010 was $150,000 vs. 

$131,000 for the corresponding period in the previous year. 

 

 Q1 – F 2011 Q1 – F 2010 

Basic earnings per share $0.00 $0.00 

Diluted earnings per share $0.00 $0.00 

 

Working Capital and Liquidity Management 

 

As at September 30, 2010, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $972,000 compared with 

$506,000 as at June 30, 2010.  

 

The Company attempts to maximize transaction credits by deploying cash surplus to its operating 

requirements with merchants participating in its APM programs. Transaction credits are a likely 

indicator of future revenues from the APM program. 
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A summary of current period cash flows, and working capital (represented by current assets less loan 

payable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities) is set out below: 

 

 

                         
                              Some of the numbers in the above presentation may not add due to rounding. 

 

The Company does not participate in off balance sheet financing arrangements.  

 

While the Company expects that it will have sufficient cash to fund operations at its current scale, 

additional capital in the form of debt and/or equity will be required to fund the continued expansion 

of its Advance Purchase Marketing programs, as described under General Risks and Uncertainties 

 

Contractual Obligations  

 

Contractual obligations as at September 30, 2010 were due as follows:  

 
(in millions of dollars)                               Payments Due by Period   

 

Contractual obligation 

 

Total 

Less than 

1 Year 

1 to 3 

Years 

4 to 5  

Years 

After 

 5 Years 

 

Loan Payable 

 

$3.8 

 

$3.8 

 

       $- 

 

$- 

 

            $- 

 

Non convertible 

debentures 

 

Convertible debentures                          

 

$2.7  

 

       

      $6.0               

 

$2.7 

 

      

        $6.0 

 

       $- 

 

         

       $-         

 

$-  

 

 

$- 

 

            $-  

 

             

            $- 

 

Operating Leases 

 

      $0.3 

 

$0.2 

 

$0.1 

 

$-  

            

            $-  

      

 

In addition, the Company has a commitment to purchase minimum rewards of $600,000 by August 

31, 2011 as part of its arrangement to develop and manage a loyalty program for a new affinity 

partner. The loyalty program was launched on September 1, 2010. In the opinion of management 

there is demand for this loyalty program, and consequently the commitment is achievable. 

 

Loan Payable 

 

The Company has a credit facility with Accord Financial Inc. (Accord) to be used exclusively to 

acquire transaction credits under its Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) program.  

 

The principal amount outstanding under this facility at September 30, 2010 was $3,827,738 vs. 

(in millions of dollars)  

Cash 

Working 

Capital 

As at July 1, 2010 $0.5 $5.3 

Generated from operations                                           

Changes from non cash working capital items                        

Financing activities 

 0.5 

(0.7) 

0.8 

- 

0.7 

(0.8) 

Purchase of PPE         (0.1)                         - 

Changes in cash balances - 0.5 

Movement during the three months 0.5 0.3 

As at September 30, 2010                                          $1.0 $5.6 
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$3,062,718 at June 30, 2010 ($1,488,027 at September 30, 2009).  The carrying amount disclosed at 

September 30, 2010 is lower than the principal amount by $16,086 (June 30, 2010 - $32,169) due to 

unamortized financing charges. 

 

The interest cost during the three month period ended September 30, 2010 was $152,693 vs. 

$58,376 for the corresponding period in the previous year. 

 

For additional details on Loan Payable refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements for 

year ended June 30, 2010. 

 

Non-Convertible Debentures Payable 

 

The balance of non-convertible debentures payable as at September 30, 2010 is disclosed under 

current liabilities (as at September 30, 2009 under long-term liabilities). The carrying amount on the 

consolidated balance sheet is net of unamortized financing charges.  

 

Movements in the balance during the three month period ended September 30, 2010 are as follows: 

 

 

 Debt Portion 

 

Warrants Deferred Financing 

charges 

Balance at June 30, 2010 $2,638,918 $184,744 $18,213 

Amortization of issuance costs              -       - (  9,099) 

Accretion charge        16,414       -____       - 

Balance at September 30, 2010 $2,655,332 $184,744 $  9,114 

 

The stated interest cost during the three month periods ended September 30, 2010 and September 

30, 2009 was $94,042. 

 

The debentures in the principal amount of $2,665,000 mature December 31, 2010. The Company 

expects to either renew or replace these debentures. 

 

For additional details on these debentures refer to note 6 to the consolidated financial statements for 

year ended June 30, 2010. 

 

Convertible Debentures Payable 

 

The significant financial covenants of the convertible debentures require the Company to meet a 

defined level of current assets and interest coverage on a quarterly basis. During the period, the 

Company and the holders of the convertible debentures amended a certain financial covenant, and 

consequently at September 30, 2010 the Company met its financial covenants.  The Company may 

not meet its financial covenants subsequent to September 30, 2010 and all of the long-term debt has 

been classified as a current liability in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 

principles.  
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The convertible debenture is secured by a general security agreement over all the assets of the 

Company and its subsidiaries. If the Company were to breach a financial covenant or were unable to 

pay its debts as they came due, it would be in default under the convertible debenture agreement 

and, as a result, the convertible debenture holders would have the right to waive the event of 

default, demand immediate payment of the convertible debenture in full or modify the terms and 

conditions of the debenture including key terms such as repayment terms, interest rates and security. 

If the Company is unable to secure alternative financing to repay the convertible debenture, the 

convertible debenture holders would have the right to realize upon a part or all of the security held 

by them.  

 

The balance of convertible debentures payable at September 30, 2010 is disclosed under current 

liabilities (as at September 30, 2009 under long-term liabilities). The carrying amount on the 

consolidated balance sheet is net of unamortized financing charges.   

 

Movements in the balance during the three month period ended September 30, 2010 are as follows: 

 

 Debt Portion 

 

Equity portion Warrants Deferred 

Financing 

charges 

Balance at June 30, 2010 $5,345,780 $2,114,341 $189,810 $128,202 

Amortization of issuance costs             -       -        -    (21,366) 

Accretion charge      110,122       -____        -             - 

Balance at September 30, 2010 $5,455,902 $2,114,341 $189,810 $106,836 

 

The stated interest cost during the three month periods ended September 30, 2010 and September 

30, 2009 was $151,233. 

 

For additional details on these debentures refer to note 7 to the consolidated financial statements for 

year ended June 30, 2010. 

 

Summary of Quarterly Results 

 
12 months ended September 30, 

2010 

     

(in millions of dollars, except per 

share amounts) 

 Q2 

 Dec 31 

 2009 

Q3 

Mar 31 

2010 

Q4 

Jun 30 

2010 

Q1 

Sep 30 

2010  

 

 

Total 

Revenue $  3.9 $ 3.2 $ 3.7 $ 4.0 $14.8  

Percentage of Annual Revenue 26 % 22 % 25 % 27% 100% 

Net Profit/(Loss) $ 0.2    $(0.3)          $0.0       $0.2     $0.1 

Basic earnings Per Common 

Share 

$ 0.00 $ (0.00) $ 0.00 $0.00 $0.00  
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12 months ended September 30, 

2009 

     

(In millions of dollars, except per 

share amounts) 

 Q2 

 Dec 31 

 2008 

 Q3 

 Mar 31 

 2009 

Q4 

Jun 30 

2009 

Q1 

Sep 30 

2009 

 

 

Total 

Revenue $ 3.3 $ 2.6 $ 3.2 $ 3.5 $12.6  

Percentage of Annual Revenue 26 % 21 % 25 % 28% 100 % 

Net Profit/(Loss) $ 0.0 $ (0.8)  $(0.2) $0.1 $(0.9)  

Basic earnings Per Common 

Share 

$ 0.00 $ (0.01) $ (0.00) $0.00 $(0.01)  

 

The fluctuations of the Company’s results are reflective of seasonal consumer behaviour in the 

Offline, and in the Online business, weak economic conditions prevalent since the fall of calendar 

2008, as well as success in Online program and penetration of its Offline business.  

 

Capital Resources 

 

Expenditures for property, plant and equipment for the three month period ended September 30, 

2010 were $83,000 (three months ended September 30, 2009 $52,000). Current period year to date 

includes capitalization of $61,000 (corresponding period previous year $nil) of internal costs 

expended on software development connected to ensuring operability of the Company’s  loyalty 

marketing programs sponsored by CIBC and Aeroplan. The costs are being amortized over the 

shorter of useful life and term of affinity partner agreements. 

 

Critical Accounting Estimates 

 

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, in accordance with Canadian 

GAAP, requires the Company’s management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 

reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 

date of the interim consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and 

expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 

The Company calculates the fair value of certain financial instruments, as discussed below, using 

the Black-Scholes option pricing model. This requires assumptions regarding the risk-free rate of 

return, the expected life of the instrument, the expected volatility in the price of the common shares 

of the Company and the expected level of dividends to be paid on the common shares of the 

Company.  

 

The Company has certain business risks linked to the collection of its transaction credits (net of 

provision- at September 30, 2010 $10.2 million vs. $9.5 million at June 30, 2010). The Company 

generally acquires transaction credits that are estimated to be fully extinguishable within 30 – 120 

days. Until these credits have been extinguished through CIBC cardholder and/or designated credit 

card spend there is a credit risk, and an increase in credit risk associated with the longer time frame 

approaching and/or exceeding120 days. Management has implemented additional review and 

monitoring procedures to assess the creditworthiness and ongoing eligibility of merchants if they 
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wish to benefit from larger purchases of transaction credits. In the event of default, the Company 

has set up escalating collection measures, and based on the specific credit risk associated with the 

customer, and other relevant information including an assessment of the likelihood of collection, a 

provision is established. 

 

Stock Options 

 

The Company normally issues stock options at exercise prices which are the higher of the market 

price of the underlying common shares of the Company and the minimum price prescribed by TSX 

Venture regulations.  

 

As at September 30, 2010 there were 10,832,782 employee stock options outstanding at exercise 

prices between $0.01 to $0.135, expiring between October, 2010 and February, 2015. 

 

During the period, 110,693 stock options were forfeited or expired. 

 

The Company has recorded $6,000 of stock-based compensation expense during the three month 

period ended September 30, 2010 vs. $22,000 during the corresponding period previous year.  

There was a corresponding increase in contributed surplus. 

 

Outstanding Share Data and Dilutive Securities  

 

As at September 30, 2010 and 2009, the number of common shares of the Company outstanding 

was 97,030,868.  

 

As at September 30, 2010, the Company was committed to issuing additional common shares, 

under certain circumstances, as described below: 

      

    Convertible Debentures Payable 

 

The Company is committed to issuing a total of 60 million common shares in the event of a full 

conversion of the Convertible Debentures Payable in the principal amount of $6.0 million. 

 

In addition, the Company agreed, on September 24, 2008, to issue 9.99 million warrants at an 

exercise price of $0.045. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the 

Company at any time prior to December 9, 2011. The issuance of 9.86 million warrants was 

completed in two tranches, January, 2009 and February, 2009. 

 

Please see note 7 of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2010 for 

additional details on Convertible Debentures Payable. 

   

     Non – Convertible Debentures Payable 

 

The Non-Convertible Debentures Payable were issued in two tranches, December, 2007 and 

January, 2008. The Company is committed to issuing a total of 5.3 million common shares in the 

event the holders of warrants, attached to the units of Non-Convertible Debentures Payable, 
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exercise the right to convert. The warrants carry an exercise price of $0.06, and expire three years 

from issuance in December, 2007 and January, 2008 respectively. 

 

Please see note 6 of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2010 for 

additional details on Non-Convertible Debentures Payable. 

 

     Stock Options 

 

At the Annual and Special Meeting of the Shareholders held on December 22, 2009 the Company 

received approval from the shareholders to implement a stock option plan (“SOP”) which is 12% 

fixed maximum number of common shares issuable based on issued and outstanding common 

shares (calculated on a non-diluted basis). Since the Company is not making any amendments to 

the existing SOP during 2010 no shareholders approval is required.  Pursuant to the terms and 

conditions of the SOP, the Board of Directors has approved continuation of the existing SOP to the 

date of the Shareholders meeting for fiscal 2011. 

 

The maximum number of shares issuable under the plan is 11,643,704. 

 

As at September 30, 2010 there were 10,832,782 employee stock options outstanding at exercise 

prices between $0.01 to $0.135, expiring between October, 2010 and February, 2015. 

 

Outlook 

 

The Company is well positioned to secure its future financial performance by capitalizing on the 

expansion opportunities following the completion, during the current quarter, of the three 

significant initiatives which are described in detail in the Overall Performance section.  

 

The Company’s research indicates there are over 30,000 target merchants in the Dining (Canadian 

restaurants, golf courses, independent inns, resorts  and selected hotels, spas), Retail (retailers of 

men’s and ladies fashion, footwear, accessories, and other designated categories), and Fashion 

Retail (retailers of mens’s and ladies fashion, footwear, accessories) business segments in which 

the Company can market its programs and expand the number of merchants participating in its 

Offline program. Within its program offerings the Company expects its Advance Purchase 

Marketing (APM) program to be the driver of increasing merchant participation. The Company 

will access the funds available to it under the line of credit facility from Accord Financial Inc. 

(Accord) to expand its APM program during Fiscal 2011.  

 

The Company believes that growth in merchant participation will result in increase in its revenues, 

and profitability during Fiscal 2011. 

 

For the balance of Fiscal 2011, the Company is confident of its financial performance, and expects 

to achieve an improvement over its Fiscal 2010 financial performance which result in itself was a 

milestone, a net profit for a full fiscal year after fourteen consecutive years of losses.   

 

The Company expects to either renew or replace the Non-convertible debentures and Convertible 

debentures, prior to their maturity, on current market terms.  
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Economic Dependence 

 

A significant portion of the Company’s current revenue is dependent upon its Offline value-added 

loyalty program agreement with CIBC under which rewards are awarded to holders of certain 

CIBC credit cards when they complete purchases at merchants participating in Advantex programs. 

In September, 2010, the Company renewed its existing arrangement with CIBC, and signed a new 

agreement expiring August 31, 2013. This agreement grants the Company conditional exclusivity 

rights to market its programs within Dining business segment.  The agreement can be terminated 

by CIBC under certain conditions prior to August 31, 2013. The significance to the Company of 

the CIBC agreement can best be assessed by comparing its gross profit with that of other programs, 

as shown below.  

 
 

 

 

      Q1-F 2011          Q1- F 2010 

Gross Profit $ % $ % 

CIBC Advantex programs $ 2.5 93 $ 2.2 92 

Other programs  0.2 7 0.2 8 

 Total  $ 2.7 100 $ 2.4 100 

 

 

Recognizing the risks of overdependence on a partner and/or a business segment from the 

perspective of business continuity, and limitation on future revenues and profitability, the 

Company sought out and signed an agreement with Aeroplan. The agreement was signed in March, 

2010 and is effective until August 31, 2013, with an option to extend for one additional period of 

two years by mutual consent of the parties, and can be terminated by Aeroplan under certain 

conditions prior to August 31, 2013. This value-added loyalty marketing agreement provides 

exclusive rights to the Company to market its product offerings within the Fashion Retail segment. 

The exclusivity in favour of the Company is conditional upon the Company meeting certain targets 

on an annual basis. Under certain conditions the Company can expand its product offering outside 

Fashion Retail categories, with Aeroplan holding the right of first refusal. The Company launched 

this program on September 1, 2010. 
 

General Risks and Uncertainties 

 

The Company’s current loyalty programs are dependent upon ongoing consumer interest in 

accumulating frequent flyer miles for the purpose of obtaining reward air travel on designated 

airlines. Due to the financial and security difficulties being experienced by the airline industry 

overall, there is a risk that the underlying frequent flyer currencies used in these programs could 

become unavailable to Advantex, or that consumer interest in accumulating these awards could 

decline. This, in turn, may result in difficulties in retaining and acquiring participating merchants 

and may adversely affect the Company’s revenue and direct costs.  

 

The Company provides marketing services to retail organizations and, in more general terms, the 

Company could be considered competitive with other advertising and promotional programs for a 

portion of a client’s total marketing budget. If client promotional spending levels decrease, this 
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could have a material adverse effect on Advantex’s revenue. In addition, there could be additional 

loyalty program operators in Canada, targeting the same merchant base as Advantex. For instance, 

a US-based loyalty marketing company is operating a Dining program in Canada in association 

with a major bank, in addition to expanding its US programs to include participating Canadian 

restaurants. In the past, other companies have attempted to develop similar merchant-based 

coalitions on their own and failed, making Advantex, with its established merchant coalition and 

proven loyalty systems, a reputable outsourced partner in the Canadian marketplace. Advantex 

believes its substantial client equity, proprietary systems, breadth of in-house services and 

significant affinity partner contracts provide a strong platform for the Company to compete 

effectively in the North American marketplace and respond to new competition in Canada. 

 

Advantex’s operations are dependent on the abilities, experience and efforts of its management and 

highly skilled workforce. While Advantex has entered into employment agreements with key  

management personnel and other employees, and each of these agreements includes confidentiality 

and non-competition clauses, the business prospects of the Company could be adversely affected if 

any of these people were unable or unwilling to continue their employment with Advantex.  

 

The Company has certain business risks linked to the collection of its transaction credits under its 

APM program. However, based upon historical results and the fact that the Company generally 

acquires transaction credits that are estimated to be fully extinguishable within 30 – 120 days, 

management believes that these risks are manageable. Until these credits have been extinguished 

through cardholder spend there is a credit risk, and an increase in credit risk associated with the 

longer time frame approaching and/or exceeding 120 days or more. Management has implemented 

additional review and monitoring procedures to assess the creditworthiness and ongoing eligibility 

of merchants if they wish to benefit from larger purchases of transaction credits.  

 

The Company believes that increasing the amount of the transaction credits purchased from 

merchants will result in higher revenue and, consequently, improve the Company’s results and 

cash flows. The Company requires additional debt financing to scale its ability in this area. If the 

Company is not successful in raising additional debt financing, its ability to expand its merchant 

base and increase revenue may be impeded, resulting in reduced growth in cash flows from 

operations. This could affect the Company’s liquidity and working capital position. Any debt 

structure would need to recognize the general security interest over the Company’s assets, held by 

the convertible debenture holders. 

 

General market conditions or the financial status of the Company in terms of its profitability, cash 

flows and strength of its consolidated balance sheet, and uncertainty connected to the CRA’s 

decision to the Company’s notice of objection on the GST matter explained in detail later in this 

section may limit access to additional financing and continued access to existing sources of debt. 

These conditions might adversely affect the availability or cost of financing, the specific factors 

affecting the Company’s attractiveness as a borrower or as an investment vehicle, or the market’s 

perception of the Company’s performance and future prospects.  

 

In addition to economic factors, the profitability of the Company is subject to a number of risk 

factors including continued Affinity Partner (principally CIBC, and Aeroplan) and merchant 

participation, uncertainties connected to renewal or replacement of  Non-convertible debentures 
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maturing December, 2010, continued access to facility under Loan Payable, continued support of 

Convertible debenture-holders in the event the Company is in breach of any of its covenants, 

uncertainties connected to early renewal or replacement of Convertible debentures,  merchant 

credit risk, competition, and changes in regulations -including taxation- affecting the Company’s 

activities, and consumer behaviour.  

 

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is subject to ongoing audits by tax authorities. 

While the Company believes that its tax filing positions are appropriate and supportable, from time 

to time, certain matters are reviewed and challenged by the tax authorities. The Company regularly 

reviews the potential for adverse outcomes in respect of tax matters and believes that, other than as 

described below, any ultimate disposition of a reassessment will not have a material adverse 

impact on its liquidity, consolidated financial position or results of operations due to adequate 

provisioning for these tax matters. Should an outcome materially differ from existing provisions, 

the Company’s effective tax rate, its earnings, and its liquidity and working capital position could 

be affected positively or negatively in the period in which matters are resolved.  

 

After an audit in 1998, the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) determined that the Company was 

providing marketing services. Since 1998, the Company has continued in the same business 

activities. After completion of a recent audit, the CRA reversed its 1998 position. In April 2009, 

the Company received a notice of reassessment from the CRA for Goods and Services Tax owed 

related to the Company’s CIBC Advantex program and the ability to claim certain Input Tax 

Credits during Fiscal years 2005-2007. The re-assessment is in the amount of $755,000. The 

Company has contested the CRA position, and has filed a notice of objection. Since this is a GST 

re-assessment, the amount of the re-assessment has to be paid in full, and is independent of the 

appeals process. The Company has worked out a 24 month payment plan with the CRA, and is 

recording amounts paid under the payment plan as a recoverable asset. However, no assurance can 

be given with regards to the timing of a decision to the Company’s notice of objection and or 

whether the notice of objection will be decided in whole or in part in the Company’s favour. In the 

event the notice of objection is denied and or there is an adverse change to the currently agreed 

payment plan with the CRA, the Company’s earnings and its liquidity and working capital position 

could be affected negatively. 

 

Forward-Looking Information   

 

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis contains certain “forward-looking information”. All 

information, other than information comprised of historical fact, that addresses activities, events or 

developments that the Company believes, expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future 

constitutes forward-looking information. Such forward-looking information relates to, without 

limitation, information regarding: the Company’s belief that the completion of the three significant  

initiatives - renewal of agreements with CIBC, Accord, and launch of Aeroplan sponsored program 

pursuant to agreement with Aeroplan – will allow the Company to build on the financial 

performance of fiscal year ended June 30, 2010; the Company’s belief that it is on course to 

improve over its Fiscal 2010 financial performance; the Company belief that growth in merchant 

participation will result in increase in its revenues, and profitability during Fiscal 2011, and that 

during Fiscal 2011 that growth will come from merchants in Dining, Retail, and Fashion Retail  

business segments; the Company’s estimation of the size of the market for the Company’s products  
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in the Dining, Retail, and Fashion Retail segments, and expected demand for the Company’s 

products in the Dining, Retail, and Fashion Retail segments; the Company’s anticipated increase in 

the number of merchants with which it will do business; the Company’s expectation with respect to 

either renewing or replacing on current market terms the Non-convertible debentures maturing in 

December, 2010; the Company’s expectation with respect to either renewing or replacing on current 

market terms the Convertible debentures prior to their maturity in December, 2011; the Company’s 

ability to take on additional debt and deploy with merchants participating in its APM program; the 

Company’s expectation that it will have sufficient cash to fund operations at its current levels; the 

Company’s belief that Transaction credits are a likely indicator of future revenues from the APM 

program; the Company’s belief that there is demand for the loyalty program that the Company has 

developed and will manage for a new affinity partner and consequently the commitment to purchase 

a minimum amount of rewards by August 31, 2011 is achievable;  the Company’s  ability  to access 

additional debt with respect to expanding the APM program within the Dining, Retail, and Fashion 

Retail segments;  the Company’s expectation that its APM program will be the driver for increasing 

merchant participation; the Company’s belief that it is well positioned to secure its future financial 

performance by capitalizing on the expansion opportunities following the completion, during the 

current quarter, of the three significant initiatives which are described in detail in the Overall 

Performance section of this MD&A; the Company’s expectation with respect to continued 

improvement over its Fiscal 2010 financial performance in Fiscal 2011; increases in business levels;  

estimates relating to extinguishment of transaction credits, and the Company’s belief that risks 

connected to collection of transaction credits are manageable;  the Company’s ability to continue to 

review the collection risks connected to its APM program; the Company’s intentions with respect to 

retaining future earnings in the foreseeable future; the Company’s belief that its tax filing positions 

are appropriate and supportable; the ability of the Company to satisfy payments under the 24 month 

payment plan agreed with CRA; the Company’s ability to obtain waivers or renegotiate the 

covenants of the Company’s Convertible debentures if a default in respect of the same arises; the 

Company’s expectation with respect to seasonal consumer behavior and continuation of weak 

consumer demand prevalent since fall of calendar 2008; the Company’s expectation with respect to 

mitigating, by launch of Aeroplan sponsored program, the risk of overdependence on CIBC 

Advantex program;  and other information regarding financial and business prospects and financial 

outlook is forward-looking information.  

Forward-looking information reflects the current expectations or beliefs of the Company based on 

information currently available to the Company. With respect to the forward-looking information 

contained in this Management Discussion and Analysis, the Company has made assumptions 

regarding, among other things, its ability to access future financing; continued affinity partner 

participation with the Company; its ability to either renew or replace the Non-convertible 

debentures on  current market terms; its ability to either renew or replace the Convertible debentures 

on current market terms; continued support from its providers of Loan Payable and Convertible 

debentures; current and future economic and market conditions and the impact of same on the 

Company’s business; ongoing and future revenue sources; future business levels; interest and 

currency rates; the impact of  the agreements with CIBC and Aeroplan on future business; the 

appropriateness of the Company’s tax filing position; ongoing consumer interest in accumulating 

frequent flyer miles; the Company’s ability to manage risks connected to collection of transaction 

credits; and sufficiency of the efforts to mitigate the impact on Fiscal 2011 from shutdown of 

Online business from January, 2011.  
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Forward-looking information is subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions that 

may cause the actual results of the Company to differ materially from those discussed in the 

forward-looking information, and even if such actual results are realized or substantially realized, 

there can be no assurance that they will have the expected consequences to, or effects on the 

Company. Factors that could cause actual results or events to differ materially from current 

expectations include, among other things, changes in general economic and market conditions; 

changes to regulations affecting the Company's activities; uncertainties relating to the availability 

and costs of financing needed in the future including those connected to: a) either renewal or 

replacement of  Non-convertible debentures, b) the continued support of Convertible debenture 

holders in the event the Company is in breach of  financial covenants, and c)  either early renewal or 

replacement of the Convertible debentures; termination of the CIBC agreement; termination of the 

Aeroplan agreement; any adverse change to the currently agreed payment plan with the CRA; 

currency risks, the inability of the Company to collect under its APM program; the Company’s 

financial status, and other factors, including without limitation, those listed under “General Risks 

and Uncertainties” and “Economic Dependence” in this Management Discussion and Analysis, and 

in note 1b to the interim consolidated financial statements for the three month period ended 

September 30, 2010. 

All forward-looking information speaks only as of the date on which it is made and, except as may 

be required by applicable securities laws, the Company disclaims any intent or obligation to update 

any forward-looking information, whether as a result of new information, future events or results or 

otherwise. Although the Company believes that the assumptions inherent in the forward-looking 

information are reasonable, forward-looking information is not a guarantee of future performance 

and accordingly undue reliance should not be put on such information due to the inherent 

uncertainty therein.  

 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures, and Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting  

        

Management is responsible for external reporting. The Company maintains appropriate processes to 

ensure that relevant and reliable financial information is produced.  

 

International Financial Reporting Standards  

 

On February 13, 2008, Canada’s Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) confirmed the date of 

changeover from GAAP to International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Canadian 

publicly accountable enterprises must adopt IFRS for their interim and annual financial statements 

relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.  The implementation of IFRS will be 

applicable for the Company for the July 1, 2011 to September 30, 2011 quarter, for which the 

current and comparative financial information will be presented under IFRS. As first stage of its 

IFRS conversion plan, the Company has completed an internal preliminary evaluation, and as a 

result will be carrying out further investigations, with assistance of its external advisors, to ascertain 

the impact that adoption of IFRS will have on its consolidated financial statements. The Company is 

currently in the preliminary stages of its IFRS conversion plan. 
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Additional Information 

 

Additional information relating to the Company, including the Company’s Annual Information 

Form, is available at www.sedar.com, and may also be obtained by request by telephone or 

facsimile details of which are available at the Company’s website at www.advantex.com.  

 

   

 
® ADVANTEX and ADVANCE PURCHASING MARKETING are Registered Trademarks of Advantex Marketing 

International Inc. ® Aerogold and Aeroplan are Registered Trademarks of Aeroplan Limited Partnership; CIBC is an 

Authorized Licensee of the Marks.*Visa is a registered trademark of Visa Int./CIBC lic. user.   
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 ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 

        CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

       For the three month period ended September 30, 2010 

    

 

 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management and approved by the 

Board of Directors of the Company. Management is responsible for the information and representations 

contained in these consolidated financial statements and other sections of this report. 

 

An auditor has not performed a review of these financial statements. 
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ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(unaudited – note 1a) 

 

 

                        Note                         September 30, 2010 June 30, 2010 

                                                                                                                           $                                                  $ 

ASSETS 
 

Current: 

 Cash and cash equivalents  $971,515 $505,941 

 Accounts receivable  801,420 700,927 

 Transaction credits  10,232,613  9,538,364 

 Aeronotes                                                                                                  351,251                                       381,309 

   Prepaid expenses and sundry assets  271,749            249,510 

      12,628,548 11,376,051 

Long-term: 

 Property, plant and equipment                            3  737,352 807,315 

                                                                                                              

  

TOTAL ASSETS  $13,365,900 $12,183,366 

 

LIABILITIES 

Current: 

   Loan payable                                                        4                                3,811,652                                    3,030,549 

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities        3,181,749                           3,093,652 

  Non-convertible debentures payable                     5                                2,646,218                                    2,620,705 

  Convertible debentures payable                            6                                5,349,066                                    5,217,578 

                                                                                                                 14,988,685                                  13,962,484 

  

    
SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIENCY 

 

Capital Stock  

 Class A preference shares  3,815 3,815 

 Common shares  24,106,281 24,106,281 

   24,110,096 24,110,096

  

Contributed surplus                                                7                                    651,879                                       645,879 

Equity portion of debentures                                  6                                  2,114,341               2,114,341 

Warrants                                                               5/6                                    374,554                                       374,554 

Deficit  (28,873,655) (29,023,988) 

 

     (1,622,785) (1,779,118)

  

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND   $13,365,900 $12,183,366 
 SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIENCY   
  
Going Concern (note 1b) 
Taxation (note 10) 

(see accompanying notes) 
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ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT AND COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT 

(unaudited – note 1a) 

 

 

 
                                                                                                                Three Months Ended                   Three Months Ended  

                                                                                                                 September 30, 2010                  September 30, 2009 

                                                                                                                        

                                                                                                           $                                         $                        
 

REVENUE                                                                                                       3,957,698                                     3,481,000           

   Direct expenses                                                                                              1,252,409                                     1,117,132             

                          

GROSS PROFIT                                                                                             2,705,289                                     2,363,868            

                                                 

OPERATING EXPENSES 

 Selling and marketing                                                                                      884,543                                         826,154              

 General and administrative                                                                              940,209                                         822,977              

                                                                                                                          1,824,752                                       1,649,131                                   

 

CONTRIBUTION FROM OPERATIONS                                                     880,537                                         714,737              

   Stock-based compensation                                                                                    6,000                                           22,000                  

     

PROFIT BEFORE                                                                                             874,537                                         692,737              

AMORTIZATION AND INTEREST 

 

    Amortization of property, plant and equipment                                               153,152                                           89,482                

 Interest expense 

           Stated interest expense – loan payable, 

              non-convertible debentures, and other                                                246,735                                          157,066               

  Stated interest expense - convertible debentures                                      151,233                                          151,233                 

  Accretion charge on debentures, and    

                amortization of deferred financing charges                                         173,084                                          164,057                 

                                                                                                                             724,204                                          561,838              

      

NET PROFIT AND COMPREHENSIVE                                        

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD                                                                         $150,333                                       $130,899               

     

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE                                                                    $0.00                                             $0.00 

 

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE                                                              $0.00                                             $0.00 

 

     (see accompanying notes) 
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ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF DEFICIT 

(unaudited – note 1a) 

 
 Three Months Ended                          Three Months Ended  

                                                                                                      September 30, 2010                          September 30, 2009 

                                                                                                        

                                                                                                                     $                                                         $                                                       

 

BALANCE AT THE START OF PERIOD                                  (29,023,988)                                       (29,058,015)             

 

Net profit for the period                                                                            150,333                                              130,899                      

    

BALANCE AT THE END OF PERIOD                                       (28,873,655)                                       (28,927,116)             

  

 

     

    (see accompanying notes) 
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ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(unaudited – note 1a) 

 
                                                                                                                        Three Months Ended          Three Months Ended 

                                                                                                                      September 30, 2010          September 30, 2009  

   

                                                                                                                          

                                                                                                                                          $                                       $                      

OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

 

    Net profit for the period                                                                                          $150,333                           $130,899            

 
Items not affecting cash 

 Amortization of property, plant and equipment                                                        153,152                               89,482           

 Accretion charge on debentures                                                                                126,536                             117,509          

 Amortization of deferred financing charges                                                                46,548                               46,548           

 Stock-based compensation                                                                                             6,000                               22,000             

                                                                                                                                       482,569                             406,438          

 
Changes in non-cash working capital items 

 Accounts receivable                                                                                                 (100,493)                              68,300         

 Transaction credits                                                                                                   (694,249)                          (300,505)       

 Prepaid expenses and sundry assets                                                                           (22,239)                            (58,227)            

    Aeronotes                                                                                                                     30,058                                  -                 

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                                                                     88,097                             (89,180)            

                                                                                                                                   (698,826)                          (379,612)      

 

Cash provided by/(utilized in) operating activities                                                      (216,257)                              26,826     
 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

    Loan payable                                                                                                             765,020                             410,538        

                                                                                                                                    765,020                             410,538        

 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

 Purchase of property, plant and equipment                                                                (83,189)                            (52,491)        

 

MOVEMENT IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS                                         465,574                             384,873          

 DURING THE PERIOD  

 

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of period                                                            505,941                             344,180           

 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD                               $971,515                           $729,053        

 

 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION   

 Interest paid                                                                                                             $246,734                          $157,066        

   

   (see accompanying notes) 
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ADVANTEX MARKTING INTERNATIONAL INC 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Three month period ended September 30, 2010 

(Unaudited – note 1a) 

 

       

1a. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The accompanying interim consolidated financial statements of Advantex Marketing International Inc. 

and its subsidiaries (“Advantex” or the “Company”) have been prepared in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”) for interim financial information.   

Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by Canadian GAAP for 

annual consolidated financial statements.  

 

The accompanying financial information reflects all adjustments, consisting primarily of normal 

recurring adjustments, which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of 

results for interim periods. Operating results for the three month period ended September 30, 2010 are 

not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2011. 

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these interim consolidated financial statements 

should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the fiscal 

year ended June 30, 2010. 

 

These interim consolidated financial statements follow the same accounting policies and methods of 

application as the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010. Certain 

prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation.  

 

1b. Going Concern 

 

These interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted accounting principles applicable to a going concern which contemplates that the 

Company will be able to realize its assets and settle its liabilities in the normal course as they come due 

during the normal course of operations for the foreseeable future.  As described in note 6, there is 

uncertainty surrounding the convertible debentures as the Company may not meet its financial debt 

covenants subsequent to September 30, 2010 and the Company has not generated significant positive 

cash flows from operations to date.  As a result, this may cast significant doubt on the validity of this 

assumption and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern after September 30, 2010 and 

hence the ultimate use of accounting principles applicable to a going concern.   

 

The Company’s future success is dependent on new financing, ensuring profitability and generating 

positive cash flows from operations.  The Company’s business plan includes refinancing of its current 

loans, the re-setting of its covenants and the receipt of waivers or agreement amendments where 

breaches occur.  In September 2010, the Company renewed its agreement with Accord Financial Inc 

(note 4).  The credit facility was increased to $8.5 million from $6.5 million.  While the Company has 

been successful in obtaining additional financing, waivers and debt agreement amendments to date, 

there can be no assurance these initiatives will continue to be successful. 
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These interim consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments or disclosures that may 

result from the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If the going concern assumption were 

not appropriate for these consolidated financial statements, adjustments may be necessary in the 

carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported expenses and balance sheet classifications; and 

such adjustments could be material. 

 

2. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

 

Change in accounting policies 
 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

On February 13, 2008, the CICA’s Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) confirmed that the use of IFRS 

will be required for interim and annual financial statements for fiscal years beginning on or after 

January 1, 2011 for publicly accountable enterprises in Canada.  Companies will be required to provide 

comparative information under IFRS for the previous fiscal year.  The implementation of IFRS will be 

applicable for the Company for the July 1, 2011 to September 30, 2011 quarter, for which the current 

and comparative financial information will be presented under IFRS. As first stage of its IFRS 

conversion plan, the Company has completed an internal preliminary evaluation, and as a result will be 

carrying out further investigations, with the assistance of its external advsiors, to ascertain the impact 

that adoption of IFRS will have on its consolidated financial statements.    

 

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

Expenditures for property, plant and equipment for the three month period ended September 30, 2010 

were $83,000 (three month period ended September 30, 2009 $52,000). Current period year to date 

includes capitalization of $61,000 (corresponding period previous year $nil) of internal costs expended 

on software development connected to ensuring operability of the Company’s loyalty marketing 

programs sponsored by CIBC and Aeroplan. The costs are being amortized over the shorter of useful 

life and term of affinity partner agreements. 

 

4. LOAN PAYABLE 

 

The Company has a credit facility with Accord Financial Inc. (Accord) to be used exclusively to 

acquire transaction credits under its Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) program.  

 

The principal amount outstanding under this facility at September 30, 2010 was $3,827,738 vs. 

$3,062,718 at June 30, 2010 ($1,488,027 at September 30, 2009).  The carrying amount disclosed at 

September 30, 2010 is lower than the principal amount by $16,086 (June 30, 2010 - $32,169) due to 

unamortized financing charges. 

 

The interest cost during the three month period ended September 30, 2010 was $152,693 vs. $58,376 

for the corresponding period in the previous year. 

 

For additional details on Loan Payable refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements for year 

ended June 30, 2010. 
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5. NON-CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES PAYABLE 

 

The balance of non-convertible debentures payable as at September 30, 2010 is disclosed under current 

liabilities (as at September 30, 2009 under long-term liabilities). The carrying amount on the 

consolidated balance sheet is net of unamortized financing charges.  

 

Movements in the balance during the three month period ended September 30, 2010 are as follows: 

 

 Debt Portion 

 

Warrants Deferred 

Financing 

charges 

Balance at June 30, 2010 $2,638,918 $184,744 $18,213 

Amortization of issuance costs              -       - (  9,099) 

Accretion charge        16,414       -____       - 

Balance at September 30, 2010 $2,655,332 $184,744 $  9,114 

 

The stated interest cost during the three month periods ended September 30, 2010 and September 30, 

2009 was $94,042. 

 

The debentures in the principal amount of $2,665,000 mature December 31, 2010. The Company 

expects to either renew or replace these debentures. 

 

For additional details on these debentures refer to note 6 to the consolidated financial statements for 

year ended June 30, 2010. 

 

6. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES PAYABLE 

 

The balance of convertible debentures payable at September 30, 2010 is disclosed under current 

liabilities (as at September 30, 2009 under long-term liabilities). The carrying amount on the 

consolidated balance sheet is net of unamortized financing charges.   

 

Movements in the balance during the three month period ended September 30, 2010 are as follows: 

 

 Debt Portion 

 

Equity portion Warrants Deferred 

Financing 

charges 

Balance at June 30, 2010 $5,345,780 $2,114,341 $189,810 $128,202 

Amortization of issuance costs             -       -        -    (21,366) 

Accretion charge      110,122       -____        -             - 

Balance at September 30, 2010 $5,455,902 $2,114,341 $189,810 $106,836 

 

The stated interest cost during the three month periods ended September 30, 2010 and September 30, 

2009 was $151,233. 
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The significant financial covenants of the convertible debentures require the Company to meet a 

defined level of current assets and interest coverage on a quarterly basis. During the period, the 

Company and the holders of the convertible debentures amended a certain financial covenant, and 

consequently at September 30, 2010 the Company met its financial covenants.  The Company may not 

meet its financial covenants subsequent to September 30, 2010 and all of the long-term debt has been 

classified as a current liability in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.  

 

For additional details on these debentures refer to note 7 to the consolidated financial statements for 

year ended June 30, 2010. 

 

7. STOCK OPTIONS 

 

As at September 30, 2010 there were 10,832,782 employee stock options outstanding at exercise prices 

between $0.01 to $0.135, expiring between October, 2010 and February, 2015. 

 

During the period, 110,693 stock options were forfeited or expired. 

 

The Company has recorded $6,000 of stock-based compensation expense during the three month period 

ended September 30, 2010 vs. $22,000 during the corresponding period in the previous year.  There 

was a corresponding increase in contributed surplus. 

 

8. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 

The Company’s objective is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 

market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.  The Company manages Loan 

Payable, Non-Convertible debentures, Convertible debentures, and Capital Stock which is explained in 

detail in the consolidated financial statements for year ended June 30, 2010. The Board of Directors 

does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather promotes year over 

year sustainable growth. 

 

The Company is subject to financial covenants which are measured on a quarterly basis. The Company 

is in compliance with all financial covenants as at September 30, 2010. 

 

9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer fails to meet its contractual 

obligations. The Company, in the normal course of business, is exposed to credit risk on its accounts 

receivable and transaction credits from customers. The Company generally acquires transaction credits 

that are estimated to be fully extinguishable within 30-120 days. Accounts receivable and transaction 

credits are net of applicable allowance for doubtful accounts, which is established based on the specific 

credit risk associated with the customer and other relevant information. 
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The ageing of accounts receivable and transaction credits at the reporting date was: 

     

                                                                              September 30, 2010                   June 30, 2010 

 

Current                $10,531,593   $ 9,648,667 

Over 120 days               $     502,440     $    590,624 

                                                                                  $11,034,033   $10,239,291 

Currency risk 

 

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a portion of its revenue is earned in US dollars 

and it has assets and liabilities that will be settled in US dollars.  Foreign exchange risk arises due to 

fluctuations in foreign currency rates, which could affect the Company’s financial results. 

 

Included in the undernoted accounts are the following amounts (in USD): 

 

            September 30, 2010            June 30, 2010 

Cash and cash equivalents        $150,612                               $    1,540 

Accounts receivable         $384,054                     $357,293 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities      $442,571                $258,135 

 

As at September 30, 2010 the Company had nominal amounts (equivalent to under CAD $4,000) of 

assets and liabilities in Euro and Pound Sterling (as at June 30, 2010 equivalent to under $4,000). 

 

Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 

due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always 

have sufficient liquidity when due. 

 

The Company deploys available funds to merchants under its Advanced Purchase Marketing (APM) 

program, which are disclosed as transaction credits on the balance sheet. The Company generally 

acquires transaction credits that are estimated to be fully extinguishable within 30-120 days. The 

Company maintains adequate cash balances to meet liabilities when due. 

 

Fair value 

 

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, transaction credits, aeronotes, 

accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturity of 

these instruments. 

 

The stated value of the loan payable, convertible debentures payable and non-convertible debentures 

payable approximate their fair values, as the interest rates are representative of current market rates for 

loans with similar terms, conditions and maturities. 

 



 

   Page 11 of 11  

 

 

Interest rate risk 

 

The Company is exposed to price risk on both the convertible and non-convertible debentures payable, 

as these amounts are subject to fixed interest rates. Respecting loan payable, since the interest rate is 

greater of prime plus 12.75% and 15%, the Company is exposed to price risk regardless of market rate 

movements. 

 

10. TAXATION 

 

As explained in note 12 (commitments and contingencies) to the consolidated financial statements for 

year ended June 30, 2010, the balance owed under the GST re-assessment is required to be paid during 

the objection process.. From July 1, 2009 to September 30, 2010 the Company has made payments 

totaling $474,000 under the 24 month payment plan worked out with the CRA. The amounts paid are 

included as a recoverable asset and are included with accounts receivable on the balance sheet. The 

balance amounts payable, by June 30, 2011, under the payment plan, including an estimate for interest 

are $308,000. 

 

11. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

 

Subject to regulatory approval, the Company and the existing debentureholders have reached an 

understanding on the terms connected to renewal of Non-convertible, and early renewal of Convertible 

debentures. Since the proposed terms of the renewals would create a Control Person in the event the 

conversion feature is exercised by the debentureholders, the TSX Venture Exchange policies mandate, 

among others, that the shareholders of the Company approve the terms and conditions of the proposed 

renewal. The terms and conditions of the proposed renewal are set out in the Company's Management 

Circular prepared in connection with its 2010 annual meeting of shareholders and which can be 

consulted SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

http://www.sedar.com/


Interim MD&A and Interim Financial Statements for the 
three and six month periods ended December 31, 2010 



ADVANTEX
®
 MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Operating Results 

For the three and six month periods ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 

 

 

This management’s discussion and analysis has been prepared based on information available to 

Advantex Marketing International Inc. (“Advantex” or “the Company”) as at March 1, 2011. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis is a narrative explanation to enable the reader to assess 

material changes in the financial condition and results of operations of the Company during the 

three and six month periods ended December 31, 2010, compared to the same  periods ended 

December 31, 2009. The unaudited consolidated financial statements for the three and six months 

ended December 31, 2010, which have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted accounting principles applicable to interim financial statements, are available on 

www.sedar.com . This management discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the 

Company’s consolidated audited financial statements and the related notes dated June 30, 2010. All 

dollar amounts are stated in Canadian Dollars unless otherwise noted. 

 

 

Overall Performance 

 

Advantex is a leader in the marketing services industry. The Company develops and manages 

merchant-based loyalty programs for organizations through which their customers accelerate 

earning frequent flyer miles and/or other rewards on purchases at participating merchants. Under 

the umbrella of each program, Advantex provides participating merchants with marketing, 

customer incentives and additionally secured future sales through its Advance Purchase Marketing® 

(APM) model.  
 

Advantex partners with Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (CIBC), and Aeroplan Canada Inc 

(Aeroplan) (collectively “Affinity partners”). On a combined basis, Advantex has contractual 

marketing access to more than 5 million Canadian consumers with above-average personal and 

household income. The Company’s merchant partner base currently consists of more than 750 

merchants operating restaurants, golf courses, independent inns, resorts and selected hotels, spas, 

retailers of men’s and ladies fashion, footwear and accessories many of which are leaders in their 

respective categories (collectively “Retail programs”). 

Advantex earns revenue as customers make purchases at participating merchants. 

Advantex common shares are traded on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol ADX. 

 

The Company continues to make steady progress towards sustainable growth in revenues, profit 

before non cash expenses and non cash working capital (as a measure of the cash generated from its 

operations ), profitability, and risk dilution achieved through working with several affinity partners  

thereby reducing its dependence on any single affinity partner and / or business segment. 

 

Increasing the number of merchants participating at profitable margins in the Company’s retail 

programs will enable the Company to meet its financial goals of sustained growth in revenues, cash 

generated from its operations, and profitability. To that end the Company has been increasing its 

http://www.sedar.com/
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merchant count in the CIBC Advantex programs, and from September 2010 in the Aeroplan 

sponsored program. The increase is from growth in the traditional CIBC Advantex programs in  the 

Dining (primarily Canadian restaurants) business segment, and from Retail (primarily men’s and 

ladies fashion footwear and accessories) by offering potential merchants participation in either a 

combined CIBC Advantex / Aeroplan sponsored program or Aeroplan sponsored program from 

March, 2010 and September, 2010 respectively. The Company continues to explore business 

segment expansion opportunities with CIBC, Aeroplan, and potential new affinity partners, to 

maintain the merchant growth momentum in the future. A healthy merchant count also enables the 

Company to better withstand the impact of a future economic downturn on the business of 

participating merchants, which in turn affects the Company’s revenues because Advantex earns 

revenue as customers make purchases at participating merchants. 

During the three months ended December 31, 2010, the operational goal was to increase merchant 

participation in the Aeroplan sponsored program launched September 1, 2010. The Company’s 

design of the product value proposition and merchant training have met with acceptance by the 

market, and the affinity partner. Consequent to the Company’s skilful implementation of the 

program at participating merchants, and their enthusiastic participation, it was apparent by early 

November that the actual cost of loyalty rewards would exceed the amount budgeted in the pricing 

model. In an attempt to retain the attractive value proposition of the product, and yet for the 

Company to make an economic return from the program, the Company and the affinity partner 

started discussions and in mid-February, 2011 had agreed on revisions that are mutually beneficial, 

and enable the program to be marketed by the Company. The adverse impact on the Company 

results for the three months ended December 31, 2010 was twofold, firstly from the higher than 

expected cost of rewards, and secondly from the hold put on activating new merchant starts pending 

resolution of the reward cost issue. 

 

At the gross profit level the increase in revenues of the Company’s core CIBC Advantex retail 

programs with its higher margin was able to offset the effective closedown   of the online business - 

consequent to termination of the Company’s agreement with United Airlines effective October 1, 

2010. The United Airlines business accounted for over 80% of the online business gross profit. 

Historically, the three month period to Decemeber, 2010, which covers a holiday shopping period, 

accounted for over 50% of annual online business revenues. Additionally, the Company had by the 

end of the first quarter of Fiscal 2011  laid off staff in an effort to mitigate the impact on its Fiscal 

2011 profitability from the shutdown of its online business (severance cost $54,000 included in 

G&A expenses).  The Company abandoned its online shopping mall business during the three 

months ending March 31, 2011 and is now a discontinued operation.    

  

For the three and six months ended December 31, 2010, the operating expenses consisting of selling 

and marketing, general and administrative, and stock based compensation were higher vs. 

corresponding period in the previous year.  While the selling and marketing expenses were lower, 

the general and administrative expenses were higher, and they are described in this document under 

the headings selling expenses and general and administrative expenses. 

 

Also impacting the results for the three and six months ended December 31, 2010 vs. corresponding 

periods in the previous year is the higher cost of interest consequent to the increase in the interest 

rate payable on the Company’s  line of credit under Loan payable. The line of credit is used by the 

Company to fund the growth of its APM program. The interest change was effective March, 2010. 
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The Company is reporting a net profit for the three and six months ended December 31, 2010. 

Financial highlights are tabulated: 

 

 

 3 months ended December 31 6 months ended December 31 

 2010 
(Fiscal 

2011) 

2009 
(Fiscal 

2010) 

Inc / (Dec)  2010 
(Fiscal 

2011) 

2009 
(Fiscal 

2010) 

Inc / (Dec)  

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Revenues       

 Retail programs - CIBC 

Advantex / Aeroplan  sponsored 

program  

 

3,588,000 

 

3,078,000 

    

    510,000  

 

6,980,000 

 

6,110,000 

   

   870,000  

Online business      94,000    847,000   (753,000 )    660,000 1,296,000  ( 636,000 ) 

 3,682,000 3,925,000   (243,000 ) 7,640,000 7,406,000    234,000  

       

Gross Profit       

 Retail programs - CIBC 

Advantex / Aeroplan  sponsored 

program  

2,419,000 2,074,000     345,000  4,924,000 4,247,000   677,000  

Online business      35,000    317,000   (282,000)   235,000   508,000  (273,000) 

 2,454,000 2,391,000       63,000  5,159,000 4,755,000    404,000  

       

Profit before non cash 

expenses, and non cash 

working capital items 

    

  349,000 

  

  439,000 

      

     (90,000) 

   

  832,000 

    

  846,000 

    

   (14,000) 

       

Net Profit      56,000   166,000     (110,000)   207,000    297,000    (90,000) 

 

The Company is substantially financed by its Non-Convertible Debentures Payable, and 

Convertible Debentures Payable. The Company has fully deployed the proceeds of its Non-

convertible debentures which are used exclusively to acquire transaction credits under its APM 

program. The Convertible debenture proceeds are used for purpose of the Company’s working 

capital needs. 

 

The Non-Convertible Debentures matured on December 31, 2010, and the Company was in default 

as it has not redeemed the principal due on maturity. Also, as at December 31, 2010 the Company 

was in breach of its Convertible Debentures Payable current asset financial covenant.  

 

Subsequent to December 31, 2010, the Company and the holder of the majority of the Non-

Convertible Debentures Payable, and Convertible Debentures Payable (collectively “Debentures”) 

signed term sheets for renewal of the Debentures.  

 

The Company has secured an unconditional approval from the CNSX to list its common shares, and 

has received the Exchange’s approval to the term sheets. The Company will be delisting its 

common shares from the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”), and has notified TSXV of its 
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intention. The Company expects to ensure a seamless transition between the two exchanges’ by 

mid- March, 2011, and close the renewal transaction soon after listing of its common shares on the 

CNSX. 

 

The material terms of the renewal are tabulated. These terms were approved by a majority of the 

disinterested shareholders of the Company at the special and annual meeting of the shareholders 

held on December 21, 2010. 

 

Renewal terms Existing $2.665 million Non 

convertible Debenture Payable 

Existing $6.0 million 

Convertible Debenture Payable 

   

Structure Non-convertible debenture Non-convertible debenture 

Maximum amount of 

renewal 

$2.665 million $6.0 million 

Maturity of Debentures September 30, 2013 September 30, 2013 

Coupon  14% 12% 

# of common share warrants 

issuable which are 

convertible into common 

shares of the Company on a 

1to1 basis 

1,975 for each $1,000 of 

debenture  

14,151 for each $1,000 of  

debenture 

Exercise price of common 

share warrants 

$0.04 $0.04 

 

The Company has the support of the provider of the Loan Payable, and continues to draw on the 

line of credit to expand its APM program. As illustrated in the above financial highlights tabulation, 

the Company generated $349,000 and $832,000  cash from its operations, as determined by profit 

before non cash expenses and non cash working capital items, respectively for three and six months 

ended Decemeber 31, 2010 vs. $439,000 and $846,000 for the corresponding periods in the 

previous year.  

 

The Company generally carries minimal cash balances as it attempts to maximize the funds 

deployed with merchants (transaction credits on the balance sheet) participating in its APM 

program. At the end of Decemeber 31, 2010, the Company is carrying cash balances of $1.5 m and 

expects to use part of the funds to buy back a portion of the maturing debentures.  

 

As explained in the Taxation section of note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for year 

ended June 30, 2010, the balance owed under the GST re-assessment is required to be paid during 

the objection process. From July 1, 2009 to December 31, 2010 the Company has made payments 

totaling $588,000 under the 24 month payment plan worked out with the CRA. The amounts paid 

are included as a recoverable asset and are included with accounts receivable on the balance sheet. 

The balance amounts payable, by June 30, 2011, under the payment plan, including an estimate for 

interest is $194,000. 

 

A detailed look at the results for the three and six months ended December 31, 2010 is set out in the 

following sections. 
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Results of Operations (in millions of dollars) 
 Q2 

Fiscal 

2011 

* 

Q2 

Fiscal 

2010  

* 

 YTD 

Fiscal 

2011 

* 

YTD 

Fiscal 

2010 

 * 

Revenue:       

                                     

  Retail programs                                                                  $3.6 $3.1  $7.0 $6.1 

  Online Shopping Malls   0.1 0.8  0.7 1.3 

      

    Total  revenue 3.7 3.9  7.7 7.4 

Direct Expenses  (1.2) (1.5)  (2.5) (2.7) 

Gross Profit 2.5 2.4  5.2 4.8 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 1.7 1.6  3.5 3.3 

Contribution from operations and 0.7 0.7  1.6 1.4 

  Profit before amortization and interest      

Amortization,  (0.1) (0.1)  (0.3) (0.2) 

Interest on debentures, loan payable, other (0.6) (0.5)  (1.1) (0.9) 

Net profit for the  period $0.1   $ 0.2  $ 0.2 $ 0.3 

 
* Some numbers in the above presentation above may not add due to rounding. 

 

Revenue 

  

Advantex has two business models. In both models, revenue is recognized at the time that purchases 

are made by consumers through the Advantex programs. Revenue can vary significantly from year 

to year, depending on the number of merchants participating under each model:  

  

(1) Advance Purchase Marketing Model (“APM”): The Company acquires the rights to cash 

flow from future designated credit card transactions at a discount from participating merchants 

(Transaction Credits) and promotes the merchant, by way of cardholder incentives through its 

loyalty marketing programs, and targeted marketing programs. The Company’s revenue is from 

the designated credit card receipts at participating establishments, net of the Company’s costs to 

acquire the transaction credits. Proceeds from the spend on designated credit cards are received 

by the Company and a predetermined portion is applied to reduce the transaction credit balance 

that the merchant owes. 

(2) Marketing Only Model: Merchants participate in the loyalty/marketing programs without the 

Company acquiring transaction credits. In this model, Advantex provides loyalty rewards and/or 

marketing support for participating merchants and earns its revenue, based on an agreed 

percentage of each designated card transaction in exchange for the services it provides 

participating establishments. The Company’s CIBC Advantex, and Aeroplan sponsored 

Marketing Only programs; Infinite Hotel program; and Online Shopping Malls fall under this 

model. 

The key driver of revenues for the retail programs is merchant participation.  
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The revenue trends during the three and six months ended December 31, 2010 vs. corresponding 

period in the previous year are tabulated: 

 
 Q2 – F 11 Q2 – F10 Inc/(Dec) YTD – F11 YTD- F10 Inc/(Dec) 

Avg. # of participating 

merchants in Retail programs 

during the period 

 

765 

 

624 

 

22.6% 

 

749 

 

597 

 

25.5% 

       

Retail programs        

   APM $2,285,000 $1,894,000  $4,554,000 $3,734,000  

  Marketing Only $1,283,000   1,108,000  $2,373,000   2,300,000   

   3,568,000   3,002,000 18.9%   6,927,000   6,034,000 14.8% 

   Sales of Aeronotes        20,000        76,000         53,000        76,000  

   Total  Retail programs $3,588,000 $3,078,000 16.6% $6,980,000 $6,110,000 14.2% 

       

Online programs  $    94,000 $  847,000 (88.9)% $   660,000 $1,296,000 (49.1)% 

       

Total revenues $3,682,000 $3,925,000 (6.2)% $7,640,000 $7,406,000 3.1%  

 

With respect to the retail programs, for the three and six month periods ended December 31, 2010 

vs. corresponding periods in the previous year, the growth in revenues trails growth in merchant 

participation consequent to a) mix of the merchants; increase in merchants with lower overall sales; 

b) the fee rate that the Company is able to charge to secure new merchant participation and retain 

existing merchants is declining because of adverse economic conditions; and c) mix of merchants 

participating in the APM vs. Marketing Only programs; as growth in the Aeroplan sponsored retail 

program was skewed to Marketing Only thereby offering lower revenues to the Company . 

 

With respect to the Online activity, as explained in the Overall Performance section, the  decline in 

revenues for three and six month periods ended December 31, 2010 vs. corresponding periods in the 

previous year is a reflection of the termination of the Company’s contract with United Airlines 

effective October 1, 2010. United Airlines accounted for over 80% of the revenues of the online 

business. 

 

Direct Expenses  

 

Direct expenses include cardholder award costs, the cost of marketing and advertising on behalf of 

merchants, cost of sales related to sale of aeronotes, and provision against receivables under all 

programs.  

 

 Three months ended December 

31, 2010  

Six months ended December 

31, 2010  

 Inc / (Dec)  vs. previous year Inc / (Dec)  vs. previous year 

           Retail programs   

 Revenue 16.6%  14.2%  

 Direct Expenses 16.4%  10.4%  

           Online   

 Revenue (88.9)% (49.1)% 

 Direct Expenses (88.7)% (46.1)% 



 7 

 

During the three and six months ended December 31, 2010, the Company’s  marketing efforts on 

behalf of its merchants have been focused on the in-store marketing particularly with respect to its 

Aeroplan sponsored retail program with a compensatory reduction in direct marketing and 

advertising vs. corresponding period in the previous year. 

 

The segment wise change in direct expenses is consistent with change in respective revenues. 

 

Gross Profit 

 

 Gross Profit – F 2011 Gross Profit – F 2010 

Three months ended 

December 31 

$2,453,000 $2,391,000 

Six months ended December 

31  

$5,159,000 $4,755,000 

 

The improvement is due to higher revenues in the retail programs with their higher gross margins 

which have more than offset the decline in the online revenues with their lower gross margins. 

 

Selling Expenses 

 

Selling expenses include expenses arising from remuneration of sales staff, transaction processing 

and other selling activities.  

 

Selling expenses for three and six month periods ended December 31, 2010 were $747,000 and 

$1,578,000 respectively compared with $826,000 and $1,652,000 for the corresponding period in 

the previous year. 

 

Inc / (Dec)  vs. corresponding 

period in the previous year, 

with respect to: 

Three months ended December 

31, 2010 

Six months ended December 

31, 2010 

Retail programs   

   : Selling expenses 14.0% 5.5% 

   : Revenues  16.6% 14.2%  

Online    

   : Selling expenses (68.5)% (35.1)% 

   : Revenues (88.9)% (49.1)% 

 

In its core business – retail programs – the changes in selling costs were aligned with changes in 

revenues. With respect to online, despite the termination of the Company’s agreement with United 

Airlines effective October 1, 2010, staffing – albeit at reduced level – had to be retained to operate 

the remaining malls.  

 



 8 

 

 

General and Administrative (G&A) Expenses   

 

G&A expenses include compensation for all non-sales staff, professional fees, head office premises 

costs, shareholder and public relations costs, office overhead and foreign exchange losses.  

 

 
 Q2 – F11 Q2 – F10 Inc/(Dec) YTD – F11 YTD – F10 Inc/(Dec) 

Compensation for non-

sales staff 

$586,000 $580,000 $    6,000 $1,245,000 $1,119,000 $126,000 

Less: software 

development costs 

capitalized (details 

provided under capital 

expenditures in this 

document) 

 

 

(  13,000) 

 

 

 

(141,000) 

 

 

$128,000 

 

 

(      74,000) 

 

 

(    141,000) 

 

 

$  67,000 

 $573,000 $439,000 $134,000 $1,171,000 $   978,000 $193,000 

Severance cost $  - $  - $  - $     54,000 $  - $  54,000 

All other G&A expenses $398,000 $381,000 $  17,000 $   739,000 $  665,000 $  74,000 

Total G&A Expenses $971,000 $820,000 $151,000 $1,964,000 $1,643,000 $321,000 

       

 

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year ended June 30, 2010 (fiscal 2010) the cuts to salaries of the 

CEO and senior management which were implemented in March, 2008 and March, 2009, as a 

temporary measure in response to the general economic conditions, were rolled back and salaries 

revised to levels prior to cuts. Effective October, 2010, the salaries of CEO and certain senior 

management staff were reduced on a permanent basis. The salary of the CFO was increased from 

December, 2010. Details are available under Employment Contracts section of the Information 

Circular dated November 23, 2010. 

 

Allowing for above noted changes to salaries of senior management, compensation costs were 

consistent with prior year, except for a reduction in the amount of activity that qualified for 

capitalization as software development 

 

Interest Expense 
          

The Company currently has three sources of debt capital – convertible debentures, non-convertible 

debentures, and a credit facility (loan payable). In addition to the stated interest, the interest cost 

also comprises amortization of deferred financing charges, and accretion charges.  

 

 Three months 

ended December 

31, 2010 

Three months 

ended December 

31, 2009 

Six months 

ended December 

31, 2010 

Six months 

ended December 

31, 2009 

Stated interest  $387,000 $306,000 $   785,000 $614,000 

Accretion and 

amortization 

$169,000 $166,000 $   342,000 $330,000 

Total $556,000 $472,000 $1,127,000 $944,000 
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For the three and six months ended December 31, 2010 interest is higher vs. corresponding period 

in the previous year consequent to a) higher draw of loan payable which is used exclusively to fund 

growth of the Company’s Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) program and, b) increase in interest 

rate on loan payable. The interest rate was increased in March, 2010.   

 

Net Profit  

 

The Company’s Net Profit for the three months ended December 31, 2010 was $56,000 (basic 

earnings $0.00 per common share) compared with a Net Profit of $166,000 (basic earnings $0.00 

per common share) for the corresponding period in the previous year, a decline of $110,000. 

 

The Company’s Net Profit for the six months ended December 31, 2010 was $207,000 (basic 

earnings $0.00 per common share) compared with a Net Profit of $297,000 (basic earnings  $0.00 

per common share) for the corresponding period in the previous year, a decline of $90,000. 

 

Working Capital and Liquidity Management 

 

As at December 31, 2010, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $1,489,000 compared 

with $506,000 as at June 30, 2010.  

 

During the three and six months ended December 31, 2010, the Company generated cash from its 

operating activities of $1,313,000 and $1,097,000, respectively.  This compares to cash used in 

operations of $670,000 and $642,000 in the comparable prior periods.  The increase from prior 

periods in cash generated from operating activities is primarily due to changes in non cash working 

capital items, as tabulated: 

 

 3 months ended 

31-12-2010 

3 months ended 

31-12-2009 

6 months ended 

31-12-2010 

6 months ended 

31-12-2009 

Net profit adjusted 

for items not 

affecting cash 

 

$ 349,000 

 

 

$ 439,000 

 

$ 832,000 

 

  $846,000 

     

Changes in non cash 

working capital items 

    

Accounts receivable     82,000  ( 528,000)    (18,000) (   459,000) 

Transaction credits   541,000  ( 720,000)  (154,000) (1,020,000) 

Prepaid expenses and 

sundry expenses 

(  94,000) (    69,000)  (116,000) (   128,000) 

Aeronotes     86,000  ( 503,000)    116,000 (   503,000) 

Accounts payable 

and accrued expenses 

 

  349,000 

    

    711,000 

  

   437,000 

     

    622,000 

   964,000 (1,109,000)    265,000 (1,488,000) 

     

Cash generated / 

(used) in operations  

1,313,000 (  670,000) 1,097,000 (  642,000) 



 10 

 

 

Cash used and received from financing activities related to draw against the line of credit (loan 

payable) and the proceeds are used to fund merchants participating in the Company’s APM 

program. 

 

Cash used in investing activities was for expenditures for property, plant and equipment and for the 

six months ended December 31, 2010 were $133,000 (six months ended December 31, 2009 

$161,000). Current period year to date includes capitalization of $74,000 (corresponding period 

previous year $141,000) of internal costs expended on software development connected to 

ensuring operability of the Company’s  loyalty marketing programs sponsored by CIBC and 

Aeroplan.  

 

As of date hereof, the capital expenditures to end of fiscal year ending June 30, 2011 are expected 

to be in the nature of routine updating of the Company’s infrastructure and software development.  

Future period amounts are expected to approximate current period activity levels for the next 2-3 

quarters 

 

The Company generally carries minimal cash balances as it attempts to maximize the funds 

deployed with merchants (transaction credits on the balance sheet) participating in its APM 

program. At the end of December 31, 2010, the Company is carrying cash balances of $1.5 m and 

expects to use part of the funds to buy back a portion of the maturing debentures. While the 

Company does not expect the foregoing utilization of cash to impact its future operations as long as 

it is able to access the full extent of the current limit of the line of credit facility under loan payable, 

additional capital in the form of debt and/or equity will be required to fund the continued expansion 

of its Advance Purchase Marketing programs, as described under General Risks and Uncertainties  

 

A summary of current period cash flows is set out below: (in millions of dollars) 

 

 

                         
                              Some of the numbers in the above presentation may not add due to rounding. 

  Represented by current assets less loan payable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

 

The Company does not participate in off balance sheet financing arrangements.  

 

The Company’s operations are funded by debt. To continue its current operations and fund growth 

during the balance of fiscal year ending June 30, 2011 requires the Company to have continued 

access to its non-convertible debentures, convertible debentures, and loan payable.   

 

  

Cash 

Working 

Capital * 

As at July 1, 2010 $0.5 $5.3 

Generated from operations                                           

Changes from non cash working capital items                        

Financing activities 

0.8 

0.3 

0.0 

0.0 

(0.3) 

0.0 

Purchase of PPE         (0.1)                        0.0 

Changes in cash balances  1.0 

Movement during the six months 1.0 .7 

As at December 31, 2010                                          $1.5 $6.0 
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Subsequent to December 31, 2010, the Company and the holder of the majority of the Non-

Convertible Debentures Payable, and Convertible Debentures Payable (collectively “Debentures”) 

signed term sheets for renewal of the Debentures. The current status of the renewal of the 

convertible and non-convertible debentures is described under the Overall Performance section of 

this document, and Note 1b to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the six month period 

ended December 31, 2010. 

 

Loan Payable 

 

The Company has a credit facility (loan payable) with Accord Financial Inc. (Accord) to be used 

exclusively to acquire transaction credits under its Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) program.  

 

The facility was renewed in September, 2010 for a three year term ending in December, 2013. The 

facility has a limit of $8.5 million. As at December 31, 2010, the Company had utilized $3.1 million 

from the $8.5 million line of credit available under loan payable. The interest rate is the greater of 

prime rate of a certain Canadian bank plus 12.75% per annum and 15% per annum. The loan 

payable is a demand facility.  

 

 Non convertible debentures payable 

 

The non-convertible debentures payable in the principal amount of $2,665,000 matured December 

31, 2010.  

 

The Company has fully deployed the proceeds of non-convertible debentures which were used 

exclusively to acquire transaction credits under its Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) program.  

 

The non-convertible debentures are secured by a first charge against the merchant transaction 

credits funded by the proceeds of the non-convertible debentures. 

 

As at December 31, 2010, the Company has not repaid the non-convertible debenture holders.  

 

 Convertible debentures payable 

 

The convertible debentures payable in the principal amount of $6,000,000 mature on December 9, 

2011. 

 

The convertible debenture is secured by a general security agreement over all the assets of the 

Company and its subsidiaries. As at December 31, 2010, the Company was in breach of the 

convertible debentures current asset financial covenant and is in default under the convertible 

debenture agreement. As a result, the convertible debenture holders have the right to waive the 

event of default, demand immediate payment of the convertible debenture in full or modify the 

terms and conditions of the debenture including key terms such as repayment terms, interest rates 

and security. If the Company is unable to secure alternative financing to repay the convertible 

debenture, the convertible debenture holders would have the right to realize upon a part or all of the 

security held by them.  
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Contractual Obligations  

 

Contractual obligations as at December 31, 2010 were due as follows:   

 

 
(in millions of dollars)                               Payments Due by Period   

 

Contractual obligation 

 

Total 

Less than 

1 Year 

1 to 3 

Years 

4 to 5  

Years 

After 

 5 Years 

 

Loan Payable 

 

$3.1 

 

$3.1 

 

     $- 

 

$- 

 

            $- 

 

Non convertible 

debentures 

 

Convertible debentures                          

 

$2.7  

 

      $6.0               

 

        $2.7 

 

       $6.0 

 

       $- 

 

       $-         

 

$-  

 

$- 

 

            $-  

 

             $- 

      

Operating Leases $0.2 $0.1 $0.1 $0.0             $-  

 

 

The Company is in the final stages of renewing its head office lease for a five year term 

commencing March, 2011. 

 

As described in the commitments section of note 12 (commitments and contingencies) to the 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2010, the Company has a commitment 

to purchase rewards from its affinity partner, Aeroplan Canada Inc. As part of certain amendments 

to the agreement agreed after December 31, 2010, the Company is committed to purchase an 

additional $100,000 of rewards for a revised total of $700,000 to be purchased by August 31, 2011. 

 

      Summary of Quarterly Results 

 
12 months ended December 31, 

2010 

     

(in millions of dollars, except per 

share amounts) 

 Q3 

 Mar 31 

 2010 

 Q4 

 June 30 

 2010 

Q1 

Sept 30 

2010 

Q2 

Dec 31 

2010 

 

 

Total 

      

Revenue $ 3.2 $ 3.7 $ 4.0 $ 3.7 $ 14.6 

Percentage of Annual Revenue 22 % 25 % 27 % 26 % 100% 

      

Net Profit/(Loss) $ (0.3) $ 0.00 $0.2 $0.1 $0.00 

Basic earnings Per Common 

Share 

$ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00  $ 0.00 
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12 months ended December 31, 

2009 

     

(In millions of dollars, except per 

share amounts) 

 Q3 

 Mar 31 

 2009 

 Q4 

 June 30 

 2009 

 Q1 

 Sept 30 

 2009 

Q2 

Dec 31 

2009 

 

 

Total 

      

Revenue $ 2.6 $ 3.2 $ 3.5 $ 3.9 $ 13.2 

Percentage of Annual Revenue 20 % 24 % 27 % 29 % 100 % 

      

Net Profit/(Loss) $ (0.8) $ (0.2) $ 0.1 $ 0.2 $ (0.6) 

Basic earnings Per Common 

Share 

$ (0.01) $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ (0.01) 

        

The fluctuations of the Company’s results are reflective of seasonal consumer behaviour in the 

retail programs, and in the online business, as well as penetration in its retail program and online 

business.   

 

The Company abandoned its online shopping mall business during the three months ending March 

31, 2011 and is now a discontinued operation.    

 

Critical Accounting Estimates 

 

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, in accordance with Canadian 

GAAP, requires the Company’s management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 

reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 

date of the audited, and interim consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of 

revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 

The Company calculates the fair value of certain financial instruments, as discussed below, using 

the Black-Scholes option pricing model. This requires assumptions regarding the risk-free rate of 

return, the expected life of the instrument, the expected volatility in the price of the common shares 

of the Company and the expected level of dividends to be paid on the common shares of the 

Company.  

 

The Company has certain business risks linked to the collection of its transaction credits. The 

Company generally acquires transaction credits that are estimated to be fully extinguishable within 

30 – 120 days. Until these credits have been extinguished through designated cardholder spend at 

participating merchants there is a credit risk, and an increase in credit risk associated with the 

longer time frame approaching and/or exceeding 120 days. Management has implemented 

additional review and monitoring procedures to assess the creditworthiness and ongoing eligibility 

of merchants if they wish to benefit from larger purchases of transaction credits. In the event of 

default, the Company has set up escalating collection measures, and based on the specific credit 

risk associated with the customer, and other relevant information including an assessment of the 

likelihood of collection, a provision is established. Note 11 (financial instruments) to the interim 
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consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2010 under section credit risk sets out the 

gross amounts receivable, the related allowance for amounts deemed uncollectable, and the net 

amounts disclosed on the balance sheet. 

 

The Company assesses potential impairment of the Aeronotes by considering management’s 

forecasted use of the Aeronotes. If management determines that it will not be able to recover a 

portion of the Aeronotes prior to their expiry date, then an impairment charge will be recorded. 

 

Stock Options 

 

The Company issues stock options with exercise prices at or above the market price of the 

underlying common shares of the Company, and the minimum price prescribed by TSX Venture 

Exchange regulations.  

 

There were no grants of stock options during six months ended December 31, 2010.  

As at December 31, 2010 there were 8,817,291 employee stock options outstanding at exercise 

prices between $0.01 to $0.135, expiring between February, 2011 and February, 2015. 

 

During the period, 2,126,184 stock options were forfeited or expired. 

 

The Company has recorded $12,000 of stock-based compensation expense during the six months 

ended December 31, 2010 ($30,289 for six months ended December 31, 2009) related to the fair 

value of stock options issued during prior years.  There was a corresponding increase in 

contributed surplus. 

 

Outstanding Share Data and Dilutive Securities  

 

As at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the number of common shares of the Company outstanding 

was 97,030,868.  

 

As at December 31, 2010, the Company was committed to issuing additional common shares under 

certain circumstances, as described in the below noted tabulation. 

 

 Number of Common shares Notes 

     

Common shares issuable 

on full conversion of the 

$6.0 m Convertible 

Debenture  

  60,000,000 Conversion price is $0.10. The 

Debenture matures December 

9, 2011 

Common share warrants      9,863,988 Exercise price $0.045, expiry 

December 9, 2011, issued to 

Convertible debenture holders 

in January / February, 2009 

Common share warrants     1,313,375 Exercise price $0.06, expiry 

January 30, 2011, issued to 

holders of 665 units – second 
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tranche closed in January, 

2008 -  of Non convertible 

debentures  

Employee Stock options    8,817,291 Maximum number of shares 

issuable under the existing 

Stock Option Plan is 

11,643,704  

TOTAL 79,994,654  

 

 

Outlook 

 

The Company is optimistic about its ability to increase the number of merchants participating in its 

retail programs. The Company believes that growth in merchant participation will result in increase 

in its revenues, and consequently profitability. 

 

Merchant participation expectations are based on the Company’s research which indicates a large 

potential merchant market for its programs, in particular for the Advance Purchase Marketing 

(APM) program, and the Company’s ability to execute its sales plan. Participation in the APM 

program provides merchants with access to working capital in addition to loyalty and marketing 

directed to designated CIBC credit card holders, and Aeroplan members. The Company has room 

on its line of credit (loan payable) to ramp up participation of credit worthy merchants in its 

Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) program. The Company expects APM to be the Company’s 

lead retail program offering. 

 

On the cautionary side are two factors: 

Firstly, the general economic trends which continue to indicate continuing uncertainty. This may 

lead to lower consumer spending, and may impact the sales at merchants participating in the 

Company’s programs, which in turn affects the Company’s revenues because Advantex earns 

revenue as customers make purchases at participating merchants. Furthermore, uncertainty may 

cause potential merchants to defer participation in loyalty and marketing program offered by the 

Company; and 

Secondly, consequent to the Aeroplan sponsored program reward cost issue, which is described 

under overall performance, the hold placed by the Company on selling and activating merchants 

pending resolution of the cost issue. While the Company and the affinity partner agreed on a revised 

mutually beneficial arrangement mid-February, 2011 and it will be implemented from March 2, 

2011, the loss of selling activity for about 3 months and the time required to regain momentum will 

adversely impact the Company’s merchant participation goals for fiscal year ending June 30, 2011 

and consequently its revenue and profitability goals. 

Furthermore the Company has had to mitigate the impact of the close down of the online business 

with the termination of the United Airlines agreement effective October 1, 2010.  At the end of the 

first quarter of Fiscal 2011 it had laid off staff in an effort to mitigate the impact on its Fiscal 2011 

profitability from the shutdown of its online business. During the six months ended December 31, 

2010, the Company has been able to offset the impact on its gross profit by replacing the revenues 
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from its online business with the growth in the retail programs with their higher gross margin. The 

Company abandoned its online shopping mall business during the three months ending March 31, 

2011 and is now a discontinued operation.    

The Company expects historic seasonality trends (see Summary of Quarterly Results) to be 

applicable during fiscal 2011, and combined with the loss of momentum on merchant acquisition 

described above, expects a net loss during its third quarter ending March 31, 2011. 

While the Company is optimistic about its ability to increase merchant participation from March, 

2011 onwards and thereby lift its fourth quarter results, it is unlikely that the expected loss of the 

third quarter will be substantially offset, and so the Company may not duplicate its fiscal year ended 

2010 financial performance.  

 

Subsequent to December 31, 2010, the Company and the holder of the majority of the Non-

Convertible Debentures Payable, and Convertible Debentures Payable (collectively “Debentures”) 

signed term sheets for renewal of the Debentures.  

 

The Company has secured an unconditional approval from the CNSX to list its common shares, and 

has received the Exchange’s approval to the term sheets. The Company will be delisting its 

common shares from the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”), and has notified TSXV of its 

intention. The Company expects to ensure a seamless transition between the two exchanges’ by 

mid- March, 2011, and close the renewal transaction soon after listing of its common shares on the 

CNSX. 

 

The above debenture renewal developments allow the Company to focus on growth of the business. 

 

Economic Dependence 

 

A significant portion of the Company’s current revenue is dependent upon its Offline value-added 

loyalty program agreement with CIBC under which rewards are awarded to holders of certain 

CIBC credit cards when they complete purchases at merchants participating in Advantex programs. 

In September, 2010, the Company renewed its existing arrangement with CIBC, and signed a new 

agreement expiring August 31, 2013. This agreement grants the Company conditional exclusivity 

rights to market its programs within Dining (restaurants, golf courses, independent inns, resorts 

and selected hotels, spas) business segment, and selected Retail (primarily men’s and ladies 

fashion, footwear and accessories) business categories.  The agreement can be terminated by CIBC 

under certain conditions prior to August 31, 2013. The significance to the Company of the CIBC 

agreement can best be assessed by comparing its revenues with that of other programs as tabulated 

at the end of this section.  

 

Recognizing the risks of overdependence on a partner and/or a business segment from the 

perspective of business continuity, and limitation on future revenues and profitability, the 

Company sought out and signed an agreement with Aeroplan. The agreement was signed in March, 

2010 and is effective until August 31, 2013, with an option to extend for one additional period of 

two years by mutual consent of the parties, and can be terminated by Aeroplan under certain 

conditions prior to August 31, 2013. This value-added loyalty marketing agreement provides 
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exclusive rights to the Company to market its product offerings within the Fashion Retail segment. 

The exclusivity in favour of the Company is conditional upon the Company meeting certain targets 

on an annual basis. Under certain conditions the Company can expand its product offering outside 

Fashion Retail categories, with Aeroplan holding the right of first refusal. The Company launched 

this program on September 1, 2010.   

 
     

  YTD Q2-F 

2011 

          

           YTD Q2- F                                                 

2010 

Revenue  $ % $ % 

Retail programs 

    CIBC Advantex programs (Dining business 

segment) 

 

$ 6.0m  

 

79 

 

$ 6.1m 

 

82 

     CIBC Advantex programs / combined CIBC 

Advantex & Aeroplan sponsored programs, and 

Aeroplan sponsored programs (Fashion Retail, 

and selected Retail business segments) –  

0.9m 12 0.0m 0 

Online 0.7m 9 1.3m 18 

 Total  $ 7.6m 100 $ 7.4m 100 

 

 

General Risks and Uncertainties  

 

The Company’s current loyalty programs are dependent upon ongoing consumer interest in 

accumulating frequent flyer miles for the purpose of obtaining reward air travel on designated 

airlines. Due to the financial and security difficulties being experienced by the airline industry 

overall, there is a risk that the underlying frequent flyer currencies used in these programs could 

become unavailable to Advantex, or that consumer interest in accumulating these awards could 

decline. This, in turn, may result in difficulties in retaining and acquiring participating merchants 

and may adversely affect the Company’s revenue and direct costs.  

 

The Company provides marketing services to retail organizations and, in more general terms, the 

Company could be considered competitive with other advertising and promotional programs for a 

portion of a client’s total marketing budget. If client promotional spending levels decrease, this 

could have a material adverse effect on Advantex’s revenue. In addition, there could be additional 

loyalty program operators in Canada, targeting the same merchant base as Advantex. For instance, 

a US-based loyalty marketing company is operating a Dining program in Canada in association 

with a major bank, in addition to expanding its US programs to include participating Canadian 

restaurants. In the past, other companies have attempted to develop similar merchant-based 

coalitions on their own and failed, making Advantex, with its established merchant coalition and 

proven loyalty systems, a reputable outsourced partner in the Canadian marketplace. Advantex 

believes its substantial client equity, proprietary systems, breadth of in-house services and 

significant affinity partner contracts provide a strong platform for the Company to compete 

effectively in the North American marketplace and respond to new competition in Canada. 

 

Advantex’s operations are dependent on the abilities, experience and efforts of its management and 

highly skilled workforce. While Advantex has entered into employment agreements with key  
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management personnel and other employees, and each of these agreements includes confidentiality 

and non-competition clauses, the business prospects of the Company could be adversely affected if 

any of these people were unable or unwilling to continue their employment with Advantex.  

 

The Company has certain business risks linked to the collection of its transaction credits under its 

APM program. However, based upon historical results and the fact that the Company generally 

acquires transaction credits that are estimated to be fully extinguishable within 30 – 120 days, 

management believes that these risks are manageable. Until these credits have been extinguished 

through cardholder spend there is a credit risk, and an increase in credit risk associated with the 

longer time frame approaching and/or exceeding 120 days or more. Management has implemented 

additional review and monitoring procedures to assess the creditworthiness and ongoing eligibility 

of merchants if they wish to benefit from larger purchases of transaction credits.  

 

The Company believes that increasing the amount of the transaction credits purchased from 

merchants will result in higher revenue and, consequently, improve the Company’s results and 

cash flows. The Company requires additional debt financing to scale its ability in this area. If the 

Company is not successful in raising additional debt financing, its ability to expand its merchant 

base and increase revenue may be impeded, resulting in reduced growth in cash flows from 

operations. This could affect the Company’s liquidity and working capital position. Any debt 

structure would need to recognize the general security interest over the Company’s assets, held by 

the convertible debenture holders. 

 

General market conditions or the financial status of the Company in terms of its profitability, cash 

flows and strength of its consolidated balance sheet, and uncertainty connected to the CRA’s 

decision to the Company’s notice of objection on the GST matter explained in detail later in this 

section may limit access to additional financing and continued access to existing sources of debt. 

These conditions might adversely affect the availability or cost of financing, the specific factors 

affecting the Company’s attractiveness as a borrower or as an investment vehicle, or the market’s 

perception of the Company’s performance and future prospects.  

 

In addition to economic factors, the profitability of the Company is subject to a number of risk 

factors including: continued affinity partner (CIBC, and Aeroplan), processor (provide data to the 

Company that enables billing and issuance of loyalty rewards under the Aeroplan sponsored 

program), and merchant participation; completion of the renewal of the existing non-convertible 

debenture and the convertible debenture on terms and timelines described in the overall 

performance section; continued access to the line of credit (loan payable) under existing terms; 

continued support of convertible debenture-holders in the event the Company is in breach of any of 

its covenants;  merchant credit risk; competition, and changes in regulations -including taxation- 

affecting the Company’s activities, and consumer behaviour. Note 1b, to the interim consolidated 

financial statements as at December 31, 2010 describes the risks in the event the renewal of the 

debentures cannot be completed. 

 

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is subject to ongoing audits by tax authorities. 

While the Company believes that its tax filing positions are appropriate and supportable, from time 

to time, certain matters are reviewed and challenged by the tax authorities. The Company regularly 

reviews the potential for adverse outcomes in respect of tax matters and believes that, other than as 
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described below, any ultimate disposition of a reassessment will not have a material adverse 

impact on its liquidity, consolidated financial position or results of operations due to adequate 

provisioning for these tax matters. Should an outcome materially differ from existing provisions, 

the Company’s effective tax rate, its earnings, and its liquidity and working capital position could 

be affected positively or negatively in the period in which matters are resolved.  

 

After an audit in 1998, the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) determined that the Company was 

providing marketing services. Since 1998, the Company has continued in the same business 

activities. After completion of a recent audit, the CRA reversed its 1998 position. In April 2009, 

the Company received a notice of reassessment from the CRA for Goods and Services Tax owed 

related to the Company’s CIBC Advantex program and the ability to claim certain Input Tax 

Credits during Fiscal years 2005-2007. The re-assessment is in the amount of $755,000. The 

Company has contested the CRA position, and has filed a notice of objection. Since this is a GST 

re-assessment, the amount of the re-assessment has to be paid in full, and is independent of the 

appeals process. The Company has worked out a 24 month payment plan with the CRA, and is 

recording amounts paid under the payment plan as a recoverable asset. However, no assurance can 

be given with regards to the timing of a decision to the Company’s notice of objection and or 

whether the notice of objection will be decided in whole or in part in the Company’s favour. In the 

event the notice of objection is denied and or there is an adverse change to the currently agreed 

payment plan with the CRA, the Company’s earnings and its liquidity and working capital position 

could be affected negatively. 

 

Forward-Looking Information  

 

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis contains certain “forward-looking information”. All 

information, other than information comprised of historical fact, that addresses activities, events or 

developments that the Company believes, expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future 

constitutes forward-looking information. Such forward-looking information relates to, without 

limitation, information regarding: the Company’s belief that it continues to make steady progress 

towards sustainable growth in revenues, cash generated from its operations, profitability; the 

Company’s belief that risk dilution is achieved through working with several affinity partners 

thereby reducing its dependence on any single affinity partner and / or business segment; the 

Company’s belief that increasing the number of merchants participating at profitable margins in the 

Company’s retail business will enable the Company to meet its financial goals of sustained growth 

in revenues, cash generated from its operations, and profitability; the Company’s belief that a 

healthy merchant count also enables the Company to better withstand the impact of a future 

economic downturn on its revenues; the Company’s belief that the revisions agreed mid-February 

with an affinity partner will be signed as an amendment to the existing agreement; the Company’s 

belief that the revisions agreed mid-February with an affinity partner will enable the Company to 

market the program and make an economic return from it; the expected timing of the implementing 

the revisions in the Aeroplan sponsored program; the Company’s expectations with respect to the 

seamless transition of the listing of its common shares from TSXV to the CNSX; the Company’s 

expectation with respect to timing of listing of its common shares on CNSX; the Company’s 

expectation with respect to the renewal of the debentures, and the timing of the completion of the 

renewal transactions; the Company’s belief that it has the support of the provider of loan payable; 

the Company’s expectation with respect to the amount of maturing debentures that it will buy back, 
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and its ability to do so; the Company’s ability to protect its gross margins; the Company’s belief 

that the key driver of revenues for the retail programs is merchant participation; the Company’s 

expectation with respect to the level of capital expenditures for the next 2-3 quarters;  the 

Company’s estimation of the size of the market for the Company’s products  in the retail business, 

and expected demand for the Company’s products in the retail business; the Company’s ability to 

increase the number the merchants participating in its retail programs; the Company’s anticipated 

increase in the number of merchants with which it will do business;  the Company’s ability to take 

on additional debt and deploy with merchants participating in its APM program; the Company’s 

expectation that it will have sufficient cash to fund operations at its current levels; the Company’s 

belief with respect to the acceptance of its APM program by merchants, and it being the lead 

program offering;  the Company’s  ability  to access additional debt with respect to expanding the 

APM program within the offline business;  the Company’s belief that upon the expected renewal of 

the debentures it can focus on growth of the business; increases in business levels;  estimates 

relating to extinguishment of transaction credits,  the Company’s belief that risks connected to 

collection of transaction credits are manageable;  the Company’s ability to continue to review the 

collection risks connected to its APM program; the Company’s intentions with respect to retaining 

future earnings in the foreseeable future; the Company’s belief that its tax filing positions are 

appropriate and supportable; the ability of the Company to satisfy payments under the 24 month 

payment plan agreed with CRA; the Company’s ability to obtain waivers or renegotiate the 

covenants of the Company’s convertible debentures if a default in respect of the same arises; the 

Company’s expectation with respect to seasonal consumer behavior; the Company’s expectation 

with respect to mitigating, by launch of Aeroplan sponsored program, the risk of overdependence 

on CIBC Advantex program;  and other information regarding financial and business prospects and 

financial outlook is forward-looking information.  

Forward-looking information reflects the current expectations or beliefs of the Company based on 

information currently available to the Company. With respect to the forward-looking information 

contained in this Management Discussion and Analysis, the Company has made assumptions 

regarding, among other things, the size of the market for the Company’s programs; its ability to 

increase merchant participation in its programs; its ability to access future financing; continued 

affinity partner participation with the Company; its ability to transition its common shares on the 

CNSX; its ability to complete the renewal of the existing non-convertible and convertible 

debentures on terms described in this MD&A; continued support from its providers of Loan 

Payable; current and future economic and market conditions and the impact of same on the 

Company’s business; ongoing and future revenue sources; future business levels; interest and 

currency rates; the impact of  the agreements with CIBC and Aeroplan on future business; the 

appropriateness of the Company’s tax filing position; ongoing consumer interest in accumulating 

frequent flyer miles; the Company’s ability to manage risks connected to collection of transaction 

credits.  

Forward-looking information is subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions that 

may cause the actual results of the Company to differ materially from those discussed in the 

forward-looking information, and even if such actual results are realized or substantially realized, 

there can be no assurance that they will have the expected consequences to, or effects on the 

Company. Factors that could cause actual results or events to differ materially from current 

expectations include, among other things, changes in general economic and market conditions; 

changes to regulations affecting the Company's activities; level of merchant participation in the 

Company’s programs; uncertainties relating to the availability and costs of financing needed in the 
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future including those connected to renewal of non convertible and convertible debentures; 

termination of the CIBC agreement; termination of the Aeroplan agreement; any adverse change to 

the currently agreed payment plan with the CRA; currency risks, the inability of the Company to 

collect under its APM program; the Company’s financial status, and other factors, including without 

limitation, those listed under “General Risks and Uncertainties” and “Economic Dependence” in 

this Management Discussion and Analysis, and in note 1b to the interim consolidated financial 

statements for the three and six  month periods ended December 31, 2010. 

All forward-looking information speaks only as of the date on which it is made and, except as may 

be required by applicable securities laws, the Company disclaims any intent or obligation to update 

any forward-looking information, whether as a result of new information, future events or results or 

otherwise. Although the Company believes that the assumptions inherent in the forward-looking 

information are reasonable, forward-looking information is not a guarantee of future performance 

and accordingly undue reliance should not be put on such information due to the inherent 

uncertainty therein.  

 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures, and Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting  

        

Management is responsible for external reporting. The Company maintains appropriate processes to 

ensure that relevant and reliable financial information is produced.  

 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)  

 

The Canadian Accounting Standards Board has confirmed that International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) will replace current Canadian GAAP for publicly accountable enterprises, 

including Advantex, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.  

 

Accordingly, the Company will apply accounting policies consistent with IFRS beginning with its 

interim financial statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2011. Our fiscal 2012 interim and 

annual financial statements will include comparative fiscal 2011 financial statements, adjusted to 

comply with IFRS. 

 

IFRS Transition Plan 

 

The Company has prepared a comprehensive transition plan, and engaged the services of a third 

party adviser to assist with the transition. 

 

The Company is currently performing detailed analysis of the IFRS requirements related to its 

significant accounting policies to determine where changes to accounting policies may be required.  

 

The table below summarizes the expected timing of activities related to the Company’s transition to 

IFRS. 

 

Identification of key areas for which changes to 

accounting policies may be required 

In progress, expected to be 

completed during Q3 fiscal 

2011 

Detailed analysis of all relevant IFRS requirements In progress, expected to be 
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and identification of areas requiring accounting 

policy changes or those with accounting policy 

alternatives. 

completed during Q3 fiscal 

2011 

Assessment of first-time adoption  

(IFRS 1) requirements and alternatives. 

In progress, expected to be 

completed during Q3 fiscal 

2011 

Final determination of expected changes to 

accounting policies and expected choices to be made 

with respect to first-time adoption alternatives 

In progress, expected to be 

completed during Q3 fiscal 

2011 

Resolution of the accounting policy change 

implications on information technology, internal 

controls and contractual arrangements 

In process, to be completed Q4 

fiscal 2011  

Management and employee education and training Throughout the transition 

process 

Quantification of the Financial Statement impact of 

changes in accounting policies 

In process, to be completed Q4 

fiscal 2011 

Preparation of pro forma Q1 fiscal 2012 financial 

statements consistent with IFRS presentation and 

disclosure requirements 

Q4 fiscal 2011 – Q1 fiscal 2012  

 

Impact of Adopting IFRS on the Organization 

 

As the transition plan progresses, the Board of Directors and Audit Committee are being updated on 

progress, and with information regarding the potential for changes to significant accounting 

policies. As part of the implementation plan, the Company’s employees that are involved in the 

preparation of financial statements are receiving training on the relevant aspects of IFRS and the 

potential for changes to accounting policies.  

 

The Company is also assessing what changes may be required to its accounting systems and 

business processes.  To date, the changes to systems, processes and controls that have been 

identified are minimal and the Company believes the systems and processes can accommodate the 

necessary changes.  The Company is also assessing whether any contractual arrangements may be 

impacted by potential changes to accounting policies. 

 

Impact of Adopting IFRS on the Company’s Financial Statements 

 

The adoption of IFRS is expected to result in changes to some significant accounting policies and 

have an impact on the recognition and measurement of certain transactions and balances within the 

Company’s financial statements.  Although the Company has not yet completed its determination of 

the full effect of adopting IFRS on its financial statements, included below are highlights of the 

areas that have been identified as having the most potential for a change to significant accounting 

policies. 
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This is not intended to be a complete list of areas where the adoption of IFRS will require a change 

in accounting policies, but to provide highlights of the analysis performed to date. As the IFRS 

implementation plan continues, the Company will make a final determination of changes to its 

accounting policies that will result from adopting IFRS, and may identify other changes that will 

have an impact on the financial statements. 

 

The Company has identified the following key areas that have the most potential for changes to 

accounting policies on adoption of IFRS: 

 

Provisions – In certain circumstances, IFRS guidance with respect to the recognition and 

measurement of liabilities differs from current Canadian GAAP. Changes in accounting policies on 

adoption of IFRS may result in the recognition of additional liabilities, or a different measurement 

of the liabilities currently recognized under current Canadian GAAP. 

 

Share-based Payments – In certain circumstances, IFRS requires a different measurement of share-

based compensation than current Canadian GAAP. In particular, a change may be required to the 

measurement and timing of recognizing the expense associated with grants under the stock option 

plan and restricted share plan. The Company is assessing the impact of the change on the 

measurement of compensation expense associated with the stock option plan. 

 

Income Taxes – While accounting for income taxes is similar under IFRS and Canadian GAAP, in 

certain circumstances there are differences in the measurement of future tax assets and future tax 

liabilities. The Company is determining whether any changes in its accounting policies related to 

income taxes will have a significant effect on disclosures in its financial statements. 

 

First-time adoption of IFRS 

The adoption of IFRS requires the application of IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS 1”), which provides guidance for an entity’s initial adoption 

of IFRS.  IFRS generally requires retrospective application of IFRS as effective at the end of the 

entity’s first annual IFRS reporting period. However, IFRS 1 also provides certain optional 

exemptions and mandatory exceptions to this retrospective treatment.  

 

As analyses of the company’s accounting policies continue under IFRS, the Company will 

determine which available optional exemptions it will apply on adoption of IFRS.  

 

The Company expects to elect the following IFRS optional exemptions in the preparation of an 

opening IFRS statement of financial position as at July 1, 2010, Advantex’s “Transition Date”: 

 

To apply IFRS 2 Share-based Payments only to equity instruments that were issued after November 

7, 2002 and had not vested by the Transition Date. 

 

To apply IAS 23 Borrowing Costs prospectively from the Transition Date.  IAS 23 requires the 

capitalization of borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, production or construction 

of certain assets.   

 



 24 

To not reassess whether arrangements contain a lease under IFRS where the same determination 

that would be made under IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease (IFRIC 

4) was made previously in accordance with Canadian GAAP. 

 

To apply the transitional provisions of IFRIC 4 to leases which the same determination as IFRIC 4 

was not made previously in accordance with Canadian GAAP.  Therefore, the determination of 

whether these arrangements contain a lease is based on the circumstances existing at the Transition 

Date. 

 

As the analyses of its accounting policies under IFRS continues, the Company may decide not to 

elect to apply these, or to apply other, optional exemptions contained in IFRS1. 

 

IFRS 1 does not permit changes to estimates that have been made previously. Accordingly, 

estimates used in the preparation of the Company’s opening IFRS statement of financial position as 

at July 1, 2010 will be consistent with those made under current Canadian GAAP. If necessary, 

estimates will be adjusted to reflect any difference in accounting policy. 

 

Subsequent Disclosures 

 

Further disclosures of the IFRS transition are expected as follows: 

 

The Company’s MD&A for the year ended June 30, 2011 will include updates on the progress of 

the transition plan, and, to the extent known, information regarding the impact of adopting IFRS on 

key line items in the annual financial statements. 

 

The Company’s first financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS will be the interim 

financial statements for the three months ending September 30, 2011, which will include notes 

disclosing transitional information and disclosure of new accounting policies under IFRS. The 

interim financial statements for the three months ending September  30, 2011 will also include 

fiscal 2011 financial statements for the comparative period, adjusted to comply with IFRS, and the 

Company’s transition date IFRS statement of financial position (as at July 1, 2010).  

 

 

Additional Information 

 

Additional information relating to the Company, including the Company’s Annual Information 

Form, is available at www.sedar.com, and may also be obtained by request by telephone or 

facsimile details of which are available at the Company’s website at www.advantex.com.  

 

   

 
® ADVANTEX and ADVANCE PURCHASING MARKETING are Registered Trademarks of Advantex Marketing 

International Inc.  
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ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 

        CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

       For the three month and six month periods  

    Ended December 31, 2010 

 

 

 

 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management and approved by the 

Board of Directors of the Company. Management is responsible for the information and representations 

contained in these consolidated financial statements and other sections of this report. 

 

An auditor has not performed a review of these financial statements. 
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ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(unaudited – note 1a) 

 

                        Note                    December 31, 2010 June 30, 2010 

                                                                                                                           $                                                  $ 

ASSETS 
 

Current: 

 Cash and cash equivalents                                                               $1,489,066 $505,941 

 Accounts receivable  719,334 700,927 

 Transaction credits  9,691,439 9,538,364 

 Aeronotes                                                          3                                      265,638                                       381,309 

   Prepaid expenses and sundry assets  365,571 249,510 

      12,531,048 11,376,051 

Long-term: 

 Property, plant and equipment                         4  668,382 807,315 

                                                                                                             

TOTAL ASSETS  $13,199,430 $12,183,366 

 

LIABILITIES 

 

Current: 

   Loan payable                                                     5                                 $3,081,125                                  $3,030,549 

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   3,531,008  3,093,652 

   Non-convertible debentures payable                 1b/6                             2,665,000                                    2,620,705  

   Convertible debentures payable                        1b/7                             5,482,823                                     5,217,578 

                                                                                                                14,759,956                                   13,962,484 

  

                

 
SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIENCY 

 

Capital Stock  

 Class A preference shares  3,815 3,815 

 Common shares  24,106,281 24,106,281 

   24,110,096 24,110,096

  

Contributed surplus                                              8                                      657,879                                       645,879 

Equity portion of debentures                                7                                   2,114,341                                    2,114,341 

Warrants                                                               6/7                                   374,554                                       374,554 

Deficit  (28,817,396) (29,023,988) 

 

     (1,560,526) (1,779,118)

  

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND   $13,199,430 $12,183,366 
 SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIENCY   
  

(see accompanying notes) 
 
Refinancing (note 1b) 
Commitments and Contingencies - Taxation (note 12) 
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ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT AND  COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT 

(unaudited – note 1a) 

 

 

 
                                                                                                                  Three Months Ended                   Six Months Ended  

                                                                                                                       December 31                              December 31 

                                                                                                                     2010               2009                     2010           2009   

                                                                                                    $                 $                       $               $ 
 

REVENUE                                                                                               3,682,261       3,924,877            7,639,959    7,405,877 

   Direct expenses                                                                                      1,228,630       1,534,188            2,481,039    2,651,320 

                          

GROSS PROFIT                                                                                    2,453,631       2,390,689            5,158,920     4,754,557 

                                                 

OPERATING EXPENSES 

 Selling and marketing                                                                              746,699          825,564             1,577,732    1,651,718 

 General and administrative                                                                      970,533          819,730             1,964,252    1,642,707 

    Stock-based compensation                                                                          6,000              8,289                  12,000         30,289 

                                                                                                                  1,723,232       1,653,583             3,553,984    3,324,714   

      

     

                    

CONTRIBUTION FROM OPERATIONS                                             730,399         737,106             1,604,936    1,429,843 

AND PROFIT BEFORE AMORTIZATION AND INTEREST 

     

 

    Amortization of property, plant and equipment                                      118,611            99,271               271,764       188,753 

 

 Interest expense 

           Stated interest expense – loan payable, 

              non-convertible debentures, convertible                                         

       debentures, and other                                                                   386,905          305,981               784,872       614,280 

  Accretion charge on debentures, and    

                amortization of deferred financing charges                                 168,624         166,248                341,708       330,305  

                                                                                                            555,529         472,229             1,126,580       944,585 

 

NET PROFIT AND COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT                                       

FOR THE PERIOD                                                                                   $56,259       $165,606             $206,592      $296,505 

     

 

BASIC EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE                                       $0.00               $0.00                   $0.00             $0.00 

 

DILUTED EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE                                 $0.00               $0.00                   $0.00             $0.00 

    

     (see accompanying notes) 



   

   Page 4 of 14  

 

 

ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF DEFICIT 

(unaudited – note 1a) 

 
    Three Months Ended                          Six Months Ended  

                                                                                                            December 31                                    December 31 

                                                                                                      2010               2009                            2010                2009 

                                                                                                         $                      $                                 $                       $ 

 

BALANCE AT THE START OF PERIOD                    (28,873,655)      (28,927,116)            (29,023,988)      (29,058,015) 

 

Net profit for the period                                                               56,259              165,606                    206,592              296,505 

    

BALANCE AT THE END OF PERIOD                         (28,817,396)      (28,761,510)            (28,817,396)      (28,761,510)  
 

     

    (see accompanying notes) 
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ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW 

(unaudited – note 1a) 
                                                                                                                            Three Months Ended         Six Months Ended 

               December 31                     December 31  

   

                                                                                                                         2010              2009               2010              2009 

                                                                                                                            $                     $                     $                    $ 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

 

    Net profit for the period                                                                           $56,259          $165,606         $206,592       $296,505  

 
Items not affecting cash 

 Amortization of property, plant and equipment                                        118,611             99,271           271,764          188,753 

 Accretion charge on debentures                                                                122,058           119,700           248,594          237,209

 Amortization of deferred financing charges                                               46,566             46,548             93,114            93,096  

 Stock-based compensation                                                                            6,000               8,289             12,000            30,289 

                                                                                                                      349,494           439,414           832,064          845,852 

 
Changes in non-cash working capital items 

 Accounts receivable                                                                                    82,086          (527,729)          (18,407)       (459,429) 

 Transaction credits                                                                                    541,174          (719,761)        (153,075)    (1,020,266) 

 Prepaid expenses and sundry assets                                                          (93,822)            (69,305)       (116,060)       (127,532) 

    Aeronotes                                                                                                    85,612          (502,799)         115,671        (502,799) 

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                                                  349,263            710,818          437,356         621,638 

                                                                                                                    964,313        (1,108,776)         265,485    (1,488,388) 

 

 

Cash provided by/(utilized in) operating activities                                   1,313,807          (669,362)      1,097,549     (642,536) 
 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

    Proceeds from draw of Loan payable                                                     (746,613)           464,112            18,407        (530,830) 

                                                                                                                 (746,613)            464,112           18,407           874,650 

 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

 Purchase of property, plant and equipment                                            (49,643)          (108,745)        (132,831)       (161,236) 

 

 

MOVEMENT IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS                        517,551           (313,995)         983,125           70,878 

 DURING THE PERIOD  

 

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of period                                          971,515             729,053         505,941          344,180  

 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD           $1,489,066          $415,058     $1,489,066       $415,058 
      Consists of: 

        Cash                                                                                                 $1,484,066         $410,058      $1,484,066       $410,058 

        Term deposits                                                                                           5,000               5,000               5,000             5,000 

                                                                                                                 $1,489,066         $415,058      $1,489,066       $415,058 

 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

 Interest paid                                                                                            $782,406           $454,748        $535,672       $611,814  

 

    

   

   (see accompanying notes) 
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ADVANTEX MARKTING INTERNATIONAL INC 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Three and Six Months ended December 31, 2010 

(Unaudited – note 1) 

 

       

1a. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The accompanying interim consolidated financial statements of Advantex Marketing International Inc. 

and its subsidiaries (“Advantex” or the “Company”) have been prepared in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”) for interim financial information.   

Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by Canadian GAAP for 

annual consolidated financial statements.  

 

The accompanying financial information reflects all adjustments, consisting primarily of normal 

recurring adjustments, which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of 

results for interim periods. Operating results for the three and six month period ended December 31, 

2010 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the fiscal year ending June 

30, 2011. The accounting policies used in the preparation of these interim consolidated financial 

statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto 

for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010. 

 

These interim consolidated financial statements follow the same accounting policies and methods of 

application as the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010. Certain 

prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation.  

 

1b. REFINANCING 

 

These interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted accounting principles applicable to a going concern which contemplates that the 

Company will be able to realize its assets and settle its liabilities in the normal course as they come due 

during the normal course of operations for the foreseeable future.   

 

The Company is substantially financed by its Non-Convertible Debentures Payable, and Convertible 

Debentures Payable. The Company has fully deployed the proceeds of its Non-convertible debentures 

which are used exclusively to acquire transaction credits under its APM program. The Convertible 

debenture proceeds are used for purpose of the Company’s working capital needs. 

 

The Non-Convertible Debentures matured on December 31, 2010, and the Company was in default as it 

has not redeemed the principal due on maturity. Also, as at December 31, 2010 the Company was in 

breach of its Convertible Debentures Payable current asset financial covenant.  

 

Subsequent to December 31, 2010, the Company and the holder of the majority of the Non-Convertible 

Debentures Payable, and Convertible Debentures Payable (collectively “Debentures”) signed term 

sheets for renewal of the Debentures.  
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The Company has secured an unconditional approval from the CNSX to list its common shares, and has 

received the Exchange’s approval to the term sheets. The Company will be delisting its common shares 

from the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”), and has notified TSXV of its intention. The Company 

expects to ensure a seamless transition between the two exchanges’ by mid- March, 2011, and close the 

renewal transaction soon after listing of its common shares on the CNSX. 

 

The material terms of the renewal are tabulated. These terms were approved by a majority of the 

disinterested shareholders of the Company at the special and annual meeting of the shareholders held on 

December 21, 2010. 

 

Renewal terms Existing $2.665 million Non 

convertible Debenture Payable 

Existing $6.0 million 

Convertible Debenture Payable 

   

Structure Non-convertible debenture Non-convertible debenture 

Maximum amount of renewal $2.665 million $6.0 million 

Maturity of Debentures September 30, 2013 September 30, 2013 

Coupon  14% 12% 

# of common share warrants 

issuable which are convertible 

into common shares of the 

Company on a 1to1 basis 

1,975 for each $1,000 of 

debenture  

14,151 for each $1,000 of  

debenture 

Exercise price of common 

share warrants 

$0.04 $0.04 

 

In the event the Company is not able to close the debenture renewals, the Company may not meet its 

obligations as they come due after December 31, 2010. As a result, this would cast significant doubt on 

the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern after December 31, 2010 and hence the 

appropriateness and ultimate use of accounting principles applicable to a going concern.   

 

These interim consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments or disclosures that may 

result from the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If the going concern assumption were 

not appropriate for these consolidated financial statements, adjustments may be necessary in the 

carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported expenses and balance sheet classifications; and 

such adjustments could be material. 

 

 

2. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

 

Change in accounting policies 

 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

On February 13, 2008, the CICA’s Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) confirmed that the use of IFRS 

will be required for interim and annual financial statements for fiscal years beginning on or after 

January 1, 2011 for publicly accountable enterprises in Canada.  Companies will be required to provide 

comparative information under IFRS for the previous fiscal year.  The implementation of IFRS will be 
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applicable for the Company for the July 1, 2011 to September 30, 2011 quarter, for which the current 

and comparative financial information will be presented under IFRS.  

 

 

3. AERONOTES 

 

The Company carries inventory of Aeronotes it purchased from Aeroplan Canada Inc. The Company 

has the right to sell the Aeronotes to merchants including those participating in its merchant based 

loyalty programs, use them in its activities marketing merchants participating in its loyalty programs, 

and to use them as employee incentive.  

 

The Aeronotes expire July 12, 2011.  

 

The inventory includes printing costs and is carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

 

For six months ended December 31, 2010 $49,275 of inventory was recognized as an expense, and 

$57,554 was utilized to settle amounts owed to Directors for director fees and certain employee 

bonuses. 

 

 

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

Expenditures for property, plant and equipment for the six month period ended December 31, 2010 

were $133,000 (six month period ended December 31, 2009 $161,000). Current period year to date, and 

three months ended December 31, 2010 includes capitalization of $74,000 and $13,000 respectively 

($141,000 for three and six month periods ended December 31,) of internal costs expended on software 

development connected to ensuring operability of the Company’s loyalty marketing programs 

sponsored by CIBC and Aeroplan. The costs are being amortized over the shorter of useful life and 

term of affinity partner agreements. 

 

 

5. LOAN PAYABLE 

 

The Company has a credit facility (loan payable) with Accord Financial Inc. (Accord) to be used 

exclusively to acquire transaction credits under its Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) program. For 

additional details on loan payable refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements for year ended 

June 30, 2010. 

 

The principal amount outstanding under this facility at December 31, 2010 was $3,081,125               vs. 

$3,062,718 at June 30, 2010 ($1,952,139 at December 31, 2009).  The unamortized financing charges at 

December 31, 2010 were $nil (June 30, 2010 - $32,169). The carrying amount is the principal amount 

net of unamortized financing charges.  

 

The stated interest cost during the six month period ended December 31, 2010 was $294,323 vs. 

$115,933 for the corresponding period in the previous year. 
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6. NON-CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES PAYABLE  

 

The non-convertible debentures payable in the principal amount of $2,665,000 matured December 31, 

2010.  

 

The Company has fully deployed the proceeds of the non-convertible debentures which were used 

exclusively to acquire transaction credits under its Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) program.  

 

As at December 31, 2010, the Company has not repaid the non-convertible debenture holders. The 

status of renewal is described in note 1b. 

 

The balance of non-convertible debentures payable as at December 31, 2010  and as at June 30, 2010 is 

disclosed under current liabilities and is net of unamortized financing charges. Movements in the 

balance during the six months ended December 31, 2010 are as follows: 

 

 

 Debt Portion 

 

Warrants Deferred 

Financing 

costs 

Balance at June 30, 2010 $2,638,918 $184,744 $18,213 

Amortization of issuance costs              -       - (18,213) 

Accretion charge        26,082       -____       - 

Balance at December 31, 2010 $2,665,000 $184,744 $nil 

 

The stated interest cost during the six months ended December 31, 2010 was $188,083 ($188,083 for 

corresponding period in the previous year). 

 

Of the 5,263,375 common share warrants attached to non-convertible debentures payable, 3,950,000 

expired December 24, 2010, and the balance 1,313,375 expired January 30, 2011. 

 

 

7. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES PAYABLE 
 

The convertible debentures payable in the principal amount of $6,000,000 mature on December 9, 

2011. 

 

The convertible debenture proceeds are used for purpose of the Company’s working capital needs. 

 

As at December 31, 2010, the Company is in breach of the convertible debentures current asset 

financial covenant and is in default under the convertible debenture agreement. As a result, the 

convertible debenture holders have the right to waive the event of default, demand immediate payment 

of the convertible debenture in full or modify the terms and conditions of the debenture including key 

terms such as repayment terms, interest rates and security. If the Company is unable to secure 

alternative financing to repay the convertible debenture, the convertible debenture holders would have 
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the right to realize upon a part or all of the security held by them. The Company met its interest 

coverage financial covenant at December 31, 2010.  

 

The status of the discussions with the convertible debenture holders is described in note 1b. 

 

The balance of the debt portion of convertible debentures payable at December 31, 2010 and as at June  

30, 2010 is disclosed under current liabilities. The amounts disclosed are net of unamortized financing 

charges.  Movements in the balance during the six months ended December 31, 2010 are as follows: 

 

 Debt Portion 

 

Equity 

portion 

Warrants Deferred 

Financing 

costs 

Balance at June 30, 2010 $5,345,780 $2,114,341 $189,810 $128,202 

Amortization of issuance costs             -       -        -    (42,733) 

Accretion charge      222,512       -____        -       - 

Balance at December 31, 2010 $5,568,292 $2,114,341 $189,810 $  85,469 

 

The stated interest cost during the six months ended December 31, 2010 was $302,466 ($302,466 for 

corresponding period in the previous year). 

 

The convertible debentures payable are convertible at the option of the debenture holders. The 

conversion right expires on maturity of the convertible debentures. On full conversion 60,000,000 

common shares of the Company are issuable. In addition, the convertible debenture holders were given 

9,863,988 common share warrants in September, 2008 in consideration for amending financial 

covenants to maturity. Each common share warrant entitles the holder to convert into one common 

share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.045. Common share warrants expire December 9, 

2011. 

 

 

8. STOCK OPTIONS 

 

As at December 31, 2010 there were 8,817,291 employee stock options outstanding at exercise prices 

between $0.01 to $0.135, expiring between February, 2011 and February, 2015. 

 

During the period, 2,126,184 stock options were forfeited or expired. 

 

The Company has recorded $12,000 of stock-based compensation expense during the six months ended 

December 31, 2010 ($30,289 for six months ended December 31, 2009) related to the fair value of 

stock options issued during prior years.  There was a corresponding increase in contributed surplus. 

 

 

9. SEGMENT REPORTING 

 

The Company’s reportable segments include: (i) Retail programs, and (ii) Online shopping malls.  

Where applicable, corporate and other activities are reported separately as Corporate and other. 
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Retail programs relate to loyalty programs for major affinity groups through which their members earn 

bonus frequent flyer miles or other rewards at participating  merchants. 

 

Online shopping malls were loyalty programs aimed at members of airline affinity programs whereby 

the members could earn additional rewards through the purchase of goods through online malls. 

 

Financial information by reportable segment for the six months ended December 31, 2010 is as follows:  

 

 Retail programs Online 

shopping malls 

Corporate Total 

Revenue from external 

customers 

$         6,980,263 $      659,696 $                 - $    7,639,959 

Direct Expenses            2,056,288         424,751             -         2,481,039 

Gross Profit            4,923,975         234,945                    -       5,158,920 

Selling and marketing               1,313,832         263,900                    -       1,577,732 

General and 

administrative * 

                 -   -               1,964,252       1,964,252 

Stock based 

compensation 

                 -   -                    12,000            12,000 

Contribution from 

Operations and Profit 

before Amortization 

and Interest 

           3,610,143        (  28,955)              (1,976,252)       1,604,936 

Amortization                   -   -                  271,764          271,764 

Interest                   -   -               1,126,580       1,126,580 

Segment Net Profit 

(Loss) 

3,610,143 (28,955)              (3,374,596)          206,592 

 Includes $54,000 of severance payments. 

 

 

Financial information by reportable segment for the six months ended December 31, 2009 is as follows:  

 

 Retail programs  Online 

shopping malls 

Corporate  Total 

Revenues $          6,109,580 $    1,296,297 $                - $    7,405,877 

Direct Expenses             1,862,859          788,461            -       2,651,320 

Gross Profit             4,246,721          507,836                   -       4,754,557 

Selling and marketing 

expenses  

            1,245,288          406,430                   -       1,651,718 

General and 

administrative 

       -             -              1,642,707       1,642,707 

Stock based 

compensation 

                 -             -                   30,289           30,289 

Contribution from 

Operations and Profit 

before Amortization 

            3,001,433         101,406             (1,672,996)       1,429,843 
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and Interest 

Amortization       -             -                  188,753          188,753 

Interest       -   -                  944,585          944,585 

Segment Net Profit 

(Loss) 

 3,001,433 101,406             (2,806,334)          296,505 

 

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant 

accounting policies. The Company does not allocate its property, plant and equipment among reportable 

segments. 

 

The Company abandoned its online shopping mall business during the three months ending March 31, 

2011 and is now a discontinued operation.    

 

 

10. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 

The Company’s objective is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 

market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.  The Company manages Loan 

Payable, Non-Convertible debentures, Convertible debentures, and Capital Stock which is explained in 

detail in the audited financial statements for year ended June 30, 2010. The Board of Directors does not 

establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather promotes year over year 

sustainable growth. 

 

The Company is subject to financial covenants which are measured on a quarterly basis. The Company 

is in breach of its convertible debentures payable current asset financial covenant (see note 7). 

 

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer fails to meet its contractual 

obligations. The Company, in the normal course of business, is exposed to credit risk on its accounts 

receivable and transaction credits from customers. The Company generally acquires transaction credits 

that are estimated to be fully extinguishable within 30-120 days. Accounts receivable and transaction 

credits are net of applicable allowance for doubtful accounts, which is established based on the specific 

credit risk associated with the customer and other relevant information. 

 

The ageing of accounts receivable and transaction credits at the reporting date was: 

 

                                                                                 December 31, 2010                              June 30, 2010 

 

Current       $  9,913,117                $  9,648,667 

Over 120 days      $     497,656                $     590,624 

Net reported on the balance sheet                              $10,410,773                $10,239,291 
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The accounts receivable and transaction credits and the respective allowance for delinquent accounts is 

as follows: 

                                                                                           December 31, 2010                      June 30, 2010 

 

Transaction credits and  

    accounts receivable(Gross)                                            $11,003,816                                $10,616,621 

                                                                                             

Allowance                                                                              $(593,043)                                 $(377,330) 

Net reported on the balance sheet                                      $10,410,773         $10,239,291 

 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the net balance of the transaction credits and accounts 

receivable. 

 

The allowance is determined on specifically identified transaction credit balances that are delinquent 

and amount of the specific provision is determined based on whether the account has been referred for 

legal collection, whether the Company’s attempt to debit the merchant’s bank account for payments due 

to the Company has been rejected, the underlying reason for the rejections, and the Company’s 

historical experience on recoveries. 

 

Currency risk 

 

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a portion of its revenue is earned in US dollars 

and it has assets and liabilities that will be settled in US dollars.  Foreign exchange risk arises due to 

fluctuations in foreign currency rates, which could affect the Company’s financial results. 

 

Included in the undernoted accounts are the following amounts (in USD): 

 

            December 31, 2010                       June 30, 2010 

Cash and cash equivalents        $  18,529                                         $     1,540 

Accounts receivable         $139,228                                          $357,293 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities      $567,002                           $258,135 

 

As at December 31, 2010 the Company had nominal amounts (equivalent to under CAD 3,000) of 

assets and liabilities in Euro and Pound Sterling (June 30, 2010 equivalent to under CAD 4,000). 

 

Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 

due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always 

have sufficient liquidity when due. 

 

The Company deploys available funds to merchants under its Advanced Purchase Marketing (APM) 

program, which are disclosed as transaction credits on the balance sheet. The Company generally 

acquires transaction credits that are estimated to be fully extinguishable within 30-120 days. The 

Company maintains adequate cash balances to meet liabilities when due. 

 



 

   Page 14 of 14  

 

 

Fair value 

 

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, transaction credits, aeronotes, 

accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturity of 

these instruments. 

 

The stated value of the loans payable, convertible debentures payable and non-convertible debentures 

payable approximate their fair values, as the interest rates are representative of current market rates for 

loans with similar terms, conditions and maturities. 

 

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

 

Commitments  

 

As described in the commitments section of note 12 (commitments and contingencies) to the 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2010, the Company has a commitment to 

purchase rewards from its affinity partner, Aeroplan Canada Inc. As part of certain amendments to the 

agreement agreed after December 31, 2010, the Company’s is committed to purchase an additional 

$100,000 of rewards for a revised total of $700,000 to be purchased by August 31, 2011. 

 

Taxation 

 

As explained in the Taxation section of note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for year ended 

June 30, 2010, the balance owed under the GST re-assessment is required to be paid during the 

objection process. From July 1, 2009 to December 31, 2010 the Company has made payments totaling 

$588,000 under the 24 month payment plan worked out with the CRA. The amounts paid are included 

as a recoverable asset and are included with accounts receivable on the balance sheet. The balance 

amounts payable, by June 30, 2011, under the payment plan, including an estimate for interest is 

$194,000. 

 

 



Interim MD&A and Interim Financial Statements for the 
three and nine month periods ended March 31, 2011 



 

ADVANTEX
®
 MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Operating Results 

For the three and nine month periods ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 

 

 

This management’s discussion and analysis has been prepared based on information available to 

Advantex Marketing International Inc. (“Advantex” or “the Company”) as at May 29, 2011. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis is a narrative explanation to enable the reader to assess 

material changes in the financial condition and results of operations of the Company during the 

three and nine month periods ended March 31, 2011, compared to the same periods ended March 

31, 2010. The unaudited consolidated financial statements for the three and nine months ended 

March 31, 2011, which have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

accounting principles applicable to interim financial statements, are available on www.sedar.com . 

This management discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Company’s 

consolidated audited financial statements and the related notes dated June 30, 2010. All dollar 

amounts are stated in Canadian Dollars unless otherwise noted. 

 

 

Overall Performance 

 

Advantex is a leader in the marketing services industry. The Company develops and manages 

merchant-based loyalty programs for organizations through which their customers accelerate 

earning frequent flyer miles and/or other rewards on purchases at participating merchants. Under 

the umbrella of each program, Advantex provides participating merchants with marketing, 

customer incentives and additionally secured future sales through its Advance Purchase Marketing® 

(APM) model.  
 

Advantex partners with Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (CIBC), and Aeroplan Canada Inc. 

(Aeroplan) (collectively “Affinity partners”). On a combined basis, Advantex has contractual 

marketing access to more than five million Canadian consumers with above-average personal and 

household income. The Company’s merchant partner base currently consists of more than 900 

merchants operating restaurants, golf courses, independent inns, resorts and selected hotels, spas, 

retailers of men’s and ladies fashion, footwear and accessories many of which are leaders in their 

respective categories (collectively “Retail programs”). 

Advantex earns revenue as customers make purchases at participating merchants. 

Advantex common shares are traded on the Canadian National Stock Exchange (“CNSX”) under 

the symbol ADX. 

 

During the three months ended March 31, 2011, the Company put the finishing touches to a solid 

platform which would ensure sustainable high growth in its future revenues and profitability. These 

last pieces are as follows: 

 

1. Financial stability:  The Company signed term sheets for renewal of its existing Non-

convertible, and Convertible debentures, which substantially fund the Company’s operations.  

http://www.sedar.com/


 2 

On May 13
th

, the Company completed the second and final stage of the renewals, raising 

$8,272,000. The new debentures mature September 30, 2013. Combined with continuing access 

to a $8.5 million line of credit facility, of which the Company had utilized $3.7 million at the 

end of March, 2011, the Company has funding to grow its business through its Advance 

Purchase Marketing (“APM”) program which accounts for over 60% of Company’s revenues;   

.   

2. Resolution of Aeroplan sponsored program reward offer. The Company launched its program on 

September 1, 2010. Both merchants and Aeroplan affinity partner were very pleased by the 

product value proposition and the merchant training that the Company was providing.  

However, the operating issue that developed was that during our second quarter, it became 

apparent that the Company was becoming a victim of its success; the actual costs of loyalty 

rewards were exceeding the amount that had been budgeted in the pricing model.  The Company 

made the difficult, but necessary, decision to put a hold on adding new merchants to the 

program and opened discussions with its affinity partner. The discussions were successful 

making this one of the key accomplishments during the third quarter. The Company  reached an 

agreement, effective March 1, 2011, on revisions to the Aeroplan program reward offerings that 

enables it to resume growing the merchant base and to operate this increasingly popular 

program at an attractive level of profitability; 

   

      3.  Launch of new products; 

 

a. APM program specifically tailored to the needs of small merchants who require funding for 

extended periods. Banks and traditional lenders have largely ignored the small merchants 

who are the engine for economic activity. The Company is in market from mid-May; and 

 

b. Couponing. Independent merchant coupon promotion is a significant growth opportunity in 

today’s market. Groupon represents the best widely known example. The Company has 

reached an arrangement with GaggleUp, a small merchant promotion company similar to 

Groupon, to act as its sales force. The Company expects to bring this product offering 

initially to its existing merchant base, and then expand beyond to the general market place. 

The agreement is expected to be finalized shortly, with a soft launch in June. Initial sales 

efforts have met with good reception from the market. The Company made an investment of 

$100,000 in GaggleUp, described later in this section. 

 

With long–term affinity, and financial partner agreements in place, the Company can now focus on 

growing the business. Merchant participation is a key indicator of future revenues. The progress 

since April, 2011 has been encouraging. The Company’s merchant base has grown from 789 at the 

end of March, 2011 to 881 by end of April, and the Company expects to have over 900 merchants 

participating in its programs by end of May. 

 

On March 15, 2011, the Company completed a seamless transition of the listing of its common 

shares from the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) to the Canadian National Stock Exchange 

(“CNSX”).  

 

Soon after the transition, the Company and the holder of the majority of the Non-convertible 

debentures payable, and Convertible debentures payable signed terms sheets for renewal. The 
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Company has been substantially financed by the two existing debentures payable, totaling 

$8,665,000. On May 13, 2011, the Company announced that it had completed the second and final 

stage of its planned renewal of its existing Non-convertible debentures payable, and Convertible 

debentures payable, and raised $8,272,000. The Company used the proceeds of the two private 

placements to pay off outstanding principal of $8,665,000, and accrued but unpaid interest on its 

existing Non-convertible debentures payable and Convertible debentures payable, and for general 

business purposes. 

 

Material details of the existing debentures payable, and the refinanced debentures payable are 

tabulated: 

 

 EXISTING DEBENTURES PAYABLE REFINANCED  DEBENTURES PAYABLE 

Issuer Advantex 

Dining 

Corporation, a 

100% 

subsidiary of 

the Company 

The Company Total  Advantex 

Dining 

Corporation, 

a 100% 

subsidiary of 

the Company 

The 

Company 

Total 

Structure Non-

convertible 

Convertible  Non-

convertible 

Non-

convertible 

 

Amount $2,665,000 $6,000,000 $8,665,000 $1,810,000 $6,462,000 $8,272,000 

Coupon 14% per 

annum 

10% per annum  14% per 

annum 

12% per 

annum 

 

Maturity  31/12/2010 09/12/2011  September 

30, 2013 

September 

30, 2013 

 

Conversion  5,263,375 

common 

share 

warrants, all 

expired by 

January 31, 

2011 

Into 60 million 

common shares 

during term of 

debentures. This 

right expired on 

early renewal of 

these debentures.  

 

Also 9,863,988 

common share 

warrants. 

Exercise price per 

warrant $0.045. 

Expire Dec 9, 

2011 

 3,574,750 

common 

share 

warrants, 

which are 

convertible 

on a 1 to 1 

basis into 

common 

shares of the 

Company 

during the 

term of the 

debenture. 

Exercise 

price $0.04 

per warrant 

91,443,762 

common 

share 

warrants, 

which are 

convertible 

on a 1 to 1 

basis into 

common 

shares of the 

Company 

during the 

term of the 

debenture. 

Exercise 

price $0.04 

per warrant 

 

On re-financing, the agent was granted 500,000 common share purchase warrants, convertible on a 1 to 1 basis 

into common shares of the Company. Exercise price $0.04. The common share purchase warrants expire May 

10, 2013 
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On March 31, 2011, the Company acquired a $100,000  non-interest bearing Unsecured Convertible 

Promissory Note (“Note”) issued by GaggleUp Inc. (“Gaggle Up”)., an Ontario corporation, that is 

a new entrant in the couponing business. Under certain conditions the Note is convertible in Class B 

common shares of GaggleUp. 

 

As explained in the Taxation section of note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for year 

ended June 30, 2010, the balance owed under the GST re-assessment is required to be paid during 

the objection process. From July 1, 2009 to March 31, 2011 the Company has made payments 

totaling $765,600 under the 24 month payment plan worked out with the CRA. The amounts paid 

are included as a recoverable asset and are included with accounts receivable on the balance sheet. 

The balance amounts payable, by June 30, 2011, under the payment plan, including an estimate for 

interest is $40,000. 

 

From a financial aspect the Company’s results were weaker than expected and are a reflection of the 

extended time it took during the quarter to resolve the operating issue relating to the Aeroplan 

program, discussed previously in this section, which fundamentally stalled merchant growth during 

the quarter. The number of participating merchants increased by only 16 during the current quarter, 

merchant count at the end of December, 2010 was 773 and at the end of March, 2011 was 789. 

Merchant participation is one of the revenue drivers.  

 

Historically, the months of January to March are the weakest in terms of consumer spending, and 

since the Company earns its revenue as customers make purchases at merchants participating in its 

programs, the lower spending impacts revenue. Current year was no exception. 

 

The financial results for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2011 are tabulated: 

  

 3 months ended March 31 9 months ended March 31 

 2011 
 

2010 
 

Inc. / (Dec)  2011 
 

2010 
 

Inc. / (Dec)  

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Revenues       

 Retail programs - CIBC 

Advantex / Aeroplan  sponsored 

program  

 

2,854,000 

 

2,657,000 

    

    197,000  

 

 9,833,000 

 

 8,766,000 

   

     1,067,000 

Interest income, etc.     22,000      -       22,000       23,000       -           23,000 

 2,876,000 2,657,000     219,000  9,856,000  8,766,000      1,090,000 

Gross Profit       

 Retail programs - CIBC 

Advantex / Aeroplan  sponsored 

program  

1,866,000 1,858,000        8,000   6,788,000  6,105,000         683,000  

Interest income, etc.     22,000        -      22,000      23,000         -           23,000 

 1,888,000 1,858,000      30,000  6,811,000  6,105,000         706,000  

Profit / (Loss) before 

non-cash expenses, and 

non-cash working capital 

items - continuing 

operations 

    

  

(165,000) 

  

   

    76,000 

      

      

   (241,000) 

   

   

  696,000 

    

   

   820,000 

    

   

      (124,000) 
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 3 months ended March 31 9 months ended March 31 

 2011 2010 Inc./(Dec) 2011 2010 Inc./(Dec) 

 

Net Profit / (Loss) 

   

(446,000) 

  

(276,000) 

     

   (170,000) 

   

(240,000) 

    

     21,000 

    

  (261,000) 

 

 

The growth in revenues is a reflection of the higher merchant participation in the Company’s 

programs.  

 

The improvement in gross profit is a reflection of the increase in revenues. Gross margins were 

impacted by higher direct expenses, as explained in section Direct Expenses. 

 

Operating expenses for continuing operations, which include SG&A, and stock based compensation 

expense, for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2011 at $1,752,000 and $5,042,000 were 

$273,000 and $645,000 respectively higher vs. corresponding period in the previous year. The 

Company increased its selling staffing to capitalize on the revenue expansion opportunities 

available through the growth of its retail programs. The increase in SG&A is also partially 

consequent to staff salaries being restored in latter half of Fiscal 2010 ended June 30, 2010 to 

March, 2008 levels. As one of the measures to save costs during the economic turmoil of 2008, the 

Company cut salaries of its staff including senior management. A fuller description is provided 

under the sections Selling Expenses and General and Administrative expenses. For three and nine 

months ended March 31, 2011 stock based compensation expense also includes a charge of $71,000 

respecting the grant of 4,675,000 stock options on March 16, 2011, which is explained in detail 

under the heading Stock Options in this document. 

 

Interest costs have also impacted the results for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2011 vs. 

corresponding period in the previous year. The Company takes on debt purely to expand its APM 

program.  In March, 2010 interest rates on the line of credit facility were increased. As the 

Company’s performance improves, one of the Company’s medium term goals is to source debt at 

cheaper rates. 

 

The Company closed down its online shopping mall business during the three months ended March 

31, 2011 and is now a discontinued operation. The impact on the results for the three and nine 

months ended March 31, 2011 vs. corresponding period in the previous year is explained under the 

section Discontinued Operations in this document. 

 

The weakness in the economy and its effect on future consumer spending is a key uncertainty. By 

increasing the merchant participation across the different business segments it currently operates in, 

the Company expects to mitigate this risk. 

 

A detailed look at the results for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2011 is set out in the 

following sections. 
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Results of Operations (in millions of dollars) 
 Q3 

Fiscal 

2011 

* 

Q3 

Fiscal 

2010  

* 

 YTD 

Fiscal 

2011 

* 

YTD 

Fiscal 

2010 

 * 

Revenue:       

                                     

    Retail programs                                                                  $2.9 $2.7  $9.9 $8.8 

      

    Total  revenue 2.9 2.7  9.9       8.8 

Direct Expenses  (1.0) (0.8)  (3.0) (2.7) 

Gross Profit 1.9 1.9  6.8 6.1 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 1.8 1.5  5.0 4.4 

Contribution from operations and 0.1 0.4  1.8 1.7 

  Profit before amortization and interest –  

  Continuing operations 

     

Amortization   (0.1) (0.1)  (0.3) (0.3) 

Interest on debentures, loan payable, other (0.5) (0.5)  (1.6) (1.4) 

Profit / (loss) for the  period – continuing 

operations 

 

                                        

$(0.5)  $( 0.3)  $(0.2) $ 0.0 

Profit / (Loss) from discontinued operations          -  

    

-                          - - 

Net Profit / (Loss) for the period                                                                   $(0.4)                              $(0.3)     $(0.2)       $0.0 

      

* Some numbers in the above presentation above may not add due to rounding. 

 

Revenue 

  

Advantex has two business models. In both models, revenue is recognized at the time that purchases 

are made by consumers through the Advantex programs. Revenue can vary significantly from year 

to year, depending on the number of merchants participating under each model:  

  

(1) Advance Purchase Marketing Model (“APM”): The Company acquires the rights to cash 

flow from future designated credit card transactions at a discount from participating merchants 

(Transaction credits) and promotes the merchant, by way of cardholder incentives through its 

loyalty marketing programs, and targeted marketing programs. The Company’s revenue is from 

the designated credit card receipts at participating establishments, net of the Company’s costs to 

acquire the transaction credits. Proceeds from the spend on designated credit cards are received 

by the Company and a predetermined portion is applied to reduce the transaction credit balance 

that the merchant owes. 

(2) Marketing Only Model: Merchants participate in the loyalty/marketing programs without the 

Company acquiring transaction credits. In this model, Advantex provides loyalty rewards and/or 

marketing support for participating merchants and earns its revenue, based on an agreed 

percentage of each designated card transaction in exchange for the services it provides 

participating establishments. The Company’s CIBC Advantex, and Aeroplan sponsored 

Marketing Only programs; Infinite Hotel program; and Online Shopping Malls fall under this 

model. 
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The key driver of revenues for the retail programs is merchant participation.  

 

The revenue trends during the three and nine months ended March 31, 2011 vs.corresponding 

period in the previous year are tabulated: 

 
 Q3 – F 11 Q3 – F10 Inc/(Dec) YTD – F11 YTD- F10 Inc/(Dec) 

Avg. # of participating 

merchants in Retail programs 

during the period 

 

763 

 

646 

 

  18.1% 

 

754 

 

614 

 

  22.8% 

       

Retail programs        

   APM $1,789,000 $1,620,000  $  6,344,000 $  5,354,000  

  Marketing Only $1,048,000 $1,001,000   $  3,419,000 $  3,300,000  

   2,837,000   2,621,000     8.2%     9,763,000     8,654,000   12.8% 

   Sales of Aeronotes        17,000        36,000           70,000        112,000  

   Total  Retail programs $2,854,000 $2,657,000     7.4% $  9,833,000 $  8,766,000   12.2% 

       

Interest income etc. $     22,000 $      -  $       23,000 $        -  

       

Total revenues $2,876,000 $2,657,000    8.2% $  9,856,000 $  8,766,000     12.4%  

 

With respect to the retail programs, for the three and nine month periods ended March 31, 2011 vs. 

corresponding periods in the previous year, the growth in revenues trails growth in merchant 

participation consequent to a) mix of the merchants; increase in merchants with lower overall sales; 

b) the fee rate that the Company is able to charge to secure new merchant participation and retain 

existing merchants is declining because of adverse economic conditions; and c) mix of merchants 

participating in the APM vs. Marketing Only programs; Marketing Only program generates lower 

revenues vs. APM program.  

 

Direct Expenses  

 

Direct expenses include cardholder award costs, the cost of marketing and advertising on behalf of 

merchants, cost of sales related to sale of aeronotes, and provision against receivables under all 

programs.  

 

 Three months ended March 31, 

2011  

Nine months ended March 

31, 2011  

 Inc / (Dec)  vs. previous year Inc / (Dec)  vs. previous year 

           Retail programs   

 Revenue 7.4% 12.2% 

 Direct Expenses 23.8% 14.4% 

 

During the three and nine months ended March 31, 2011, the Company’s  direct costs were 

adversely impacted by the higher rewards cost on the Aeroplan sponsored programs, launched 

September 1, 2010, compared with the Advantex CIBC programs. However, this adverse impact 

was substantially offset by the lower provision for bad debt receivables, reflecting lower level of 

delinquencies. The Company also undertook higher levels of marketing activities on behalf of its 



 8 

merchants; another reason for direct expenses being higher vs. revenue growth for the three months 

ended March 31, 2011 compared to the corresponding period in the previous year. 

 

Gross Profit 

 

 Gross Profit – F 2011 Gross Profit – F 2010 

Three months ended March 

31 

$1,888,000 $1,858,000 

Nine months ended March 31  $6,811,000 $6,105,000 

 

Three and nine months ended March 31, 2011, the improvement is due to higher revenues in the 

retail programs, although gross margins during current periods were impacted by higher direct 

expenses. 

 

Selling Expenses 

 

Selling expenses include expenses arising from remuneration of sales staff, transaction processing 

and other selling activities.  

 

Selling expenses for three and nine month periods ended March 31, 2011 were $732,000 and 

$2,046,000 respectively compared with $649,000 and $1,894,000 for the corresponding period in 

the previous year. 

 

Inc / (Dec)  vs. corresponding 

period in the previous year, 

with respect to Retail 

programs 

Three months ended December 

31, 2010 

Six months ended December 

31, 2010 

   : Selling expenses 12.8%   8.0% 

   : Revenues    7.4% 12.2%  

 

For the three and nine months ended March 31, 2011, the Company has increased staffing 

connected to the sales cycle. This increase is needed to capitalize on the revenue expansion 

opportunities available to the Company. The Company was able to generate savings in other selling 

costs due to operational efficiencies in the first half of Fiscal 2011, thereby partially offsetting 

increase in staffing costs. 

 

General and Administrative (G&A) Expenses   

 

G&A expenses include compensation for all non-sales staff, professional fees, head office premises 

costs, shareholder and public relations costs, office overhead and foreign exchange losses.  
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 Q3 – F11 Q3 – F10 Inc/(Dec) YTD – F11 YTD – F10 Inc/(Dec) 

Compensation for non-

sales staff 

$672,000 $577,000 $  95,000 $1,917,000 $1,695,000 $222,000 

Less: software 

development costs 

capitalized (details 

provided under capital 

expenditures in this 

document) 

 

 

(  22,000) 

 

 

 

( 64,000) 

 

 

$ 42,000 

 

 

(      96,000) 

 

 

(    205,000) 

 

 

$109,000 

 $650,000 $513,000 $137,000 $ 1,821,000 $ 1,490,000 $331,000 

Severance cost $  - $  - $  - $      54,000 $  - $  54,000 

All other G&A expenses $293,000 $299,000 $  (6,000) $ 1,033,000 $   965,000 $  68,000 

Total G&A Expenses $943,000 $812,000 $131,000 $ 2,908,000 $2,455,000 $453,000 

 

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year ended June 30, 2010 (Fiscal 2010)  cuts to salaries of the 

CEO and senior management which were implemented in March, 2008 and March, 2009, as a 

temporary measure in response to the general economic conditions, were rolled back and salaries 

revised to levels prior to cuts. Effective October, 2010, the salaries of CEO and certain senior 

management staff were reduced on a permanent basis. The salary of the CFO was increased from 

December, 2010. Details are available under Employment Contracts section of the Information 

Circular dated November 23, 2010. 

 

Allowing for above noted changes to salaries of senior management, compensation costs were 

consistent with prior year, except for a reduction in the amount of activity that qualified for 

capitalization as software development. 

 

Stock Based Compensation 

 

The three and nine months ended March 31, 2011 include expense for the 4,675,000 stock option 

grants in March, 2011. Details are provided under section Stock Options in this document. 

 

Interest Expense 
          

As at March 31, 2011, the Company had three sources of debt capital – convertible debentures, non-

convertible debentures, and a credit facility (loan payable). In addition to the stated interest, the 

interest cost also comprises amortization of deferred financing charges, and accretion charges.  

 

 Three months 

ended March 31, 

2011 

Three months 

ended March 31, 

2010 

Nine months 

ended March 31, 

2011 

Six months 

ended March 31, 

2010 

Stated interest  $377,000 $321,000 $1,162,000 $  936,000 

Accretion and 

amortization 

$136,000 $168,000 $   478,000 $  499,000 

Total $513,000 $489,000 $1,640,000 $1,435,000 

 

For the three and nine months ended March 31, 2011 interest is higher vs. corresponding period in 

the previous year consequent to a) higher draw of loan payable which is used exclusively to fund 
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growth of the Company’s Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) program and, b) increase in interest 

rate on loan payable. The interest rate was increased in March, 2010.   

 

Discontinued Operations 

 

The Company closed down its online shopping mall business during the three months ended March 

31, 2011 and is now a discontinued operation.  

 

Online shopping malls were loyalty programs aimed at members of airline affinity programs 

whereby the members could earn additional rewards through the purchase of goods through online 

malls. 

 

 9 months 

ended March 

31, 2011 

9 months 

ended March 

31, 2010 

Revenue  $      666,889 $    1,795,086 

Direct Expenses         381,575       1,118,862 

Gross Profit         285,314          676,224 

Selling and marketing            304,200          607,075 

Net Profit (Loss) – discontinued 

operations 

        (18,886)            69,149 

 

 

The  decline in revenues for the  nine month periods ended March 31, 2011 vs. corresponding 

periods in the previous year is a reflection of the termination of the Company’s contract with United 

Airlines effective October 1, 2010, and the Company abandoning this activity from mid-January, 

2011. United Airlines accounted for over 80% of the revenues of the online business. 

 

With respect to direct expenses, following closure of this activity in mid-January, 2011, certain 

provisions for costs were written back as not required, and hence for nine months ended March 31, 

2011 vs. corresponding period in the previous year, the drop in direct expenses exceeds the decline 

in revenue. 

 

With respect to selling and marketing expenses, despite the termination of the Company’s 

agreement with United Airlines effective October 1, 2010, and shutdown of this activity from mid-

January, 2011, staffing – albeit at reduced level – had to be retained to ensure an orderly wind-

down.   

 

Net Profit / (Loss) 

 

The Company’s Net (Loss) for the three months ended March 31, 2011 was $446,000 (basic 

earnings $0.00 per common share) compared with a Net (Loss) of $276,000 (basic earnings $0.00 

per common share) for the corresponding period in the previous year, an increase of $170,000. 
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The Company’s Net (Loss) for the nine months ended March 31, 2011 was $240,000 (basic 

earnings $0.00 per common share) compared with a Net Profit of $21,000 (basic earnings $0.00 per 

common share) for the corresponding period in the previous year, a decline of $261,000. 

 

Working Capital and Liquidity Management 

 

As at December 31, 2010, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $49,000 compared with 

$506,000 as at June 30, 2010.  

 

During the three and nine months ended March 31, 2011, from its continuing operations, the 

Company used cash in its operating activities of $1,743,000 and $1,066,000 respectively.  This 

compares to cash used in operations of $669,000 and $1,430,000 in the comparable prior periods.  

The movement from prior periods is primarily due to changes in non-cash working capital items, as 

tabulated: 

 

 3 months ended 

31-03-2011 

3 months ended 

31-03-2010 

9 months ended 

31-03-2011 

9 months ended 

31-03-2010 

Profit / (loss)  from 

continuing 

operations adjusted 

for items not 

affecting cash 

 

$    (165,000) 

 

 

$      76,000 

 

$   696,000 

 

  $821,000 

     

Changes in non-cash 

working capital items 

    

Accounts receivable        (131,000)         29,000     (421,000) (   194,000) 

Transaction credits     (1,764,000)      (326,000)  (1,917,000) (1,346,000) 

Prepaid expenses and 

sundry expenses 

          76,000         54,000       (41,000)      (74,000) 

Aeronotes           17,000         28,000       133,000    (475,000) 

Accounts payable 

and accrued expenses 

 

        224,000 

    

     (530,000) 

  

      484,000 

     

   (162,000) 

    (1,578,000)      (745,000)  (1,762,000) (2,251,000) 

     

Cash generated / 

(used) in operations  

   (1,743,000)      (669,000)  (1,066,000) (1,430,000) 

 

Cash received from financing activities related to draw against the line of credit (loan payable) and 

the proceeds are used to fund merchants participating in the Company’s APM program. 

 

Cash used in investing activities was for expenditures for property, plant and equipment and for the 

nine months ended March 31, 2011 were $219,000 (nine months ended March 31, 2010 $319,000). 

Current period year to date includes capitalization of $96,000 (corresponding period previous year 

$205,000) of internal costs expended on software development connected to ensuring operability 

of the Company’s  loyalty marketing programs sponsored by CIBC and Aeroplan.  
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As of date hereof, the capital expenditures to end of fiscal year ending June 30, 2011 are expected 

to be in the nature of routine updating of the Company’s infrastructure and software development.  

Future period amounts are expected to approximate current period activity levels for the next 2-3 

quarters 

 

The Company generally carries minimal cash balances as it attempts to maximize the funds 

deployed with merchants (Transaction credits on the balance sheet) participating in its APM 

program. At the end of March 31, 2011, the Company is carrying cash balances of $49,000. 

 

Additional capital in the form of debt and/or equity will be required to fund the continued expansion 

of its Advance Purchase Marketing programs, as described under General Risks and Uncertainties. 

At present, the need for additional capital is satisfied by the Loan payable, however it is a demand 

facility, and in addition requires the Company to co-fund a certain portion of the Transaction credits 

purchased using this facility. 

 

A summary of current period cash flows is set out below: (in millions of dollars) 

 

 Cash Working Capital ** 

As at July 1, 2010 $0.5 $5.3 
Generated from operations *              0.7 

 
               0.0 

 
Changes from non-cash working 

    capital items, including those of discontinued operations                       

 

(1.5)  1.5 

Financing activities   0.6              (0.6) 
Investment               (0.1) 

 
              0.0 

 
Purchase of PPE (0.2)  0.0 
Changes in cash balances -  (0.5) 

Movement during the nine months (0.5)  0.4 
As at March 31, 2011                                                  $0.0              $5.6 

                               

                                    Some of the numbers in the above presentation may not add due to rounding. 

 

                                  * Represented by profit before non-cash expenses from continuing operations and discontinued operations 

* * Represented by current assets less loan payable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, including assets and 

liabilities of discontinued operations 

 

The Company does not participate in off balance sheet financing arrangements.  

 

The Company’s operations are funded by debt. To continue its current operations and fund growth 

during the balance of fiscal year ending June 30, 2011 requires the Company to have continued 

access to its non-convertible debentures, convertible debentures, and loan payable.   

 

In May, 2011 the Company completed the renewal of its Non-convertible Debentures Payable and 

Convertible Debentures Payable. The details are provided in the Overall Performance section of this 

document, and in the Consolidated Financial Statements for the nine months ended March 31, 2011.  
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Loan Payable 

 

The Company has a credit facility (loan payable) with Accord Financial Inc. (Accord) to be used 

exclusively to acquire transaction credits under its Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) program.  

 

The facility was renewed in September, 2010 for a three year term ending in December, 2013. The 

facility has a limit of $8.5 million. As at March 31, 2011, the Company had utilized $3.7 million 

from the $8.5 million line of credit available under loan payable. The interest rate is the greater of 

prime rate of a certain Canadian bank plus 12.75% per annum and 15% per annum. The loan 

payable is a demand facility.  

 

Non-convertible debentures payable 

 

The non-convertible debentures payable in the principal amount of $2,665,000 matured December 

31, 2010. As at March 31, 2011 the Company was in default on its obligations to repay the principal 

amount of $2,665,000, and accrued interest from January 1, 2011 to March 31, 2011. 

 

The Company refinanced these non-convertible debentures payable in the principal amount of 

$1,810,000 in May, 2011. As at May 19, 2011 the Company had repaid the principal due to non-

convertible debentures payable in the amount of $2,665,000 together with all accrued and unpaid 

interest. 

 

The Company has fully deployed the proceeds of non-convertible debentures which were used 

exclusively to acquire transaction credits under its Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) program.  

 

The non-convertible debentures are secured by a first charge against the merchant transaction 

credits funded by the proceeds of the non-convertible debentures. 

 

Convertible debentures payable 

 

The convertible debentures payable in the principal amount of $6,000,000 mature on December 9, 

2011 and have a general security agreement over all the assets of the Company.  As at March 31, 

2011, the Company met the convertible debentures payable interest coverage financial covenant but 

was in breach of the current asset financial covenant, and was in default under the convertible 

debenture agreement. 

 

The Company completed an early refinancing of these convertible debentures payable in the 

principal amount of $6,462,000 in May 2011. As at May 19, 2011 the Company repaid the principal 

due to the convertible debentures payable in the amount of $6,000,000 together with all accrued and 

unpaid interest to the date of redemption. 

 

The convertible debenture proceeds are used for purpose of the Company’s working capital needs. 
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Contractual Obligations  

 

Contractual obligations as at March 31, 2011 were due as follow. The Non-convertible debentures 

and Convertible debentures are classified under 1 to 3 years reflecting renewal in May, 2011 with 

maturity date of September 30, 2013.  

 
(in millions of dollars)                               Payments Due by Period   

 

Contractual obligation 

 

Total 

Less than 

1 Year 

1 to 3 

Years 

4 to 5  

Years 

After 

 5 Years 

 

Loan Payable 

 

$3.7 

 

$3.7 

 

     $- 

 

$- 

 

            $- 

 

Non-convertible 

debentures 

 

Convertible debentures                          

 

$2.7  

 

     

      $6.0               

 

        $- 

 

        

     $- 

 

       $2.7 

 

        

    $6.0         

 

$-  

 

 

$- 

 

            $-  

 

             

          $- 

      

Operating Leases      $0.8 $0.2        $0.5 $0.1             $-  

      

As described in the commitments section of note 12 (commitments and contingencies) to the 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2010, the Company has a commitment 

to purchase rewards from its affinity partner, Aeroplan Canada Inc. As part of certain amendments 

to the agreement agreed after December 31, 2010, the Company was committed to purchase an 

additional $100,000 of rewards for a revised total of $700,000 to be purchased by August 31, 2011. 

In May, 2011, the parties reached an understanding to extend the timeline to December 31, 2011 for 

Advantex to meet its $700,000 purchase commitment. The understanding is expected to be 

formalized as part of the agreement.  

 

The Company has an agreement with a processor under which it has to meet certain targets for 

referrals of new accounts to the processor. The Company has to pay $5,000 for each shortfall from 

the target. The maximum payout in the event of total non-performance by the Company is 

$150,000. While the Company is endeavoring to meet the target referrals by the due date of July 15, 

2011, in case of a shortfall it expects to seek an extension to the timeline. 
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Summary of Quarterly Results 

 
        Revenues in this presentation include those from the Company’s online shopping mall business which was closed down 

        during 3 months ended March 31, 2011 and is now  presented as discontinued operation in the Company’s interim  

        consolidated financial statements for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2011. Revenues for Q3 March 31,  

        2011 $7,000 and Q3 March 31, 2010 $499,000. 

 
12 months ended March 31, 

2011 

     

(in millions of dollars, except per 

share amounts) 

 Q4 

 Jun 30 

 2010 

 Q1 

 Sep 30 

 2010 

Q2 

Dec 31 

2010 

Q3 

Mar 31 

2011 

 

 

Total 

      

Revenue  $ 3.7 $ 4.0 $ 3.7 $ 2.9 $ 14.3 

Percentage of Annual Revenue 26 % 28 % 26 % 20 % 100% 

      

Net Profit/(Loss) $ 0.0 $ 0.2 $0.1 $(0.4) $(0.1) 

Basic earnings Per Common 

Share 

$ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00  $ 0.00 

 

 

12 months ended March 31, 

2010 

     

(In millions of dollars, except per 

share amounts) 

 Q4 

 Jun 30 

 2009 

 Q1 

 Sep 30 

 2009 

 Q2 

 Dec 31 

 2009 

Q3 

Mar 31 

2010 

 

 

Total 

      

Revenue $ 3.2 $ 3.5 $ 3.9 $ 3.2 $ 13.8 

Percentage of Annual Revenue 23 % 25 % 29 % 23 % 100 % 

      

Net Profit/(Loss) $ (0.2) $ 0.1 $ 0.2 $ (0.3) $ (0.2) 

Basic earnings Per Common 

Share 

$ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 

      

The fluctuations of the Company’s results are reflective of seasonal consumer behaviour in the 

retail programs, and in the online business, as well as penetration in its retail program and online 

business.   

 

The Company abandoned its online shopping mall business during the three months ending March 

31, 2011 and is now a discontinued operation.    

 

Critical Accounting Estimates 

 

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, in accordance with Canadian 

GAAP, requires the Company’s management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 

reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 

date of the audited, and interim consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of 

revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 

The Company calculates the fair value of certain financial instruments, as discussed below, using 

the Black-Scholes option pricing model. This requires assumptions regarding the risk-free rate of 

return, the expected life of the instrument, the expected volatility in the price of the common shares 
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of the Company and the expected level of dividends to be paid on the common shares of the 

Company.  

 

The Company has certain business risks linked to the collection of its transaction credits. The 

Company generally acquires transaction credits that are estimated to be fully extinguishable within 

30 – 120 days. Until these credits have been extinguished through designated cardholder spend at 

participating merchants there is a credit risk, and an increase in credit risk associated with the 

longer time frame approaching and/or exceeding 120 days. Management has implemented 

additional review and monitoring procedures to assess the creditworthiness and ongoing eligibility 

of merchants if they wish to benefit from larger purchases of transaction credits. In the event of 

default, the Company has set up escalating collection measures, and based on the specific credit 

risk associated with the customer, and other relevant information including an assessment of the 

likelihood of collection, a provision is established. Note 13 to the interim consolidated financial 

statements as at March 31, 2011 under section credit risk sets out the gross amounts receivable, the 

related allowance for amounts deemed uncollectable, and the net amounts disclosed on the balance 

sheet. 

 

The Company assesses potential impairment of the Aeronotes by considering management’s 

forecasted use of the Aeronotes. If management determines that it will not be able to recover a 

portion of the Aeronotes prior to their expiry date, then impairment charge will be recorded. 

 

Stock Options 

 

As at March 31, 2011 there were 11,442,291 employee stock options outstanding at exercise prices 

between $0.01 to $0.135, expiring between May, 2011, and March, 2016. 

 

During the nine months ended March 31, 2011, 4,176,184 stock options were forfeited or expired, 

including on March 16, 2011, 200,000 stock options that had been granted to a director in 

February, 2010. The director was re-issued with 200,000 stock options on April 18, 2011. 

 

On March 16, 2011, the Company issued 4,675,000 stock options to certain employees, officer, 

and directors of the Company. The options vest immediately, expire March 16, 2016, and have an 

exercise price of $0.02. The directors were issued 3,200,000 stock options, of which 2,600,000 

were issued to the CEO. In addition, the CFO was issued with 700,000 stock options.  

 

The Company has recorded $88,880 of stock-based compensation expense during the nine months 

ended March 31, 2011 ($48,289 for nine months ended March 31, 2010). Of the amount expensed 

in the current year, $18,000 related to the fair value of stock options issued during prior years, and 

the balance of $70,880 is with respect to the grant in March, 2011. 

 

The Black-Scholes option pricing model was used to determine the fair value of the grant in 

March, 2011. Since the grant vests immediately, the entire fair value was expensed in March, 2011. 

The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model:  

 

Common share price - $0.02; Exercise price - $0.02; Expected life – 5 years; Expected volatility – 

103%; Risk-free interest rate – 2.0%. 



 17 

Outstanding Share Data and Dilutive Securities  

 

As at March 31, 2011 and 2010, the number of common shares of the Company outstanding was 

97,030,868.  

 

As at March 31, 2011, the Company was committed to issuing additional common shares under 

certain circumstances, as described in the below noted tabulation. 

 

 Number of Common shares Notes 

     

Common shares issuable 

on full conversion of the 

$6.0 m Convertible 

Debenture  

60,000,000 Conversion price is $0.10. The 

Debenture matures December 

9, 2011 

Common share warrants  9,863,988 Exercise price $0.045, expiry 

December 9, 2011, issued to 

Convertible debenture holders 

in January / February, 2009 

Employee Stock options 11,442,291 Maximum number of shares 

issuable under the existing 

Stock Option Plan is 

11,643,704  

TOTAL 81,306,279  

 

Following the renewal of the debentures in May, 2011, the Company was committed to issuing 

additional common shares under certain circumstances, as described in the below noted tabulation. 

 

As at May 13, 2011. 

 

 Number of Common shares Notes 

     

Common shares issuable 

on exercise of common 

share warrants attached 

to $1.810 million Non-

convertible debenture 

issued by Advantex 

Dining Corporation, a 

subsidiary of the 

Company 

3,574,750 Exercise price is $0.04. 

Warrants expire September 

30, 2013. 

Common shares issuable 

on exercise of common 

share warrants attached 

to $6.462 million Non-

convertible debenture 

issued by the Company 

91,443,762 Exercise price is $0.04. 

Warrants expire September 

30, 2013. 
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Agents warrants – issued 

to Trapeze Capital Corp. 

on completion of the 

renewal of debentures 

500,000 Exercise price is $0.04. 

Warrants expire May 10, 

2013. 

Common share warrants  9,863,988 Exercise price $0.045, expiry 

December 9, 2011, issued to 

Convertible debenture holders 

in January / February, 2009. 

Employee Stock options 11,642,291 Maximum number of shares 

issuable under the existing 

Stock Option Plan is 

11,643,704.  

TOTAL 117,024,791  

 

 

Outlook  

 

With multi-year affinity and financial partner arrangement now locked in, operational issues such 

as those connected to the Aeroplan program resolved, and potentially a large merchant market for 

its Retail programs, the Company believes it has a solid platform to grow its merchant base and 

ensure a sustainable high growth in its future revenues and profitability. 

 

The Company is confident of its ability to increase the number of merchants participating in its 

Retail programs. The progress since April, 2011 has been encouraging. The Company’s merchant 

base has grown from 789 at the end of March, 2011 to 881 by end of April, and the Company 

expects to have over 900 merchants participating in its programs by end of May. 

 

While the Company is confident of a strong rebound in its fourth quarter performance, it expects 

full year results for its Fiscal year 2011 ending June 30, 2011 to be weaker compared with Fiscal 

year 2010, reflecting the results for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and the softness in the 

consumer spending given the recent pressures on household incomes which are expected to impact 

their discretionary spending. 

 

Economic Dependence 

 

A significant portion of the Company’s current revenue is dependent upon its Offline value-added 

loyalty program agreement with CIBC under which rewards are awarded to holders of certain 

CIBC credit cards when they complete purchases at merchants participating in Advantex programs. 

In September, 2010, the Company renewed its existing arrangement with CIBC, and signed a new 

agreement expiring August 31, 2013. This agreement grants the Company conditional exclusivity 

rights to market its programs within Dining (restaurants, golf courses, independent inns, resorts 

and selected hotels, spas) business segment, and selected Retail (primarily men’s and ladies 

fashion, footwear and accessories) business categories.  The agreement can be terminated by CIBC 

under certain conditions prior to August 31, 2013. The significance to the Company of the CIBC 
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agreement can best be assessed by comparing its revenues with that of other programs as tabulated 

at the end of this section.  

 

Recognizing the risks of overdependence on a partner and/or a business segment from the 

perspective of business continuity, and limitation on future revenues and profitability, the 

Company sought out and signed an agreement with Aeroplan. The agreement was signed in March, 

2010 and is effective until August 31, 2013, with an option to extend for one additional period of 

two years by mutual consent of the parties, and can be terminated by Aeroplan under certain 

conditions prior to August 31, 2013. This value-added loyalty marketing agreement provides 

exclusive rights to the Company to market its product offerings within the Fashion Retail segment. 

The exclusivity in favour of the Company is conditional upon the Company meeting certain targets 

on an annual basis. Under certain conditions the Company can expand its product offering outside 

Fashion Retail categories, with Aeroplan holding the right of first refusal. The Company launched 

this program on September 1, 2010.   

 
     

YTD            

F2011 

          

           YTD 

           F2010                                                                                                                              

Revenue – continuing operations $ % $ % 

Retail programs 

    CIBC Advantex programs (Dining business 

segment) 

 

$ 8.4m  

 

86 

 

$ 8.7m 

 

99 

     CIBC Advantex programs / combined CIBC 

Advantex & Aeroplan sponsored programs, and 

Aeroplan sponsored programs (Fashion Retail, 

and selected Retail business segments)  

1.4m 14 0.1m 1 

     

 Total  $ 9.8m 100 $ 8.8m 100 

 

 

General Risks and Uncertainties  

 

The Company’s current loyalty programs are dependent upon ongoing consumer interest in 

accumulating frequent flyer miles for the purpose of obtaining reward air travel on designated 

airlines. Due to the financial and security difficulties being experienced by the airline industry 

overall, there is a risk that the underlying frequent flyer currencies used in these programs could 

become unavailable to Advantex, or that consumer interest in accumulating these awards could 

decline. This, in turn, may result in difficulties in retaining and acquiring participating merchants 

and may adversely affect the Company’s revenue and direct costs.  

 

The Company provides marketing services to retail organizations and, in more general terms, the 

Company could be considered competitive with other advertising and promotional programs for a 

portion of a client’s total marketing budget. If client promotional spending levels decrease, this 

could have a material adverse effect on Advantex’s revenue. In addition, there could be additional 

loyalty program operators in Canada, targeting the same merchant base as Advantex. For instance, 

a US-based loyalty marketing company is operating a Dining program in Canada in association 

with a major bank, in addition to expanding its US programs to include participating Canadian 

restaurants. In the past, other companies have attempted to develop similar merchant-based 

coalitions on their own and failed, making Advantex, with its established merchant coalition and 
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proven loyalty systems, a reputable outsourced partner in the Canadian marketplace. Advantex 

believes its substantial client equity, proprietary systems, breadth of in-house services and 

significant affinity partner contracts provide a strong platform for the Company to compete 

effectively in the North American marketplace and respond to new competition in Canada. 

 

Advantex’s operations are dependent on the abilities, experience and efforts of its management and 

highly skilled workforce. While Advantex has entered into employment agreements with key  

management personnel and other employees, and each of these agreements includes confidentiality 

and non-competition clauses, the business prospects of the Company could be adversely affected if 

any of these people were unable or unwilling to continue their employment with Advantex.  

 

The Company has certain business risks linked to the collection of its transaction credits under its 

APM program. However, based upon historical results and the fact that the Company generally 

acquires transaction credits that are estimated to be fully extinguishable within 30 – 120 days, 

management believes that these risks are manageable. Until these credits have been extinguished 

through cardholder spend there is a credit risk, and an increase in credit risk associated with the 

longer time frame approaching and/or exceeding 120 days or more. Management has implemented 

additional review and monitoring procedures to assess the creditworthiness and ongoing eligibility 

of merchants if they wish to benefit from larger purchases of transaction credits.  

 

The Company believes that increasing the amount of the transaction credits purchased from 

merchants will result in higher revenue and, consequently, improve the Company’s results and 

cash flows. The Company requires additional debt financing to scale its ability in this area. If the 

Company is not successful in raising additional debt financing, its ability to expand its merchant 

base and increase revenue may be impeded, resulting in reduced growth in cash flows from 

operations. This could affect the Company’s liquidity and working capital position. Any debt 

structure would need to recognize the general security interest over the Company’s assets, held by 

the convertible debenture holders. 

 

General market conditions or the financial status of the Company in terms of its profitability, cash 

flows and strength of its consolidated balance sheet, and uncertainty connected to the CRA’s 

decision to the Company’s notice of objection on the GST matter explained in detail later in this 

section may limit access to additional financing and continued access to existing sources of debt. 

These conditions might adversely affect the availability or cost of financing, the specific factors 

affecting the Company’s attractiveness as a borrower or as an investment vehicle, or the market’s 

perception of the Company’s performance and future prospects.  

 

In addition to economic factors, the profitability of the Company is subject to a number of risk 

factors including: continued affinity partner (CIBC, and Aeroplan), and processor (provide data to 

the Company that enables billing and issuance of loyalty rewards under the Aeroplan sponsored 

program) participation; continued access to the line of credit (loan payable) under existing terms; 

continued support of debenture-holders in the event the Company is in breach of any of its 

covenants;  merchant credit risk; competition, changes in regulations -including taxation - affecting 

the Company’s activities, consumer behavior; and continued demand for the Company’s programs 

by merchants.  
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In the ordinary course of business, the Company is subject to ongoing audits by tax authorities. 

While the Company believes that its tax filing positions are appropriate and supportable, from time 

to time, certain matters are reviewed and challenged by the tax authorities. The Company regularly 

reviews the potential for adverse outcomes in respect of tax matters and believes that, other than as 

described below, any ultimate disposition of a reassessment will not have a material adverse 

impact on its liquidity, consolidated financial position or results of operations due to adequate 

provisioning for these tax matters. Should an outcome materially differ from existing provisions, 

the Company’s effective tax rate, its earnings, and its liquidity and working capital position could 

be affected positively or negatively in the period in which matters are resolved.  

 

After an audit in 1998, the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) determined that the Company was 

providing marketing services. Since 1998, the Company has continued in the same business 

activities. After completion of a recent audit, the CRA reversed its 1998 position. In April 2009, 

the Company received a notice of reassessment from the CRA for Goods and Services Tax owed 

related to the Company’s CIBC Advantex program and the ability to claim certain Input Tax 

Credits during Fiscal years 2005-2007. The re-assessment is in the amount of $755,000. The 

Company has contested the CRA position, and has filed a notice of objection. Since this is a GST 

re-assessment, the amount of the re-assessment has to be paid in full, and is independent of the 

appeals process. The Company has worked out a 24 month payment plan with the CRA, and is 

recording amounts paid under the payment plan as a recoverable asset. However, no assurance can 

be given with regards to the timing of a decision to the Company’s notice of objection and or 

whether the notice of objection will be decided in whole or in part in the Company’s favour. In the 

event the notice of objection is denied and or there is an adverse change to the currently agreed 

payment plan with the CRA, the Company’s earnings and its liquidity and working capital position 

could be affected negatively. 

 

Forward-Looking Information  

 

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis contains certain “forward-looking information”. All 

information, other than information comprised of historical fact, that addresses activities, events or 

developments that the Company believes, expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future 

constitutes forward-looking information. Such forward-looking information relates to, without 

limitation, information regarding: the Company’s belief that during three months ended March 31, 

2011 it put the finishing touches to a solid platform which would ensure sustainable high growth in 

its future revenues and profitability; the Company’s ability to continue to access funding through its 

line of credit and grow its business through its APM program; the Company’s belief that following 

changes to the Aeroplan sponsored program effective March 1, 2011 it can resume growth of its 

merchant base and to operate this program at an attractive level of profitability; the Company’s 

belief respecting the popularity of its Aeroplan sponsored program; the Company’s belief that 

independent merchant coupon promotion is a significant growth opportunity in today’s market; the 

Company’s expectation on the timing of the launch of coupon product, and its expectations from 

this product post launch; the Company’s expectation with respect to the size of the merchant market 

for its programs; the Company’s ability to increase the number of merchants participating in all of 

its programs; the Company’s ability to source debt at cheaper rates; the Company’s expectation of 

the weakness in the economy and its effect on future consumer spending; the Company’s belief that 

by increasing merchant participation across the different business segments it currently operates in 
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the Company will mitigate the risk of decline in consumer spending; the Company’s belief that 

merchant participation is the key driver of retail revenues;   the Company’s expectation with respect 

to the level of capital expenditures for the next 2-3 quarters; the Company’s belief  with respect to 

formalizing its understanding with Aeroplan connected to the revised timeline for it to purchase 

rewards; the Company’s expectation with respect to meeting its target of referrals to its processor 

partner, and its ability to seek an extension to the timeline to meet the target; the Company’s  

estimates relating to extinguishment of transaction credits; the Company’s belief that risks 

connected to collection of transaction credits are manageable; the Company’s expectation with 

respect to the full year results for its Fiscal year ending June 30, 2011; the Company’s belief that 

risk dilution is achieved through working with several affinity partners thereby reducing its 

dependence on any single affinity partner and / or business segment; the Company’s belief that its 

tax filing positions are appropriate and supportable; the Company’s ability to protect its gross 

margins; the Company’s expectation that it will have sufficient cash to fund operations at its current 

levels;   the Company’s intentions with respect to retaining future earnings in the foreseeable future; 

the Company’s expectation with respect to seasonal consumer behavior; and other information 

regarding financial and business prospects and financial outlook is forward-looking information.  

 

Forward-looking information reflects the current expectations or beliefs of the Company based on 

information currently available to the Company. With respect to the forward-looking information 

contained in this Management Discussion and Analysis, the Company has made assumptions 

regarding, among other things, the size of the market for the Company’s programs; its ability to 

increase merchant participation in its programs; its ability to access future financing; continued 

affinity partner participation with the Company; continued support from its providers of Loan 

payable and holders of Debentures payable; current and future economic and market conditions and 

the impact of same on the Company’s business; ongoing and future revenue sources; future business 

levels; interest and currency rates; the appropriateness of the Company’s tax filing position; 

ongoing consumer interest in accumulating frequent flyer miles; and the Company’s ability to 

manage risks connected to collection of transaction credits.  

 

Forward-looking information is subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions that 

may cause the actual results of the Company to differ materially from those discussed in the 

forward-looking information, and even if such actual results are realized or substantially realized, 

there can be no assurance that they will have the expected consequences to, or effects on the 

Company. Factors that could cause actual results or events to differ materially from current 

expectations include, among other things, changes in general economic and market conditions; 

changes to regulations affecting the Company's activities; level of merchant participation in the 

Company’s programs; uncertainties relating to the availability and costs of financing needed in the 

future; termination of the CIBC agreement; termination of the Aeroplan agreement; currency risks, 

the inability of the Company to collect under its APM program; the Company’s financial status, and 

other factors, including without limitation, those listed under “General Risks and Uncertainties” and 

“Economic Dependence” in this Management Discussion and Analysis.  

 

All forward-looking information speaks only as of the date on which it is made and, except as may 

be required by applicable securities laws, the Company disclaims any intent or obligation to update 

any forward-looking information, whether as a result of new information, future events or results or 

otherwise. Although the Company believes that the assumptions inherent in the forward-looking 
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information are reasonable, forward-looking information is not a guarantee of future performance 

and accordingly undue reliance should not be put on such information due to the inherent 

uncertainty therein.  

 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures, and Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting  

        

Management is responsible for external reporting. The Company maintains appropriate processes to 

ensure that relevant and reliable financial information is produced.  

 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)  

 

The Canadian Accounting Standards Board has confirmed that International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) will replace current Canadian GAAP for publicly accountable enterprises, 

including Advantex, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.  

 

Accordingly, the Company will apply accounting policies consistent with IFRS beginning with its 

interim financial statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2011. Our fiscal 2012 interim and 

annual financial statements will include comparative fiscal 2011 financial statements, adjusted to 

comply with IFRS. 

 

IFRS Transition Plan 

 

The Company has prepared a comprehensive transition plan, and engaged the services of a third 

party adviser to assist with the transition. 

 

The Company is currently performing detailed analysis of the IFRS requirements related to its 

significant accounting policies to determine where changes to accounting policies may be required.  

 

The table below summarizes the expected timing of activities related to the Company’s transition to 

IFRS. 

 

Identification of key areas for which changes to 

accounting policies may be required 

Done 

Detailed analysis of all relevant IFRS requirements 

and identification of areas requiring accounting 

policy changes or those with accounting policy 

alternatives. 

Done 

Assessment of first-time adoption  

(IFRS 1) requirements and alternatives. 

In progress, expected to be 

completed during Q4 fiscal 

2011 

Final determination of expected changes to 

accounting policies and expected choices to be made 

with respect to first-time adoption alternatives 

In progress, expected to be 

completed during Q4 fiscal 

2011 
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Resolution of the accounting policy change 

implications on information technology, internal 

controls and contractual arrangements 

In process, to be completed Q4 

fiscal 2011  

Management and employee education and training Throughout the transition 

process 

Quantification of the Financial Statement impact of 

changes in accounting policies 

In process, to be completed Q4 

fiscal 2011 

Preparation of pro forma Q1 fiscal 2012 financial 

statements consistent with IFRS presentation and 

disclosure requirements 

Q4 fiscal 2011 – Q1 fiscal 2012  

 

Impact of Adopting IFRS on the Organization 

 

As the transition plan progresses, the Board of Directors and Audit Committee are being updated on 

progress, and with information regarding the potential for changes to significant accounting 

policies. As part of the implementation plan, the Company’s employees that are involved in the 

preparation of financial statements are receiving training on the relevant aspects of IFRS and the 

potential for changes to accounting policies.  

 

The Company is also assessing what changes may be required to its accounting systems and 

business processes.  To date, the changes to systems, processes and controls that have been 

identified are minimal and the Company believes the systems and processes can accommodate the 

necessary changes.  The Company is also assessing whether any contractual arrangements may be 

impacted by potential changes to accounting policies. 

 

Impact of Adopting IFRS on the Company’s Financial Statements 

 

The adoption of IFRS is expected to result in changes to some significant accounting policies and 

have an impact on the recognition and measurement of certain transactions and balances within the 

Company’s financial statements.  Although the Company has not yet completed its determination of 

the full effect of adopting IFRS on its financial statements, included below are highlights of the 

areas that have been identified as having the most potential for a change to significant accounting 

policies. 

 

This is not intended to be a complete list of areas where the adoption of IFRS will require a change 

in accounting policies, but to provide highlights of the analysis performed to date. As the IFRS 

implementation plan continues, the Company will make a final determination of changes to its 

accounting policies that will result from adopting IFRS, and may identify other changes that will 

have an impact on the financial statements. 

 

The Company has identified the following key areas that have the most potential for changes to 

accounting policies on adoption of IFRS: 
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Provisions – In certain circumstances, IFRS guidance with respect to the recognition and 

measurement of liabilities differs from current Canadian GAAP. Changes in accounting policies on 

adoption of IFRS may result in the recognition of additional liabilities, or a different measurement 

of the liabilities currently recognized under current Canadian GAAP. 

 

Share-based Payments – In certain circumstances, IFRS requires a different measurement of share-

based compensation than current Canadian GAAP. In particular, a change may be required to the 

measurement and timing of recognizing the expense associated with grants under the stock option 

plan and restricted share plan. The Company is assessing the impact of the change on the 

measurement of compensation expense associated with the stock option plan. 

 

Income Taxes – While accounting for income taxes is similar under IFRS and Canadian GAAP, in 

certain circumstances there are differences in the measurement of future tax assets and future tax 

liabilities. The Company is determining whether any changes in its accounting policies related to 

income taxes will have a significant effect on disclosures in its financial statements. 

 

First-time adoption of IFRS 

 

The adoption of IFRS requires the application of IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS 1”), which provides guidance for an entity’s initial adoption 

of IFRS.  IFRS generally requires retrospective application of IFRS as effective at the end of the 

entity’s first annual IFRS reporting period. However, IFRS 1 also provides certain optional 

exemptions and mandatory exceptions to this retrospective treatment.  

 

As analyses of the company’s accounting policies continue under IFRS, the Company will 

determine which available optional exemptions it will apply on adoption of IFRS.  

 

The Company expects to elect the following IFRS optional exemptions in the preparation of an 

opening IFRS statement of financial position as at July 1, 2010, Advantex’s “Transition Date”: 

 

To apply IFRS 2 Share-based Payments only to equity instruments that were issued after November 

7, 2002 and had not vested by the Transition Date. 

 

To apply IAS 23 Borrowing Costs prospectively from the Transition Date.  IAS 23 requires the 

capitalization of borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, production or construction 

of certain assets.   

 

To not reassess whether arrangements contain a lease under IFRS where the same determination 

that would be made under IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease (IFRIC 

4) was made previously in accordance with Canadian GAAP. 

 

To apply the transitional provisions of IFRIC 4 to leases which the same determination as IFRIC 4 

was not made previously in accordance with Canadian GAAP.  Therefore, the determination of 

whether these arrangements contain a lease is based on the circumstances existing at the Transition 

Date. 
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As the analyses of its accounting policies under IFRS continues, the Company may decide not to 

elect to apply these, or to apply other, optional exemptions contained in IFRS1. 

 

IFRS 1 does not permit changes to estimates that have been made previously. Accordingly, 

estimates used in the preparation of the Company’s opening IFRS statement of financial position as 

at July 1, 2010 will be consistent with those made under current Canadian GAAP. If necessary, 

estimates will be adjusted to reflect any difference in accounting policy. 

 

Subsequent Disclosures 

 

Further disclosures of the IFRS transition are expected as follows: 

 

The Company’s MD&A for the year ended June 30, 2011 will include updates on the progress of 

the transition plan, and, to the extent known, information regarding the impact of adopting IFRS on 

key line items in the annual financial statements. 

 

The Company’s first financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS will be the interim 

financial statements for the three months ending September 30, 2011, which will include notes 

disclosing transitional information and disclosure of new accounting policies under IFRS. The 

interim financial statements for the three months ending September  30, 2011 will also include 

fiscal 2011 financial statements for the comparative period, adjusted to comply with IFRS, and the 

Company’s transition date IFRS statement of financial position (as at July 1, 2010).  

 

 

Additional Information 

 

Additional information relating to the Company, including the Company’s Annual Information 

Form, is available at www.sedar.com, and may also be obtained by request by telephone or 

facsimile details of which are available at the Company’s website at www.advantex.com.  

 
  ® ADVANTEX and ADVANCE PURCHASING MARKETING are Registered Trademarks of Advantex Marketing 

International Inc.  
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ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 

        CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

       For the three month and nine month periods  

    Ended March 31, 2011 

 

 

 

 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management and approved by the 

Board of Directors of the Company. Management is responsible for the information and representations 

contained in these consolidated financial statements and other sections of this report. 

 

An auditor has not performed a review of these financial statements. 
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ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(unaudited – note 1a) 

                        Note                     March 31, 2011 June 30, 2010 

                                                                                                                           $                                                  $ 

ASSETS 
 

Current: 

 Cash and cash equivalents                                                                         $49,312                                  $505,941 

 Accounts receivable                            800,307        379,366  

   Assets of discontinued operations                     3                                          2,836                                       321,561 

 Transaction credits                       11,455,770              9,538,364 

 Aeronotes                                                          4                                      248,285                                       381,309 

                        

   Prepaid expenses and sundry assets  290,017 249,510 

   12,846,527 11,376,051 

Long-term: 

   Other asset                                                        5                                      100,000                                       -              

 Property, plant and equipment                         6                           675,721                                       807,315 

                                                                                                                     775,721                                       807,315                               

                                                                                                             

TOTAL ASSETS  $13,622,248 $12,183,366 

 

LIABILITIES 

 

Current: 

   Loan payable                                                      7                                $3,713,842                                  $3,030,549 

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   3,102,374  2,617,970 

   Liabilities of discontinued operations               3                                     452,227                                        475,682                                                    

   Non-convertible debentures payable                 1b/8                                     -                                           2,620,705  

   Convertible debentures payable                        1b/9                                     -                                           5,217,578 

                                                                                                                  7,268,443                                  13,962,484 

Long-term: 

Non-convertible debentures payable                 1b/8                             2,665,000                                          - 

Convertible debentures payable                        1b/9                             5,618,896                                          -                                

                                                                                                                  8,283,896                                          - 

 
SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIENCY 

 

Capital Stock  

 Class A preference shares  3,815 3,815 

 Common shares  24,106,281 24,106,281 

   24,110,096 24,110,096

  

Contributed surplus                                              10                                    734,759                                       645,879 

Equity portion of debentures                                9                                   2,114,341                                    2,114,341 

Warrants                                                               8/9                                   374,554                                       374,554 

Deficit  (29,263,841) (29,023,988) 

     (1,930,091) (1,779,118)

  

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND   $13,622,248 $12,183,366 
 SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIENCY   
  

(see accompanying notes) 
 
Refinancing (note 1b) 
Commitments and Contingencies - Taxation (note 14) 



   

   Page 3 of 16  

  

 

ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT/(LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT/(LOSS) 

(unaudited – note 1a) 

 

 

 
                                                                                                                  Three Months Ended                   Nine months Ended  

                                                                                                                             March 31                              March 31 

                                                                                                                     2011               2010                     2011           2010   

                                                                                                    $                 $                       $               $ 
 

REVENUE                                                                                               2,875,626       2,656,768           9,855,889     8,766,348 

   Direct expenses                                                                                         988,195          798,539           3,044,483     2,661,398 

                          

GROSS PROFIT                                                                                    1,887,431        1,858,229           6,811,406     6,104,950 

                                                 

OPERATING EXPENSES 

 Selling and marketing                                                                              731,756          648,575             2,045,588    1,893,864 

 General and administrative                                                                      943,481          812,037             2,907,733    2,454,744 

    Stock-based compensation                                                                        76,880            18,000                  88,880         48,289 

                                                                                                                  1,752,117       1,478,612             5,042,201    4,396,897   

      

     

                    

CONTRIBUTION FROM OPERATIONS                                              

AND PROFIT BEFORE AMORTIZATION AND INTEREST; 

CONTINUING OPERATIONS                                                               135,314          379,617             1,769,205    1,708,053 

 

     

 

    Amortization of property, plant and equipment                                        78,672          133,291                350,436       322,044 

 

 Interest expense 

           Stated interest expense – loan payable, 

              non-convertible debentures, convertible                                         

       debentures, and other                                                                   377,083          321,231            1,161,955        935,511 

  Accretion charge on debentures, and    

                amortization of deferred financing charges                                 136,073         168,481                477,781        498,786  

                                                                                                            513,156         489,712             1,639,736     1,434,297 

 

PROFIT / (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT /                                      

(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD – CONTINUING OPERATIONS       $(456,514)     $(243,386)           $(220,967)     $(48,288) 

     

PROFIT / (LOSS) FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS                     10,069         (32,258)                (18,886)        69,149 

 

NET PROFIT / (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT /                                      

(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD                                                                 $(446,445)    $(275,644)             $(239,853)     $20,861 

 

BASIC EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE                                          $0.00             $0.00                     $0.00          $0.00 

  

DILUTED EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE                                    $0.00            $0.00                      $0.00          $0.00 

    

     (see accompanying notes) 
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ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF DEFICIT 

(unaudited – note 1a) 

 
    Three Months Ended                          Nine months Ended  

                                                                                                              March 31                                           March 31 

                                                                                                      2011               2010                            2011                2010 

                                                                                                         $                      $                                 $                       $ 

 

BALANCE AT THE START OF PERIOD                    (28,817,396)      (28,761,510)            (29,023,988)      (29,058,015) 

 

Net profit / (loss) for the period                                               (446,445)           (275,644)                 (239,853)               20,861 

    

BALANCE AT THE END OF PERIOD                         (29,263,841)      (29,037,154)            (29,263,841)      (29,037,154)  
 

     

    (see accompanying notes) 
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ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW 

(unaudited – note 1a) 
                                                                                                                            Three Months Ended         Nine months Ended 

               March 31                     March 31  

   

                                                                                                                         2011              2010               2011              2010 

                                                                                                                            $                     $                     $                    $ 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

 

    Net profit / (loss) for the period – continuing operations                      $(456,514)      $(243,386)       $(220,967)       $(48,288)

  

 
Items not affecting cash 

 Amortization of property, plant and equipment                                          78,672            133,291           350,436          322,044 

 Accretion charge on debentures                                                                114,707            121,933           363,301          359,142

 Amortization of deferred financing charges                                                21,366             46,548           114,480           139,644  

 Stock-based compensation                                                                          76,880              18,000             88,880            48,289 

                                                                                                                     (164,889)             76,386           696,130          820,831 

 
Changes in non-cash working capital items 

 Accounts receivable                                                                                 (130,828)             28,896         (420,941)       (193,927) 

 Transaction credits                                                                                (1,764,331)         (325,820)     (1,917,406)    (1,346,086) 

 Prepaid expenses and sundry assets                                                            75,554              53,580           (40,507)         (73,952) 

    Aeronotes                                                                                                    17,353              28,251           133,024        (474,548) 

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                                                  224,057           (530,153)         484,404        (161,807) 

                                                                                                               (1,578,195)          (745,246)     (1,761,426)    (2,250,320) 

 

 

Cash provided by/(utilized in) operating activities                                (1,743,084)          (668,860)      (1,065,296)    (1,429,489) 
 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

    Proceeds from draw of Loan payable                                                      632,717             629,515            651,125      1,504,165 

                                                                                                                   632,717             629,515            651,125      1,504,165 

 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

 Purchase of property, plant and equipment                                             (86,011)          (157,806)          (218,842)      (319,042) 

    Investment in other asset                                                                       (100,000)                 -                  (100,000)             - 

                                                                                                                   (186,011)          (157,806 )         (318,842)       (319,042) 

 

MOVEMENT IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS                  (1,296,378)           (197,151)         (733,013)       (244,366) 

 DURING THE PERIOD – CONTINUING OPERATIONS  

                                               DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS          (143,376)            279,395            276,384          397,488 

 

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of period                                       1,489,066             415,058            505,941          344,180  

 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD               $49,312           $497,302            $49,312        $497,302 
      Consists of: 

        Cash                                                                                                     $44,312           $492,302            $44,312        $492,302 

        Term deposits                                                                                          5,000                 5,000                5,000              5,000 

                                                                                                                     $49,312           $497,302            $49,312        $497,302 

 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

 Interest paid                                                                                            $137,141          $156,026          $919,547        $767,840 

 

    

   

   (see accompanying notes) 
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ADVANTEX MARKTING INTERNATIONAL INC 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Three and Nine months ended March 31, 2011 

(Unaudited – note 1) 

 

       

1a. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The accompanying interim consolidated financial statements of Advantex Marketing International Inc. 

and its subsidiaries (“Advantex” or the “Company”) have been prepared in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”) for interim financial information.   

Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by Canadian GAAP for 

annual consolidated financial statements.  

 

The accompanying financial information reflects all adjustments, consisting primarily of normal 

recurring adjustments, which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of 

results for interim periods. Operating results for the three and nine month period ended March 31, 2011 

are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the fiscal year ending June 30, 

2011. The accounting policies used in the preparation of these interim consolidated financial statements 

should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the fiscal 

year ended June 30, 2010. 

 

These interim consolidated financial statements follow the same accounting policies and methods of 

application as the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010. Certain 

prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation.  

 

1b. REFINANCING 

 

On May 13, 2011, the Company announced that it had completed the second and final stage of its 

planned renewal of its existing Non-convertible debentures payable (note 8), and Convertible 

debentures payable (note 9) (collectively: Existing debentures payable”). The Company was 

substantially financed by the two Existing debentures payable. 

 

The Company used the proceeds of the two private placements (“Refinanced debentures payable”) to 

pay off the outstanding principal of the Existing debentures payable, accrued but unpaid interest on its 

Existing debentures payable, and for general business purposes. 
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Material details of the Existing debentures payable, and the Refinanced debentures payable are 

tabulated: 

 

 

 EXISTING DEBENTURES PAYABLE REFINANCED  DEBENTURES PAYABLE 

       

Issuer Advantex 

Dining 

Corporation, 

a 100% 

subsidiary 

of the 

Company 

The 

Company 

Total  Advantex 

Dining 

Corporation, 

a 100% 

subsidiary 

of the 

Company 

The 

Company 

Total 

Structure Non-

convertible 

Convertible  Non-

convertible 

Non-

convertible 

 

Amount $2,665,000 $6,000,000 $8,665,000 $1,810,000 $6,462,000 $8,272,000 

Coupon 14% per 

annum 

10% per 

annum 

 14% per 

annum 

12% per 

annum 

 

Maturity  See note 8 See note 9  September 

30, 2013 

September 

30, 2013 

 

Conversion  See note 8 See note 9  3,574,750 

common 

share 

warrants, 

which are 

convertible 

on a 1 to 1 

basis into 

common 

shares of the 

Company 

during the 

term of the 

debenture. 

Exercise 

price $0.04 

per warrant 

91,443,762 

common 

share 

warrants, 

which are 

convertible 

on a 1 to 1 

basis into 

common 

shares of the 

Company 

during the 

term of the 

debenture. 

Exercise 

price $0.04 

per warrant 

 

On refinancing, the agent was granted 500,000 common share purchase warrants, convertible on a 1 to 

1 basis into common shares of the Company. Exercise price $0.04. The common share purchase 

warrants expire May 10, 2013 
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2. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

 

Change in accounting policies 

 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

On February 13, 2008, the CICA’s Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) confirmed that the use of IFRS 

will be required for interim and annual financial statements for fiscal years beginning on or after 

January 1, 2011 for publicly accountable enterprises in Canada.  Companies will be required to provide 

comparative information under IFRS for the previous fiscal year.  The implementation of IFRS will be 

applicable for the Company for the July 1 to September 30, 2011 quarter, for which the current and 

comparative financial information will be presented under IFRS.  

 

3. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

 

The Company closed down its online shopping mall business during the three months ended March 31, 

2011 and is now a discontinued operation. Online shopping malls were loyalty programs aimed at 

members of airline affinity programs whereby the members could earn additional rewards through the 

purchase of goods through online malls. 

 

The following tabulation provides additional details with respect to the amounts included in the balance 

sheet as discontinued operations. 

 

 At March 31, 2011 At June 30, 2010 

Accounts receivable $    2,836 $321,561 

Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities 

$452,227 $475,682 

 

The additional details with respect to amounts included in the consolidated statements of profit / (loss) 

and comprehensive profit / (loss) as discontinued operations are tabulated in note 11. 

 

The following tabulation provides additional details with respect to the amounts included in the 

statement of cash flows as discontinued operations. 

 

 3 months ended 

31/03/.2011 

3 months ended 

31/03/2010 

9 months ended 

31/03/2011 

9 months ended 

31/03/2010 

Net Income (Loss) $   10,069 $ (32,258) $  (18,886) $  69,149 

Changes in non-cash 

working capital 

items 

    

- Accounts 

receivable 

      47,019    300,536      318,725     63,930 

- Accounts 

payable  

  (200,464)      11,117      (23,455)   264,409 

     

Movement in cash 

and cash equivalents 
$(143,376)   $279,395    $276,384 $397,488 
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4. AERONOTES 

 

The Company carries inventory of Aeronotes it purchased from Aeroplan Canada Inc. The Company 

has the right to sell the Aeronotes to merchants including those participating in its merchant based 

loyalty programs, use them in its activities marketing merchants participating in its loyalty programs, 

and to use them as merchant and employee incentive.  

 

The Aeronotes expire July 12, 2011.  

 

The inventory includes printing costs and is carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

 

For nine months ended March 31, 2011 $75,470 of inventory was recognized as an expense, and 

$57,554 was utilized to settle amounts owed to Directors for director fees and certain employee 

bonuses. 

 

As at May 19, 2011, the balance of inventory held by the Company was about $90,000. A substantial 

portion of the inventory held at March 31, 2011 was subsequently utilized in activities marketing the 

merchants participating in the Company’s programs. 

 

5. OTHER ASSET 

 

On March 31, 2011, the Company acquired a $100,000  non-interest bearing Unsecured Convertible 

Promissory Note (“Note”) issued by GaggleUp Inc. (“Gaggle Up”), an Ontario corporation, that is a 

new entrant in the couponing business. Under certain conditions the Note is convertible into a small 

minority interest in the Class B common shares of GaggleUp. 

 

 

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

Expenditures for property, plant and equipment for the nine month period ended March 31, 2011 were 

$219,000 (nine month period ended March 31, 2010 $319,000). Current period year to date, and three 

months ended March 31, 2011 includes capitalization of $96,000 and $22,000 respectively ($205,000 

and $64,000 for nine and three month periods ended March 31, 2010 respectively) of internal costs 

expended on software development connected to ensuring operability of the Company’s loyalty 

marketing programs sponsored by CIBC and Aeroplan. The costs are being amortized over the shorter 

of useful life and term of affinity partner agreements.  

 

The company had capitalized leasehold improvement costs of $32.000 during the three months period 

ended March 31, 2011 relating to the modification of the new leased premises that improve its 

functionality. The leasehold improvement costs are being amortized over the term of the lease, which 

term is for a five year period expiring February 29, 2016. 

 

7. LOAN PAYABLE 

 

The Company has a credit facility (loan payable) with Accord Financial Inc. (Accord) to be used 

exclusively to acquire transaction credits under its Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) program. For 



 

   Page 10 of 16  

additional details on loan payable refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements for year ended 

June 30, 2010. 

 

The principal amount outstanding under this facility at March 31, 2011 was $3,713,842 vs. $3,062,718 

at June 30, 2010 ($2,581,654 at March 31, 2010).  The unamortized financing charges at March 31, 

2011 were $nil (June 30, 2010 - $32,169). The carrying amount is the principal amount net of 

unamortized financing charges.  

 

The stated interest cost during the nine month period ended March 31, 2011 was $431,463 vs. $195,573 

for the corresponding period in the previous year. 

 

 

8. NON-CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES PAYABLE  

 

The non-convertible debentures payable in the principal amount of $2,665,000 matured December 31, 

2010. As at March 31, 2011 the Company was in default on its obligations to repay the principal 

amount of $2,665,000, and accrued interest from January 1, 2011 to March 31, 2011. 

 

The Company refinanced these non-convertible debentures payable in the principal amount of 

$1,810,000 in May, 2011 (Note 1b). As at May 19, 2011 the Company had repaid the principal due to 

non-convertible debentures payable in the amount of $2,665,000 together with all accrued and unpaid 

interest. 

 

The Company has fully deployed the proceeds of the non-convertible debentures which are used 

exclusively to acquire transaction credits under its Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) program.  

 

The balance of non-convertible debentures payable as at March 31, 2011 is disclosed under long-term 

liabilities reflecting the renewal to September 30, 2013. As at June 30, 2010 the balance of non-

convertible debentures payable is disclosed under current liabilities. The amount disclosed on the 

balance sheet is net of unamortized financing charges.  

 

Movements in the balance during the nine months ended March 31, 2011 are as follows: 

 

 

 Debt Portion 

 

Warrants Deferred 

Financing 

costs 

Balance at June 30, 2010 $2,638,918 $184,744 $18,213 

Amortization of issuance costs              -       - (18,213) 

Accretion charge        26,082       -____       - 

Balance at March 31, 2011 $2,665,000 $184,744 $nil 

 

The stated interest cost during the nine months ended March 31, 2011 was $280,081 ($280,081 for the 

corresponding period in the previous year). 
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Of the 5,263,375 common share warrants attached to non-convertible debentures payable which 

matured December 31, 2010, 3,950,000 expired December 24, 2010, and the balance 1,313,375 expired 

January 30, 2011. 

 

 

9. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES PAYABLE 
 

The convertible debentures payable in the principal amount of $6,000,000 mature on December 9, 2011 

and have a general security agreement over all the assets of the Company.  As at March 31, 2011, the 

Company met the convertible debentures payable interest coverage financial covenant but was in 

breach of the current asset financial covenant, and was in default under the convertible debenture 

agreement. 

 

The Company completed an early refinancing of these convertible debentures payable in the principal 

amount of $6,462,000 in May 2011 (Note 1b). As at May 19, 2011 the Company repaid the principal 

due to the convertible debentures payable in the amount of $6,000,000 together with all accrued and 

unpaid interest to the date of redemption. 

 

The convertible debenture proceeds are used for purpose of the Company’s working capital needs. 

 

The balance of the debt portion of convertible debentures payable at March 31, 2011 is disclosed under 

long-term liabilities reflecting the renewal to September 30, 2013. As at June 30, 2010 the debt portion 

of the convertible debentures is disclosed under current liabilities. The amounts disclosed are net of 

unamortized financing charges.  Movements in the balance during the nine months ended March 31, 

2011 are as follows: 

 

 Debt Portion 

 

Equity 

portion 

Warrants Deferred 

Financing 

costs 

Balance at June 30, 2010 $5,345,780 $2,114,341 $189,810 $128,202 

Amortization of issuance costs             -       -        -    (64,098) 

Accretion charge      337,220       -____        -       - 

Balance at March 31, 2011 $5,683,000 $2,114,341 $189,810 $  64,104 

 

The stated interest cost during the nine months ended March 31, 2011 was $450,411 ($450,411 for 

corresponding period in the previous year). 

 

The convertible debentures are convertible into 60 m common shares during the term of the debentures 

at the option of the convertible debenture holders. This right expired on the early refinancing of these 

debentures. 

 

The convertible debenture holders were given 9,863,988 common share warrants in September, 2008 in 

consideration for amending financial covenants to maturity. Each common share warrant entitles the 

holder to convert into one common share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.045. These 

common share warrants expire December 9, 2011. 
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10. STOCK OPTIONS 

 

As at March 31, 2011 there were 11,442,291 employee stock options outstanding at exercise prices 

between $0.01 to $0.135, expiring between May, 2011, and March, 2016. 

 

During the nine months ended March 31, 2011, 4,176,184 stock options were forfeited or expired, 

including on March 16, 2011, 200,000 stock options that had been granted to a director in February, 

2010. The director was re-issued with 200,000 stock options, as described below, on April 18, 2011. 

 

On March 16, 2011, the Company issued 4,675,000 stock options to certain employees, officer, and 

directors of the Company. The options vest immediately, expire March 16, 2016, and have an exercise 

price of $0.02. The directors were issued 3,200,000 stock options, of which 2,600,000 were issued to 

the CEO. In addition, the CFO was issued with 700,000 stock options.  

 

On April 18, 2011, the Company issued 200,000 stock options to a director. The options vest 

immediately, expire April 18, 2016, and have an exercise price of $0.02.  

 

The Company has recorded $88,880 of stock-based compensation expense during the nine months 

ended March 31, 2011 ($48,289 for nine months ended March 31, 2010). Of the amount expensed in 

the current year, $18,000 related to the fair value of stock options issued during prior years, and the 

balance of $70,880 is with respect to the grant in March, 2011.   There was a corresponding increase in 

contributed surplus. 

 

The Black-Scholes option pricing model was used to determine the fair value of the grant in March, 

2011. Since the grant vests immediately, the entire fair value was expensed in March, 2011. The 

following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model:  

 

Common share price                        - $0.02 

Exercise price                                   - $0.02 

Expected life                                    - 5 years 

Expected volatility                            - 103%  

Risk-free interest rate                        - 2.0% 

 

 

11. SEGMENT REPORTING 

 

The Company’s reportable segments include: (i) Retail programs, and (ii) Online shopping malls, and 

since the Company closed down its online shopping mall business during the three months ended 

March 31, 2011 it is now a discontinued operation (note 3). Where applicable, corporate and other 

activities are reported separately as Corporate and other. 

 

Retail programs relate to loyalty programs for major affinity groups through which their members earn 

bonus frequent flyer miles or other rewards at participating  merchants. 
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Financial information by reportable segment for the nine months ended March 31, 2011 is as follows:  

 

 Retail programs Online shopping 

malls – 

Discontinued 

operations 

Corporate Total 

Revenues $         9,832,682 $      666,889 $  23,207 $ 10,522,778 

Direct Expenses            3,044,483         381,575 - 3,426,058 

Gross Profit            6,788,199         285,314     23,207 7,096,720 

Selling and marketing               2,045,588         304,200 - 2,349,788 

General and administrative *                  -   - 2,907,733 2,907,733 

Stock based compensation                  -   -     88,880     88,880 

Contribution from Operations 

and Profit/(Loss) before 

Amortization and Interest 

           

          4,742,611 

      

        (18,886) 

  

 (2,973,406) 

 

    1,750,319 

Amortization                   -   -    350,436   350,436 

Interest                   -   - 1,639,736 1,639,736 

Segment Net Profit (Loss) 4,742,611         (18,886) (4,963,578)  (239,853) 

 Includes $54,000 of severance payments. 

 

Financial information by reportable segment for the nine months ended March 31, 2010 is as follows:  

 

 Retail programs Online shopping 

malls – 

Discontinued 

operations 

Corporate Total 

Revenues $          8,766,235 $    1,795,086 $         113 $  10,561,434 

Direct Expenses             2,661,398       1,118,862            -       3,780,260 

Gross Profit             6,104,837          676,224            113       6,781,174 

Selling and marketing              1,893,864          607,075                   -       2,500,939 

General and administrative        -             -  2,454,744                   2,454,744 

Stock based compensation                  -             -       48,289                           48,289 

Contribution from Operations 

and Profit/(Loss) before 

Amortization and Interest 

             

            4,210,973 

         

          69,149 

             

(2,502,920) 

       

      1,777,202 

Amortization       -             -     322,044                         322,044 

Interest       -   -  1,434,297                   1,434,297 

Segment Net Profit (Loss)   4,210,973 69,149 (4,259,261)                      20,861 

 

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant 

accounting policies. The Company does not allocate its property, plant and equipment among reportable 

segments. 
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12. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 

The Company’s objective is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 

market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.  The Company manages Loan 

Payable, Non-Convertible debentures, Convertible debentures, and Capital Stock which is explained in 

detail in the audited financial statements for year ended June 30, 2010. The Board of Directors does not 

establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather promotes year over year 

sustainable growth. 

 

The Company is subject to financial covenants which are measured on a quarterly basis. The Company 

is in breach of its convertible debentures payable current asset financial covenant (see note 9). 

 

13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer fails to meet its contractual 

obligations. The Company, in the normal course of business, is exposed to credit risk on its accounts 

receivable and transaction credits from customers. The Company generally acquires transaction credits 

that are estimated to be fully extinguishable within 30-120 days. Accounts receivable, assets of 

discontinued operations, and transaction credits are net of applicable allowance for doubtful accounts, 

which is established based on the specific credit risk associated with the customer and other relevant 

information. 

 

The ageing of accounts receivable, assets of discontinued operations, and transaction credits at the 

reporting date was: 

 

                                                                                 March 31, 2011                                    June 30, 2010 

 

Current       $11,772,821                $  9,648,667 

Over 120 days      $     486,092                $     590,624 

Net reported on the balance sheet                              $12,258,913                $10,239,291 

 

The accounts receivable, assets of discontinued operations, and transaction credits and the respective 

allowance for delinquent accounts is as follows: 

                                                                                March 31, 2011                                    June 30, 2010 

 

Transaction credits, accounts receivable, 

      assets of discontinued operations                         $12,891,956                                         $10,616,621 

                                                                                             

Allowance                                                                      $(633,043)                                           $(377,330) 

Net reported on the balance sheet                              $12,258,913           $10,239,291 

 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the net balance of the transaction credits, accounts receivable, 

and assets of discontinued operations. 
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The allowance is determined on specifically identified transaction credit balances that are delinquent 

and amount of the specific provision is determined based on whether the account has been referred for 

legal collection, whether the Company’s attempt to debit the merchant’s bank account for payments due 

to the Company has been rejected, the underlying reason for the rejections, and the Company’s 

historical experience on recoveries. 

 

Currency risk 

 

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a portion of its revenue is earned in US dollars 

and it has assets and liabilities that will be settled in US dollars.  Foreign exchange risk arises due to 

fluctuations in foreign currency rates, which could affect the Company’s financial results. 

 

Included in the undernoted accounts are the following amounts (in USD): 

 

            March 31, 2011                              June 30, 2010 

Cash and cash equivalents        $    9,303                                          $    1,540 

Accounts receivable, prior to provision                          $  77,563                                          $357,293 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities      $463,897                           $258,135 

 

As at March 31, 2011 the Company had nominal amounts (equivalent to under CAD 3,000) of assets 

and liabilities in Euro and Pound Sterling (June 30, 2010 equivalent to under CAD 4,000). 

 

Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 

due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always 

have sufficient liquidity when due. 

 

The Company deploys available funds to merchants under its Advanced Purchase Marketing (APM) 

program, which are disclosed as transaction credits on the balance sheet. The Company generally 

acquires transaction credits that are estimated to be fully extinguishable within 30-120 days. The 

Company maintains adequate cash balances to meet liabilities when due. 

 

Fair value 

 

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, transaction credits, aeronotes, 

accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturity of 

these instruments. 

 

The stated value of the loans payable, convertible debentures payable and non-convertible debentures 

payable approximate their fair values, as the interest rates are representative of current market rates for 

loans with similar terms, conditions and maturities. 

 

 

 



 

   Page 16 of 16  

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

 

Commitments  

 

As described in the commitments section of note 12 (commitments and contingencies) to the 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2010, the Company has a commitment to 

purchase rewards from its affinity partner, Aeroplan Canada Inc. As part of certain amendments to the 

agreement agreed after December 31, 2010, the Company was committed to purchase an additional 

$100,000 of rewards for a revised total of $700,000 to be purchased by August 31, 2011. In May, 2011, 

the parties reached an understanding to extend the timeline to December 31, 2011 for Advantex to meet 

its $700,000 purchase commitment. The understanding is expected to be formalized as part of the 

agreement.  

 

The Company has an agreement with a processor under which it has to meet certain targets for referrals 

of new accounts to the processor. The Company has to pay $5,000 for each shortfall from the target. 

The maximum payout in the event of total non-performance by the Company is $150,000. While the 

Company is endeavoring to meet the target referrals by the due date of July 15, 2011, in case of a 

shortfall it expects to seek an extension to the timeline. 

 

Taxation 

 

As explained in the Taxation section of note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for year ended 

June 30, 2010, the balance owed under the GST re-assessment is required to be paid during the 

objection process. From July 1, 2009 to March 31, 2011 the Company has made payments totaling 

$765,600 under the 24 month payment plan worked out with the CRA. The amounts paid are included 

as a recoverable asset and are included with accounts receivable on the balance sheet. The balance 

amounts payable, by June 30, 2011, under the payment plan, including an estimate for interest is 

$40,000. 
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ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 

NOTICE OF ANNUAL AND SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an annual and special meeting of shareholders (the “Meeting”) of 
ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. (the “Company”) will be held on December 21, 
2010, at 10.00 am (Toronto time) at the Company’s Head Office, 600 Alden Road, Suite 606, Markham, 
Ontario, L3R 0E7. 

The purposes of the Meeting are: 

1. to elect directors; 
2. to appoint auditors; 
3. to present the annual report and audited financial statements of the Company for the fiscal year 

ended June 30, 2010; 
4. to consider, and if deemed advisable, to approve a resolution to re-approve  the Company’s 

shareholder rights plan;  
5. to consider, and if deemed advisable, to approve a resolution approving the terms of renewal of 

the Non-convertible , and Convertible Debentures of the company; and 
6. to transact such other business as may properly be brought before the Meeting. 

 

A shareholder may attend the Meeting in person or may be represented by proxy. Shareholders who are 
unable to attend the Meeting, or any adjournment thereof, in person are requested to date, sign and return 
the accompanying form of proxy for use at the Meeting or any adjournment thereof. To be effective, the 
enclosed form of proxy must be mailed or sent by fax to 416-368-2502 so as to reach or be deposited with 
the Company’s registrar and transfer agent, CIBC Mellon Trust Company, by mail to P.O. Box 721, 
Agincourt, Ontario, Canada, M1S 0A1, or by hand to 320 Bay Street, Banking Hall Level, Toronto, 
Ontario, Canada, or by fax to 416-368-2502, no later than 5:00 pm (Toronto time) on Friday, December 
17, 2010 where there is no adjournment of the Meeting.  

 

DATED at Markham, Ontario 

November 23, 2010 
 

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

“Kelly E. Ambrose” 

Kelly E. Ambrose  

President and Chief Executive Officer  



 

 - 2 -  

 
ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 

600 Alden Road, Suite 606 
Markham, Ontario, L3R 0E7 

INFORMATION CIRCULAR 
AS AT NOVEMBER 23, 2010 

SOLICITATION OF PROXIES 

THIS INFORMATION CIRCULAR IS FURNISHED IN CONNECTION WITH THE 
SOLICITATION BY THE MANAGEMENT OF ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. (the 
“Company”) of proxies to be used at the Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders of the Company (the 
“Meeting”) to be held at the Company’s Head Office, 600 Alden Road, Suite 606, Markham, Ontario, L3R 0E7 on 
Tuesday, December 21, 2010, at 10.00 am (Toronto time) and at any adjournment thereof for the purposes set forth 
in the enclosed Notice of Meeting. Proxies will be solicited primarily by mail and may also be solicited 
personally or by telephone by the directors and/or officers of the Company at nominal cost. The cost of 
solicitation by management will be borne by the Company. 

The Company may pay the reasonable costs incurred by persons who are the registered but not 
beneficial owners of voting shares of the Company (such as brokers, dealers, other registrants under 
applicable securities laws, nominees and/or custodians) in sending or delivering copies of the Notice of 
Meeting, this Information Circular and the form of proxy (collectively, the “Meeting Materials”) to the 
beneficial owners of such shares. The Company will provide, without cost to such persons, upon request 
to the Secretary of the Company, additional copies of the foregoing documents required for this purpose. 

MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON 

1. ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board of Directors” or “Board”) currently can 
consist of a minimum of three (3) and a maximum of fifteen (15) directors. The number of directors to be 
elected at the Meeting has been fixed by the Board at four (4) and accordingly, four (4) directors are to be 
elected at the Meeting.  

The following table and the notes thereto state the names of all the persons proposed to be 
nominated by management for election as directors, all other positions and offices with the Company now 
held by them, their principal occupations or employments, the period or periods of service as directors of 
the Company and the approximate number of voting securities of the Company beneficially owned, 
directly or indirectly, or over which control or direction is exercised by each of them as of the date hereof. 

Name, Office and Jurisdiction of 
Residence(1) Director Since 

No. of Voting Securities Owned, 
Controlled or Directed as at 
November 23, 2010(2) 

Kelly E. Ambrose(5)(6) 
President, Chief Executive Officer, 
Secretary and Director 
Ontario, Canada 

January 26, 2006 1,581,000 common shares 
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Name, Office and Jurisdiction of 
Residence(1) Director Since 

No. of Voting Securities Owned, 
Controlled or Directed as at 
November 23, 2010(2) 

Stephen Burns(3)(4)(5) 

Director, Chairman of the Board of 
Directors 
Ontario, Canada 

February 19, 2004 Nil 

William H. Polley(3)(4)(5)(6) 
Director  
Ontario, Canada 

November 21, 2002 26,750 common shares 

Carole Kerbel(4) 
Ontario, Canada  

December 22, 2009 Nil 

Notes: 
(1) The principal occupations of each of the nominees during the last five (5) years are as set forth below: 

Kelly Ambrose has been the President of the Company since October 19, 2005, Chief Operating Officer of the Company between October 
19, 2005 and December 4, 2006, Chief Executive Officer of the Company since December 5, 2006, and Secretary since September 24, 2009. 
He was President and Chief Executive Officer of News Marketing Canada, a unit of News Corporation, a diversified international media 
and entertainment company from 1999 to 2005 and prior thereto Mr. Ambrose was Chief Operating Officer of Melitta Canada from 1997 to 
1999. 

Stephen Burns is the Chairman of the Board of Directors. Mr. Burns is Chairman and CEO of Stefi Media Group Inc., the publisher of 
Vantage Magazine. Mr. Burns, prior to becoming Vice-Chairman, Intelligarde International Inc. in November, 2006 and Chairman of Stefi 
Media Group Inc. in November, 2007 was Vice-Chairman of Avenue Financial Corporation from 2002 to 2006.  He was a senior partner in 
Shimmerman Penn Burns Becker LLP, Chartered Accountants, from 1995 to 2002 and in Beallor Beallor & Burns, Chartered Accountants 
from 1972 to 1995.  Mr.Burns is also a founding director of the International Group of Accounting Firms. He holds a B.A, C.A and MBA.  

William H. Polley is a chartered accountant and Chief Financial Officer of the Martini Group of Companies since 1998.  Martini Group of 
Companies consists of numerous small privately held companies in industries such as manufacturing, equipment rental, property 
management, and flow aid product sales.   

Carole Kerbel was the founder and CEO of Kerbel Communications Inc. a strategic marketing and public relations company, from 1975 to 
1997.  She joined Hill and Knowlton in 1997 as Executive Vice president and General Manager for the Toronto office and the west, and 
then became Chairman, Public Relations for Canada.  From 2002 to 2005 she was Executive Director, Public Affairs and Communications 
for the Ontario Medical Association. Carole has been an active member on 15 Boards and Commissions throughout her career.  

(2) The information as to voting securities beneficially owned, controlled or directed, not being within the knowledge of the Company, has been 
furnished by the respective nominees individually. 

(3) Member of the Compensation Committee. Stephen Burns is the current chairman of this Committee. 
(4) Member of the Audit Committee. William H.  Polley is the current chairman of the Committee.  
(5) Member of the Governance and Nominating Committee. Stephen Burns is the current chairman of this Committee. 
(6) At November23, 2010, the following nominees held, controlled or directed control over (i) convertible debenture issued by the Company in 

November 2006, and (ii) non-convertible debenture issued in January 2008. For additional details refer to “Convertible Debenture 
Payable” and” Non Convertible Debentures Payable” in the annual report of the Company for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, 
available on www.sedar.com.  

 
Title 
  

Principal Amount 
Convertible 

 

Principal Amount 
Non-convertible 

 
Kelly E.  Ambrose            $ 50,000  $ 30,000 
William H. Polley            $ Nil $ 25,000 

 

The term of office of each director will be from the date of the Meeting at which he or she is 
elected until the next annual meeting; or until his or her successor is elected or appointed. 
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Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies  

No proposed director of the Company is, as at the date hereof, or has been, within 10 years before 
the date of this Information Circular, a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any 
company (including the Company) that,  

(a) was the subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order or an order 
that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, 
that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, that was issued while the 
proposed director was acting in the capacity as a director, chief executive officer or chief 
financial officer; or  

(b) was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order or an order that 
denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, that 
was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, that was issued after the 
proposed director ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer 
and which resulted from an event that occurred while that person was acting in the 
capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer. 

No proposed director of the Company is, as at the date of this Information Circular, or has been 
within 10 years before the date of this Information Circular, a director or executive officer of any 
company (including the Company) that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of 
that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation 
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

Personal Bankruptcies 

No proposed director of the Company or any personal holding company of such person has, 
within the 10 years before the date of this Information Circular, become bankrupt, made a proposal under 
any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to 
hold the assets of the proposed director. 

Penalties or Sanctions 

No proposed director of the Company or any personal holding company of such person has been 
subject to (i) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a 
securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory 
authority, or (ii) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely 
be considered important to a security holder in deciding whether to vote for a proposed director. 

PROXIES RECEIVED IN FAVOUR OF MANAGEMENT WILL BE VOTED FOR THE 
ELECTION OF THE ABOVE-NAMED NOMINEES, UNLESS THE SHAREHOLDER HAS 
SPECIFIED IN THE PROXY THAT HIS OR HER SHARES ARE TO BE WITHHELD FROM 
VOTING IN RESPECT THEREOF. MANAGEMENT HAS NO REASON TO BELIEVE THAT 
ANY OF THE NOMINEES WILL BE UNABLE TO SERVE AS A DIRECTOR BUT, IF A 
NOMINEE IS FOR ANY REASON UNAVAILABLE TO SERVE AS A DIRECTOR, PROXIES 
IN FAVOUR OF MANAGEMENT WILL BE VOTED IN FAVOUR OF THE REMAINING 
NOMINEES AND MAY BE VOTED FOR A SUBSTITUTE NOMINEE UNLESS THE 
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SHAREHOLDER HAS SPECIFIED IN THE PROXY THAT HIS OR HER SHARES ARE TO BE 
WITHHELD FROM VOTING IN RESPECT OF THE ELECTION OF DIRECTORS. 

2. APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS 

PROXIES RECEIVED IN FAVOUR OF MANAGEMENT WILL BE VOTED IN 
FAVOUR OF THE APPOINTMENT OF PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP, CHARTERED 
ACCOUNTANTS, AS AUDITORS OF THE COMPANY TO HOLD OFFICE UNTIL THE NEXT 
ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS AND THE AUTHORIZATION OF THE 
DIRECTORS TO FIX THEIR REMUNERATION, UNLESS THE SHAREHOLDER HAS 
SPECIFIED IN THE PROXY THAT HIS OR HER SHARES ARE TO BE WITHHELD FROM 
VOTING IN RESPECT THEREOF. 

 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are the current auditors of the Company and were first appointed 
as auditors of the Company on June 13, 2006.  

3. ANNUAL REPORT AND AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The 2010 annual report of the Company, including the financial statements for the financial year 
ended June 30, 2010 and the report of the auditors thereon, will be submitted to the Meeting. Receipt at 
such Meeting of the auditors’ report and the Company’s financial statements for its last completed 
financial year will not constitute approval or disapproval of any matters referred to therein. 

4. SPECIAL BUSINESS 

Re-Approval of the Shareholder Rights Plan  

Background 

The company and CIBC Mellon Trust Company, as rights agent, entered into an agreement dated 
October 23, 2007 (the “Agreement”) to implement a shareholder rights plan which the Board had 
previously adopted (the “Plan”). Unless the terms of the Agreement are extended the Plan will expire at 
the termination of the Meeting. Accordingly, if the resolution is not passed, the Rights Plan will expire 
and the Company will no longer have any form of shareholder rights plan.  

The Board adopted the Plan to ensure, to the extent possible, that all shareholders of the Company 
are treated equally and fairly in connection with any take-over bid or similar offer for all or a portion of 
the outstanding common shares in the capital of the Company (the “Common Shares”).  

At the Meeting, shareholders of the Company will be asked to consider and, if thought fit, to pass 
a resolution approving the extension, amendment and restatement of the Agreement. Approval of the 
Agreement by the shareholders of the Company is required by the terms of the Agreement and by the 
TSX Venture Exchange (the “TSX V”).  

Purpose of the Plan  

The objectives of the Plan are to ensure, to the extent possible, that all shareholders of the 
Company are treated equally and fairly in connection with any take-over bid for the Company. Take-over 
bids may be structured to be coercive or may be initiated at a time when the Board will have a difficult 
time preparing an adequate response to the offer. Accordingly, such offers do not always result in 
shareholders receiving equal or fair treatment or full or maximum value for their investment. Under 
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current Canadian securities legislation, a take-over bid is required to remain open for 35 days, a period of 
time which the Board believes is insufficient for the directors to (i) evaluate a take-over bid (particularly 
if it includes share consideration), (ii) explore, develop and pursue alternatives which are superior to the 
take-over bid and which could maximize shareholder value, and (iii) make reasoned recommendations to 
the shareholders.  

The Plan discourages discriminatory, coercive or unfair take-overs of the Company and gives the 
Board time if, in the circumstances, the Board determines it is appropriate to take such time, to pursue 
alternatives to maximize shareholder value in the event an unsolicited take-over bid is made for all or a 
portion of the outstanding Common Shares. As set forth in detail below, the Plan discourages coercive 
hostile take-over bids by creating the potential that any Common Shares which may be acquired or held 
by such a bidder will be significantly diluted. The potential for significant dilution to the holdings of such 
a bidder can occur as the Plan provides that all holders of Common Shares who are not related to the 
bidder will be entitled to exercise Rights (as defined below) issued to them under the Plan and to acquire 
Common Shares at a substantial discount to prevailing market prices. The bidder or the persons related to 
the bidder will not be entitled to exercise any Rights (as described below) under the Plan. Accordingly, 
the Plan will encourage potential bidders to make take-over bids by means of a Permitted Bid (as defined 
below) or to approach the Board to negotiate a mutually acceptable transaction. The Permitted Bid 
provisions of the Plan are designed to ensure that in any take-over bid for outstanding Common Shares all 
shareholders are treated equally and are given adequate time to properly assess such take-over bid on a 
fully-informed basis.  

The Plan is not being proposed in response to, or in anticipation of, any specific take-over bid for 
the Company. The Board did not adopt the Plan to prevent a take-over of the Company, to secure the 
continuance of management or the directors in their respective offices or to deter fair offers for the 
Common Shares.  

Summary of the Plan  

The following summary of the terms of the Plan is qualified in its entirety by reference to the text 
of the Agreement. A shareholder or other interested party may obtain a copy of the Agreement by 
contacting the Corporate Secretary of the Company at 600 Alden Road, Suite 606, Markham, Ontario, 
L3R 0E7, or by accessing the Company’s publicly filed documents, including the Agreement, on SEDAR 
at www.sedar.com.  

Term  

Provided the Plan’s extension is confirmed at the Meeting, the Plan will remain in effect until 
termination of the annual meeting of shareholders of the Company in 2013 unless the term of the 
Agreement is terminated earlier. The Plan may be extended beyond 2013 by resolution of shareholders at 
such meeting. If the Agreement is not confirmed at the Meeting, the Plan will terminate at the close of 
business on the day of the Meeting.  

Issue of Rights  

One right (a “Right”) has been issued by the Company pursuant to the Agreement in respect of 
each Common Share outstanding at the close of business on October 23, 2007; (the “Record Time”). And 
One Right has and will also be issued for each additional Common Share issued after the Record Time 
and prior to the earlier of the Separation Time (as defined below) and the Expiration Time (as defined in 
the Agreement).  
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Rights Exercise Privilege  

The Rights will separate from the Common Shares to which they are attached and become 
exercisable at the time (the “Separation Time”) which is 10 trading days following the date a person 
becomes an Acquiring Person (as defined below) or announces an intention to make a take-over bid that 
is not an acquisition pursuant to a take-over bid permitted by the Plan (a “Permitted Bid”).  

Any transaction or event in which a person (an “Acquiring Person”), including associates and 
affiliates and others acting in concert, acquires (other than pursuant to an exemption available under the 
Plan or a Permitted Bid) Beneficial Ownership (as defined in the Agreement) of 20% or more of the 
voting shares of the Company is referred to as a “Flip-in Event”. Any Rights held by an Acquiring Person 
on or after the earlier of the Separation Time or the first date of public announcement by the Company or 
an Acquiring Person that an Acquiring Person has become such, will become void and the Rights (other 
than those held by the Acquiring Person) will permit the holder to purchase Common Shares at a 50% 
discount to their market price. A person, or a group acting in concert, who is the Beneficial Owner (as 
defined in the Agreement) of 20% or more of the outstanding Common Shares as of the Record Time is 
exempt from the dilutive effects of the Plan provided such person (or persons) does not increase its 
Beneficial Ownership by more than 1% (other than in accordance with the terms of the Plan).  

The issuance of the Rights is not dilutive until the Rights separate from the underlying Common 
Shares and become exercisable or until the exercise of the Rights. The issuance of the Rights will not 
change the manner in which shareholders currently trade their Common Shares.  

Permitted Lock-Up Agreement  

A person will not become an Acquiring Person by virtue of having entered into an agreement 
with a shareholder whereby the shareholder agrees to deposit or tender voting shares to a take-over bid 
made by such person, provided that the agreement meets certain requirements including:  

(a) the terms of the agreement are publicly disclosed and a copy of the agreement is publicly 
available;  

(b) the shareholder who has agreed to tender voting shares to the take-over bid (the “Lock-Up 
Bid”) made by the other party to the agreement is permitted to terminate its obligation under 
the agreement in order to tender voting shares to another take-over bid or transaction where: 
(i) the offer price or value of the consideration payable under the other take-over bid or 
transaction is greater than the price or value of the consideration per share at which the 
shareholder has agreed to deposit or tender voting shares to the Lock-Up Bid or is equal to or 
greater than a specified minimum which is not more than 7% higher than the offer price under 
the Lock-Up Bid; and (ii) if the number of voting shares offered to be purchased under the 
Lock-Up Bid is less than all of the voting shares held by shareholders (excluding shares held 
by the offeror), the number of voting shares offered to be purchased under the other take-over 
bid or transaction (at an offer price not lower than in the Lock-Up Bid) is greater than the 
number of voting shares offered to be purchased under the Lock-Up Bid or is equal to or 
greater than a specified number which is not more than 7% higher than the number of voting 
shares offered to be purchased under the Lock-Up Bid; and  

(c) no break-up fees or other penalties that exceed in the aggregate the greater of 2.5% of the 
price or value of the consideration payable under the Lock-Up Bid and 50% of the increase in 
consideration resulting from another take-over bid or transaction shall be payable by the 
shareholder if the shareholder fails to deposit or tender voting shares to the Lock-Up Bid. 
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Certificates and Transferability  

Prior to the Separation Time, the Rights will be evidenced by a legend imprinted on certificates 
for Common Shares issued after the Record Time. Rights are also attached to Common Shares 
outstanding at the Record Time, although share certificates issued prior to the Record Time will not bear 
such a legend. Shareholders are not required to return their certificates in order to have the benefit of the 
Rights. Prior to the Separation Time, Rights will trade together with the Common Shares and will not be 
exercisable or transferable separately from the Common Shares. From and after the Separation Time, the 
Rights will become exercisable, will be evidenced by Rights certificates and will be transferable 
separately from the Common Shares.  

Permitted Bid Requirements  

The requirements of a Permitted Bid include the following:  

(a) the take-over bid must be made by means of a take-over bid circular;  

(b) the take-over bid is made to all holders of voting shares as registered on the books of the 
Company, other than the offeror;  

(c) the take-over bid contains, and the take-up and payment for securities tendered or deposited is 
subject to, an irrevocable and unqualified provision that no voting shares will be taken up or 
paid for pursuant to the take-over bid prior to the close of business on the date which is not 
less than 60 days following the date of the take-over bid and only if at such date more than 
50% of the voting shares held by independent shareholders shall have been deposited or 
tendered pursuant to the take-over bid and not withdrawn;  

(d) the take-over bid contains an irrevocable and unqualified provision that unless the take-over 
bid is withdrawn, voting shares may be deposited pursuant to such take-over bid at any time 
during the period of time between the date of the take-over bid and the date on which voting 
shares may be taken up and paid for and that any voting shares deposited pursuant to the take-
over bid may be withdrawn until taken up and paid for; and  

(e) the take-over bid contains an irrevocable and unqualified provision that if, on the date on 
which voting shares may be taken up and paid for, more than 50% of the voting shares held by 
independent shareholders shall have been deposited pursuant to the take-over bid and not 
withdrawn, the offeror will make a public announcement of that fact and the take-over bid will 
remain open for deposits and tenders of voting shares for not less than ten business days from 
the date of such public announcement.  

The Plan allows for a competing Permitted Bid (a “Competing Permitted Bid”) to be made 
while a Permitted Bid is in existence. A Competing Permitted Bid must satisfy all of the requirements of a 
Permitted Bid except that it may expire on the same date as the Permitted Bid, subject to the requirement 
that it be outstanding for a minimum period of 35 days in accordance with applicable securities 
legislation.  

Waiver and Redemption  

If a potential offeror does not desire to make a Permitted Bid, it can negotiate with, and obtain the 
prior approval of, the Board to make a take-over bid by way of a take-over bid circular sent to all holders 
of voting shares on terms which the Board considers fair to all shareholders. In such circumstances, the 
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Board may waive the application of the Plan thereby allowing such bid to proceed without dilution to the 
offeror. Any waiver of the application of the Plan in respect of a particular take-over bid shall also 
constitute a waiver of any other take-over bid which is made by means of a take-over bid circular to all 
holders of voting shares while the initial take-over bid is outstanding. The Board may also waive the 
application of the Plan in respect of a particular Flip-in Event that has occurred through inadvertence, 
provided that the Acquiring Person that inadvertently triggered such Flip-in Event reduces its beneficial 
holdings to less than 20% of the outstanding voting shares of the Company within 14 days or such earlier 
or later date as may be specified by the Board. With the prior consent of the holders of voting shares, the 
Board may, prior to the occurrence of a Flip-in Event that would occur by reason of an acquisition of 
voting shares otherwise than pursuant to the foregoing, waive the application of the Plan to such Flip-in 
Event.  

The Board may, with the prior consent of the holders of voting shares, at any time prior to the 
occurrence of a Flip-in Event, elect to redeem all but not less than all of the then outstanding Rights at a 
redemption price of $0.00001 per Right. Rights are deemed to be redeemed following completion of a 
Permitted Bid, a Competing Permitted Bid or a take-over bid in respect of which the Board has waived 
the application of the Plan.  

Exemptions for Investment Advisors  

Investment advisors (for client accounts), trust companies (acting in their capacity as trustees or 
administrators), statutory bodies whose business includes the management of funds (for employee benefit 
plans, pension plans, or insurance plans of various public bodies) and administrators or trustees of 
registered pension plans or funds acquiring greater than 20% of the voting shares are exempted from 
triggering a Flip-in Event, provided they are not making, either alone or jointly or in concert with any 
other person, a take-over bid.  

Board of Directors  

The adoption of the Plan will not in any way lessen or affect the duty of the Board to act honestly 
and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Company. The Board, when a take-over bid or 
similar offer is made, will continue to have the duty and power to take such actions and make such 
recommendations to shareholders as are considered appropriate.  

Amendment  

The Company may, prior to the date of the Meeting, without the approval of the holders of Rights 
or Common Shares, supplement, amend, vary or delete any of the provisions of the Agreement and may, 
after the date of the Meeting (provided the Agreement is confirmed by shareholders at the Meeting) with 
the prior approval of shareholders (or the holders of Rights if the Separation Time has occurred), 
supplement, amend, vary or delete any of the provisions of the Agreement. The Company may make 
amendments to the Agreement at any time to correct any clerical or typographical error or, subject to 
confirmation at the next meeting of shareholders, make amendments which are required to maintain the 
validity of the Agreement due to changes in any applicable legislation, regulations or rules.  

Voting Requirements  

The extension must be confirmed by a majority of the votes cast at the Meeting by holders of                           
Common Shares, without giving effect to any votes cast by (i) any shareholder that, directly or indirectly, 
on its own or in concert with others holds or exercises control over more than 20% of the outstanding 
Common Shares, and (ii) the associates, affiliates and insiders of such shareholders. Management of the 
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Company is not aware of any shareholder who will be ineligible to vote on the confirmation of the 
Agreement at the Meeting.  

The Board recommends that shareholders vote for the resolution extending the Agreement. 
PROXIES RECEIVED IN FAVOUR OF MANAGEMENT WILL BE VOTED FOR SUCH 
RESOLUTION, UNLESS A SHAREHOLDER HAS SPECIFIED IN THE PROXY THAT HIS OR 
HER SHARES ARE TO BE VOTED AGAINST SUCH RESOLUTION. In the event shareholders do 
not approve such resolution at the Meeting, the Agreement and all outstanding Rights will terminate at the 
close of business on the day of the Meeting.  

The resolution relating to the Agreement that shareholders will be asked to approve at the 
Meeting is as follows:  

BE IT RESOLVED THAT:  

1.  the Shareholder Rights Plan Agreement dated as of October 23, 2007 between the Company 
and CIBC Mellon Trust Company be and is hereby extended until the termination of the 
annual meeting of shareholders of the Company in the year 2013, unless the Shareholder 
Rights Plan Agreement is extended beyond such date; and  

2.  any one director or officer of the Company be and is hereby authorized to execute and deliver 
on behalf of the Company all such documents and instruments and to do all such other acts 
and things as in his or her opinion may be necessary or desirable in connection with the said 
agreement.  

5. SPECIAL BUSINESS 

Approval of the terms of renewal of the Non-convertible, and Convertible Debentures 

Background to the renewal of the Non-convertible and Convertible Debentures 
       

The Company issued $2.0 million worth of non-convertible debentures in December, 2007, and 
the Company issued an additional $665,000 worth of non-convertible debentures in January, 2008. The 
aggregate non-convertible debentures bear interest at a rate of interest of 14% per annum with a maturity 
date of December 31, 2010 (each a “Non-convertible Debenture”). Each $1,000 Non-convertible 
Debenture was issued with 1,975 share purchase warrants, each of which allows the holder thereof to 
acquire one common share of the Company at $0.06 per share during a period of three years from 
issuance in December, 2007 and January, 2008 respectively. 

In November 2006 the Company issued $6.0 million worth of convertible debentures bearing 
interest at a rate of interest of 10% per annum and with a maturity date of December 9, 2011. Such 
debentures are convertible into common shares of the Company at a price of $0.10 per common shares 
during their term (the “Convertible Debentures”). The Convertible Debentures are secured by a general 
security interest over assets of the Company and its subsidiaries. 

Trapeze Capital Corporation (“Trapeze”) manages the interests of all holders of Non-Convertible 
and Convertible Debentures. As such, Trapeze has the right to convert the principal amount of the 
Convertible Debenture into common shares of the Company. Upon conversion of the principal amount of 
the Convertible Debentures, the Company is committed to issuing 60,000,000 common shares of the 
Company. 
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As at June 30, 2008, the Company was in breach of its Convertible Debenture financial covenant 
related to current assets, and interest coverage. In September, 2008, the convertible debenture agreement 
was amended and the covenants from June 30, 2008 through maturity were revised. In consideration for 
the amendments to the convertible debenture agreement the Company issued 9.86 million share warrants, 
in January / February, 2009, to the holders of the Convertible Debentures. Each warrant entitled the 
holder to purchase one common share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.045 at any time prior to 
December 9, 2011.  

Financial covenants of the Convertible Debentures require the Company to meet a defined level 
of current assets and interest coverage on a quarterly basis. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, 
the Company and the holders of the Convertible Debentures amended certain financial covenants, and 
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, the Company met its financial covenants. The Company may 
not meet its financial covenants during fiscal year 2011. If the Company were to breach a financial 
covenant or were unable to pay its debts as they came due, it would be in default under the Convertible 
Debentures. 

Recognising that the maturity of the Non-convertible Debentures, and the consequences 
of a breach of the Convertible Debentures financial covenants will significantly affect the 
Company’s cash position and consequently its ability to continue as a going concern, the Board 
has determined that renewal of the Non-convertible Debentures and Convertible Debentures is in 
the best interests of the Company. 
 
Renewal of Non-Convertible and Convertible Debentures 
 

The Company expects to renew up to $2.665 million face value worth of Non-convertible 
Debentures. The Non-convertible Debentures will continue to bear interest at 14% per annum and the 
maturity date will be to September 30, 2013. Each debenture, of face value $1,000, will continue to have 
attached 1,975 common share purchase warrants. Each warrant will entitle the holder to purchase one 
common share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.04 per share during the term of debenture.  

The Company expects to renew up to $6.0 million face value worth of Convertible Debentures. 
The Convertible Debentures will be exchanged for Non-convertible debentures that will bear interest at 
12% per annum and will mature on September 30, 2013. Each new debenture, of face value $1,000, will 
have attached 14,151 common share purchase warrants. Each warrant will entitle the holder to purchase 
one common share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.04 per share during the term of debenture. 

The Company also expects to issue an additional 500,000 common share purchase warrants to 
Trapeze in connection with such renewal. Each warrant will entitle the holder to purchase one common 
share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.04 per share. These warrants will expire two years from 
the date that they are issued.  

In connection with the renewal of the Non-Convertible Debentures and Convertible Debentures 
the Company will, as outlined below, be required to create a Control Person and temporarily waive the 
shareholder rights plan. 
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One-Time Waiver of Shareholder Rights Plan and creation of a Control Person 
 

Section 5.1 of the Company’s shareholder rights plan agreement dated October 23, 2007 and any 
extension that will be voted on at the Meeting (the “Extended Agreement”) provides that the Board may, 
at any time prior to a Flip-In Event (as defined in the Extended Agreement), waive the application of the 
Plan to a Flip-In Event, provided that the Board obtains the consent of the holders of Voting Shares (as 
defined in the Extended Agreement) of the Plan. Consent is determined by a majority of votes cast by 
Independent Shareholders (as defined in the Extended Agreement) represented in person or by proxy at a 
meeting of shareholders. Immediately following completion of the renewal of the Non-convertible and 
Convertible Debentures, Trapeze , its affiliates and other subscribers will Beneficially Own (as defined in 
the Extended Agreement) in excess of 20% of the Company’s common shares.  

The Board and Management has determined that renewal of the Non-convertible and Convertible 
Debentures is in the best interests of the Company and seeks approval of a one-time waiver of section 3.1 
of the Extended Agreement with respect to the Flip-In Event that would result from the renewal of the 
Non-convertible Debentures and Convertible Debentures. It should be emphasized that, following the 
granting of approval of the requested waiver, the Plan will remain in full force and effect and will apply to 
any similar future transaction unless approval of a further waiver is requested and obtained.  

Creation of a Control Person 
 

The TSXV Corporate Finance Manual Policy 4.1 – Private Placements (“Policy 4.1”) requires 
that where a transaction creates a new “Control Person”, the approval of a majority of securityholders 
(other than such new Control Person) is required. Control Person for the purposes of Policy 4.1 includes 
any Shareholder holding 20% or more of the Shares, except where there is evidence showing that such 
Shareholder does not materially affect control of the Company. As disclosed above, upon completion of 
the renewal of the Non-convertible and Convertible Debentures Trapeze, its affiliates and other 
subscribers will Beneficially Own in excess of 20% of the Company’s common shares.  

            Only disinterested shareholders will be allowed to vote with respect to this resolution, 
therefore the aggregate of 1,669,478 common shares of the Company held by Mr. Kelly E. Ambrose 
(President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director of the Company), Mr. William H. Polley (Director 
of the Company), and  Mr. Mukesh Sabharwal (VP and Chief Financial Officer)  will not be 
counted in connection with this resolution. 

The Board and Management recommends that shareholders vote for the resolution approving the waiver 
and approving the creation of a new Control Person. PROXIES RECEIVED IN FAVOUR OF 
MANAGEMENT WILL BE VOTED FOR SUCH RESOLUTION, UNLESS A SHAREHOLDER 
HAS SPECIFIED IN THE PROXY THAT HIS OR HER SHARES ARE TO BE VOTED 
AGAINST SUCH RESOLUTION. 

The resolution relating to the Agreement that shareholders will be asked to approve at the 
Meeting is as follows:  

BE IT RESOLVED THAT:  

1. pursuant to the Shareholder Rights Plan Agreement of the Company dated October 23, 2007 
and extended at this meeting (the “Extended Agreement”), the waiver by the board of 
directors of the Company pursuant to section 5.1 of the Extended Agreement of the 
application of section 3.1 of the Extended Agreement solely for the purpose of permitting 
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the Company to renew the Non-convertible Debentures and Convertible Debentures shall 
not constitute Flip-In Events is hereby approved and consented to; and 

2. in accordance with Policy 4.1, the creation of Trapeze and other subscribers of Non-
convertible Debentures and Convertible Debentures as Control Persons (as defined in Policy 
4.1) is herby approved; 

3. any one director or officer of the Company be and is hereby authorized to execute and 
deliver on behalf of the Company all such documents and instruments and to do all such 
other acts and things as in his or her opinion may be necessary or desirable in connection 
with this resolution. 

 

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS  

Executive Compensation   

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

The Company’s Compensation Committee was established for the purpose of reviewing, and 
recommending to the Board for approval, the compensation of executive officers. During the financial 
year ended June 30, 2010, the Compensation Committee was comprised of two (2) independent directors: 
Stephen Burns, and William H. Polley. As at the date hereof, the Compensation Committee is comprised 
of two (2) independent directors:  Stephen Burns and William H. Polley.  

The Compensation Committee conducts an annual review to consider and adjust executive 
compensation and relies upon the knowledge and experience of its members and other members of the 
Board of Directors regarding appropriate levels of salary and other compensation. The Compensation 
Committee assesses the performance of the President and Chief Executive Officer on an annual basis and 
establishes his base salary, bonus and stock option entitlement in the same way that the compensation of 
other executive officers is established, as outlined below. 

The compensation of the executive officers of the Company is determined on the basis of several 
factors, including compensation paid for similar positions at companies of comparable size, the 
individual’s experience, corporate responsibilities, the performance of the individual and the achievement 
of specified annual objectives. The current compensation package consists of salary, bonuses and stock 
options and emphasis is placed on salary and bonuses as described below.  The executive officers of the 
Company are entitled to receive all benefits which are available to senior management generally.   

Base Salaries 

The salaries and benefits paid to the Company’s executive officers, including those paid to the 
President and Chief Executive Officer, were established at or below those generally paid to persons 
performing similar functions in comparable corporations within the marketing services industry.   

Bonus Compensation 

Bonuses paid to the executive officers are based upon objectives relating to each executive 
officer’s corporate responsibility and to the Company’s achievement of its overall objectives. The 
bonuses paid to the Named Executives for fiscal year ended 2010 were $45,000.  

No bonuses were paid to the Named Executive Officers for fiscal year ended 2009. 



 

 - 14 -  

Stock Option Plan 
 
The Company has a Stock Option Plan (“2009 Stock Option Plan”) which was approved by the 

shareholders at the Annual and Special meeting of the Shareholders held on December, 2009. The Board 
has approved the continuation of 2009 Stock Option Plan to the date of the next Annual meeting of the 
Shareholders in 2011. The material terms of the 2009 Stock Option Plan are noted in the Information 
Circular dated November 13, 2009 which is available on www.sedar.com.   
  

The aggregate number of Common Shares issuable under the 2009 Stock Option Plan shall not 
exceed 11,643,704. The foregoing number represents, as of the date hereof, 12% of the 97,030,868 issued 
common shares of the Company.  Any option granted under the 2009 Stock Option Plan, which for any 
reason is surrendered, cancelled or terminated prior to exercise, will be available for a subsequent grant 
under the 2009 Stock Option Plan. 
 

As of June 30, 2010 and date hereof, options to purchase an aggregate of 10,943,475 and 
8,832,782 common shares respectively are outstanding pursuant to the 2009 Stock Option Plan.  
There were no stock appreciation rights granted to the Named Executive Officers during the financial  
year ended June 30, 2010. The Company does not have an LTIP.  
 
The material terms of the 2010 Stock Option Plan are as follows: 

• The purpose of the 2010 Stock Option Plan is to encourage ownership of Common 
Shares by directors, senior officers, employees and consultants of the Company and its 
subsidiaries. 

• Under the 2010 Stock Option Plan, Options may be granted to Eligible Persons. 

• The aggregate number of Common Shares issuable under the 2010 Stock Option Plan 
shall not exceed 11,643,704. The foregoing number represents, as of the date hereof, 12% 
of the 97,030,868 issued common shares of the Company.  Any option granted under the 
2010 Stock Option Plan, which for any reason is surrendered, cancelled or terminated 
prior to exercise, will be available for a subsequent grant under the 2010 Stock Option 
Plan. 

• The maximum number of Common Shares which may be reserved for issuance to any 
one person in any 12 month period (unless the Company has obtained disinterested 
Shareholder approval) under the 2010 Stock Option Plan is 5% of the Common Shares 
outstanding at the time of the grant (calculated on a non-diluted basis) less the number of 
Common Shares reserved for issuance to such person under any option to purchase 
Common Shares granted as a compensation or incentive mechanism. The maximum 
number of Common Shares issuable to insiders of the Company, at any time, under all 
security based compensation arrangements of the Company, including the 2010 Stock 
Option Plan, shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares.  The 
maximum number of Common Shares issued to insiders of the Company, within any one 
year period, under all security based compensation arrangements of the Company, 
including the 2010 Stock Option Plan, shall not exceed 10% of the issued and 
outstanding Common Shares.  

• The option exercise price will be fixed by the Board or committee of the Board, but 
cannot be less than the closing price of the Common Shares on the day immediately 
preceding the day upon which the option is granted. Disinterested Shareholder approval 
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will be obtained for any reduction in the exercise price if the Participant is an Insider of 
the Company at the time of the proposed amendment. 

• Options granted under the 2010 Stock Option Plan may be exercised during a period not 
exceeding five years, subject to earlier termination upon the termination of the optionee’s 
employment, upon the optionee ceasing to be an employee, senior officer, director or 
consultant of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, as applicable, or upon the optionee 
retiring, becoming permanently disabled or dying.  If the termination date of an option 
falls during or within three trading days of a blackout period, during which a policy of the 
Company prevents certain persons from trading in the securities of the Company, the 
expiry date for the option will be extended for an additional period expiring on the 10th 
trading day following the end of the blackout period. 

• Options are non-transferable. 

• The Board may also, in its discretion, subject to the limitations of the 2010 Stock Option 
Plan, at the time of granting a option, determine that provisions relating to the vesting of 
such option be contained in the written agreement between the Company and the 
participant.  

• The 2010 Stock Option Plan does not contain any provision for financial assistance by 
the Company in respect of options granted thereunder. 

• By its terms, the 2010 Stock Option Plan may be amended by the Board without the 
consent of the shareholders, to the extent that such amendments relate to: (a) complying 
with the requirements of any applicable regulatory authority; (b) complying with the 
rules, policies and notices of the TSX V or of any stock exchange on which the 
Company’s securities are listed; (c) altering, extending or accelerating the terms and 
conditions of vesting of any options; (d) extending the term of options held by a person 
other than a person who, at the time of the extension, is an insider of the Company; 
(e) determining, subject to all applicable regulatory requirements, that the provisions of 
the 2010 Stock Option Plan concerning the effect of termination of a participant’s status 
as an Eligible Person under the 2010 Stock Option Plan shall not apply to a participant 
for any reason acceptable to the Board; (f) accelerating the expiry date of any options; 
(g) amending the definitions contained within the 2010 Stock Option Plan; (h) amending 
the categories of persons who are Eligible Persons and entitled to be granted options 
pursuant to the 2010 Stock Option Plan; (i) allowing the grant of short-term financial 
assistance to participants for the purpose of exercising options granted under the 2009 
Stock Option Plan, subject to compliance with all applicable regulatory requirements; 
(j) authorizing the addition or modification of a cashless exercise feature, payable in cash 
or Common Shares, which provides for a full deduction of the number of underlying 
securities from the 2010 Stock Option Plan reserve; (k) the assignability or transferability 
of options, with respect to Eligible Persons generally and/or with respect to any 
participant; (l) amending or modifying the mechanics of exercise of options; 
(m) decreasing the maximum number of Common Shares issuable under the 2010 Stock 
Option Plan (with a corresponding decrease in the number of Common Shares reserved 
for issuance under the 2010 Stock Option Plan); and (n) amendments of a 
“housekeeping” nature, including, without limitation, amending the wording of any 
provisions of the 2010 Stock Option Plan for the purpose of clarifying the meaning of 
existing provisions or to correct or supplement any provision of the 2010 Stock Option 
Plan that is inconsistent with any other provision of the 2010 Stock Option Plan.  
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Pursuant to the rules of the TSX V, other amendments to the 2010 Stock Option Plan are 
subject to approval by the TSX V and the Company’s shareholders. 

As of the date hereof, options to purchase an aggregate of 8,832,782 Common Shares are 
outstanding pursuant to the 2010 Stock Option Plan.  

Pension Plan Benefits 

 The Company does not have any defined benefits plans, defined contribution plans or deferred 
compensation plans.  

Employment Contracts:  
 
Kelly E. Ambrose 

The Company and Kelly E. Ambrose entered into an employment agreement dated September 26, 
2007, pursuant to which Mr. Ambrose is employed as President and Chief Executive Officer at an annual 
salary of $350,000, subject to annual review, and a bonus of up to 100% of his salary based on 
performance and profitability of the Company.  Mr. Ambrose is also entitled to a monthly car allowance 
of $1,000.00 and an annual maximum health care spending allowance of $10,000. The Company is 
entitled to terminate Mr. Ambrose’s employment without cause (including after the effective date of a 
change of control) by paying him a lump sum payment in the amount of twelve (12) months’ then current 
salary, plus the bonus paid to him in respect of the last fiscal year during which ended prior to the date of 
termination of his employment, plus an amount equal to one-twelfth (1/12) of the average of the bonuses 
paid to him in respect of the last two (2) fiscal years which ended prior to the date of termination of his 
employment multiplied by the number of full months that have elapsed in the fiscal year during which his 
employment is terminated. In addition to the above payments, upon termination of his employment 
without cause, Mr. Ambrose would continue to receive the car allowance, benefits, (or payment in lieu) as 
well as the health care spending allowance for the duration of the notice period, and 100% of his options 
would vest immediately, and would be exercisable for a period of 2 years from the date of termination.  
This employment agreement supersedes the one entered into between the Company and Mr. Ambrose 
dated October 12, 2005, pursuant to which Mr. Ambrose was employed as President and Chief Operating 
Officer. During the most recently completed financial year ended June 30, 2010, pursuant to the salary 
cuts implemented March 2008 and March 2009 Mr. Ambrose was drawing a reduced annualized salary of 
$297,557 from July 1, 2009 to June 26, 2010. On June 27, 2010 his annual salary was restored to pre-
cutback amount of $350,000. On October 1, 2010, the annual salary was revised to $330,000.   

Mukesh Sabharwal 

The Company and Mukesh Sabharwal entered into an employment agreement dated October 27, 
2006, subsequently amended March 12, 2009, pursuant to which Mr. Sabharwal is employed as VP and 
Chief Financial Officer at an annual salary of $150,000 and is entitled to an annual bonus of up to 50% of 
his annual salary, subject to the Company achieving its objectives, and on the successful completion of 
his individual agreed upon objectives. The awarding of bonuses is subject to management’s discretion. 
The Company is entitled to terminate Mr. Sabharwal’s employment without cause upon providing him 
with twelve (12) weeks’ notice of termination, or payment in lieu of notice for service provided by him up 
to March 12, 2009, and an additional two (2) weeks , prorated monthly for each completed year of 
service, up to a maximum of ten (10) months. On November 12, 2009 the employment agreement was 
amended to cover severance payment of twelve (12) months annual salary in the event of change of 
control triggered by specific circumstances. During the most recently completed financial year ended June 
30, 2010, pursuant to the salary cuts implemented March 2008 and March 2009 Mr. Sabharwal was 
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drawing a reduced annualized salary of $133,897 from July 1, 2009 to April 12, 2010. On April 13, 2010 
his annual salary was restored to pre-cutback amount of $150,000. On November 12, 2010, the 
Compensation Committee recommended and the Board approved an increase in the annual salary to 
$200,000 effective December 1, 2010.  

Tim Knowles 

The Company and Tim Knowles entered into an employment agreement dated October 14, 2007, 
pursuant to which Mr. Knowles is employed, effective October 1, 2007, as Chief Information Officer, at 
an annual salary of $225,000, and is entitled to earn a bonus of up to 50% of his annual salary subject to 
the Company achieving its objectives and on the successful completion of his individual agreed upon 
objectives. The awarding of bonuses is subject to management’s discretion. The Company is entitled to 
terminate Mr. Knowles’s employment without cause upon providing six (6) months’ notice of termination 
or payment in lieu of notice for the first year of completed service, and an additional one (1) month of 
notice or payment in lieu of notice for each additional year of completed services up to a maximum of 
twelve (12) months. Mr. Knowles is also entitled to receive a monthly car allowance of $1000.00. This 
employment agreement supersedes a prior consulting agreement entered into between the Company and 
Retamga Inc. dated December 8, 2006 for the services of Mr. Knowles. On November 12, 2009 the 
employment agreement was amended to cover severance payment of twelve (12) months annual salary in 
the event of change of control triggered by specific circumstances. During the most recently completed 
financial year ended June 30, 2010, pursuant to the salary cuts implemented March 2008 and March 2009 
Mr. Knowles was drawing a reduced annualized salary of $186,569 from July 1, 2009 to June 26, 2010. 
On June 27, 2010 his annual salary was restored to pre-cutback amount of $225,000. On October 1, 2010, 
the annual salary was revised to $200,000. 

Kelly Lee Smith 

The Company and Kelly Lee Smith entered into an employment agreement dated October 2, 
2007, pursuant to which Ms. Smith is employed as Vice-President, Database/Online Marketing at an 
annual salary of $175,000, subject to annual review, and is entitled to an annual bonus of up to 20% of 
her annual salary subject to the Company achieving its objectives, and on the successful completion of 
her individual agreed upon objectives. The awarding of bonuses is subject to management’s discretion. In 
addition, she is entitled to a performance bonus equivalent to 3% of increase in revenue for the online 
business of the Company over the corresponding 12-month period in the prior year, subject to meeting 
certain financial metrics. The Company is entitled to terminate Ms. Smith’s employment without cause 
upon providing her with two (2) weeks’ notice of termination, or payment in lieu of notice for each 
completed year of service, up to a maximum of ten (10) months. Ms. Smith is also entitled to receive re-
imbursement of car mileage up to $1000.00 per month. This employment agreement supersedes a prior 
employment agreement entered into between the Company and Ms. Smith dated April 3, 2006. On 
November 12, 2009 the employment agreement was amended to cover severance payment of twelve (12) 
months annual salary in the event of change of control triggered by specific circumstances. During the 
most recently completed financial year ended June 30, 2010, pursuant to the salary cuts implemented 
March 2008 and March 2009 Ms. Smith was drawing a reduced annualized salary of $139,724 from July 
1, 2009 to June 26, 2010. On June 27, 2010 her annual salary was restored to pre-cutback amount of 
$175,000. On October 1, 2010, the annual salary was revised to $150,000. 

Phil McGlynn 

The Company and Phil McGlynn entered into an employment agreement dated June 25, 2008 
pursuant to which Mr. McGlynn is employed, effective March 15, 2008, as Vice President Marketing, at 
an annual salary of $115,500. The agreement also guaranteed Mr McGlynn to a bonus of $12,500 for the 
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period March 16, 2008 to March 15, 2009, payable July 1, 2008, October 1, 2008, January 1, 2009 and 
April 1, 2009, followed by an increase in the annual salary to $150,000 effective March 16, 2009. The 
Company is entitled to terminate Mr. McGlynn’s employment without cause upon providing two (2) 
months’ notice of termination or payment in lieu of notice for each completed year of service, up to a 
maximum of ten (10 months). Commencing March 16, 2009 Mr.McGlynn is also entitled to receive a 
monthly car allowance of $1000.00 ($500 per month for the period May 1, 2008 to March 15, 2009). On 
November 12, 2009 the employment agreement was amended to cover severance payment of twelve (12) 
months annual salary in the event of change of control triggered by specific circumstances. During the 
most recently completed financial year ended June 30, 2010, pursuant to the salary cuts implemented 
March 2008 and March 2009 Mr. McGlynn was drawing a reduced annualized salary of $143,000. On 
October 15, 2009 his annual salary was restored to pre-cutback amount of $150,000. On October 1, 2010, 
the annual salary was revised to $140,000. 

General note with respect to employment agreement disclosed in this document. 

1. All of the above employment and consulting agreements contain confidentiality, non-
competition and non-solicitation covenants.  

2. All bonuses are also subject to the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors. 

3. All employees are entitled to participate in Health and Life insurance plans. The Company 
pays the premiums. 

The Company implemented cost reduction measures during fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 and June 30, 
2009.The background to the necessity of such measures and the beneficial impact of their implementation 
on the Company’s performance are discussed in detail in the Company’s interim and annual filings for 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 and 2009, and first quarter ended September 30, 2009. The measures 
largely involved companywide salary cuts, and were implemented March, 2008 and March, 2009. At the 
Company's discretion there is potential of a payback of the salary forgone by staff at a time when the 
Company has reached certain pre-agreed financial milestones and provided they are in the employment of 
the Company at the time of payment. In the event of such a payout the above noted executive officers 
would be entitled provided they were then in the employment of the Company. 

The downward revisions of October 1, 2010 to the salaries of the above noted executive officers are 
permanent in nature. 

Compensation Summary  

COMPENSATION SUMMARY FOR YEAR ENDED June 30, 2010 

 The tabulation covers compensation of CEO, CFO, and other executive officers whose "total 
compensation" exceeds $150,000, and all of whom are members of the senior management team. 
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Summary Compensation Table – 2010  & 2009(1)  

 
Notes: 
(1) Additional details are available in the narrative under “Executive Compensation – Employment Contracts” 
(2) “All other compensation” represents car and/or 407 ETR allowance. In case of Kelly Ambrose only, amounts paid towards health care 

spending allowance are also included, details of which are available under “Executive Compensation - Employment Contracts”. 
(3) The remuneration indicated under the “Salary” column reflects salary cuts in March, 2008, and March, 2009, and the roll back of the cuts 

during fiscal year 2010. The salary amounts that would be payable but for the salary cuts are noted, by individual, under “Executive 
Compensation – Employment Contracts”.  

(4) Bonuses paid for fiscal 2010.  
(5) “SAR” means a right, granted by a company as compensation for employment services or office to receive cash or any issue or transfer of 

securities based wholly or in part on changes in the trading price of publicly traded securities. The Company has not granted any SARs. 
(6) “LTIP” means a plan providing compensation intended to motivate performance over a period greater than one financial year. The 

Company does not have an LTIP. 

NEO 
(Name and 
Principal 
Position) 

Year 
 
 

 

Salary(3) 
 

($) 
 

Share 
based 

awards 
 

($) 
 

Option 
based 

awards(5) 
 
 

($) 
 

Non-
equity 

incentive 
plan 

compensa
tion  - 

Annual(4) 
 

($) 
 

Non- 
equity 

incentive 
plan 

compensa
tion – 
Long 

Term(6) 
 

($) 
 

Pension 
value 

 
($) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

All other 
compensation(2) 

 
($) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Total 
compensation  

 
($) 

 
Kelly E. Ambrose 

President and Chief 
Executive Officer, and 
Secretary(7) 

2010  

 

2009 

297,557 

 

314,653 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

21,250 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

24,774 

 

24,216 

343,581 

 

338,869 

Mukesh Sabharwal 
Vice-President and 
Chief Financial 
Officer(8) 

2010  

 

2009 

135,897 

 

137,526 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

7,500 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

4,010 

 

4010 

147,407 

 

141,536 

Tim Knowles 
Chief Information 
Officer(9) 

2010  

 

2009 

186,569 

 

200,614 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

6,250 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

12,000 

 

12,000 

204,819 

 

212,614 

Kelly Lee Smith 
Vice-President, 
Database/Online 
Marketing(10) 

2010  

 

2009 

139,724 

 

156,312 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

5,000 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

18,016 

 

18,016 

162,740 

 

174,328 

Phil McGlynn 
Vice-President, 
Marketing(11) 

2010  

 

2009 

143,000 

 

119,758 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

5,000 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

Nil 

 

Nil 

8,005 

 

8,005 

156,005 

 

127,763 
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(7) Mr. Ambrose has been the President of the Company since October 19, 2005, Chief Operating Officer of the Company between October 19, 
2005 and December 4, 2006, Chief Executive Officer of the Company since December 5, 2006, and Secretary since September 24, 2009. See 
“Executive Compensation - Employment Contracts” for further details of his current employment agreement. 

(8) Mukesh Sabharwal has been the Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer since February, 2008. See “Executive Compensation – 
Employment Contracts” for further details of his current employment agreement. 

(9) Tim Knowles has been the Chief Information Officer since October, 2007. See “Executive Compensation - Employment Contracts” for 
further details of his current employment agreement.  

(10) The Company and Kelly Lee Smith entered into an employment agreement dated April 3, 2006. On October 2, 2007, the Company and Ms. 
Smith entered into a new employment agreement.  See “Executive Compensation - Employment Contracts” for further details of Ms. Smith’s 
current employment agreement.  

(11) The Company and Phil McGlynn entered into an employment agreement dated June 25, 2008. See “Executive Compensation - 
Employment Contracts” for further details of Mr. McGlynn’s current employment agreement. 

  

Incentive Plan Awards 

Outstanding Share-based Awards and Option-based Awards  
 
The following table sets forth the options to purchase securities of the Company granted up to the most 
recently completed financial year ended June 30, 2010 to the Named Executive Officers noted under 
“Compensation summary for year ended June 30, 2010”.  No stock options were granted under the Stock 
Option Plan, to the Named Executive officers noted under “Compensation summary for the year ended 
June 30, 2010” during the financial year ended June 30, 2010.  All awards were issued under the rules and 
regulations of the Company's then approved Stock Option Plan. 
 

 Option-based Awards(1) Share-based Awards 

Name 

Number of 
securities 

underlying 
unexercised options 

 
(#) 

Option 
exercise price 

 
 
 

($) 

Option 
expiration date 

Value of 
unexercised in-

the-money 
options(2) 

 
($) 

Number of 
shares or units of 
shares that have 

not vested 
 

(#) 

Market or 
payout value of 

share-based 
awards that have 

not vested 
($) 

Kelly E. Ambrose 2,000,00 

336,660 

0.070 

0.045 

27 Oct, 2010 

17 March, 2013 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil Nil 

Mukesh Sabharwal 50,000 

300,000 

112,500 

0.135 

0.045 

0.045 

11 May, 2011 

19 March 2011 

17 March, 2013 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil Nil 

Tim Knowles 500,000 

220,410 

0.045 

0.045 

19 Sept, 2011 

17 March, 2013 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil Nil 

Kelly Lee Smith 125,000 

140,250 

0.135 

0.045 

11 May, 2011 

17 March, 2013 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil Nil 

Notes: 
(1) Includes all options awarded to Named Executive Officers under the Stock Option Plan outstanding as at June 30, 2010. 
(2) The “Value of unexercised in-the-money options” figures reflect the aggregate dollar amount of in-the-money unexercised options held at 

the end of the year ended June 30, 2010.  The price per common share at the close of business on the TSX  V on June 30, 2010 was $0.035. 
 
 

Incentive Plan Awards – Value Vested or Earned During the Year  

 
The following table sets forth for each Named Executive Officer noted under “Compensation summary 
for year ended June 30, 2010” the value that would have been realized if the options granted under the 



 

 - 21 -  

Stock Option Plan had been exercised on their vesting date and the value earned under non-equity 
incentives, all during the year ended June 30, 2010. 

 

Name 

Option-based awards - Value 
vested during the year(1) 

 
 

($) 

Share-based awards - Value 
vested during the year(2) 

 
 

($) 

Non-equity incentive plan 
compensation - Value earned 

during the year 
 

($) 

Kelly E. Ambrose 
 

Nil 3,367 
 

Nil 

Mukesh Sabharwal Nil 3,125 
 

Nil 

Tim Knowles Nil 5,535 
 

Nil 

Kelly Lee Smith Nil 935 
 

Nil 

Notes: 
(1) Figures represent the value that would have been realized from all options vested during the year ended June 30, 2010, calculated based on the 

difference between the closing price of common shares on the TSX V on the date of vesting and the exercise price of the options.  The Company's 
closing common share price ranged between $0.005 and $0.0055 during the year ended June 30, 2010and except at the time the closing share price 
was $0.055 the options issued at $0.045 and which vested during the year ended June 30, 2010 from the grants under the Stock Option Plan (which 
grants are noted under "outstanding share-based awards and option-based awards") were not in the money. 

(2) Figures represent the value realized by multiplying the number of shares by the market value of the underlying shares on the vesting date.  
 

Termination and Change of Control payments  
 
Potential payments upon termination of employment as of date hereof for persons listed under “Summary 
Compensation Table – 2010”   
 
 Severance in event of 

termination without cause(3) 

($) 

Severance in event of triggering 
change of control situation(3) 

($) 
Mr. Kelly Ambrose(1) Minimum $351,250 

Maximum $361,875 

330,000 

Mr. Mukesh Sabharwal 42,060 150,000 

Mr. Tim Knowles 133,330 200,000 

Ms. Kelly Lee Smith(2) 23,075 150,000 

Mr. Phil McGlynn(2) 16,155 140,000 

Notes: 
 

(1) In addition, payments would include continuation of car allowance ($12,000), annual health care spending allowance of $10,000. 
(2) Assumption in the event it is not termination under change of control. Two (2) weeks’ notice for each completed year of service. 
(3) Additionally, Health and Life insurance benefits would continue for the duration of the notice period. 
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Compensation of Directors  
 
Directors Compensation Table 

During the financial year ended June 30, 2010, each of the directors of the Company (excluding 
director who is also Chief Executive Officer) were entitled to an annual director’s fee of $12,000, with 
each chairperson of a committee of the Board entitled to an additional annual fee of $5,000 and each 
member of a committee, other than the chairperson, entitled to an additional annual fee of $5,000. The 
Chairman of the Board of Directors was entitled to an additional annual fee of $42,000. 

Effective July 1, 2010, the compensation for directors of the Company (excluding director who is 
also Chief Executive Officer) has been amended. The revised terms are 

1. Each director other than the Chairman of the Board shall be paid an annual fee of $15,000, 
and $800 per meeting attended or $400 per meeting attended by telephone conference; 

2. The Chairman of the Board shall be paid an annual fee of $42,000, and the same attendance 
fee as the other directors; 

3. Chairman of the Compensation Committee shall be paid an annual fee of $2,500, and each 
Committee member shall be paid $500 per meeting attended or $250 per meeting attended by 
telephone conference; 

4. Chairman of the Governance and Nominating Committee shall be paid an annual fee of 
$2,500, and each Committee member shall be paid $500 per meeting attended or $250 per 
meeting attended by telephone conference; 

5. Chairman of the Audit Committee shall be paid an annual fee of $5,000 and each Committee 
member shall be paid $500 per meeting attended or $250 per meeting attended by telephone 
conference. 

The directors compensation table for fiscal 2010 is set out:   

 
 
 

Name(1) 

 
Fees 

earned 
($) 

 
Share-based 

awards 
($) 

 
Option-based 

awards 
($) 

Non-equity 
incentive plan 
compensation 

($) 

 
Pension 

value 
($) 

 
All other 

compensation 
($) 

 
 

Total 
($) 

Stephen Burns(1) 69,000 
Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

69,000 

William H. 
Polley 

27,000 
Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

27,000 

Carole Kerbel(2) 8,014 
Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

8,014 

Notes: 
(1) Chairman of the Board of Directors 
(2) Elected to the Board of Directors at the Annual and Special meeting of the Shareholders meeting held on December 22, 2009. 
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Outstanding Share-based and Option-based Awards 
 
The following table sets forth the options to purchase securities of the Company granted up to the 

most recently completed financial year ended June 30, 2010, to the Directors noted under “Compensation 
of Directors”. On February 5, 2010, the Company issued 200,000 stock options to Ms. Kerbel. All awards 
were issued under the rules and regulations of the Company's then approved Stock Option Plan. 
 
 

 Option-based Awards(1) Share-based Awards 

Name 

Number of 
securities 

underlying 
unexercised options 

 
(#) 

Option 
exercise price 

 
 
 

($) 

Option 
expiration date 

Value of 
unexercised in-

the-money 
options(2) 

 
($) 

Number of 
shares or units of 
shares that have 

not vested 
 

(#) 

Market or 
payout value of 

share-based 
awards that have 

not vested 
($) 

Stephen Burns 525,000 0.055 December 21, 
2011 

Nil Nil Nil 

William Polley 525,000 0.055 December 21, 
2011 

Nil Nil Nil 

Carole Kerbel 200,000 0.10 February 5, 2015 Nil 133,000 Nil 
 
(3) Includes all options awarded to Directors under the Stock Option Plan outstanding as at June 30, 2010. 
(4) The “Value of unexercised in-the-money options” figures reflect the aggregate dollar amount of in-the-money unexercised options held at 

the end of the year ended June 30, 2010.  The price per common share at the close of business on the TSX  V on June 30, 2010 was $0.035. 
 
Incentive Plan Awards – Value Vested or Earned During the Year 

The following table sets forth for each Director noted under “Compensation of Directors” the 
value that would have been realized if the options granted under the Stock Option Plan had been 
exercised on their vesting date and the value earned under non-equity incentives, all during the year ended 
June 30, 2010. 

Name 

Option-based awards - Value 
vested during the year(1) 

 
 

($) 

Share-based awards - Value 
vested during the year(2) 

 
 

($) 

Non-equity incentive plan 
compensation - Value earned 

during the year 
 

($) 

Stephen Burns 
 

Nil Nil 
 

Nil 

William Polley Nil Nil 
 

Nil 

Carole Kerbel Nil Nil 
 

Nil 

Notes: 
(3) Figures represent the value that would have been realized from all options vested during the year ended June 30, 2010, calculated based on the 

difference between the closing price of common shares on the TSX V on the date of vesting and the exercise price of the options.  The Company's 
closing common share price ranged between $0.005 and $0.055during the year ended June 30, 2010, and the options vested during the year ended 
June 30, 2010 from the grants under the Stock Option Plan (which grants are noted under "outstanding share-based awards and option-based 
awards") were not in the money. 

(4) Figures represent the value realized by multiplying the number of shares by the market value of the underlying shares on the vesting date.  
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SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE  

UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN  

The following table sets out as of June 30, 2010, a summary of compensation plans of the 
Company under which securities of the Company are authorized for issuance, being the Stock Option 
Plan and the Warrant Plan (as defined below). 

 
 
 

Plan Category 

Number of securities to be 
issued upon exercise of 

outstanding options, 
warrants and rights 

 
 

(#) 

Weighted-average 
exercise price of 

outstanding options, 
warrants and rights 

 
 

($) 

Number of securities 
remaining available for 
future issuance under 

equity compensation plans (excluding 
securities reflected in the first column) 

 
(#) 

Equity compensation 
plans approved by 
securityholders 

10,943,475 0.06 700,229 

Equity compensation 
plans not approved by 
securityholders 

Nil Nil Nil 

Total 10,943,475 0.0x 700,229 

 

RETAILER/SPONSOR WARRANT PLAN 

On April 8, 2001, the Board created a warrant plan (the “Warrant Plan”) allowing for the 
issuance of warrants (the “Retailer/Sponsor Warrants”) to purchase Common Shares to certain sponsors 
and retailers of the loyalty and promotion programs of the Company and its affiliates (the “Programs”). 
The purpose of the Warrant Plan is to allow certain retailers who participate in the Programs (the 
“Retailers”) and certain sponsors who sponsor the Programs (the “Sponsors”) to receive 
Retailer/Sponsor Warrants.  The Board of Directors believes that the Warrant Plan enables the Company 
to: 

(a) encourage sponsors and retailers to participate in and promote the success and 
effectiveness of the Programs; 

(b) better align the interests of such sponsors and retailers with the long-term interests of the 
Company; 

(c) encourage the establishment and maintenance of long-term relationships with sponsors 
and retailers; and 

(d) differentiate itself from its competition in attracting and retaining sponsor and retailer 
participation in the Programs. 

Every Retailer or Sponsor participating in the Warrant Plan is required to enter into an agreement 
with the Company (the “Warrant Agreement”) governing, among other things, the vesting and exercise 
of the Retailer/Sponsor Warrants granted thereunder. The number of Retailer/Sponsor Warrants to be 
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granted to a Sponsor or Retailer will be based upon the relative contribution of such Sponsor or Retailer 
to the annual growth in the Company’s revenues generated by the Programs.  

Under the Warrant Plan, no Retailer/Sponsor Warrants may be granted to insiders (as such term is 
defined in the Securities Act (Ontario) of the Company.  The number of Common Shares which may be 
reserved for issuance under the Warrant Plan is limited to 1,500,000 Common Shares, provided that the 
Board has the right, from time to time, to increase such number subject to the approval of the shareholders 
of the Company and of the TSXV.  The number of Common Shares subject to issuance under the Warrant 
Plan represent, in the aggregate, approximately 1.5% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares as at 
the date hereof.  The maximum number of Common Shares which may be reserved for issuance to any 
one person under the Warrant Plan is 5% of the Common Shares outstanding at the time of the grant 
(calculated on a non-diluted basis).  Any shares reserved for issuance pursuant to a Retailer/Sponsor 
Warrant granted under the Warrant Plan which for any reason are cancelled or terminated prior to 
exercise will be available for a subsequent grant under the Warrant Plan.  The exercise price of any 
Common Shares issuable upon the exercise of a Retailer/Sponsor Warrant cannot be less than the closing 
price of the shares on the day immediately preceding the day upon which the Retailer/Sponsor Warrant is 
granted. Retailer/Sponsor Warrants granted under the Warrant Plan may be exercised during a period not 
exceeding five years, subject to earlier termination upon the termination of the warrantholders’ retailer or 
sponsor agreement with the Company, or upon the warrantholder ceasing to be a Retailer or Sponsor of 
the Company or its affiliates or as otherwise specified in the applicable Warrant Agreement.  All 
Retailer/Sponsor Warrants are non-transferable.  The Warrant Plan contains provisions for adjustment in 
the number of shares issuable thereunder in the event of a subdivision, consolidation, reclassification or 
change of the Common Shares, a merger or other relevant changes in the Company’s capitalization.  The 
Board of Directors may from time to time amend or revise the terms of the Warrant Plan or may terminate 
the Warrant Plan at any time.  The Warrant Plan does not contain any provision for financial assistance by 
the Company in respect of Retailer/Sponsor Warrants granted under the Warrant Plan. 

As of the date hereof, there were no Retailer/Sponsor Warrants granted or outstanding pursuant to 
the Warrant Plan. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 Corporate governance relates to the activities of the Board of Directors, the members of which are 
elected by and are accountable to the Company’s shareholders, and takes into account the role of the 
individual members of management who are appointed by the Board and who are charged with the day to 
day management of the Company.  The Board is committed to sound corporate governance practices 
which are both in the interests of its shareholders and contribute to effective and efficient decision 
making.  The Company believes that its corporate governance practices ensure that the business and 
affairs of the Company are effectively managed so as to enhance shareholder value.   
 
Audit Committee 
 
 Details about the Audit Committee and its charter can be found under “Audit Committee” in the 
annual information form of the Company dated October 27, 2010, which can be found at 
www.sedar.com.  
 
Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices 

The Company has reviewed its own corporate governance practices in light of the guidelines 
contained in National Policy 58-201 - Corporate Governance Guidelines (“NP 58-201”). The Company’s 
practices comply generally with the guidelines; however, the Board considers that some of the guidelines 
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are not suitable for the Company at its current stage of development and therefore such guidelines have 
not been adopted.  Set out below is a description of the Company’s corporate governance practices as 
required by National Instrument 58-101 - Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices (“NI 58-101”). 

Board of Directors  

Pursuant to NI 58-101, a director is independent if the director has no direct or indirect 
relationship with the issuer which could, in the view of the issuer’s board of directors, be reasonably 
expected to interfere with the exercise of a member’s independent judgment.  Certain directors are 
deemed to have a material relationship with the issuer by virtue of their position or relationship with the 
Company.  The Board is currently comprised of four (4) members, three (3) of whom the Board has 
determined are independent.  In assessing whether a director is independent for these purposes, the 
circumstances of each director have been examined in relation to a number of factors. 

Stephen Burns, William H. Polley, and Carole Kerbel are considered independent directors.   

Kelly E. Ambrose is not considered to be an independent director as Mr. Ambrose is an executive 
officer of the Company.  

The majority of the directors of the Company are independent.   

The following table sets out details of directorships held by each current director or nominee in 
other public issuers:   

Name of Director Name of Issuer  

Kelly Ambrose None 

Stephen Burns St. Andrew Goldfields Ltd., Glass Earth Gold Limited  

William H. Polley Dynamic Venture Opportunity Fund 

Carole Kerbel None 
 
The Board believes that it functions independently of management. To enhance its ability to act 

independently of management, the Board meets in the absence of members of management and the 
relevant directors or may excuse such persons from all or a portion of any meeting where a potential 
conflict of interest arises or where otherwise appropriate.  In light of the suggestions contained in NP 58-
201, the Board has convened meetings of independent directors, at which non-independent directors and 
members of management are not in attendance, at least once annually and additionally, as may be deemed 
necessary. 

Stephen Burns is Chairman of the Board of Directors. Mr. Burns is considered to be an 
independent director. Currently, the Board is satisfied that it exercises its responsibilities for independent 
oversight of management.  The ability to establish ad hoc committees comprised solely of independent 
directors provides the Board with the ability to meet independently of management whenever deemed 
necessary or appropriate and the chair of each such ad hoc committee provides the leadership for such 
committee. 

Directors’ Meetings 

The Board met 6 times since the beginning of the Company’s financial year ended June 30, 2010 
until November 2, 2010. 
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The following is the record of attendance for each director at Board meetings since the beginning 
of the Company’s financial year ended June 30, 2010 until November 2, 2010:  

Director Board Meeting(2) 

Kelly Ambrose 6 

Stephen Burns 6 

Carole Kerbel(1) 4 

William Polley 6 

Note: 
(1) Ms. Carole Kerbel was elected as a director of the Company at the Annual and Special meeting of the Shareholders held on December 22, 

2009.  
(2) During the same period, the Audit Committee met 5 times. The Compensation Committee, and Governance and Nominating Committee met 

once. 

Board Mandate 

The text of the Charter of the Board of Directors is set out in Exhibit “A” hereto. 

Position Descriptions 

The Board has developed a position description for the non-executive chair of the Board position.  

The Board has developed and adopted a charter for each of its three existing committees, 
including a position description of each committee chair position, delineating roles and responsibilities. 

The Board has not yet developed a position description for the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company (the “CEO”).  The CEO reports to the Board, and the Board responds to and, if it considers 
appropriate, approves, with such revisions as it may require, corporate objectives and recommended 
courses of action, which have been brought forward by the CEO and management. The Board and the 
CEO review, on a regular basis, the scope and limits of management’s responsibilities and powers.   

The Board has delegated to management responsibility for meeting the Company’s objectives, 
implementing approved strategic and operating plans, generally managing the Company’s day to day 
business and cash flows, evaluating new business opportunities and complying with regulatory 
requirements, as they apply to the Company. In addition, management is tasked with preparing and 
recommending long-term strategic objectives, annual operating plans and budgets. 

Orientation and Education 

The Company does not currently have a formal orientation and education program for new Board 
members.  New Board members receive an information package, tour the facilities and are provided with 
opportunities to interact with and request briefings from management in order to ensure that new directors 
are familiarized with the Company’s business and the procedures of the Board.  

Given the size of the Company and the in-depth experience of the current directors, there has 
been no formal continuing education program.  Board members are entitled, at the Company’s expense, to 
attend seminars that they determine necessary to keep themselves up-to-date with current issues relevant 
to their services as directors of the Company.   
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Ethical Business Conduct 

The Company has implemented a corporate disclosure, confidentiality and insider trading policy 
to formalize the Company’s policy regarding, among other things: 

(a) disclosure of information in a timely, consistent and appropriate manner; 

(b) the protection against, and prevention of, the improper use or disclosure of material 
and/or confidential information; 

(c) the dissemination of material information in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements; 

(d) the responsibilities of the Company’s directors, officers and employees respecting the 
appropriate use and disclosure of material and/or confidential information; 

(e) the process to be undertaken to determine whether or not information is material and 
when and how such information should be disclosed; and 

(f) the establishment of procedures, guidelines and processes to be utilized to assist directors, 
officers and employees in complying with insider trading restrictions. 

In circumstances where a director or executive officer has a material interest in a transaction or 
agreement which the Company is considering entering into, the individual is required to fully disclose his 
or her interest therein, an ad hoc committee of disinterested directors is appointed to review the same to 
confirm, among other things, that such transaction or agreement, as applicable, is being entered into on 
arm’s length commercially reasonable terms.  Such committee has the right to obtain advice from the 
Company’s counsel and other professional advisors and/or appoint independent counsel and/or advisors. 

The Company has implemented a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”).  A copy of 
the Code is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

The Code provides that the Company’s employees, officers and directors are required to act with 
honesty and integrity and to avoid any relationships or activities that might create, or appear to create, a 
conflict between personal interests and the interests of the Company.  The Company is committed to 
providing a healthy and safe workplace in compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations.  The 
Code affirms the Company’s commitment to foster a work environment in which all individuals are 
treated with respect and dignity. 

The Code provides a process by which actual or potential violations of its provisions are to be 
reported and confirms that there will not be any reprisals against an individual who does so in good faith. 

The Code also includes provisions to deal with conflicts of interest. All of the Company’s 
employees, officers and directors are expected to comply with the Code.   

Effective March, 2009, the Company also operates a Workplace Ethics Hotline with an 
independent third party. 

A shareholder or other interested party may obtain a copy of the abovementioned policies by 
contacting the Secretary of the Company at Suite 606, 600 Alden Road, Markham, Ontario, L3R 0E7. 
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Nomination of Directors 

The Board has established a Governance and Nominating Committee with a mandate to conduct 
appropriate review and selection processes for new nominees as directors.  The Committee is comprised 
of two independent directors and one non-independent director. The responsibilities, powers and 
operations of the Governance and Nominating Committee are described it its Charter, which is set out as 
Exhibit “B” hereto. 

Compensation 

 The Board of Directors reviews and approves annually the compensation of the executive officers 
of the Company, taking into consideration the recommendations of the Compensation Committee, 
comprised entirely of independent directors, and the remuneration practices of similar companies. 

 The responsibilities, powers and operations of the Compensation Committee are described in its 
Charter, which is set out as Exhibit “C” hereto. 

 The Board of Directors reviews on an annual basis the adequacy and form of compensation of 
directors to ensure that the compensation of the Board reflects the responsibilities and risks involved in 
being an effective director. Compensation currently consists of directors’ fees and stock option grants. 
See “Executive Compensation – Compensation of Directors”. 

Board Committees 

The Board currently has three (3) standing committees: the Audit Committee, the Compensation 
Committee, and the Governance and Nominating Committee. 

 The Audit Committee, whose Chairman, as of date hereof, is William Polley, was composed of 
three directors, all of whom were independent directors, during the period February 5, 2010 to the end of 
most recently completed financial year. During the period from the start of the most recently completed 
financial year to February 4, 2010 the composition was three directors, two of whom were independent 
directors, Further details about the Audit Committee and its charter can be found under “Audit 
Committee” in the annual information form of the Company dated October 27, 2010 which can be viewed 
at www.sedar.com. 
 

The Compensation Committee, whose Chairman, as of date hereof, is Stephen Burns was 
composed of two independent directors during the most recently completed financial year. The 
Committee was established for the purpose of reviewing, and recommending to the Board for approval, 
the compensation of executive officers. 

The Governance and Nominating Committee, whose Chairman, as of date hereof, is Stephen 
Burns, was composed of three members, two of whom are independent directors. The committee was 
formed to review the Company’s corporate governance practices in light of the guidelines contained in 
NP 58-201, to review the Company’s disclosure and securities compliance policies, including, without 
limiting the foregoing, its communications policies, and to conduct an appropriate review and selection 
process for new nominees as directors. 

Assessments 

The Board plans to institute a formal annual assessment process of the effectiveness and 
contribution of the Board as a whole, its committees and individual directors.  
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Until this time, based upon the Company’s size, its current state of development and the number 
of individuals on the Board, the Board has not considered a formal process for assessing regularly the 
effectiveness and contribution of the Board, as a whole, its committees or individual directors to be 
necessary.  In light of the fact that the Board and its committees meet on numerous occasions during each 
year, each director has significant opportunity to assess other directors. The Board plans to continue 
evaluating its own effectiveness and the effectiveness and contribution of its committees and individual 
directors on an ad hoc basis until the formal assessment process is implemented. 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

No director, executive officer or employee of the Company or its subsidiaries, or former director, 
executive officer or employee of the Company or its subsidiaries, or proposed nominee for election as a 
director of the Company, nor any associate of any such director, executive officer, employee or proposed 
nominee is, as at the date of this Information Circular, or has been, at any time since the beginning of the 
most recently completed financial year, indebted to: (i) the Company or any subsidiary of the Company; 
or (ii) another entity, for which such indebtedness is, or at any time since the beginning of the most 
recently completed financial year has been, the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit 
or other similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Company or any of its subsidiaries. 

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE.  

The Company purchases directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage in the amount of $ 5 
million in respect of the Company and any of its subsidiaries subject to a maximum $ 25,000 deductible 
in certain circumstances.  The annual total premium paid in respect of such insurance is $ 32,500.   

INTEREST OF INFORMED PERSONS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

None of the insiders of the Company, the proposed nominees for election as directors or any 
associate or affiliate of the foregoing persons has any material interest, direct or indirect, by way of 
beneficial ownership of securities or otherwise, in any transaction since the commencement of the 
Company’s most recently completed financial year or in any proposed transaction which has materially 
affected or would materially affect the Company or any of its subsidiaries. 

INTERESTS OF CERTAIN PERSONS OR COMPANIES  
IN MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON 

 
No person who has been a director or executive officer of the Company at any time since the 

beginning of its last completed financial year, no proposed director and no associate or affiliate of any of 
the foregoing persons has any material interest, direct or indirect, by way of beneficial ownership of 
securities or otherwise, in any matter to be acted upon at the Meeting, except as disclosed in this 
Information Circular. 

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS 

Other than as disclosed herein, there are no management functions of the Company or its 
subsidiaries which are to any substantial degree performed by a person or company other than the 
directors or executive officers of the Company or its subsidiaries (or private companies controlled by 
them, either directly or indirectly). 
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OTHER MATTERS WHICH MAY COME BEFORE THE MEETING 

Management knows of no matters to come before the Meeting other than as set forth in the Notice 
of Meeting. HOWEVER, IF OTHER MATTERS WHICH ARE NOT KNOWN TO THE 
MANAGEMENT SHOULD PROPERLY COME BEFORE THE MEETING, THE 
ACCOMPANYING PROXY WILL BE VOTED ON SUCH MATTERS IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH THE BEST JUDGMENT OF THE PERSONS VOTING THE PROXY. 

APPOINTMENT AND REVOCATION OF PROXIES 

The persons named in the enclosed form of proxy represent management of the Company. A 
SHAREHOLDER DESIRING TO APPOINT SOME OTHER PERSON, WHO NEED NOT BE A 
SHAREHOLDER OF THE COMPANY, TO REPRESENT HIM AT THE MEETING MAY DO 
SO by filling in the name of such person in the blank space provided in the proxy or by completing 
another proper form of proxy. A shareholder wishing to be represented by proxy at the Meeting or any 
adjournment thereof must deposit his or her duly executed form of proxy with the Company’s transfer 
agent and registrar, CIBC Mellon Trust Company. using the provided envelope, or by mail to P.O. Box 
721, Agincourt, ON M1S 0A1, or by hand  to 320 Bay Street, Banking Hall Level, Toronto, ON, or by 
fax to 416-368-2502, no later than 5:00 pm (Toronto time) on Friday, December 17, 2010, where there is 
no adjournment of the Meeting. 

In addition to any other manner permitted by law, a proxy may be revoked before it is exercised 
by instrument in writing executed in the same manner as a proxy and deposited at the registered office of 
the Company at any time up to and including the last business day preceding the day of the Meeting, or 
any adjournment thereof, at which the proxy is to be used or with the chairman of the Meeting on the day 
of such Meeting or any adjournment thereof and thereupon the proxy is revoked. 

A shareholder attending the Meeting has the right to vote in person and, if a shareholder does so, 
his or her proxy is nullified with respect to the matters such person votes upon and any subsequent 
matters thereafter to be voted upon at the Meeting or any adjournment thereof. 

EXERCISE OF DISCRETION BY PROXIES 

The shares represented by proxies in favour of management nominees will be voted or withheld 
from voting in accordance with the instructions of the shareholder on any ballot that may be called for 
and, if a shareholder specifies a choice with respect to any matter to be acted upon at the Meeting, the 
shares represented by the proxy shall be voted accordingly. WHERE NO CHOICE IS SPECIFIED, 
THE PROXY WILL CONFER DISCRETIONARY AUTHORITY AND WILL BE VOTED FOR 
THE ELECTION OF DIRECTORS, THE APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS, THE RE-
APPROVAL OF THE SHAREHOLDERS RIGHTS PLAN, AND APPROVAL OF THE TERMS 
CONNECTED TO RENEWAL OF THE NON-CONVERTIBLE, AND CONVERTIBLE 
DEBENTURES, AS STATED ELSEWHERE IN THIS INFORMATION CIRCULAR. THE 
ENCLOSED FORM OF PROXY ALSO CONFERS DISCRETIONARY AUTHORITY UPON 
THE PERSONS NAMED THEREIN TO VOTE WITH RESPECT TO ANY AMENDMENTS OR 
VARIATIONS TO THE MATTERS IDENTIFIED IN THE NOTICE OF MEETING AND WITH 
RESPECT TO OTHER MATTERS WHICH MAY PROPERLY COME BEFORE THE 
MEETING IN SUCH MANNER AS SUCH NOMINEE IN HIS JUDGMENT MAY DETERMINE. 
At the time of printing this Information Circular, the management of the Company knows of no such 
amendments, variations or other matters to come before the Meeting. 
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VOTING SECURITIES 

The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares, 
500,000 class A preference shares and an unlimited number of class B preference shares, issuable in 
series. At the date hereof, the Company has outstanding 97,030,868 Common Shares and 459,781 class A 
preference shares. Each Common Share carries one vote. 

Persons registered on the books of the Company at the close of business on November 2, 2010 
(the “Record Date”) are entitled to vote at the Meeting. 

ADVICE TO NON-REGISTERED SHAREHOLDERS 

Only registered holders of Common Shares or the persons they appoint as their proxies are 
permitted to vote at the Meeting. However, in many cases, Common Shares beneficially owned by a 
person (a “Non-Registered Holder”) are registered either: (i) in the name of an intermediary (an 
“Intermediary”) with whom the Non-Registered Holder deals in respect of the Common Shares 
(Intermediaries include, among others, banks, trust companies, securities dealers or brokers and trustees 
or administrators of self-administered Registered Retirement Savings Plans (RRSPs), Registered 
Retirement Income Funds (RRIFs), Registered Education Savings Plans (RESPs) and similar plans); or 
(ii) in the name of a clearing agency (such as The Canadian Depository for Securities Limited) of which 
the Intermediary is a participant. In accordance with National Instrument 54-101, the Company will have 
distributed copies of the Meeting Materials to the clearing agencies and Intermediaries for onward 
distribution to Non-Registered Holders. 

Applicable regulatory law and policy requires Intermediaries and clearing agencies to seek voting 
instructions from Non-Registered Holders. Without specific instructions from Non-Registered Holders, 
Intermediaries and clearing agencies are prohibited from voting the shares of the Non-Registered Holders. 
Accordingly, Intermediaries and clearing agencies are required to forward the Meeting Materials to Non-
Registered Holders. Non-Registered Holders will be given, in substitution for the proxy otherwise 
contained in proxy-related materials, a request for voting instructions (the “voting instructions form”) 
which, when properly completed and signed by the Non-Registered Holder and returned to the 
Intermediary, will constitute voting instructions which the Intermediary must follow. 

The purpose of this procedure is to permit Non-Registered Holders to direct the voting of the 
Common Shares they beneficially own. Should a Non-Registered Holder who receives the voting 
instructions form wish to vote at the Meeting in person (or have another person attend and vote on behalf 
of the Non-Registered Holder), the Non-Registered Holder should so indicate in the place provided for 
that purpose in the voting instructions form and a form of legal proxy will be sent to the Non-Registered 
Holder. In any event, Non-Registered Holders should carefully follow the instructions of their 
Intermediary set out in the voting instructions form. 

PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 

To the knowledge of the directors and executive officers of the Company, as at the date hereof, 
there were no persons who beneficially own, or control or direct, directly or indirectly, voting securities 
of the Company carrying 10% or more of the voting rights attached to any class of outstanding voting 
securities of the Company. 
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

Additional information relating to the Company is available electronically at www.sedar.com. 
Financial information is provided in the Company’s comparative audited financial statements and 
management’s discussion and analysis for its most recently completed financial year. To obtain, free of 
charge, copies of the Company’s financial statements, related management’s discussion and analysis, and 
any other document incorporated by reference to these Meeting Materials please contact: 

Mukesh Sabharwal 
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
Advantex Marketing International Inc. 
600 Alden Road, Suite 606 
Markham, Ontario, L3R 0E7 

GENERAL 

Except where otherwise indicated, information contained herein is given as of November 23, 
2010. All references to “$” are to Canadian dollars.  



 

 - 34 -  

CERTIFICATE 

 

The undersigned hereby certifies that the contents and the sending of this Information Circular 
have been approved by the directors of the Company. 

 DATED this 23nd day of November, 2010. 
 
 /s/ Kelly Ambrose 

Kelly E. Ambrose 
Chief Executive Officer & President 



    

 

EXHIBIT “A” 

CHARTER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

I. PURPOSE 

The board of directors (the “Board of Directors”) of Advantex Marketing International Inc. (the 
“Corporation”) is responsible for the general supervision of the activities and management of the affairs of the 
Corporation and for acting in the best interests of the shareholders of the Corporation (the “Shareholders”). The 
Board of Directors will discharge its responsibilities directly and through its committees, currently consisting of the 
Audit Committee, the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee and the Compensation Committee.  

The Board of Directors will seek to comply with National Policy 58-201 - Corporate Governance Guidelines, 
and will adopt governance ‘best practices’ as appropriate in the interests of ensuring the effective execution of the 
Board of Directors’ overall stewardship role and the contribution the directors make, individually and collectively, 
to the long-term success of the Corporation.  The Board of Directors will primarily fulfill its responsibilities by 
carrying out the activities enumerated in Section III of this Charter. 

II. COMPOSITION 

The Board of Directors shall consist of a minimum of three and a maximum of fifteen directors, a majority of 
whom shall be Independent Directors (as defined below) and a majority of whom shall be residents of Canada.  
Pursuant to National Instrument 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices, a director is considered to 
be an “Independent Director” if he or she has no direct or indirect “material relationship” with the Corporation 
which could, in the view of the Board of Directors, be reasonably expected to interfere with the exercise of a 
director’s independent judgment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a director shall be considered to have a “material 
relationship” with the Corporation (and therefore shall be considered a “Non-Independent Director”) if he or she 
falls in one of the categories listed in Charter Schedule “A” attached hereto. 

The Board of Directors shall meet at least quarterly and as frequently as circumstances require. 

Meetings of the Board of Directors (including any adjournments thereof) shall be called and held in accordance 
with the Corporation’s By-laws and applicable law.  

A schedule of regular meetings of the Board of Directors and its committees shall be circulated to each director 
and agreed upon by the Board of Directors prior to the commencement of a calendar year.  Confirmation of the date, 
time and location of regular meetings will be sent to directors approximately one week in advance of regularly 
scheduled meetings.  All meetings must be called on at least two days notice (exclusive of the day on which the 
notice is delivered or sent but inclusive of the day for which notice is given) before the meeting is to take place.  
Special meetings may be called with 24 hours notice.  A quorum at any meeting of the Board of Directors or its 
committees shall be two-fifths of the directors or members, as the case may be. 

Independent Directors may serve on the Board of Directors for a period determined by the Corporate 
Governance and Nominating Committee from time to time.  However, each director will be elected for a term of one 
year and may stand for re-election at the end of each term.  The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee 
shall be responsible for reviewing the candidacy of each nominee on an annual basis and confirming that each of the 
nominees meets the Corporation’s expectations outlined in the Position Description for Directors and in this Charter. 
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III. RESPONSIBILITIES AND DUTIES 

 The mandate of the Board of Directors is the stewardship of the Corporation. To fulfill its responsibilities and 
duties, the Board of Directors shall: 

1. Review, assess and update this Charter at least annually, as conditions dictate. 

2. Adopt corporate governance policies and practices as recommended, from time to time, by the Corporate 
Governance and Nominating Committee, as appropriate. 

3. Assign to the various committees of the Board of Directors the general responsibility for developing the 
Corporation’s approach to: (i) the nomination of the directors; (ii) the enhancement of governance; (iii) matters 
relating to compensation of the members of the Board of Directors; (iv) matters relating to compensation of the 
officers and executive officers of the Corporation; and (v) matters relating to financial reporting and internal 
controls. 

4. Satisfy itself, to the extent feasible:  

a. as to the integrity of the officers of the Corporation and of the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Corporation; and 

b. that the officers of the Corporation and the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation create a 
culture of integrity throughout the organization. 

5. With the assistance of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee: 

a. review the composition of the Board of Directors and ensure it reflects the independence criteria; 

b. assess, at least annually, the effectiveness of the Board of Directors, the committees of the Board 
of Directors and the contribution of individual directors, including, consideration of the 
appropriate number of the directors; 

c. ensure that an appropriate review and selection process for new nominees as directors is in place; 

d. ensure that an appropriate orientation and education program for new directors is in place; and 

e. adopt disclosure and securities compliance policies, including, without limiting the foregoing, 
communications policies of the Corporation. 

6. With the assistance of the Compensation Committee: 

a. review the adequacy and form of each director’s compensation to ensure it is adequate and 
competitive and that it realistically reflects the responsibilities and risks involved in being a 
director of the Corporation. 

7. With the assistance of the Audit Committee: 

a. ensure the integrity of the Corporation’s internal controls and management information systems; 

b. ensure the Corporation’s ethical behaviour and compliance with laws and regulations, audit and 
accounting principles and the Corporation’s own governing documents; 

c. identify the principal risks of the Corporation’s business and ensure that appropriate systems are in 
place to manage these risks;  
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d. review and approve significant operational and financial matters and provide direction to 
management on these matters; and 

e. approve the quarterly and annual financial statements and related management’s discussion and 
analysis. 

8. Adopt a strategic planning process and approve, on at least an annual basis, a strategic plan which takes into 
account, among other things, the business opportunities and business risks and monitor the performance of the 
Corporation against the strategic plan.  

9. Monitor and review feedback provided by the Corporation’s various stakeholders. 

10. Review major decisions which require the approval of the Board of Directors, including (without limitation), 
with respect to raising additional capital and issuing additional securities of the Corporation, and approve such 
decisions as they arise. 

11. Perform such other functions as prescribed by law or assigned to the Board of Directors in the By-laws of the 
Corporation. 

12. Approve, on at least an annual basis, the strategic plan of the Corporation that takes into account, among other 
things, business opportunities and business risks identified by the management of the Corporation, the directors 
and/or the Audit Committee and monitoring performance against such plan. 

13. Approve the annual budget, including a marketing plan and a business plan, of the Corporation. 

14. Review with the management of the Corporation, and approve, all material transactions and agreements to be 
entered into by the Corporation outside of the ordinary course of the business of the Corporation and all 
fundamental changes to the business of the Corporation.  

15. Remove and replace members of, and fill vacancies on, the management of the Corporation and add members to 
the management (including training and monitoring senior management). 

16. Develop written position descriptions for the Chair of the Board of Directors (the “Chair”) and the chair of 
each committee of the Board of Directors. 

17. Develop, together with the Chief Executive Officer, a written position description for the Chief Executive 
Officer. 

18. Develop and approve the goals and objectives that the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for meeting.  

The foregoing list is not exhaustive. The Board of Directors may, in addition, perform such other functions as 
may be necessary or appropriate for the performance of its responsibilities and duties. 

Each director shall forward all questions, comments and/or concerns regarding the business and affairs of the 
Corporation to the Board of Directors through the Chair. However, the chair of the Audit Committee shall be 
entitled and encouraged to speak directly with the Chief Financial Officer regarding all financial matters. 

 The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee shall review the attendance of directors each year as 
part of the nomination process for the election of directors.  Commencing July 1, 2008 directors are expected to 
attend and participate in at least 75% of the regularly scheduled meetings of the Board of Directors and each of its 
committees to which he or she is assigned, and at least 25% of such regularly scheduled meetings shall be attended 
in person, subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors.  Any director who fails to meet such expectations shall 
tender a written resignation as a director to the Chair for acceptance or rejection by the Board of Directors. 
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IV. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 

 The remuneration of directors shall be reviewed on an annual basis by the Compensation Committee 
to ensure that directors are adequately and competitively compensated. 

V. ORIENTATION OF NEW DIRECTORS 

 The Corporation shall provide an orientation program for new members of the Board of Directors.  Each new 
director will be provided with a range of written materials, including those that outline the organization of the Board 
of Directors and its committees, position descriptions and this Charter, as well as be introduced to the members of 
management of the Corporation.  

VI. CONTINUING EDUCATION FOR DIRECTORS 

 The Corporation shall provide ongoing business and director education sessions for members of the Board of 
Directors.  Individual directors shall also be encouraged to participate in outside professional development programs 
approved by the Chair. 
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Schedule “A” 

Meaning of “material relationship” 

The following individuals are considered to have a “material relationship” with the Corporation: 

a) an individual who is, or has been within the last three years, an employee or executive officer of the 
Corporation; 

b) an individual whose immediate family member is, or has been within the last three years, an executive officer of 
the Corporation; 

c) an individual who: 

A. is a partner of a firm that is the Corporation’s internal or external auditor, 

B. is an employee of that firm, or 

C. was within the last three years a partner or employee of that firm and personally worked on the 
Corporation’s audit within that time; 

d) an individual whose spouse, minor child or stepchild, or child or stepchild who shares a home with the 
individual: 

A. is a partner of a firm that is the Corporation’s internal or external auditor, 

B. is an employee of that firm and participates in its audit, assurance or tax compliance (but not tax 
planning) practice, or 

C. was within the last three years a partner or employee of that firm and personally worked on the 
Corporation’s audit within that time; 

e) an individual who, or whose immediate family member, is or has been within the last three years, an executive 
officer of an entity if any of the Corporation’s current executive officers serves or served at that same time on 
the entity’s compensation committee; and 

f) an individual who received, or whose immediate family member who is employed as an executive officer of the 
Corporation received, more than $75,000 in direct compensation from the Corporation during any 12 month 
period within the last three years. 

For the purposes of determining whether a “material relationship” exists according to the above criteria, the 
term “Corporation” shall include each subsidiary entity and the parent, if any, of Advantex Marketing International 
Inc. 

Notwithstanding any of the foregoing criteria being met, an individual will not be considered to have a material 
relationship with the Corporation solely because he or she had a relationship identified in paragraphs (a) to (f) above 
by virtue of the fact that the reference to the “Corporation” therein includes any subsidiary entity or the parent, if 
any, of Advantex Marketing International Inc. 

For purpose of paragraphs (c) and (d) above, a partner does not include a fixed income partner whose interest in 
the firm that is the internal or external auditor is limited to the receipt of fixed amounts of compensation (including 
deferred compensation) for prior service with that firm if the compensation is not contingent in any way on 
continued service. 

For the purpose of paragraph (f) above, direct compensation does not include: 
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(i) remuneration for acting as a member of the Board of Directors or of any committee of the Board of 
Directors, and 

(ii) the receipt of fixed amounts of compensation under a retirement plan (including deferred compensation) for 
prior service with the Corporation if the compensation is not contingent in any way on continued service. 

Despite paragraphs (a) to (f) above, an individual will not be considered to have a material relationship 
with the Corporation solely because the individual or his or her immediate family member 

(i) has previously acted as an interim chief executive officer of the Corporation, or 

(ii) acts, or has previously acted, as a chair or vice-chair of the Board of Directors or of any committee of the 
Board of Directors on a part-time basis. 

Related Definitions 

“executive officer” of an entity – means an individual who is (a) a chair of the entity; (b) a vice-chair of the entity; 
(c) the president of the entity; (d) a vice-president of the entity in charge of a principal business unit, division or 
function including sales, finance or production; (e) an officer of the entity or any of its subsidiary entities who 
performs a policy-making function in respect of the entity; or (f) any other individual who performs a policy-making 
function in respect of the entity. 

“officer” - (a) a chair or vice-chair of the board of directors, a chief executive officer, a chief operating officer, a 
chief financial officer, a president, a vice-president, a secretary, an assistant secretary, a treasurer, an assistant 
treasurer and a general manager, (b) every individual who is designated as an officer under a by-law or similar 
authority of the registrant or issuer, and (c) every individual who performs functions similar to those normally 
performed by an individual referred to in clause (a) or (b). 

“person” - an individual partnership, unincorporated association, unincorporated syndicate, unincorporated 
organization, trust, trustee, executor, administrator, or other legal representative. 

“subsidiary entity” - a person or company is considered to be a subsidiary entity of another person or company if 
(a) it is controlled by (i) that other, or (ii) that other and one or more persons or companies each of which is 
controlled by that other, or (iii) two or more persons or companies, each of which is controlled by that other; or (b) it 
is a subsidiary entity of a person or company that is the other’s subsidiary entity. 
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EXHIBIT “B” 

CHARTER OF THE GOVERNANCE AND NOMINATING COMMITTEE 

I. PURPOSE 

The corporate governance and nominating committee (the “Corporate Governance and Nominating 
Committee”) is a committee of the board of directors (the “Board of Directors”) of Advantex Marketing 
International Inc. (the “Corporation”).  The primary function of the Corporate Governance and Nominating 
Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibilities relating to the enhancement of the 
Corporation’s corporate governance practices and the nomination of directors by: 

� developing and maintaining a review and selection process for new nominees as directors and 
proposing to the Board of Directors nominees for the election of directors at each annual meeting 
of shareholders of the Corporation (the “Shareholders”); 

� developing and maintaining an orientation and education program for new directors and assisting 
in the orientation and education of new directors; 

� assessing the composition and effectiveness of the Board of Directors as a whole as well as 
discussing the contribution of individual members; and 

� developing the Corporation’s corporate governance policies and practices and assessing and 
ensuring compliance with the Corporation’s approach to corporate governance issues. 

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee will primarily fulfill its responsibilities by carrying out 
the activities enumerated in Section IV of this Charter. The primary function of the Corporate Governance and 
Nominating Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its legal and fiduciary obligations and 
responsibilities. 

II. COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS 

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee shall be comprised of such number of directors (but at 
least two) as determined by the Board of Directors, all of whom shall be Independent Directors (as defined below). 
Pursuant to National Instrument 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices (“NI 58-101”), a director 
is considered to be an “Independent Director” if he or she has no direct or indirect “material relationship” with the 
Corporation, which could, in the view of the Board of Directors, reasonably interfere with the exercise of a 
director’s independent judgment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a director shall be considered to have a “material 
relationship” with the Corporation (and therefore shall be considered a “Non-Independent Director”) if he or she 
falls in one of the categories listed in Schedule “A” attached hereto.  Each member will have, to the satisfaction of 
the Board of Directors, sufficient skills and/or experience which are relevant and will be of contribution to the 
carrying out of the mandate of the Nominating, Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee. 

The members of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee shall be appointed by the Board of 
Directors at the annual organizational meeting of the Board of Directors or until their successors are duly appointed 
and qualified. The Board of Directors may remove a member of the Corporate Governance and Nominating 
Committee at any time in its sole discretion by resolution of the Board of Directors. Unless a Chair is elected by the 
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Board of Directors, the members of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee may designate a Chair 
by majority vote of the full membership of the Nominating, Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee. 

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee shall meet at least twice per annum and more frequently 
as circumstances require. The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee may ask members of management 
or others to attend meetings or to provide information as necessary. In addition, the Corporate Governance and 
Nominating Committee or, at a minimum, the Chair of the Committee may meet with the Corporation’s external 
counsel to discuss the Corporation’s governance policies and practices. The Corporate Governance and Nominating 
Committee may retain the services of outside specialists to the extent required. 

Quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Corporate Governance and Nominating 
Committee shall be the presence in person or by telephone or other communication equipment of a majority of the 
number of members of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee or such greater number as the 
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee shall by resolution determine. 

If within one hour of the time appointed for a meeting of the Nominating, Corporate Governance and 
Compensation Committee, a quorum is not present, the meeting shall stand adjourned to the same hour on the 
second business day following the date of such meeting at the same place. If at the adjourned meeting a quorum as 
hereinbefore specified is not present within one hour of the time appointed for such adjourned meeting, the quorum 
for the adjourned meeting shall consist of the members then present. 

If and whenever a vacancy shall exist, the remaining members of the Corporate Governance and Nominating 
Committee may exercise all of its powers and responsibilities so long as a quorum remains in office. 

Meetings of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee shall be held from time to time and at such 
place as the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee or the Chairman of the Corporate Governance and 
Nominating Committee shall determine, within or outside of Ontario, upon not less than two days (exclusive of the 
day on which the notice is delivered or sent but inclusive of the day for which notice is given) prior notice to each of 
the members. Meetings of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee may be held without such prior 
notice if all of the members entitled to vote at such meeting who do not attend, waive notice of the meeting and, for 
the purpose of such meeting, the presence of a member at such meeting shall constitute waiver on his or her part. 
The Chair of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee, any member of the Corporate Governance and 
Nominating Committee or the Chair of the Board of Directors shall be entitled to request that the Chair of the 
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee call a meeting.  A notice of a meeting of the Corporate 
Governance and Nominating Committee must be given in accordance with the By-laws of the Corporation and 
applicable law. 

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee shall keep minutes of its meetings which shall be 
submitted to the Board of Directors. The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee may, from time to time, 
appoint any person who need not be a member, to act as secretary at any meeting. 

All decisions of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee will require the vote of a majority of its 
members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present. Actions of the Corporate Governance and Nominating 
Committee may be taken by an instrument or instruments in writing signed by all of the members of the Corporate 
Governance and Nominating Committee, and such actions shall be effective as though they had been decided by a 
majority of votes cast at a meeting of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee called for such 
purpose. Such instruments in writing may be signed in counterparts each of which shall be deemed to be an original 
and all originals together shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument. 

III. AUTHORITY OF THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND NOMINATING COMMITTEE 

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee has the authority to engage and compensate any outside 
advisors that it determines to be necessary to permit it to carry out its duties. 
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The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee also has the authority to conduct or authorize 
investigations into any matters within the scope of its responsibilities.  

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee may request any director or member of management of 
the Corporation, outside counsel of the Corporation or others, to attend a meeting of the Corporate Governance and 
Nominating Committee or to meet with members of, or advisors to, the Corporate Governance and Nominating 
Committee and to provide pertinent information as necessary. 

IV. RESPONSIBILITIES AND DUTIES 

To fulfill its responsibilities and duties, the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee shall: 

General Responsibilities 

1. Review and assess this Charter at least annually, as conditions dictate, and submit any proposed revisions to the 
Board of Directors for approval. 

2. Create an agenda for the ensuing financial year. 

3. Report periodically to the Board of Directors. 

Nominating Responsibilities 

4. Establish competencies and skills that the Board of Directors should possess, recognizing that the particular 
competencies and skills required for the Corporation may not be the same as those required for other issuers in 
similar industries. 

5. Assess competencies and skills of each of the existing directors as well as of the Board of Directors recognizing 
the personality and other qualities of each director. 

6. Consider the appropriate size of the Board of Directors with a view to facilitating effective decision-making. 

7. Establish procedures for identifying possible nominees who meet these criteria (and who are likely to bring the 
competencies and skills the Corporation needs as a whole). 

8. Establish an appropriate review selection process for new nominees for election as directors. 

9. Establish, approve and maintain appropriate orientation and education programs and procedures for new 
directors, as well as encourage and support directors participating in external professional development 
programs approved by the Chair of the Committee. 

10. Analyze the needs of the Corporation when vacancies arise and identify and recommend nominees who meet 
the needs of the Corporation for election as directors at annual meetings of Shareholders. 

11. Establish procedures for filling in vacancies among the directors. 

Corporate Governance Responsibilities 

12.  Ensure that there is an appropriate number of Independent Directors. 

13.  Facilitate the independent functioning and maintain an effective relationship between the Board of Directors and 
management of the Corporation. 

14.  Assess the effectiveness of the Chair’s agenda. 
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15.  Annually review performance and qualification of existing directors in connection with their re-election. 

16.  Assess, at least annually, the composition and effectiveness of the Board of Directors as a whole, committees of 
the Board of Directors and the contribution of individual directors, including making recommendations where 
appropriate that sitting directors be removed or not re-appointed. 

17.  Keep up to date with regulatory requirements and other new developments in governance and develop and 
review the quality of the Corporation’s governance policies and practices and suggest changes to the Corporation’s 
governance policies and practices as determined appropriate by the Board of Directors. 

18.  Consider annually the appropriateness of the number of directors. 

19. Ensure that disclosure and securities compliance policies, including communications policies, are in place and 
that such policies are reviewed annually. 

20. Describe in each management information circular of the Corporation in which management solicits proxies for 
the purposes of electing directors to the Board of Directors, the disclosure required under Part 2 of NI 58-101. 

The foregoing list is not exhaustive. The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee may, in addition, 
perform such other functions as may be necessary or appropriate for the performance of its responsibilities and 
duties. 
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Schedule “A” 
Meaning of “material relationship” 

The following individuals are considered to have a “material relationship” with the Corporation: 

1. an individual who is, or has been within the last three years, an employee or executive officer of the 
Corporation; 

2. an individual whose immediate family member is, or has been within the last three years, an executive officer of 
the Corporation; 

3. an individual who: 

a. is a partner of a firm that is the Corporation’s internal or external auditor, 

b. is an employee of that firm, or 

c. was within the last three years a partner or employee of that firm and personally worked on the 
Corporation’s audit within that time; 

4. an individual whose spouse, minor child or stepchild, or child or stepchild who shares a home with the 
individual: 

a. is a partner of a firm that is the Corporation’s internal or external auditor, 

b. is an employee of that firm and participates in its audit, assurance or tax compliance (but not tax 
planning) practice, or 

c. was within the last three years a partner or employee of that firm and personally worked on the 
Corporation’s audit within that time; 

5. an individual who, or whose immediate family member, is or has been within the last three years, an executive 
officer of an entity if any of the Corporation’s current executive officers serves or served at that same time on 
the entity’s compensation committee; and 

6. an individual who received, or whose immediate family member who is employed as an executive officer of the 
Corporation received, more than $75,000 in direct compensation from the Corporation during any 12 month 
period within the last three years. 

For the purposes of determining whether a “material relationship” exists according to the above criteria, the 
term “Corporation” shall include each subsidiary entity and the parent, if any, of Advantex Marketing International 
Inc. 

Notwithstanding any of the foregoing criteria being met, an individual will not be considered to have a material 
relationship with the Corporation solely because he or she had a relationship identified in paragraphs (a) to (f) above 
by virtue of the fact that the reference to the “Corporation” therein includes any subsidiary entity or the parent, if 
any, of the Corporation. 

For purpose of paragraphs (3) and (4) above, a partner does not include a fixed income partner whose interest in 
the firm that is the internal or external auditor is limited to the receipt of fixed amounts of compensation (including 
deferred compensation) for prior service with that firm if the compensation is not contingent in any way on 
continued service. 

For the purpose of paragraph (6) above, direct compensation does not include: 
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(i) remuneration for acting as a member of the Board of Directors or of any committee of the Board of 
Directors, and 

(ii) the receipt of fixed amounts of compensation under a retirement plan (including deferred compensation) for 
prior service with the Corporation if the compensation is not contingent in any way on continued service. 

Despite paragraphs (1) to (6) above, an individual will not be considered to have a material relationship with the 
Corporation solely because the individual or his or her immediate family member 

(i) has previously acted as an interim chief executive officer of the Corporation, or 

(ii) acts, or has previously acted, as a chair or vice-chair of the Board of Directors or of any committee of the 
Board of Directors on a part-time basis. 

Related Definitions 

“executive officer” of an entity – means an individual who is (a) a chair of the entity; (b) a vice-chair of the entity; 
(c) the president of the entity; (d) a vice-president of the entity in charge of a principal business unit, division or 
function including sales, finance or production; (e) an officer of the entity or any of its subsidiary entities who 
performs a policy-making function in respect of the entity; or (f) any other individual who performs a policy-making 
function in respect of the entity. 

“officer” -  (a) a chair or vice-chair of the board of directors, a chief executive officer, a chief operating officer, a 
chief financial officer, a president, a vice-president, a secretary, an assistant secretary, a treasurer, an assistant 
treasurer and a general manager, (b) every individual who is designated as an officer under a by-law or similar 
authority of the registrant or issuer, and (c) every individual who performs functions similar to those normally 
performed by an individual referred to in clause (a) or (b). 

“person” - an individual partnership, unincorporated association, unincorporated syndicate, unincorporated 
organization, trust, trustee, executor, administrator, or other legal representative. 

“subsidiary entity” - a person or company is considered to be a subsidiary entity of another person or company if 
(a) it is controlled by (i) that other, or (ii) that other and one or more persons or companies each of which is 
controlled by that other, or (iii) two or more persons or companies, each of which is controlled by that other; or (b) it 
is a subsidiary entity of a person or company that is the other’s subsidiary entity. 
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EXHIBIT “C” 

CHARTER OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE 

I. PURPOSE 

The compensation committee (the “Compensation Committee”) is a committee of the board of directors (the 
“Board of Directors”) of Advantex Marketing International Inc. (the “Corporation”).  The primary function of the 
Compensation Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibilities relating to the 
compensation of the members of the Board of Directors and its committees by: 

� reviewing and recommending to the Board of Directors the compensation of the members of the 
Board of Directors including annual retainer, meeting fees, option grants and other benefits 
conferred upon the members of the Board of Directors; 

� dealing with the administration of the Corporation’s compensation plans, including stock option 
plans, long term incentive plans, and such other compensation plans or structures as are adopted 
by the Corporation from time-to-time; and 

� establishing and periodically reviewing the Corporation’s policies in the area of management 
benefits and perquisites. 

The Compensation Committee will primarily fulfill its responsibilities by carrying out the activities enumerated 
in Section IV of this Charter. The primary function of the Compensation Committee is to assist the Board of 
Directors in fulfilling its legal and fiduciary obligations and responsibilities. 

II. COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS 

The Compensation Committee shall be comprised of such number of directors (but at least three) as determined 
by the Board of Directors, all of whom shall be Independent Directors (as defined below). Pursuant to National 
Instrument 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices (“NI 58-101”), a director is considered to be an 
“Independent Director” if he or she has no direct or indirect “material relationship” with the Corporation, which 
could, in the view of the Board of Directors, reasonably interfere with the exercise of a director’s independent 
judgment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a director shall be considered to have a “material relationship” with the 
Corporation (and therefore shall be considered a “Non-Independent Director”) if he or she falls in one of the 
categories listed in Schedule “A” attached hereto.  Each member will have, to the satisfaction of the Board of 
Directors, sufficient skills and/or experience which are relevant and will be of contribution to the carrying out of the 
mandate of the Compensation Committee. 

The members of the Compensation Committee shall be appointed by the Board of Directors at the annual 
organizational meeting of the Board of Directors or until their successors are duly appointed and qualified. The 
Board of Directors may remove a member of the Compensation Committee at any time in its sole discretion by 
resolution of the Board of Directors. The Chair of the Compensation Committee shall be elected by the Board of 
Directors. 

The Compensation Committee shall meet at least twice per annum and more frequently as circumstances 
require. The Compensation Committee may ask members of management or others to attend meetings or to provide 
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information as necessary and appropriate. In addition, the Compensation Committee or, at a minimum, the Chair of 
the Compensation Committee may meet with the Corporation’s external counsel to discuss the Corporation’s 
compensation policies and practices. The Compensation Committee may retain the services of outside specialists to 
the extent required. 

Quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Compensation Committee shall be the presence in 
person or by telephone or other communication equipment of a majority of the number of members of the 
Compensation Committee or such greater number as the Compensation Committee shall by resolution determine. 

If within one hour of the time appointed for a meeting of the Compensation Committee, a quorum is not 
present, the meeting shall stand adjourned to the same hour on the second business day following the date of such 
meeting at the same place. If at the adjourned meeting a quorum as hereinbefore specified is not present within one 
hour of the time appointed for such adjourned meeting, the quorum for the adjourned meeting shall consist of the 
members then present. 

If and whenever a vacancy shall exist, the remaining members of the Compensation Committee may exercise all 
of its powers and responsibilities so long as a quorum remains in office. 

Meetings of the Compensation Committee shall be held from time to time and at such place as the 
Compensation Committee or the Chair of the Compensation Committee shall determine, within or outside of 
Ontario, upon not less than two days (exclusive of the day on which the notice is delivered or sent but inclusive of 
the day for which notice is given) prior notice to each of the members. Meetings of the Compensation Committee 
may be held without such prior notice if all of the members entitled to vote at such meeting who do not attend, 
waive notice of the meeting and, for the purpose of such meeting, the presence of a member at such meeting shall 
constitute waiver on his or her part. The Chair of the Compensation Committee, any member of the Compensation 
Committee or the Chair of the Board of Directors shall be entitled to request that the Chair of the Compensation 
Committee call a meeting.  A notice of a meeting of the Compensation Committee must be given in accordance with 
the By-laws of the Corporation and applicable law. 

The Compensation Committee shall keep minutes of its meetings which shall be submitted to the Board of 
Directors. The Compensation Committee may, from time to time, appoint any person who need not be a member, to 
act as secretary at any meeting. 

All decisions of the Compensation Committee will require the vote of a majority of its members present at a 
meeting at which a quorum is present. Actions of the Compensation Committee may be taken by an instrument or 
instruments in writing signed by all of the members of the Compensation Committee, and such actions shall be 
effective as though they had been decided by a majority of votes cast at a meeting of the Compensation Committee 
called for such purpose. Such instruments in writing may be signed in counterparts each of which shall be deemed to 
be an original and all originals together shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument. 

III. AUTHORITY OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE 

The Compensation Committee has the authority to engage and compensate any outside advisors that it 
determines to be necessary to permit it to carry out its duties. 

The Compensation Committee also has the authority to conduct or authorize investigations into any matters 
within the scope of its responsibilities.  

The Compensation Committee may request any director or member of management of the Corporation, outside 
counsel of the Corporation or others, to attend a meeting of the Compensation Committee or to meet with members 
of, or advisors to, the Compensation Committee and to provide pertinent information as necessary and appropriate. 

IV. RESPONSIBILITIES AND DUTIES 

To fulfill its responsibilities and duties, the Compensation Committee shall: 
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General Responsibilities 

1. Review and assess this Charter at least annually, as conditions dictate, and submit any proposed revisions to the 
Board of Directors for approval. 

2. Create an agenda for the ensuing financial year. 

3. Report periodically to the Board of Directors. 

Compensation Responsibilities 

4. Review and recommend to the Board of Directors the compensation of the members of the Board of Directors 
including annual retainer, meeting fees, option grants and other benefits conferred upon the members of the 
Board of Directors. 

5. Review and recommend to the Board of Directors the compensation of the officers and executive officers of the 
Corporation, including option grants and other benefits conferred upon such officers of the Corporation. 

6. Review compensation disclosure relating to the Board of Directors and the executive compensation relating to 
the management of the Corporation before the Corporation publicly discloses this information. 

7. Describe in each management information circular of the Corporation in which management solicits proxies for 
the purposes of electing directors to the Board of Directors, the disclosure required in Form 51-102 F6. 

The foregoing list is not exhaustive. The Compensation Committee may, in addition, perform such other functions 
as may be necessary or appropriate for the performance of its responsibilities and duties. 
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Schedule “A” 

Meaning of “material relationship” 

The following individuals are considered to have a “material relationship” with the Corporation: 

a) an individual who is, or has been within the last three years, an employee or executive officer of the 
Corporation; 

b) an individual whose immediate family member is, or has been within the last three years, an executive officer of 
the Corporation; 

c) an individual who: 

A. is a partner of a firm that is the Corporation’s internal or external auditor, 

B. is an employee of that firm, or 

C. was within the last three years a partner or employee of that firm and personally worked on the 
Corporation’s audit within that time; 

d) an individual whose spouse, minor child or stepchild, or child or stepchild who shares a home with the 
individual: 

A. is a partner of a firm that is the Corporation’s internal or external auditor, 

B. is an employee of that firm and participates in its audit, assurance or tax compliance (but not tax 
planning) practice, or 

C. was within the last three years a partner or employee of that firm and personally worked on the 
Corporation’s audit within that time; 

e) an individual who, or whose immediate family member, is or has been within the last three years, an executive 
officer of an entity if any of the Corporation’s current executive officers serves or served at that same time on 
the entity’s compensation committee; and 

f) an individual who received, or whose immediate family member who is employed as an executive officer of the 
Corporation received, more than $75,000 in direct compensation from the Corporation during any 12 month 
period within the last three years. 

For the purposes of determining whether a “material relationship” exists according to the above criteria, the 
term “Corporation” shall include each subsidiary entity and the parent, if any, of Advantex Marketing International 
Inc. 

Notwithstanding any of the foregoing criteria being met, an individual will not be considered to have a material 
relationship with the Corporation solely because he or she had a relationship identified in paragraphs (a) to (f) above 
by virtue of the fact that the reference to the “Corporation” therein includes any subsidiary entity or the parent, if 
any, of the Corporation. 

For purpose of paragraphs (c) and (d) above, a partner does not include a fixed income partner whose interest in 
the firm that is the internal or external auditor is limited to the receipt of fixed amounts of compensation (including 
deferred compensation) for prior service with that firm if the compensation is not contingent in any way on 
continued service. 

For the purpose of paragraph (f) above, direct compensation does not include: 
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(i) remuneration for acting as a member of the Board of Directors or of any committee of the Board of 
Directors, and 

(ii) the receipt of fixed amounts of compensation under a retirement plan (including deferred compensation) for 
prior service with the Corporation if the compensation is not contingent in any way on continued service. 

Despite paragraphs (a) to (f) above, an individual will not be considered to have a material relationship with the 
Corporation solely because the individual or his or her immediate family member 

(i) has previously acted as an interim chief executive officer of the Corporation, or 

(ii) acts, or has previously acted, as a chair or vice-chair of the Board of Directors or of any committee of the 
Board of Directors on a part-time basis. 

Related Definitions 

“executive officer” of an entity – means an individual who is (a) a chair of the entity; (b) a vice-chair of the entity; 
(c) the president of the entity; (d) a vice-president of the entity in charge of a principal business unit, division or 
function including sales, finance or production; (e) an officer of the entity or any of its subsidiary entities who 
performs a policy-making function in respect of the entity; or (f) any other individual who performs a policy-making 
function in respect of the entity. 

“officer” - (a) a chair or vice-chair of the board of directors, a chief executive officer, a chief operating officer, a 
chief financial officer, a president, a vice-president, a secretary, an assistant secretary, a treasurer, an assistant 
treasurer and a general manager, (b) every individual who is designated as an officer under a by-law or similar 
authority of the registrant or issuer, and (c) every individual who performs functions similar to those normally 
performed by an individual referred to in clause (a) or (b). 

“person” - an individual partnership, unincorporated association, unincorporated syndicate, unincorporated 
organization, trust, trustee, executor, administrator, or other legal representative. 

“subsidiary entity” - a person or company is considered to be a subsidiary entity of another person or company if 
(a) it is controlled by (i) that other, or (ii) that other and one or more persons or companies each of which is 
controlled by that other, or (iii) two or more persons or companies, each of which is controlled by that other; or (b) it 
is a subsidiary entity of a person or company that is the other’s subsidiary entity.  
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